# World Journal of *Clinical Oncology*

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 833-965





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJC0

# World Journal of VVoria journe Clinical Oncology

#### Contents

#### Monthly Volume 12 Number 10 October 24, 2021

#### **EVIDENCE REVIEW**

833 Postoperative radiotherapy in resected non-small cell lung cancer: The never-ending story

Serrano J, Crespo PC, Taboada B, Gonzalez AA, García RG, Caamaño AG, Reyes JCT, Mielgo-Rubio X, Couñago F

#### REVIEW

845 Relationship between Th17 immune response and cancer

> Marques HS, de Brito BB, da Silva FAF, Santos MLC, de Souza JCB, Correia TML, Lopes LW, Neres NSM, Dórea RSDM, Dantas ACS, Morbeck LLB, Lima IS, de Almeida AA, Dias MRJ, de Melo FF

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

868 Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 targeted therapy in endometrial cancer: Clinical and pathological perspectives

Saito A, Yoshida H, Nishikawa T, Yonemori K

- 882 Role of lenalidomide in the treatment of peripheral T-cell non-Hodgkin lymphomas Cencini E, Fabbri A, Mecacci B, Bocchia M
- 897 Current update on imaging for pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms Segaran N, Devine C, Wang M, Ganeshan D
- 912 Recent advances and new insights in the management of early-stage epidermal growth factor receptormutated non-small-cell lung cancer

Sotelo MJ, Luis García J, Torres-Mattos C, Milián H, Carracedo C, González-Ruiz MÁ, Mielgo-Rubio X, Trujillo-Reyes JC, Couñago F

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Retrospective Study**

926 A biomarker study in Peruvian males with breast cancer

> Castaneda CA, Castillo M, Bernabe LA, Sanchez J, Torres E, Suarez N, Tello K, Fuentes H, Dunstan J, De La Cruz M, Cotrina JM, Abugattas J, Guerra H, Gomez HL

935 Jejunostomy in the palliative treatment of gastric cancer: A clinical prognostic score Ramos MFKP, Pereira MA, Dias AR, Sakamoto E, Ribeiro Jr U, Zilberstein B, Nahas SC

#### **Observational Study**

947 Novel molecular panel for evaluating systemic inflammation and survival in therapy naïve glioma patients Gandhi P, Shrivastava R, Garg N, Sorte SK



#### Contents

World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Monthly Volume 12 Number 10 October 24, 2021

#### **CASE REPORT**

960 Gastric myeloid sarcoma: A case report Rioja P, Macetas J, Luna-Abanto J, Tirado-Hurtado I, Enriquez DJ



#### Contents

Monthly Volume 12 Number 10 October 24, 2021

#### **ABOUT COVER**

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Clinical Oncology, Elizabeth Ortiz-Sánchez, PhD, MD, Principal Investigator, Subdirección de Investigación Básica, Instituto Nacional de Cancerología, Av San Fernando 22, Sección XVI, Tlalpan 14080, Mexico City, Mexico. elinfkb@yahoo.com.mx

#### **AIMS AND SCOPE**

The primary aim of World Journal of Clinical Oncology (WJCO, World J Clin Oncol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of oncology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJCO mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of oncology and covering a wide range of topics including art of oncology, biology of neoplasia, breast cancer, cancer prevention and control, cancer-related complications, diagnosis in oncology, gastrointestinal cancer, genetic testing for cancer, gynecologic cancer, head and neck cancer, hematologic malignancy, lung cancer, melanoma, molecular oncology, neurooncology, palliative and supportive care, pediatric oncology, surgical oncology, translational oncology, and urologic oncology.

#### **INDEXING/ABSTRACTING**

The WJCO is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Science and Technology Journal Database (CSTJ), and Superstar Journals Database. The 2021 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2020 Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) for WJCO as 0.48.

#### **RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE**

Production Editor: Ying-Yi Yuan; Production Department Director: Yu-Jie Ma; Editorial Office Director: Ze-Mao Gong.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Clinical Oncology	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
<b>ISSN</b>	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2218-4333 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
November 10, 2010	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Hiten RH Patel, Stephen Safe	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinf0/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
October 24, 2021	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJC0

# World Journal of Worta journal Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 833-844

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.833

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

EVIDENCE REVIEW

## Postoperative radiotherapy in resected non-small cell lung cancer: The never-ending story

Javier Serrano, Patricia Calvo Crespo, Begoña Taboada, Ana Alvarez Gonzalez, Rafael Garcia García, Antonio Gomez Caamaño, Juan Carlos Trujillo Reyes, Xabier Mielgo-Rubio, Felipe Couñago

ORCID number: Javier Serrano 0000-0002-0322-7863; Patricia Calvo Crespo 0000-0002-0198-8992; Begoña Taboada 0000-0003-1635-7955; Ana Alvarez Gonzalez 0000-0002-7850-4167; Rafael Garcia García 0000-0003-4679-1410; Antonio Gomez Caamaño 0000-0002-9773-4590; Juan Carlos Trujillo Reyes 0000-0002-3370-0869; Xabier Mielgo-Rubio 0000-0002-0985-6150; Felipe Couñago 0000-0001-7233-0234.

Author contributions: All authors have contributed equally; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement:

None of the authors have any conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Javier Serrano, Department of Radiation Therapy, Clinica Universidad de Navarra, Madrid 28027, Spain

Patricia Calvo Crespo, Begoña Taboada, Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital Clínico Universitario Santiago de Compostela, Santiago de Compostela 15706, Spain

Ana Alvarez Gonzalez, Department of Radiation Oncology, HGU Gregorio Marañón, Madrid 28007, Spain

Rafael García, Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital Ruber Internacional, Madrid 28034, Spain

Antonio Gomez Caamaño, Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital Clínico Universitario Santiago de Compostela, A Coruña 15706, Spain

Juan Carlos Trujillo Reyes, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Hospital de La Santa Creu I Sant Pau, Barcelona 08026, Spain

Xabier Mielgo-Rubio, Department of Medical Oncology, Hospital Universitario Fundación Alcorcón, Madrid 28922, Spain

Felipe Couñago, Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital Universitario Quirónsalud Madrid, Hospital La Luz, Universidad Europea de Madrid, Madrid 28223, Spain

Corresponding author: Javier Serrano, PhD, Consultant Physician-Scientist, Department of Radiation Therapy, Clinica Universidad de Navarra, Calle Marquesado de Santa Marta 1., Madrid 28027, Spain. fserranoa@unav.es

#### Abstract

This manuscript collects in a joint and orderly manner the existing evidence at the present time about postoperative treatment with radiotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer. It also systematically reviews the current evidence, the international recommendations in the most relevant guidelines, the most controversial aspects in clinical and pathological staging, the specific technical aspects of radiotherapy treatment, and also collects all the potential risk factors that have been postulated as significant in the prognosis of these patients, evaluating the possibility of segmenting a particularly sensitive subpopulation with a high risk of relapse on which an adjuvant treatment with radiotherapy could have an impact on their



#### Specialty type: Oncology

Country/Territory of origin: Spain

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: April 15, 2021 Peer-review started: April 15, 2021 First decision: June 7, 2021 Revised: June 20, 2021 Accepted: September 14, 2021 Article in press: September 14, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Ko R S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Li JH



clinical evolution. Finally, currently active trials that aspire to provide more evidence on this topic are reviewed.

Key Words: Non-small lung cancer; Radiotherapy; Postoperative; Lung cancer

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The approach to the postoperative treatment of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) is one of the pending subjects of the specialty of Radiation Oncology. Despite the enormous anticipation that the Lung-Art trial had produced, its results leave issues unresolved. In this article, we attempt to systematically recapitulate the currently existing evidence for the radiotherapeutic management of this pathology, in order to identify those patients who could potentially benefit more from postoperative treatment in NSCLC.

Citation: Serrano J, Crespo PC, Taboada B, Gonzalez AA, García RG, Caamaño AG, Reyes JCT, Mielgo-Rubio X, Couñago F. Postoperative radiotherapy in resected non-small cell lung cancer: The never-ending story. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12(10): 833-844 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/833.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.833

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Historical evolution of postoperative radiotherapy

One of the great historical controversies in the field of thoracic oncology is the use of Postoperative radiotherapy (PORT) in patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). The rationale for this therapeutic strategy is the high risk of locoregional recurrence (LRR) after radical surgery, especially in patients with pN2 disease, who account for up to 30% of patients. The development of LRR in patients with NSCLC has important clinical implications and is associated with worse survival outcomes[1]. Several different pathological variables have been associated with a higher risk of developing LRR, including tumour size > 3 cm, lymphovascular invasion, visceral pleural invasion, and involvement of multiple lymph nodes[2].

The role of PORT in NSCLC remains controversial, mainly because studies carried out over the last few decades have reported conflicting safety and efficacy results. Although multiple retrospective and prospective studies have been performed, we still lack high-quality evidence to confirm or definitively rule out PORT in these patients. A meta-analysis published in 1998 found that PORT was associated with lower overall survival (OS) rates in patients with stage I-II disease, with 2-year OS rates of 43% in the non-PORT group vs 30% in the patients that received PORT, although there was no clear evidence that PORT negatively influenced outcomes in patients with stage III pN2 disease[3]. In older studies, the poor outcomes of PORT could be due to the high levels of morbidity and mortality associated with obsolete radiotherapy techniques or inappropriate doses, fractionations, and/or irradiation volumes. In fact, a more recent meta-analysis demonstrated that PORT improves OS outcomes when modern technology (linear accelerators vs cobalt therapy units) is used to deliver the radiation dose[4].

Despite the contradictory findings described above, several studies have reported a clear benefit for PORT in patients with involved lymph nodes (pN2) in terms of improved local control and even OS[5-7]. Among those studies with positive findings, the most important is the study carried out by Mikell *et al*[7], who evaluated 2115 patients with pN2 NSCLC based on data retrieved from the National Cancer Database (NCBD). In that study, PORT was associated with a significant increase in OS (42 mo vs 38 mo, P = 0.048) in patients treated according to the therapeutic standards of the modern era [three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy (3D-CRT), adjuvant chemotherapy (ChT), etc.][7].

The long-awaited preliminary results of the Lung ART trial (NCT00410683)[8], which included patients with NSCLC who underwent complete resection with adjuvant ChT, were recently presented at the ESMO 2020 meeting. Lung ART is a



multi-institutional randomized phase III trial which included stage III N2 NSCLC cases comparing mediastinal PORT (54 Gy/27-30 fractions) to no PORT in very selected patients: PS 0-2, complete resection with optimal nodal exploration and proven N2 disease. The main endpoint was disease-free survival (DFS). Between August 2007 and July 2018, 501 patients were randomized after surgery or after ChT: 252 patients allocated to PORT, and 249 to no PORT. With a median FU of 4.8 years DFS HR was 0.85 (95%CI [0.67-1.07]); median DFS was 30.5 mo with PORT and 22.8 without PORT; 3-year DFS was 47.1% with PORT vs 43.8% without PORT (P = ns), and finally, 3-year OS was 66.5% with PORT vs 68.5% without PORT (P = ns). Early and late Gr 3-5 cardio-pulmonary toxicity was respectively 7% and 20% in PORT arm vs 3.2% and 7.7% in control arm. Nonetheless, PORT significantly decreased LRR in the mediastinum (46.1% vs 25% with and without PORT, respectively), a finding that suggests that PORT could offer a clinical benefit in a well-selected subgroup of patients.

However, these preliminary results raised further doubts about the role of PORT in NSCLC. The findings of this landmark trial are extremely important and may come to redefine the role of radiotherapy in NSCLC.

According to these data, PORT should not be routinely recommended to all resected stage III N2 NSCLC patients. The decision to prescribe o not PORT must be individualised according to the patient's specific characteristics. In general, PORT should be indicated only in highly selected patients with good performance status (PS 0-1), significant mediastinal lymph node involvement (pN2, extracapsular extension), and/or residual disease (R1-R2) after surgery. In addition, PORT must be only performed in cases with a favourable dose distribution that fulfils the dose restriction criteria for the organs of risk (OARs), especially cardiopulmonary restrictions.

#### CURRENT EVIDENCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR PORT

The role of PORT in the treatment of NSCLC remains controversial. Although this therapeutic strategy has been evaluated in numerous retrospective and prospective studies, robust evidence to definitively support the value of PORT is still lacking, as can be seen in the lack of consensus among the clinical guidelines published by the main international scientific societies[9-13].

Currently, the most widely accepted indication for PORT, with the most evidence, is for the treatment of residual disease (including extracapsular extension) after radical surgery. Most international guidelines recommend PORT in patients with involved surgical margins (R1-R2) at the surgical bed due to the high risk of recurrence in this region, with a recommended dose ranging from 54-60 Gy (1.8-2 Gy/fraction)[14].

By contrast, in patients with stage pN2 disease, the current evidence suggests that the treatment decision should be assessed on a case-by-case basis by a multidisciplinary team to determine if the patient would be likely to benefit from PORT. The treatment decision should consider several key clinical characteristics, including the number of mediastinal nodal stations involved ( $\geq 1$ ), the patient's general physical condition (PS 0-1), and cardiopulmonary function. Table 1 summarizes the recommendations proposed by the main international guidelines.

#### MANAGEMENT OF CASES WITH INVOLVED SURGICAL MARGINS

The rate of incomplete resections (microscopic or macroscopic; R1-R2) after radical surgery for lung cancer ranges from 1%-17% [15]. In these cases, the aim of PORT is to reduce the risk of local recurrence and improve OS. Although various clinical guidelines recommend salvage surgery in patients with positive surgical margins, this approach is not supported by robust data. Ghiribelli *et al*[16] evaluated OS in a series of patients with incomplete resections (R1), finding that survival was not correlated with the type of infiltration, nodal involvement, or histological type. As a result, in patients with microscopic residual tumours, the authors recommended salvage surgery only in patients with early stage (I-II) disease; by contrast, the recommended treatment in stage III pN2 disease is adjuvant radiotherapy.

A study published in 2012 evaluated the efficacy and toxicity of PORT according to histological subtype in patients (n = 41) with incompletely resected NSCLC[17]. Of the 41 patients, 23 had microscopic (R1) and 18 macroscopic (R2) residual disease. The histologic distribution was as follows: squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) (n = 23), adenocarcinoma (14), and other histologies (4). The predominant progression pattern



Table 1 Recommendations for postoperative radiotherapy according to the main international guidelines				
Guidelines	Clinical scenario	Recommendation for PORT		
NCCN[9]	Stage pN0-1	Not recommended		
	Stage pN2, negative surgical margins (R0)	Sequential		
	Microscopic or macroscopic surgical margins (R1-R2)	Concomitant (selected cases) or sequential		
ASTRO[10]	Stage pN2	Sequential		
	Microscopic or macroscopic surgical margins (R1-R2)	Concomitant (selected cases) or sequential		
	ESTRO-ASTRO[11]			
	Multiple nodal stations involved	Sequential		
ESMO[12]	Extracapsular nodal extension	Sequential		
	Early stage (I-II) disease (R0)	Not recommended		
	Positive margins or chest wall involvement (R1-R2)	Sequential		
	Stage pN2	Only in selected cases		
ASCO[13]	Early stage (I-II) disease (R0)	Not recommended		
	Stage pN2	Only in selected cases		

NCCN: National Comprehensive Cancer Network; ASTRO: American Sociedad of Radiation Oncology; ESTRO: European Society for Radiotherapy & Oncology; ESMO: European Society for Medical Oncology; ASCO: American Society of Clinical Oncology; PORT: Postoperative radiotherapy.

> was distant disease, observed in 13% of patients with SCC and 64% of those with adenocarcinoma (P < 0.01). Survival rates at 5-years were as follows: OS, 56%; local control (LC), 63%; DFS, 37%; and metastasis-free survival (MFS), 49%. On the multivariate analysis, the only significant predictors of better survival (DFS and MFS) were SCC histology, stage N0-1, and R1 surgical margins. The authors concluded that, in patients with R1 margins, PORT provides good LC without severe toxicity, but systemic therapy should always be considered due to the high risk of distant metastasis.

> Hancock et al[18] evaluated 3102 surgically treated NSCLC patients included in the NCDB registry. Of these, 1688 had microscopically positive margins (R1). The authors compared patients according to margin status (R1 vs R0), with significantly lower 5year OS rates in the R1 group for all stages: stage I, 37% vs 62% (P <0.0001); stage II, 29% vs 41% (P < 0.0001); and stage III, 19% vs 33% (P < 0.0001). Administration of adjuvant ChT with PORT in the R1 group was associated with better OS than surgery alone, regardless of stage (stage I, 44% vs 35%, P = 0.05; stage II, 33% vs 21%, P =0.0013; stage III, 30% *vs* 12%, *P* < 0.0001).

> In a study published in 2015, Wang et al[19] evaluated 3395 patients with incompletely resected stage II-III NSCLC to determine the influence of PORT on survival outcomes, finding that PORT was associated with significantly better 5-year OS (32.4% vs 23.7%). Radiation doses between 50-70 Gy improved survival rates in the PORT group vs the non-PORT group. However, when higher doses (> 70 Gy) were administered, there were no between-group differences in OS. The authors of that study concluded that PORT improves OS in patients with incompletely resected stage II-III NSCLC and should therefore be considered as an adjuvant treatment. They also suggested that the radiation dose in patients with macroscopic residual disease (R2) should be the same as those used for radical radiotherapy (60-66 Gy).

#### MEDIASTINAL STAGING

#### Preoperative mediastinal staging

The appropriate management of NSCLC depends on accurate mediastinal staging. Contrast-enhanced chest computed tomography (CT) is currently the diagnostic test of choice for preoperative mediastinal staging. On CT imaging, nodes with a short-axis diameter  $\geq 1$  cm are considered pathological<sup>[20]</sup>. In recent years, 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) positron-emission tomography (PET)-CT has transformed lung cancer staging due to its greater sensitivity. However, PET-CT has some limitations in cases



with small nodes (< 1 cm) and in certain histologies in which FDG uptake is limited. PET-CT also has a high false positive rate (20%-25%) in the presence of intercurrent infections and inflammatory processes. Consequently, histopathologic confirmation of mediastinal node involvement is usually required, especially when the therapeutic approach depends directly on the results of this assessment<sup>[21-23]</sup>. Histological confirmation can be omitted in certain patients with small ( $\leq 3$  cm) peripheral tumours without radiological evidence of suspected mediastinal involvement.

Mediastinal nodes can be obtained endoscopically through endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) and/or endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) guided puncture, or surgically, through mediastinoscopy or video-assisted thoracoscopy (VATS). Endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS/EUS) is usually the first step in evaluating suspected mediastinal node involvement[24,25]. These minimally invasive endoscopic techniques are usually preferred to surgical approaches due to their good sensitivity and specificity profile and relatively low risk of morbidity. If the sample is negative, not assessable, or insufficient (despite radiological suspicion), staging should be completed with invasive techniques, which have a higher negative predictive value (NPV). For many years, conventional mediastinoscopy was the main surgical staging technique, despite the technical limitations of this procedure for the study of the posterior and inferior mediastinum, in which either extended cervical mediastinoscopy or VATS is necessary[26].

#### Mediastinal restaging after neoadjuvant therapy

Mediastinal restaging after neoadjuvant therapy (ChT or ChT+RT) is controversial. Some patients with stage IIIA, low volume N2 disease are classified as potentially resectable and may benefit from neoadjuvant therapy, which could increase the likelihood of achieving a complete response (CR) in the mediastinum, thus permitting surgical resection of the tumour[27]. In this clinical scenario, however, the value of CT for mediastinal restaging is questionable since CT-based assessment, although highly predictive of pathologic CR, tends to underestimate the true CR rate.

PET-CT is an excellent tool to assess the response of both the primary tumour and metastatic lesions, but it is less reliable in evaluating mediastinal involvement due to high rates of false negative and false positives (20% and 25%, respectively)[28,29]. Therefore, histopathologic confirmation is necessary in cases with radiological response if surgical resection is being considered.

EBUS/EUS restaging after neoadjuvant therapy has a low sensitivity and a low NPV. If the test is negative, the surgical technique should be escalated to reduce the false negative rate[30]. Restaging via mediastinoscopy has a high sensitivity (> 60%), specificity ( $\approx 100\%$ ), positive predictive value (PPV; 100%) and NPV (> 73%); however, this procedure is not routinely performed due to its technical complexity in this clinical context. Rather, the recommended strategy is initial confirmation of stage N2 disease by EBUS or EUS-guided transbronchial aspiration during the initial workup, thus reserving mediastinoscopy for restaging[31].

#### SELECTION OF CANDIDATES FOR PORT

Numerous studies have explored a wide range of prognostic factors potentially associated with an increased risk of LRR in order to identify high-risk patients suitable for adjuvant radiotherapy. In patients with NSCLC, the histological type is not currently considered a prognostic factor for adjuvant treatment due to the poor quality of the available data and contradictory findings in the literature. While some studies have found that SCC histology is associated with worse OS rates than adenocarcinoma [32,33], findings from other studies point in the opposite direction[34].

The findings of a recent meta-analysis involving 25780 patients from 13 studies (most retrospective) underscored the prognostic value of multiple mediastinal node involvement. That study showed that, in patients with pN2 disease with  $\geq$  one positive node and/or multiple N2 station involvement, PORT significantly improved both DFS (HR 0.57, 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.38-0.85) and OS (HR 0.85, 95%CI, 0.79-0.92) [35]

The lymph node ratio (LNR) – defined as the number of involved nodes divided by the total removed or examined - has also been significantly associated with survival outcomes. A recent study evaluated 11341 patients with NSCLC and postoperative nodal involvement included the SEER (Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Database) registry. The authors established three risk categories according to the LNR (LNR1 ≤ 0.28, LNR2 < 0.81, and LNR3 > 0.81), finding that LNR3 was an independent



prognostic factor for cancer-specific survival (CSS) (HR 2.54; 95%CI, 2.30-2.80; P < 0.001)[36].

Other parameters, such as the positive and negative lymph node counts (PLN and NLN, respectively), have been developed to quantify the tumour load in mediastinal nodes. Zhou et al[37] reviewed data from 39959 surgically-treated cases of NSCLC, demonstrating a significant association between mediastinal tumour burden and OS (PLN > 5; HR 2.0128, 95%CI: 1.6996-2.3836; NLN > 5; HR 0.7493, 95%CI: 0.7211-0.7785; LNR > 0.30; HR 1.7949, 95% CI: 1.5329-2.1016); and with CSS (PLN > 5; HR 2.2147, 95%CI: 1.8095-2.7106; NLN > 5; HR 0.7214, 95%CI: 0.6869-0.7575; LNR > 0.30; HR 1.9627, 95%CI: 1.6219-2.3752). In this same line of research, another study evaluated 5168 patients with stage IIIA-N2 NSCLC, finding that patients with PLN > 5 who underwent PORT had significantly better OS outcomes (HR 0.637, 95% CI: 0.518-0.784), a benefit that persisted even when compared to adjuvant ChT alone (HR 0.726, 95%CI: 0.564-0.934)[38].

The studies that have generated the most interest are those that have sought to stratify risk groups according to multiple clinical, pathologic, and molecular parameters. In this regard, the study by Deng and colleagues<sup>[39]</sup> is worth highlighting. Those authors evaluated numerous characteristics - age, sex, surgical technique, histological type, degree of differentiation, tumour size, number of nodes evaluated (LNR index) - in a large sample (n = 2329) of patients included in the SEER database. Based on that analysis, the authors proposed a prognostic scoring model that classified patients into two risk categories (high and low), which was a significant predictor of survival outcomes (OS and CSS)[40].

Jiang et al<sup>[40]</sup> recently developed a model that incorporated several molecular biomarkers, together with other well-known clinical variables, to predict clinical outcomes in patients with stage IIIA pN2 NSCLC. In that study, the following variables were significantly associated with the risk of LRR: epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) status: wild-type vs native (HR 3.666, 95%CI: 1.724-7.797); lymphocyte to monocyte ratio (LMR) < 4.69 (HR 2.364, 95%CI: 1.221-4.574); surgical procedure (VATS *vs* thoracotomy) (HR 0.348, 95%CI: 0.175 -0.693); and pN2 LNR ≥ 38.9% (HR 3.597, 95% CI: 1.832-7.062). The authors then used those data to develop a predictive model (Table 2) based on the four independent risk factors to determine the individual risk of LRR in each patient. This score, in turn, could be used to recommend or not adjuvant radiotherapy[41].

#### TECHNICAL RECOMMENDATIONS FOR THE TREATMENT OF PORT

#### Simulation

The generally accepted recommendations provided by clinical guidelines for the management of NSCLC should be followed for positioning, immobilization, and treatment simulation. Systems designed to improve immobilization and control respiratory motion (4D-CT) should be used, preferably with image-guided radiotherapy (IGRT), to obtain smaller treatment volumes and more precise radiotherapy to achieve a better dosimetric distribution.

In general, CT imaging (slice thickness, 2-3 mm) should be performed with intravenous contrast to improve contouring of the nodal areas[42,43]. The use of 5FDG-PET-CT for postoperative simulation is not recommended due to the lack of robust data; moreover, interpretation of these images in the immediate postoperative period can be challenging due to the inflammation, which can lead to false positives. Image interpretation after ChT is also difficult and it is easy to underestimate the residual disease (false negatives)[44].

#### Target volumes

The most important data for target volume definition were described in the Lung-ART clinical trial and based on contouring performed by 17 experienced thoracic radiation oncologists in two representative cases<sup>[45]</sup>. The clinical target volume (CTV) should include the bronchial stump, ipsilateral hilum, adjacent mediastinal pleura, and involved nodes (according to the pathology report). The involved nodal station and those immediately superior and inferior to that region should also be contoured, being careful to avoid oversizing the CTV. To generate the PTV (planning target volume), a margin of at least 0.5 cm in the mediolateral and dorsoventral directions (1 cm in the craniocaudal direction) should be applied to the CTV to minimize uncertainties related to tumour motion and patient positioning[46].



#### Table 2 Proposed predictive model for locoregional recurrence in stage IIIA N2 non-small cell lung cancer[41]

Risk model for LRR in stage pllIA-N2 NSCLC				
Factor	Category	Score		
EGFR status	Wild- type	4		
LMR	LMR < 4.69	2		
Type of surgery	Thoracotomy	3		
LNR	LNR ≥ 38.9	4		
Risk group	Score	3-yr LRFS		
Low risk	0-2	71.4%		
Medium risk	3-5	57.3%		
High risk	6-13	13.6%		

LRFS: Locoregional recurrence-free survival; LRR: Locoregional recurrence; NSCLC: Non-small cell lung cancer; LNR: Lymph node ratio; LMR: Lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio.

> The definition of critical organs (OARs)<sup>[47]</sup> and dose restrictions are the same as in NSCLC, although with more restrictive lung criteria. In post-lobectomy patients, Boonyawan *et al*<sup>[47]</sup>, proposed limiting the lung volume that receives 10 and 20 Gy (V10 and V20) to < 30% and < 20%, respectively [48]. In patients older than age 65, the lung V5 should be reduced to  $\leq 36\%$  [49]; if IMRT is performed, the recommended V5 is < 64.9%, with mean lung dose (MLD) < 10.8 Gy[50]. In patients undergoing pneumonectomy, to ensure safety, these limitations should be even more restrictive, as follows: V5 < 30%, V20 < 13%, and MLD < 7.5 Gy[51]. If 3D-CRT is used, the V20 should be < 10%[52].

#### Dose and fractionation

In completed-resected (R0) surgeries, the recommended dose is 50-54 Gy using a conventional fractionation scheme (1.8-2 Gy/d)[53]. However, in high risk patients with R1 or R2 margins, the total dose may be increased up to 54-60 Gy, or even up to radical doses of 60-66 Gy if there is evidence of macroscopic residue in the surgical bed or mediastinal region.

The use of hypofractionated regimens is not advised due to the risk of increased toxicity. Currently, accelerated fractionation radiotherapy schemes (2 Gy/d, 7 d/wk) are being explored (NCT02189967)[54].

In terms of treatment sequencing, PORT should be administered after completing ChT if the surgical resection is complete (R0); however, in patients with postoperative R1-R2 margins, there is some controversy surrounding the use of concomitant or sequential RT and ChT. As a result, the treatment sequence should be individualized based on the expected tolerance<sup>[55,56]</sup>.

Although several radiotherapy techniques - 3D-CRT, intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), volumetric modulated arc therapy (VMAT), and tomotherapy - all provide optimal dosimetric results in the postoperative context [57], data from prospective studies support the routine use of the IMRT in NSCLC due to lower cardiac doses and a lower risk of severe pneumonitis.

#### FUTURE LINES OF RESEARCH IN PORT

At present, there is broad consensus among radiation oncologists that the current level of evidence is insufficient to recommend PORT for all patients with stage III pN2 NSCLC, which is mainly attributable to the heterogeneous characteristics of patients with pN2 disease and treatment-related cardiopulmonary toxicity, which remains high despite efforts to reduce it.

In terms of the lack of homogeneity, it is evident that TNM staging in patients with pN2 NSCLC does not provide sufficient information to indicate or not adjuvant therapy. Consequently, it is essential to explore and evaluate new clinical, pathological, and molecular factors to better differentiate between different risk subpopulations, which would then allow us to tailor the treatment indication based on



#### Table 3 Registered active studies related to postoperative radiotherapy

NCT	Title	Study type
NCT02977169	To Evaluate the Role of Postoperative Radiotherapy in Patients With IIIA(N2) Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer	Interventional
NCT02974426	To Evaluate the Optimal Timing of Postoperative Radiotherapy in Patients With IIIA(N2) Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer	Interventional
NCT04073745	Single Fraction Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy After Surgery in Treating Patients with Non-small Cell Lung Cancer	Interventional
NCT03006575	Study of Split-course Chemoradiotherapy for Postoperative Locoregional Recurrence of Non-small Cell Lung Cancer	Interventional
NCT02555592	Strategy of Surgical Resection with Adjuvant Therapy for IIIA NSCLC and N2 Disease Only in Subaortic or Paraaortic Level	Observational
NCT02189967	Postoperative Radiotherapy of Non-small Cell Lung Cancer: Accelerated vs Conventional Fractionation	Interventional
NCT00880971	Postoperative Radiotherapy for Patients with IIIA (N2) Non-small Cell Lung Cancer	Interventional
NCT01112631	Prospective Study of Quality of Life in Non-small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC) Patients Treated With/Without Postoperative Radiotherapy	Observational

the patient's unique characteristics.

It is important to note that most of the prognostic factors identified to date have been derived from data obtained in large retrospective series or epidemiological records. Clearly, due to the important methodological limitations of those studies, it is difficult to extrapolate the findings of those studies into routine clinical practice without stronger supporting data. In this regard, new studies with more robust methodological designs are needed to obtain a higher level of evidence. Table 3 lists the main trials currently underway to evaluate PORT in NSCLC.

The studies performed to date have consistently found an association between PORT and a higher risk of cardiopulmonary morbidity and mortality, a finding that undermines the clinical benefits of this treatment. However, some studies have shown that IMRT is superior to 3D-CRT in NSCLC in terms of dosimetry and survival outcomes [58]. Heavy particle therapy seems to show certain dosimetric advantages vsIMRT in terms of protection of OARs, and could significantly reduce cardiopulmonary toxicity, although prospective studies confirming this clinical benefit are not yet available<sup>[59]</sup>.

For all the reasons described above, it is evident that only advanced radiotherapy techniques, such as VMAT or IMRT, which allow for better dose conformity, should be used for the treatment of NSCLC. In addition, these techniques should be used in all future clinical trials of PORT to better determine the true value of PORT in patients with NSCLC.

#### CONCLUSION

In patients with stage pN2 disease, current evidence suggests that the treatment decision should be evaluated on a case-by-case basis by a multidisciplinary team to determine whether the patient is likely to benefit from PORT. The treatment decision should consider several key clinical features, such as the volume of nodal mediastinal tumor burden, physical condition (performance status) and individual cardiopulmonary risk, but another technological issues, like availability to modern functional imaging devices or high dosimetric conformation radiotherapy (IGRT or VMAT), may be critical for a correct indication.

#### REFERENCES

- Péchoux CL, Mercier O, Belemsagha D, Bouaita R, Besse B, Fadel E. Role of adjuvant radiotherapy in completely resected non-small-cell lung cancer. EJC Suppl 2013; 11: 123-130 [PMID: 26217121 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcsup.2013.07.022]
- 2 Lopez Guerra JL, Gomez DR, Lin SH, Levy LB, Zhuang Y, Komaki R, Jaen J, Vaporciyan AA, Swisher SG, Cox JD, Liao Z, Rice DC. Risk factors for local and regional recurrence in patients with resected N0-N1 non-small-cell lung cancer, with implications for patient selection for adjuvant radiation therapy. Ann Oncol 2013; 24: 67-74 [PMID: 23002278 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mds274]
- 3 Postoperative radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data from nine randomised controlled trials. PORT Meta-analysis Trialists Group.



Lancet 1998; 352: 257-263 [PMID: 9690404]

- Billiet C, Decaluwé H, Peeters S, Vansteenkiste J, Dooms C, Haustermans K, De Leyn P, De 4 Ruysscher D. Modern post-operative radiotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer may improve local control and survival: a meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol 2014; 110: 3-8 [PMID: 24100149 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2013.08.011]
- 5 Feng QF, Wang M, Wang LJ, Yang ZY, Zhang YG, Zhang DW, Yin WB. A study of postoperative radiotherapy in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer: a randomized trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2000; 47: 925-929 [PMID: 10863061 DOI: 10.1016/s0360-3016(00)00509-5]
- Lally BE, Zelterman D, Colasanto JM, Haffty BG, Detterbeck FC, Wilson LD. Postoperative 6 radiotherapy for stage II or III non-small-cell lung cancer using the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results database. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 2998-3006 [PMID: 16769986 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2005.04.6110
- Mikell JL, Gillespie TW, Hall WA, Nickleach DC, Liu Y, Lipscomb J, Ramalingam SS, Rajpara RS, 7 Force SD, Fernandez FG, Owonikoko TK, Pillai RN, Khuri FR, Curran WJ, Higgins KA. Postoperative radiotherapy is associated with better survival in non-small cell lung cancer with involved N2 lymph nodes: results of an analysis of the National Cancer Data Base. J Thorac Oncol 2015; 10: 462-471 [PMID: 25384064 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.000000000000411]
- Abstract LBA3\_PR 'An international randomized trial, comparing post-operative conformal 8 radiotherapy (PORT) to no PORT, in patients with completely resected non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and mediastinal N2 involvement. Primary end-point analysis of Lung ART (IFCT-0503, UK NCRI, SAKK) NCT00410683 ' will be presented by Cécile Le Pechoux during the Presidential Symposium II, on Sunday. 2020; 18: 25
- 9 Ettinger DS, Wood DE, Aisner DL, Akerley W, Bauman JR, Bharat A, Bruno DS, Chang JY, Chirieac LR, D'Amico TA, Dilling TJ, Dowell J, Gettinger S, Gubens MA, Hegde A, Hennon M, Lackner RP, Lanuti M, Leal TA, Lin J, Loo BW Jr, Lovly CM, Martins RG, Massarelli E, Morgensztern D, Ng T, Otterson GA, Patel SP, Riely GJ, Schild SE, Shapiro TA, Singh AP, Stevenson J, Tam A, Yanagawa J, Yang SC, Gregory KM, Hughes M. NCCN Guidelines Insights: Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer, Version 2.2021. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2021; 19: 254-266 [PMID: 33668021 DOI: 10.6004/jnccn.2021.0013]
- Rodrigues G, Choy H, Bradley J, Rosenzweig KE, Bogart J, Curran WJ Jr, Gore E, Langer C, Louie 10 AV, Lutz S, Machtay M, Puri V, Werner-Wasik M, Videtic GMM. Adjuvant radiation therapy in locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer: Executive summary of an American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) evidence-based clinical practice guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol 2015; 5: 149-155 [PMID: 25957185 DOI: 10.1016/j.prro.2015.02.013]
- Guckenberger M, Belka C, Bezjak A, Bradley J, Daly ME, DeRuysscher D, Dziadziuszko R, Faivre-11 Finn C, Flentje M, Gore E, Higgins KA, Iyengar P, Kavanagh BD, Kumar S, Le Pechoux C, Lievens Y, Lindberg K, McDonald F, Ramella S, Rengan R, Ricardi U, Rimner A, Rodrigues GB, Schild SE, Senan S, Simone CB 2nd, Slotman BJ, Stuschke M, Videtic G, Widder J, Yom SS, Palma D. Practice recommendations for lung cancer radiotherapy during the COVID-19 pandemic: An ESTRO-ASTRO consensus statement. Radiother Oncol 2020; 146: 223-229 [PMID: 32342863 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2020.04.001
- Postmus PE, Kerr KM, Oudkerk M, Senan S, Waller DA, Vansteenkiste J, Escriu C, Peters S; ESMO 12 Guidelines Committee. Early and locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2017; 28: iv1-iv21 [PMID: 28881918 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdx222]
- 13 Kris MG, Gaspar LE, Chaft JE, Kennedy EB, Azzoli CG, Ellis PM, Lin SH, Pass HI, Seth R, Shepherd FA, Spigel DR, Strawn JR, Ung YC, Weyant M. Adjuvant Systemic Therapy and Adjuvant Radiation Therapy for Stage I to IIIA Completely Resected Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancers: American Society of Clinical Oncology/Cancer Care Ontario Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 2960-2974 [PMID: 28437162 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2017.72.4401]
- 14 Robinson CG, Patel AP, Bradley JD, DeWees T, Waqar SN, Morgensztern D, Baggstrom MQ, Govindan R, Bell JM, Guthrie TJ, Colditz GA, Crabtree TD, Kreisel D, Krupnick AS, Patterson GA, Meyers BF, Puri V. Postoperative radiotherapy for pathologic N2 non-small-cell lung cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy: a review of the National Cancer Data Base. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 870-876 [PMID: 25667283 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2014.58.5380]
- 15 Wind J, Smit EJ, Senan S, Eerenberg JP. Residual disease at the bronchial stump after curative resection for lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2007; 32: 29-34 [PMID: 17466532 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2007.04.003
- Ghiribelli C, Voltolini L, Paladini P, Luzzi L, Di Bisceglie M, Gotti G. Treatment and survival after 16 lung resection for non-small cell lung cancer in patients with microscopic residual disease at the bronchial stump. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 1999; 16: 555-559 [PMID: 10609907 DOI: 10.1016/s1010-7940(99)00310-3]
- 17 Ohguri T, Yahara K, Moon SD, Yamaguchi S, Imada H, Hanagiri T, Tanaka F, Terashima H, Korogi Y. Postoperative radiotherapy for incompletely resected non-small cell lung cancer: clinical outcomes and prognostic value of the histological subtype. J Radiat Res 2012; 53: 319-325 [PMID: 22327172 DOI: 10.1269/jrr.11082]
- 18 Hancock JG, Rosen JE, Antonicelli A, Moreno A, Kim AW, Detterbeck FC, Boffa DJ. Impact of adjuvant treatment for microscopic residual disease after non-small cell lung cancer surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2015; 99: 406-413 [PMID: 25528723 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.09.033]



- Wang EH, Corso CD, Rutter CE, Park HS, Chen AB, Kim AW, Wilson LD, Decker RH, Yu JB. 19 Postoperative Radiation Therapy Is Associated With Improved Overall Survival in Incompletely Resected Stage II and III Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 2727-2734 [PMID: 26101240 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2015.61.1517]
- 20 Gelberg J, Grondin S, Tremblay A. Mediastinal staging for lung cancer. Can Respir J 2014; 21: 159-161 [PMID: 24914606 DOI: 10.1155/2014/890108]
- Gould MK, Kuschner WG, Rydzak CE, Maclean CC, Demas AN, Shigemitsu H, Chan JK, Owens 21 DK. Test performance of positron emission tomography and computed tomography for mediastinal staging in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med 2003; 139: 879-892 [PMID: 14644890 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-139-11-200311180-00013]
- 22 Zhao L, He ZY, Zhong XN, Cui ML. (18)FDG-PET/CT for detection of mediastinal nodal metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Surg Oncol 2012; 21: 230-236 [PMID: 22197027 DOI: 10.1016/i.suronc.2011.11.001
- Lv YL, Yuan DM, Wang K, Miao XH, Qian Q, Wei SZ, Zhu XX, Song Y. Diagnostic performance 23 of integrated positron emission tomography/computed tomography for mediastinal lymph node staging in non-small cell lung cancer: a bivariate systematic review and meta-analysis. J Thorac Oncol 2011; 6: 1350-1358 [PMID: 21642874 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e31821d4384]
- Stigt JA, Boers JE, Boomsma MF. Ultrasound-Guided Tissue Core Biopsies in Supraclavicular 24 Lymph Nodes in Patients with Suspected Thoracic Malignancies. Respiration 2015; 90: 412-415 [PMID: 26484528 DOI: 10.1159/000441301]
- Vilmann P, Clementsen PF, Colella S, Siemsen M, De Leyn P, Dumonceau JM, Herth FJ, Larghi A, Vazquez-Sequeiros E, Hassan C, Crombag L, Korevaar DA, Konge L, Annema JT. Combined endobronchial and oesophageal endosonography for the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer. European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline, in cooperation with the European Respiratory Society (ERS) and the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS). Eur Respir J 2015; 46: 40-60 [PMID: 26034128 DOI: 10.1183/09031936.00064515]
- Hammoud ZT, Anderson RC, Meyers BF, Guthrie TJ, Roper CL, Cooper JD, Patterson GA. The 26 current role of mediastinoscopy in the evaluation of thoracic disease. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1999; 118: 894-899 [PMID: 10534695 DOI: 10.1016/s0022-5223(99)70059-0]
- Milleron B, Westeel V, Quoix E, Moro-Sibilot D, Braun D, Lebeau B, Depierre A; French Thoracic 27 Cooperative Group. Complete response following preoperative chemotherapy for resectable nonsmall cell lung cancer: accuracy of clinical assessment using the French trial database. Chest 2005; 128: 1442-1447 [PMID: 16162741 DOI: 10.1378/chest.128.3.1442]
- 28 Cerfolio RJ, Bryant AS. When is it best to repeat a 2-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography/computed tomography scan on patients with non-small cell lung cancer who have received neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy? Ann Thorac Surg 2007; 84: 1092-1097 [PMID: 17888953 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.05.050]
- Eschmann SM, Friedel G, Paulsen F, Reimold M, Hehr T, Budach W, Langen HJ, Bares R. 18F-29 FDG PET for assessment of therapy response and preoperative re-evaluation after neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy in stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2007; 34: 463-471 [PMID: 17103167 DOI: 10.1007/s00259-006-0273-5]
- 30 Zielinski M. Szlubowski A. Kołodziej M. Orzechowski S. Laczynska E. Pankowski J. Jakubiak M. Obrochta A, Comparison of endobronchial ultrasound and/or endoesophageal ultrasound with transcervical extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy for staging and restaging of non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2013; 8: 630-636 [PMID: 23584295 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e318287c0ce]
- Rami-Porta R, Call S. Invasive staging of mediastinal lymph nodes: mediastinoscopy and 31 remediastinoscopy. Thorac Surg Clin 2012; 22: 177-189 [PMID: 22520285 DOI: 10.1016/j.thorsurg.2011.12.003]
- 32 Wang BY, Huang JY, Chen HC, Lin CH, Lin SH, Hung WH, Cheng YF. The comparison between adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma in lung cancer patients. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2020; 146: 43-52 [PMID: 31705294 DOI: 10.1007/s00432-019-03079-8]
- Nakamura H, Sakai H, Kimura H, Miyazawa T, Marushima H, Saji H. Difference in Postsurgical 33 Prognostic Factors between Lung Adenocarcinoma and Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2017; 23: 291-297 [PMID: 28966230 DOI: 10.5761/atcs.oa.17-00020]
- 34 Bennouna J, Senellart H, Hiret S, Vaissiere N, Douillard JY. Impact of histology on survival of resected non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) receiving adjuvant chemotherapy: subgroup analysis of the adjuvant vinorelbine (NVB) cisplatin (CDDP) versus observation in the ANITA trial. Lung Cancer 2011; 74: 30-34 [PMID: 21371774 DOI: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2011.02.004]
- Liu T, Mu Y, Dang J, Li G. The role of postoperative radiotherapy for completely resected pIIIA-N2 35 non-small cell lung cancer patients with different clinicopathological features: a systemic review and meta-analysis. J Cancer 2019; 10: 3941-3949 [PMID: 31417638 DOI: 10.7150/jca.28680]
- 36 Kai L, Zhoumiao C, Shaohua X, Zhao C, Zhijun L, Zhengfu H, Xiujun C. The lymph node ratio predicts cancer-specific survival of node-positive non-small cell lung cancer patients: a populationbased SEER analysis. J Cardiothorac Surg 2021; 16: 13 [PMID: 33468199 DOI: 10.1186/s13019-020-01390-x
- Zhou X, Wu C, Cheng Q. Negative Lymph Node Count Predicts Survival of Resected Non-small Cell 37 Lung Cancer. Lung 2020; 198: 839-846 [PMID: 32683563 DOI: 10.1007/s00408-020-00378-7]
- 38 Gao F, Li N, Xu Y, Yang G. Effects of Postoperative Radiotherapy on Survival of Patients With Stage IIIA Resected Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Analysis of the SEER Database. J Natl Compr



Canc Netw 2020; 18: 718-727 [PMID: 32502986 DOI: 10.6004/jnccn.2020.7537]

- 39 Deng W, Xu T, Xu Y, Wang Y, Liu X, Zhao Y, Yang P, Liao Z. Survival Patterns for Patients with Resected N2 Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer and Postoperative Radiotherapy: A Prognostic Scoring Model and Heat Map Approach. J Thorac Oncol 2018; 13: 1968-1974 [PMID: 30194035 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.08.2021]
- Jiang G, Huang J, Cui T, Lin X, Lin G. A biomarker-based prediction model for risk of locoregional 40 recurrence in pathologic stage IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2020; 13: 3060-3082 [PMID: 33425107]
- 41 Nestle U, De Ruysscher D, Ricardi U, Geets X, Belderbos J, Pöttgen C, Dziadiuszko R, Peeters S, Lievens Y, Hurkmans C, Slotman B, Ramella S, Faivre-Finn C, McDonald F, Manapov F, Putora PM, LePéchoux C, Van Houtte P. ESTRO ACROP guidelines for target volume definition in the treatment of locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Radiother Oncol 2018; 127: 1-5 [PMID: 29605476 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2018.02.0231
- De Ruysscher D, Faivre-Finn C, Moeller D, Nestle U, Hurkmans CW, Le Péchoux C, Belderbos J, 42 Guckenberger M, Senan S; Lung Group and the Radiation Oncology Group of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC). European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) recommendations for planning and delivery of high-dose, high precision radiotherapy for lung cancer. Radiother Oncol 2017; 124: 1-10 [PMID: 28666551 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2017.06.003]
- 43 Spoelstra FO, Senan S, Le Péchoux C, Ishikura S, Casas F, Ball D, Price A, De Ruysscher D, van Sörnsen de Koste JR; Lung Adjuvant Radiotherapy Trial Investigators Group. Variations in target volume definition for postoperative radiotherapy in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: analysis of an international contouring study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010; 76: 1106-1113 [PMID: 19560881 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2009.02.072]
- 44 Seol HY, Kim YS, Kim SJ. Predictive Value of 18F-Fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography or Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography for Assessment of Occult Lymph Node Metastasis in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Oncology 2021; 99: 96-104 [PMID: 32980838 DOI: 10.1159/000509988]
- 45 Gómez A, González JA, Couñago F, Vallejo C, Casas F, de Dios NR. Evidence-based recommendations of postoperative radiotherapy in lung cancer from Oncologic Group for the Study of Lung Cancer (Spanish Radiation Oncology Society). Clin Transl Oncol 2016; 18: 331-341 [PMID: 26280402 DOI: 10.1007/s12094-015-1374-z]
- 46 Kong FM, Ritter T, Quint DJ, Senan S, Gaspar LE, Komaki RU, Hurkmans CW, Timmerman R, Bezjak A, Bradley JD, Movsas B, Marsh L, Okunieff P, Choy H, Curran WJ Jr. Consideration of dose limits for organs at risk of thoracic radiotherapy: atlas for lung, proximal bronchial tree, esophagus, spinal cord, ribs, and brachial plexus. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011; 81: 1442-1457 [PMID: 20934273 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2010.07.1977]
- 47 Boonyawan K, Gomez DR, Komaki R, Xu Y, Nantavithya C, Allen PK, Mohan R, Liao Z. Clinical and Dosimetric Factors Predicting Grade ≥2 Radiation Pneumonitis After Postoperative Radiotherapy for Patients With Non-Small Cell Lung Carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2018; 101: 919-926 [PMID: 29976504 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2018.04.012]
- Shepherd AF, Iocolano M, Leeman J, Imber BS, Wild AT, Offin M, Chaft JE, Huang J, Rimner A, 48 Wu AJ, Gelblum DY, Shaverdian N, Simone CB 2nd, Gomez DR, Yorke ED, Jackson A. Clinical and Dosimetric Predictors of Radiation Pneumonitis in Patients With Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Undergoing Postoperative Radiation Therapy. Pract Radiat Oncol 2021; 11: e52-e62 [PMID: 33068790 DOI: 10.1016/j.prro.2020.09.014]
- 49 Tang X, Li Y, Tian X, Zhou X, Wang Y, Huang M, Ren L, Zhou L, Xue J, Ding Z, Zhu J, Xu Y, Peng F, Wang J, Lu Y, Gong Y. Predicting severe acute radiation pneumonitis in patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer receiving postoperative radiotherapy: Development and internal validation of a nomogram based on the clinical and dose-volume histogram parameters. Radiother Oncol 2019; 132: 197-203 [PMID: 30385172 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2018.10.016]
- 50 Yu JH, Wang CL, Liu Y, Wang JM, Lv CX, Liu J, Zhang Q, Fu XL, Cai XW. Study of the predictors for radiation pneumonitis in patient with non-small cell lung cancer received radiotherapy after pneumonectomy. Cancer Radiother 2021; 25: 323-329 [PMID: 33446419 DOI: 10.1016/j.canrad.2020.11.001]
- Zhao L, Ji W, Ou G, Lv J, Liang J, Feng Q, Zhou Z, Wang L, Yin W. Risk factors for radiation-51 induced lung toxicity in patients with non-small cell lung cancer who received postoperative radiation therapy. Lung Cancer 2012; 77: 326-330 [PMID: 22512813 DOI: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2012.03.017]
- 52 Bütof R, Simon M, Löck S, Troost EGC, Appold S, Krause M, Baumann M. PORTAF postoperative radiotherapy of non-small cell lung cancer: accelerated versus conventional fractionation - study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 2017; 18: 608 [PMID: 29262836 DOI: 10.1186/s13063-017-2346-0]
- Corso CD, Rutter CE, Wilson LD, Kim AW, Decker RH, Husain ZA. Re-evaluation of the role of postoperative radiotherapy and the impact of radiation dose for non-small-cell lung cancer using the National Cancer Database. J Thorac Oncol 2015; 10: 148-155 [PMID: 25325781 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.0000000000000406
- 54 Francis S, Orton A, Stoddard G, Tao R, Hitchcock YJ, Akerley W, Kokeny KE. Sequencing of Postoperative Radiotherapy and Chemotherapy for Locally Advanced or Incompletely Resected Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2018; 36: 333-341 [PMID: 29236592 DOI:



#### 10.1200/JCO.2017.74.4771]

- Verma V, Moreno AC, Haque W, Fang P, Lin SH. Sequential Versus Concurrent Chemoradiation 55 Therapy by Surgical Margin Status in Resected Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2018; 16: 508-516 [PMID: 29752325 DOI: 10.6004/jnccn.2018.7007]
- 56 Zhang Y, Han A, Fu Z, Xu S, Zhang Z. The Dosimetric Comparisons of CRT, IMRT, ARC, CRT+IMRT, and CRT+ARC of Postoperative Radiotherapy in IIIA-N2 Stage Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients. Biomed Res Int 2019; 2019: 8989241 [PMID: 31011583 DOI: 10.1155/2019/8989241]
- 57 Chun SG, Hu C, Choy H, Komaki RU, Timmerman RD, Schild SE, Bogart JA, Dobelbower MC, Bosch W, Galvin JM, Kavadi VS, Narayan S, Iyengar P, Robinson CG, Wynn RB, Raben A, Augspurger ME, MacRae RM, Paulus R, Bradley JD. Impact of Intensity-Modulated Radiation Therapy Technique for Locally Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Secondary Analysis of the NRG Oncology RTOG 0617 Randomized Clinical Trial. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 56-62 [PMID: 28034064 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.69.1378]
- Kong M, Hong SE. Comparison of survival rates between 3D conformal radiotherapy and intensity-58 modulated radiotherapy in patients with stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Onco Targets Ther 2016; 9: 7227-7234 [PMID: 27920560 DOI: 10.2147/OTT.S124311]
- Boyce-Fappiano D, Nguyen QN, Chapman BV, Allen PK, Gjyshi O, Pezzi TA, De B, Gomez D, Lin 59 SH, Chang JY, Liao Z, Lee P, Gandhi SJ. Single Institution Experience of Proton and Photon-based Postoperative Radiation Therapy for Non-small-cell Lung Cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 2021 [PMID: 33707003 DOI: 10.1016/j.cllc.2021.02.002]



WJC0

## World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 845-867

DOI: 10.5306/wico.v12.i10.845

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

REVIEW

### Relationship between Th17 immune response and cancer

Hanna Santos Margues, Breno Bittencourt de Brito, Filipe Antônio França da Silva, Maria Luísa Cordeiro Santos, Júlio César Braga de Souza, Thiago Macêdo Lopes Correia, Luana Weber Lopes, Navara Silva de Macêdo Neres, Rafael Santos Dantas Miranda Dórea, Anna Carolina Saúde Dantas, Lorena Lôbo Brito Morbeck, Iasmin Souza Lima, Amanda Alves de Almeida, Maiara Raulina de Jesus Dias, Fabrício Freire de Melo

**ORCID number:** Hanna Santos Marques 0000-0001-5741-1570; Breno Bittencourt de Brito 0000-0002-1831-7909; Filipe Antônio França da Silva 0000-0002-0550-1109; Maria Luísa Cordeiro Santos 0000-0001-7078-9789; Júlio César Braga de Souza 0000-0003-0916-4450; Thiago Macêdo Lopes Correia 0000-0003-1654-614X; Luana Weber Lopes 0000-0002-7771-2650; Nayara Silva de Macêdo Neres 0000-0003-4595-7140; Rafael Santos Dantas Miranda Dórea 0000-0002-5347-6913; Anna Carolina Saúde Dantas 0000-0002-1133-5987; Lorena Lôbo Brito Morbeck 0000-0002-1093-1939; Iasmin Souza Lima 0000-0002-1550-0310; Amanda Alves de Almeida 0000-0001-7541-9816: Maiara Raulina de Jesus Dias 0000-0002-9037-1125; Fabrício Freire de Melo 0000-0002-5680-2753

Author contributions: All authors equally contributed to this paper with conception and design of the study, literature review and analysis, drafting and critical revision and editing, and final approval of the final version.

#### Conflict-of-interest statement:

There is no conflict of interest associated with any of the senior author or other coauthors contributed their efforts in this manuscript.

Hanna Santos Marques, Campus Vitória da Conquista, Universidade Estadual do Sudoeste da Bahia, Vitória da Conquista 45083-900, Bahia, Brazil

Breno Bittencourt de Brito, Filipe Antônio França da Silva, Maria Luísa Cordeiro Santos, Júlio César Braga de Souza, Thiago Macêdo Lopes Correia, Luana Weber Lopes, Nayara Silva de Macêdo Neres, Rafael Santos Dantas Miranda Dórea, Anna Carolina Saúde Dantas, Lorena Lôbo Brito Morbeck, lasmin Souza Lima, Amanda Alves de Almeida, Maiara Raulina de Jesus Dias, Fabrício Freire de Melo, Instituto Multidisciplinar em Saúde, Universidade Federal da Bahia, Vit ória da Conquista 45029-094, Bahia, Brazil

Corresponding author: Fabrício Freire de Melo, PhD, Professor, Instituto Multidisciplinar em Saúde, Universidade Federal da Bahia, Rua Hormindo Barros 58, Quadra 17, Lote 58, Vitória da Conquista 45029-094, Bahia, Brazil. freiremelo@yahoo.com.br

#### Abstract

Cancer is the second leading cause of death worldwide and epidemiological projections predict growing cancer mortality rates in the next decades. Cancer has a close relationship with the immune system and, although Th17 cells are known to play roles in the immune response against microorganisms and in autoimmunity, studies have emphasized their roles in cancer pathogenesis. The Th17 immune response profile is involved in several types of cancer including urogenital, respiratory, gastrointestinal, and skin cancers. This type of immune response exerts pro and antitumor functions through several mechanisms, depending on the context of each tumor, including the protumor angiogenesis and exhaustion of T cells and the antitumor recruitment of T cells and neutrophils to the tumor microenvironment. Among other factors, the paradoxical behavior of Th17 cells in this setting has been attributed to its plasticity potential, which makes possible their conversion into other types of T cells such as Th17/Treg and Th17/Th1 cells. Interleukin (IL)-17 stands out among Th17-related cytokines since it modulates pathways and interacts with other cell profiles in the tumor microenvironment, which allow Th17 cells to prevail in tumors. Moreover, the IL-17 is able to mediate pro and antitumor processes that influence the development and progression of various cancers, being associated with variable clinical outcomes. The understanding of the relationship between the Th17 immune response and cancer as well as the singularities of carcinogenic processes in each type of tumor



Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Specialty type: Oncology

Country/Territory of origin: Brazil

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: March 1, 2021 Peer-review started: March 1, 2021 First decision: July 6, 2021 Revised: July 21, 2021 Accepted: September 16, 2021 Article in press: September 16, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Li X, Mi Y S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Li JH



is crucial for the identification of new therapeutic targets.

Key Words: Cancer; Immune response; Th17 cells; Interleukin-17; Tumor microenvironment; Pathophysiology

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Cancer is still an important cause of death worldwide. Its development and progression are intimately related to the host immune response. In that context, the Th17 profile plays crucial roles in the pathogenesis of several cancers, promoting antitumor and protumor mechanisms. This study reviews the interactions occurring between Th17 responses and cancer.

Citation: Marques HS, de Brito BB, da Silva FAF, Santos MLC, de Souza JCB, Correia TML, Lopes LW, Neres NSM, Dórea RSDM, Dantas ACS, Morbeck LLB, Lima IS, de Almeida AA, Dias MRJ, de Melo FF. Relationship between Th17 immune response and cancer. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12(10): 845-867

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/845.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.845

#### INTRODUCTION

Cancer represents the second leading cause of death worldwide and has been responsible for 8.97 million deaths from 2000 to 2016 according to the World Health Organization (WHO). The five most lethal malignancy types are lung, liver, gastric, breast, and colon cancers. Four out of the five aforementioned cancers are among the 20 main causes of death in the world and epidemiological studies predict a tendency of increasing mortality rates associated with these diseases in the next 40 years[1]. The knowledge on the relationship between cancer and the immune system was limited for a long time due to the tumor capacity of evading immune response through various mechanisms[2]. However, current evidence has emphasized that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are intimately associated with processes that unleash cancer as well as with the responses against the malignant cells through the detection of foreign antigens. These cells interact with each other and with other immune system components by releasing cytokines that are able to potentialize or suppress mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment, playing protumor and antitumor roles in that context[3].

Th17 cells is a type of T cell and its main related cytokine is the interleukin (IL)-17, which plays roles in the expression of other cytokines, including IL-6, IL-21, IL-22, interferon (IFN)-y, and IL-10[4]. The Th17 cells are associated mainly with the immune response against bacteria and fungi, and also perform remarkable contributions in the promotion of inflammation and autoimmunity[5-7]. Moreover, the Th17 profile plays controversial roles in the tumor immunity and can be associated both to unfavorable and favorable outcomes[8]. The duality of Th17 cells in the setting of tumor immunity is potentialized by their plasticity, since they are able to switch to a Th1 phenotype, performing antitumor activities, and they are also capable of expressing a Treg phenotype, which can exert pro and antitumor activities, depending on the context of the immune response [9,10]. The Th17 cells have a peculiar relationship with the tumor microenvironment and use various molecular processes such as the induction and recruitment of further Th17 cells to maintain tumor infiltration[11-14]. Moreover, these cells play important roles in the growing and development of cancerous cells[15]. In that context, the mechanisms performed by Th17 cells that favor or impair tumor progression are complex and depend mainly on the type of cancer. These cells induce some mechanisms with a high carcinogenic potential such as angiogenesis, whereas they can also promote the recruitment of immune system cells to the tumor microenvironment and the activation of effector CD8+ T cells, promoting antitumor activities [16].

The understanding of the mechanisms developed by Th17 cells to modulate the tumor microenvironment and to interact with other cells is a way to identify potential therapeutic targets for various types of cancer that are associated with cellular activities related to that immune profile. Those cells interact in interesting manners



with various interleukins and with cancer stem cells (CSCs)[17]. In addition, the relationship between Th17 cells and CSCs can be considered as bidirectional, with mutual modulation mechanisms[18-20]. This paper aims to review the role played by the Th17 response in various types of cancer, describing its presence in the tumor microenvironment and comparing the repercussions related to this immune profile in cancers, and to approach potential therapeutic targets associated with the immune system mechanisms related to Th17 cells.

#### CHARACTERIZATION OF THE TH17 RESPONSE

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can play proinflammatory and regulating roles in the immune response. The classic differentiation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into two sets of cells with patterns of cytokine secretion and distinct functions, known as Th1 cells and Th2 cells, has changed with the discovery of a new set of cells known as Th17 cells[21]. Th17 cells express the RORyt (Retinoic-acid-receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor gamma), which is a molecular determinant for its polarization through IL-17A expression[22, 23]. In rodents, these cells seem to have the same precursor as Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells, since naive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells stimulated only by transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ , convert into Treg cells. On the other hand, TGF- $\beta$  and IL-6 together induce the emergence of Th17 cells. A study using splenocytes from mice found that an environment containing TGF- $\beta$  predisposed the emergence of ex-Th17 Foxp3 cells, and simultaneous TGF- $\beta$ and IL-6 stimuli led to enhanced production of IL-17Foxp3++Neg cells. In addition, that study showed that TGF- $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-23 together induced an increase in IL-17A release by Th17 cells[24]. IL-23, in its turn, plays the role of maintaining and expanding these cells. In humans, a relationship between Th17 cells and Th1 cells is evident. Naive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the presence of IL-23 and IL-1β positively regulate RORγt, T-bet, IL-23R, and IL-12R. When the two aforementioned cytokines are expressed, IL-17 is produced alone or in combination with INF- $\gamma$ . TGF- $\beta$  inhibits the development of both Th1 cells and Th2 cells, and is not essential for the development or inhibition of Th17 cells; therefore, it indirectly favors the expansion of the latter [25,26]. The main function of Th17 cells is to contribute to the immune response against extracellular pathogens during infectious processes, but they are also suggested to play an important role in the pathogenesis of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, as well as in acute graftversus-host disease[5-7]. Th17 cells activate neutrophils, stimulate the emergence of CXCL chemokines and MUC5AC, the production of MUC5B mucins by bronchial epithelial cells, the expression of beta defensin-2 and CCL20 by lung epithelial cells, and contribute to the migration and activation of macrophages[7].

The IL-17 family is made up of six different cytokines: IL-17A, IL-17B, IL-17C, IL-17D, IL-17E (IL-25), and IL-17F. IL-17 cytokines have proinflammatory properties, are expressed in various parts of the body, and signals by interacting with their transmembrane receptors. Five receptors from the IL-17 family have been identified: IL-17RA, IL-17RB, IL-17RC, IL-17RD, and IL-17RE. In addition to Th17 Lymphocytes, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, macrophages, and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells produce IL-17. These cells also express IL-23R and secrete IL-21 and IL-22. Among all IL-17 cytokines, IL-17F has the highest degree of conservation with the main cytokine in the family, IL-17A[27]. The IL-17 induces neutrophil recruitment and production of proinflammatory mediators, such as IL-1, IL-8, metalloproteinases 1 and 13, and prostaglandin E2[28,29].

Th17 cells can also produce IL-22. This cytokine is a member of the IL-10 family, and the IL-22R and IL-10R2 receptors have been identified as heterodimeric receptors mediating IL-22 signaling. Whereas IL-10R is ubiquitously expressed, IL-22R is restricted to cells harbored in tissues[30]. IL-22 targets epithelial and non-hematopoietic stromal cells and can promote cell proliferation, playing a role in tissue regeneration. In addition, it regulates host defenses on barrier surfaces. However, IL-22 has also been associated with the development of several diseases involving inflammatory mechanisms[31].

The inflammatory effects produced by IL-17 include stimulus for secretion of IL-6 by human fibroblasts and increased expression of the intercellular adhesion molecule-1[32]. In addition, Th17 cells that co-produce IL-21 regulate B cell responses, induce differentiation of plasma cells, and lead to the formation of antibodies[33]. In that context, the role of Th17 cells as key promoters of inflammation in various pathophysiological contexts, including cancer, has been investigated[8]. Of note, Th17 cells have already been identified in various types of human tumors[8], such as melanoma, ovarian cancer, colorectal cancer, and lung cancer[34,35].

Raisbideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Despite the advances in the knowledge about the roles of Th17 cells in complex biological contexts, many interactions involving these cells remain unknown mainly due to their plasticity<sup>[35]</sup>. The differentiation of T cells is no longer considered as linear and irreversible, since evidence has shown that populations of differentiated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can alter the spectrum of cytokines produced and, thus, the outcomes they promote[36]. The plasticity of Th17 cells stands out among the other T cells due to its high level of complexity, involving cytokine-dependent and -independent events, and due to the variability of functional phenotypes that can be adopted by the cells [37]. Th17 cells can play roles that are often heterogeneous, depending on the environmental conditions they are found in. Phenotypes similar to Th1 cells are expressed by Th17 cells in inflammatory environments, with a remarkable production of IFN- $\gamma$ , contributing as an immunological support against fungal and extracellular bacterial infections, but also for intestinal inflammation observed in colitis, when the activity of these cells is not properly controlled [38-40]. The transfer of antigen-specific Th17 cells to a host has shown that Th17 cells can assume the phenotype of a Th2 cell in infections by Nippostrongilus brasiliensis[41]. This Th17/Th2 conversion has also been identified in the peripheral blood of patients with asthma, whose Th17/Th2 cells secreted cytokines from both profiles (II-17, IL-22, IL-4, and IL-5), which evidences the pathogenic potential of these cells in the induction of intense inflammatory infiltrates [42]. In addition to their pro-inflammatory role, Th17 cells are also able to adopt a phenotype similar to that of Treg cells. In fact, both the conversion of Treg cells into Th17 cells and the conversion of Th17 cells into Treg cells are described by previous studies, possibly because both cell types share differentiation characteristics, given the participation of TGF- $\beta$  in inducing the differentiation of both Treg and Th17 cells[43]. Although TGF- $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-23 alone tend to promote IL-17A release by Th17 cells, the presence of Prostalglandins E2 (PGE<sub>2</sub>) makes the stimuli with these cytokines result in the conversion of Th17 cells into regulatory IL-17AnegFoxp3 cells, which demonstrates the importance of the PGE<sub>2</sub> in the transdifferentiation of Th17 cells along with TGF- $\beta$ [24]. Although it presents a certain stability, the aforementioned process has been shown to be bidirectional and, in the presence of Th17-polarizing cytokines, Th17-derived Treg cells can reassume their original Th17 cells phenotype (Figure 1) [9]. Moreover, in response to IL-27, Th17 cells acquire a phenotype similar to that observed in TR1 cells via activation of the Blimp-1 factor, which results in the secretion of cytokines such as IL-10[44].

#### RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TH17 CELLS AND CANCER

Although advances have been achieved in the study of Th17 responses, the knowledge regarding its roles in the immune system is still limited. Moreover, the tumor microenvironment has been broadly studied because it is directly associated with cancer development and progression. The understanding on how the immune system cells behave in the aforementioned microenvironment and how this environment is influenced by those cells make possible a broader comprehension about cancer and the therapeutic possibilities against this disease[45]. The participation of Th17 cells in the different types of cancer is paradoxical, since they can play antitumor and protumor roles[8]. It is believed that the Th17 cells prevail in the tumor microenvironment through some mechanisms, including: (1) The induction of T cells involving the TGF- $\beta$ 1 and IL-6. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3)[11]; (2) Recruitment of Th17 cells dependent on various chemokines including CCL20, CCL17, CCL22, MIF, RANTES, and MCP1[12-15]; (3) Conversion from other cell types[15]; and (4) Th17 cell polarization through cytokines such as IL-1β and IL-13 that are produced in the tumor environment by specific myeloid cells[46]. In addition, the tumor microenvironment has antigens and metabolites that are able to suppress CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, which start producing co-inhibitory and less effective molecules[47]. However, the Th17 cells from the tumor microenvironment seem to have an enhanced resistance to dysfunctionality because they present less exhaustion markers than other T cells as well as more CCR7, Lef1, and TCF7 markers[48,49].

An important aspect regarding Th17 cells in cancer settings is the aforementioned plasticity potential through their transformation into Treg cells, which occurs with TCR engagement leading to the expression of Foxp3 and subsequent imunossupressive roles by those cells. Of note, IL17+Foxp3+ T cells have been associated with the emergence of CSCs and with the inhibition of tumor-specific T CD8<sup>+</sup> cells in colorectal cancer. A study showed that IL17+Foxp3+ T cells induce the expression of markers such as CD133, CD44s, CD166, EpCAM, and ALDH1 in bone marrow-derived mononuclear





Figure 1 Interleukin-6, interleukin-23 e transforming growth factor-β stimuli for interleukin-17A production and the role of Prostalglandins E2 in Th17 cells transdifferentiation into interleukin-17NEG FOXP3 cell. TGF: Transforming growth factor; IL: Interleukin; PGE,: Prostalglandins E2.

cells and promoted their conversion into cancer-initiating cells[50,51].

Conversely, the production of IL-6 in mice with melanoma led to the conversion of Treg cells into Th17 cells, which resulted in the promotion of the activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and reduction in tumor growth [52]. A recent study on CpG (ODNs)/CpG 1826 oligodeoxynucleotides demonstrated the potential of these cells in the inhibition of Treg cells and in the stimulation of Th17 cells, extending survival among mice with leukemia<sup>[53]</sup>. Another study observed that the Treg/Th17 cell ratio was higher among patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) than in controls, suggesting that these cells are involved in the progression of OSCC and have the potential to be used as a prognostic indicator [54]. Considering the importance of the Th17/Treg axis in cancer-related immune response and inflammation, a study assessed the metabolic features involved in that setting. The researchers found that Th17 cells are more dependent on the synthesis of fatty acids than Treg cells, which primarily perform the oxidation of fatty acids to keep their energetic homeostasis. This metabolic differences can make the manipulation of the Th17/Treg axis possible for new therapeutic alternatives against neoplasms[55].

Interestingly, the plasticity of Th17 cells has also been observed with their conversion into Th1 Lymphocytes, exerting antitumor effects[10,56]. It is not well known if that transformation occurs inside the tumor microenvironment or if Th17/Th1 cells are recruited to the tumor microenvironment[57,58]. Muranski et al[48] reported that the Th17 cells polarization leads to the production of Th1 cells-related molecules such as INF-y and T-bet, which are associated with remarkable antitumor activities[48].

The mechanisms taking place in tumor-related Th17 responses are various and depend on the type of cancer. A study observed that the transference of Th17 cells implied in the recruitment of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, and DCs for the tumor microenvironment. Additionally, when in contact with tumor antigens, Th17 cells acquired dendritic cell MCHI-peptide complexes and, through MHCI-TCR interaction and IL-2 release, there was an activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, reinforcing the role of Th17 cells in tumor immunity[16]. Studies have verified that IL-17 may indirectly potentialize the functions of cytotoxic T lymphocytes by stimulating the expression of IL-6 and IL-12, leading to antitumor effects[59]. The Il-17 acts in the recruitment and expansion of neutrophils that are essential to the destruction of tumor cells as well as contributes to the expression of various proinflammatory molecules including IL-1β, IL-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α, PGE<sub>2</sub>, CXCL1, CXCL5, CXCL8, and GMCSF[60-65]. On the other hand, Wang et al[54] demonstrated that Th17 cells play protumor roles since IL-17 induces the expression of IL-6, which is responsible for activating oncogenic signal transducers and STAT3. The STAT3 aids in the promotion of tumor growth through the regulation of pro-angiogenic genes[66]. Differently from the IL-17 dualism, the IL-22 has shown to be a protumor interleukin that, through STAT3, is involved in the development of tumor cells[67-69].



The Th17 cytokines, especially IL-17, play important roles in the promotion of tumor angiogenesis<sup>[70]</sup>. Studies have described that the IL-17 induces the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and that cytokine seems to be associated with a higher tumor vascular density [71]. In addition, the II-17 induced the expression of angionenic chemokines including CXCL-1, CXCL-5, CXCL-6, and CXCL-8, leading to an increased angiogenic potential among immunocompromised rats with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC)[72]. Another study described that IL-17 is involved in the activation of angiogenic genes through the IL-6/STAT3 pathway<sup>[73]</sup>. The IL-22 has also been positively correlated with angiogenesis. A study suggested that it is involved in the proliferation, survival, and migration of endothelial cells. Moreover, that investigation described that IL-22 leads to vascular growth in animals<sup>[74]</sup>. Finally, a systematic review highlighted that, although there is a paradox in the behavior of the Th17 response in the different types of cancer, the expression of Th17 cells is often associated with better prognosis whereas the IL-17 is related to cancer progression[75].

Studies have described the IL-27 potential as a Th17 response inhibitor. This process occurs through the downregulation of RORyt[17]. The IL-27 is involved in the suppression of protumor cytokines such as IL-23 and IL-17[76]. A recent study described the existence of an inverse relationship between IL-27 and IL-17 as well as between IL-27 and IL-6. In patients with gastric cancer, studies have observed high concentrations of Th17 cells-related cytokines including IL-1β, IL-6, IL-17A, IL-23, and TGF-β and it is believed that this phenomenon occurs due to the low or null IL-27 Levels, since IL-27 inhibits RORyt and IL-6. This relationship has been observed in other cancers as well<sup>[77]</sup>. Additionally, another study observed that the IL-27 performed an antitumor activity through the IL-17 inhibition via RORyt among patients with small-cell lung cancer[78]. Of note, these findings suggest a therapeutic potential of the IL-27 through the inhibition of protumor Th17 cells-related mechanisms.

Interestingly, the cancerous cells inside individual tumors frequently exist in various phenotypic states. CSCs are a subpopulation of cells present in several types of cancer and that have self-renewal ability and tumorigenicity when transplanted to an animal host. Evidence on CSCs have aimed at developing a promising approach for the improvement of antitumor therapies. The CSCs are closely related to Th17 cellsrelated cytokines and other components in the tumor microenvironment, and they play crucial roles in the tumor progression and metastasis<sup>[79,80]</sup>. These cells can promote the differentiation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into Th17 cells through the release of soluble mediators and cell-to-cell contact[18,19]. Moreover, a study observed that the interaction between stem cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can lead to the transformation of remaining Th17 cells through the activity of STAT3[81]. On the other hand, the IL-17 has shown to participate in the maintenance of CSCs through the action of the IL-17A receptor and the capacity of activating these cells in their quiescent state, configuring a more aggressive protumor behavior for the CSCs[20]. The recurrence of tumors after a primary treatment is still very frequent, and studies have supported that a successfull cancer therapy might be related to the elimination of CSCs[82]. In that context, the understanding of the relationship between these cells and the Th17 response in the various types of tumor can lead to new therapeutic possibilities[18].

#### ASSOCIATION BETWEEN TH17 RESPONSE AND DIFFERENT TYPES OF CANCER

#### Urogenital system cancers

Ovarian cancer: Ovarian cancer ranks fifth in cancer deaths among women[83]. This cancer usually has a late and advanced diagnosis causing resistance to treatment[84]. Studies have emphasized the involvement of the immune system in the process of development and progression of ovarian cancer, including the interactions of immune cells in the ovarian tumor microenvironment[85,86]. The expression of IL-23 is increased and positively correlated with IL-17 in immunohistochemical analyses of ovarian cancers[87]. Studies showed that IL-17 and IL-6 induce STAT3 phosphorylation, leading to the production of programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1), which is related to the inhibition of antitumor T cells[88-90]. Additionally, T lymphocytes and antigen presenting cells can stimulate the secretion of proinflammatory interleukins such as IL-1, IL-6, and IL-23, providing favorable means for the differentiation and expansion of Th17 cells[91]. In addition, ovarian tumor cell lines secrete IL-6, IL-8, IP-10, MCP-1, and VEGF in large amounts[91]. The IL-17 stimulates tumor progression due to proangiogenic effects and increased percentage of CD4+/IL-17 T lymphocytes



among cells that infiltrate ovarian cancer [92,84]. The chemokine CXCL12 (SDF-1a) participates in the induction of angiogenesis verified in several types of tumors along with VEGF[93]. Curiel et al[94] demonstrated that ovarian cancer patients had increased levels of proangiogenic cytokines (IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$ ) that stimulate the development of new tumor blood vessels[94]. This abnormal vasculature allows the tumor to spread more effectively, facilitates the escape of immune surveillance, and impairs the action of antineoplastic agents, limiting the beneficial effects of these drugs [84,85]. Notably, IL-17A and gdT cells recruit small peripheral peritoneal macrophages that selectively secrete IL-17A receptors that trigger tumor growth and angiogenesis [95].

Another study reported that there is an inverse relationship between Treg and Th17 cells observed in ovarian cancer and this difference leads to an antitumor response, which significantly influences survival, and the presence of these polyfunctional Th17 cells is statistically related to more favorable clinical outcomes [96]. In contrast, the significant presence of regulatory T cells is associated with worse survival [97]. Studies suggest that the responses of T cells directed to ovarian cancer may be related to the expansion of Th17 cells and may neutralize the suppression of these cells through the activity of Treg cells [97,98]. Moreover, the decrease in Th17 Lymphocytes and the increase in Treg cells was related to an increased level of TGF- $\beta$  and this, in turn, is associated with metastatic processes resulting in poorer clinical prognosis [99,100]. Additionally, in vivo studies observed that a high Treg cells/Th17 cells ratio seems to predispose tumor progression because this ratio has shown to be significantly higher in epithelial ovarian cancer and peritoneal metastasis than in benign ovarian tumors and benign peritoneum[101]. It is believed that the presence of tumor-associated macrophages may induce this imbalance[102]. M2 macrophages have been shown to modulate the tumor microenvironment and to promote a relative deviation to the Treg immune profile through the release of exosomes carrying miRNAs that are often overexpressed in some types of cancer, such as ovarian cancer[103,104].

Th17 cells in ovary cancer secrete IL-21, which, along with TGF- $\beta$ , can interfere in the differentiation of T cells into Th17 Lymphocytes and stimulate the transformation of Th17 cells into Treg cells. In addition, there is a regulation in the distribution of Th17 and Treg cells via CCR6 chemokine receptors to direct Th17 cells to specific sites [105,106]. In this sense, some therapeutic methods have been developed aiming at increasing the patients' survival as well as at reducing the recurrence rates. Among these methods, stand out immunotherapy approaches based on therapeutic vaccines that stimulate the expansion of specific T cells in patients with ovarian cancer, using the alpha folate receptor (Fra) as the vaccine target antigen, since this receptor is overexpressed in patients with high-grade serous ovarian cancer[97,107]. The vaccine induces stimulation of Fra-specific INF-γ<sup>+</sup> and IL-17<sup>+</sup> T cells[97]. Furthermore, a study showed that the Th17 profile and IFN- $\gamma$  induce the production of CXCL9 and CXCL10 that promote the migration of effector cells to ovarian tumors[98,108]. The use of vaccines that stimulate the expression of Th17 cells specifically in an ovarian tumor is associated with a reduction in recurrence rates, as well as in the improvement of survival rates[97,98].

**Prostate cancer:** Prostate cancer is the most prevalent type of cancer among the male population[109]. Chronic inflammation has been identified as a factor that is associated with the pathogenesis of various types of cancer, including prostate cancer[109,110]. In that context, IL-17 plays an important role in the inflammatory process related to the development and progression of that cancer[111]. Studies have shown that blocking IL-17 in mice inhibits the development of prostate cancer [112]. The imbalance in the proportion of CD4<sup>+</sup> and IL-17<sup>+</sup> cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T cells, responsible for regulating Treg cells in the tumor microenvironment, may lead to worsening of the inflammatory process and promote carcinogenesis[113,114]. Treg cells are involved in the suppression of antitumor immune responses [115]. Blocking PD-1 can promote antitumor activity by balancing Th1/Th2 responses and stimulating Th17 cells, as well as inhibiting Treg cells and stimulating the Th17 response[116]. In that context, the use of vaccines that inhibit the action of programmed death 1 (PD-1)/PD-L1, which make up an immunological checkpoint, has demonstrated promising results[117,118]. In prostatic tumors, IL-17 has been shown to attract M1 and M2 macrophages. M1 macrophages inhibit tumor growth, whereas the M2 cells promote tumor growth[119-121].

#### Respiratory tract cancers

NSCLC and small cell lung cancer: Chronic inflammation is a crucial factor in the pathogenesis of different types of cancer, including lung cancer, which has proved to



be a major public health problem affecting 1.8 million patients each year [122]. Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related deaths in recent decades and can be divided into two types: Small cell lung cancer and NSCLC[123]. In addition to Th17 cells and the association with tumor survival, chemokines and their receptors related to T cell migration were examined in NSCLC cases. The high expression of CCR6 was associated with shorter disease-free survival [124]. Likewise, CCL20, a chemokine known to interact with CCR6, was elevated in the tumor compared to tumor-free lung tissue. Thus, these results suggest that CCL20/CCR6 may facilitate the infiltration of Th17 cells in the NSCLC and promote tumor progression[125]. A regulatory role for Th17 cells in the tumor microenvironment of NSCLC was found to modulate the differentiation and activation of various subsets of local T cells[126]. IL-17A is associated with the concentration of VEGF in patients with NSCLC, suggesting that IL-17A may promote angiogenesis in that tumor [127]. In addition, patients with high levels of IL-17A demonstrated shorter survival compared to those with low expression of the cytokine[128]. Studies suggest that IL-17A/Th17 cells may play a protumorigenic role, as an increased number of Th17 cells are found in lung cancer[129]. Th17 cells can be generated under oncogene activation or inhibition of tumor suppressors in human and murine models[130,131]. Oncogenic NSCLC models have shown a predominant pro-tumorigenic role of IL-17A[130,61], while downregulation of IL-17A in a tumor suppressor NSCLC model has been associated with antitumor activities<sup>[131]</sup>.

Studies also demonstrated that IL-17A deficiency or blockade leads to the suppression of lung metastasis in experimental tumor models. This suggests that the key cytokine IL-17 produced by lung CD4+ Th17 cells plays an important role in cancer regulation[132]. In addition, anti-IL-17A treatment in pulmonary adenocarcinoma modifies cytokine responses by lung CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and induces production of TNF and IFN-y by Th1 cells at the tumor site, leading to improved antitumor immune responses and suppression of tumor growth[133]. Other studies assessed the role of IL-6, a cytokine produced by Th17 cells, in a murine model of lung adenocarcinoma and human tumors, showing that IL-6 inhibits regulatory T cells and induces Th17 cells. In vivo treatment with anti-IL-17A antibodies reduced the production of IL-6 in the airways[132]. Thus, anti-IL-17A-mediated regulatory T responses can induce increased anti-tumor immune responses [134]. The main transcription factors of Foxp3 regulatory T cells, as well as the main transcription factors of Th17 in human cells, were increased in lung tumor tissues, resulting in a parallel local expansion of Th17 and Treg responses. These findings suggest a potential direct relationship between both T cell lines in lung cancer[135]. T-cell immunoglobulin-3 (TIM-3) expressed in Th1, Th17, and CD8 T cells, but not in Th2 cells, has already been described as a critical component of cell-mediated immunity against cancer[136]. Recent studies have supported an important role in the exhaustion of TIM-3 T cells in lung cancer [137]. TIM-3 as well as PD-1, another T cell exhaustion marker, are co-expressed in TCD8 in mice with lung tumors, exhibiting depleted phenotype as defined by the failure to proliferate and produce IL-2, TNF, and IFN-γ[137]. Blocking the TIM-3 and PD-1 pathways is more effective in controlling tumor growth than targeting either pathway alone, suggesting that these two pathways work synergistically in establishing T-cell exhaustion[138].

#### Gastrointestinal tract cancers

Gastric cancer: Gastric cancer is the fifth most common and the third most lethal malignancy around the world. The development of this cancer is mainly linked to factors such as the chronic inflammation induced by Helicobacter pylori infection and age[139]. It is well established that the immune response of the host infected by *Helico*bacter pylori leads to the activation of the IL-23 pathway, which induces the differentiation of CD4<sup>+</sup> naive T cells into Th17 cells. This immunological pathway is called the IL-23/IL-17 axis[140]. The IL-17 acts in the endothelium, monocytes, and gastric epithelial cells producing TNF-α, IL-1, IL-6, and IL-8 that stimulate the recruitment of neutrophils to the inflammatory site[140,141]. In an interesting study, a significant increase in the levels of IL-17 was observed in the serum of patients with gastric cancer. In addition, this increase in IL-17 expression was associated with a high density of microvessels, which assist in the development of the tumor[142]. An important study also found high levels of plasma IL-17 in a patient with gastric cancer and, interestingly, the results showed an increase in the expression of IL-17 and RORyt in the cancer tissue. In addition, a 26-fold increase in IL-17 expression was observed among patients who had metastasized[143].

Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Moreover, a study found high levels of IL-6, TGF-B1, FoxP3, and IL-17 expression in gastric cancer patients, highlighting the importance of the Th17/Treg axis in this neoplasm. IL17 and IL-6 have been associated with tumor progression, and Foxp3 and TGF- $\beta$ 1 were mainly expressed in patients with advanced gastric cancer. These findings suggest that these molecules play a role in the tumor immune response evasion and cancer progression[144].

The induction of Th17 cell expression is very important in the pathophysiology of gastric cancer. Moreover, it is well described that IL-1, IL-6, IL-21, IL-23, and TGF-β induce the differentiation of T naïve cells into Th17 cells[145]. In this sense, Su et al [143] also observed increased levels of TGF- $\beta$  and IL-21 in gastric cancer tissues[143], positively regulating Th17 cells and, consequently, IL-17 levels. Some studies suggest that treatment with anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibodies such as Secukinumab and Ixekizumab may be beneficial in gastric cancer therapy [146]. An experimental study with rats, which had tumor growth stimulated by injection of gastric cancer cells of the YTN16 type, showed an expressive regression of the tumor with a complete elimination of the cancer in 8 of 10 mice using a combination of anti-IL-17A and anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibodies[147]. Despite being experimental results, they point to new paths regarding the treatment of gastric cancer with immunotherapy.

Pancreatic cancer: Pancreatic cancer is the 14<sup>th</sup> most common cancer and the 7<sup>th</sup> that kills the most in the world [148]. Obesity, type 2 diabetes, and smoking are the main risk factors for the development of this cancer [149]. Th17 cells are important in tumorassociated inflammation, stimulating migration, invasion, and induction of angiogenic factors[150]. A recent study observed that IL-17 stimulates an important mediator of pancreatitis (REG3- $\beta$ ) in pancreatic cells and can activate the gp130-JAK2-STAT3dependent signaling pathway, which results in a greater acinar-ductal metaplasia and in the development of lesions of early pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia [151]. An interesting study pointed to a similarity between the IL-17A-IL-17RA pathway and the IL-17B-IL-17RB pathway in tumor malignancy. It was observed that IL17-B increased the expression of IL-8, Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB), and activating protein-1 (AP-1), which aid the tumor invasion in the pancreatic tissue and recruit neutrophils, lymphocytes, and endothelial cells[152]. Although advances have been achieved, the roles played by Th17 cells in the development of pancreatic cancer are not well understood. Previous investigations in mice suggest how this pathway works. However, the mechanism in humans needs further studies. Some studies have observed increased levels of Th17 cells in patients with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, supporting theories about the role of this profile in the immune response involved in this cancer. He *et al* [153] reported that the frequency of these cells was higher in pancreatic tumor tissues when compared to other tissues of the organ (P = 0.031). Serum levels of IL-17 and IL-23 were significantly increased in pancreatic cancer patients when compared to healthy patients (P = 0.02)[153]. IL-17 blockade demonstrated an inhibition in neutrophil recruitment and increased activation of CD8+ T cells in the environment close to the tumor. In addition, a synergy was observed between the inhibition of IL-17 and PD-1 in the therapy against that cancer [154]. Interestingly, a study that aimed at understanding the Th17/Treg axis and its implications in pancreatic cancer found that the balance between these immune response profiles was altered in the peripheral blood of patients with this malignancy, with an important deviation to the Treg immune profile. Furthermore, it was observed that this relationship becomes even more accentuated as the disease progresses, supporting the hypothesis that Treg cells might impair the antitumor immune response and contribute to the tumorigenesis in pancreatic cancer<sup>[155]</sup>. Despite these results, studies for the clinical use of these agents are still scarce.

Colorectal cancer: Colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer and the fourth with the highest mortality in the world[156]. The main risk factors for the development of this cancer are age, genetics, obesity, type 2 diabetes, and inflammatory bowel disease[157]. Possibly, IL-17A acts to increase IL-6 and VEGF, which are important in carcinogenesis and pro-angiogenic, respectively [158]. Other studies indicate that Th17 cells stimulate immunosuppressive factors such as TGF-B, CXCR3, chemokine receptor CC 6 (CCR6), and IL-6. In addition, they decrease the anti-tumor activities of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells[159]. An interesting Chinese study observed the positive regulation of IL-17 in the progression of the adenoma-carcinoma sequence, with the levels of this cytokine being higher in cancer patients[160]. Although the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer has different pathways, in fact, IL-17 has an important role in the immune response and in the development of this cancer. The possible treatments that have been studied in this setting involve blocking IL-23, IL17, IL-17R, and RORyt nuclear receptor antagonists, which can inhibit the differentiation of Th17 cells[159]. However, clinical trials with these agents have not been developed and further studies are needed to understand the effectiveness of these drugs in patients at different stages of this disease.

Liver cancer: Liver cancer is the fifth and ninth most common cancer in men and women, respectively, and has a high mortality rate around the world[161]. Infection with hepatitis B and C viruses, alcoholic liver disease, and, possibly, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease are the main risk factors for the development of hepatocellular carcinoma[162]. A recent Chinese study found that IL-17 has a direct effect over hepatocellular carcinoma with the induction of IL-6/JAK2/STAT3 by activating the AKT pathway. This pathway positively regulated IL-8, matrix metalloproteinases 2 (MMP2), and VEGF, and neutrophil recruitment, neoangiogenesis, and tumor growth were observed in vivo[163]. Another study also indicated the influence of the CCL20/CCR6/Th17 cells pathway in promoting vascular invasion and metastasis [164]. A study identified that the high intramural expression of IL-17 and IL-17E were predictors of a worse survival prognosis (P = 0.016; P < 0.001)[165]. It has been well described that IL-17 is important in the development and prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. However, there are not many studies on immunological therapy, and the concomitant use of IL-17 inhibitors with conventional treatments, may be a promising alternative to be explored by new studies.

#### Skin cancers

Non-melanoma skin cancer: According to the WHO, skin cancer has increased over the past 20 years. The global estimate is that there will be 2 to 3 million cases of nonmelanoma cancer and 132000 melanoma cancers annually [166]. Previous animal model studies using the chemical inductors dimethylbenzanthracene (DMBA) and 12-Otetradecanoylforbol-13-acetate (TPA) that promote the development of inflammationassociated skin cancer, have demonstrated that IL-17R-deficient mice are resistant to DMBA/TPA and that the depletion of this cytokine increases the immune control performed by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and inhibits the promotion of inflammation in the skin tumor. It has also been found that TPA-induced inflammation increases the susceptibility of tumor growth and the development of tumor-specific IL-17-producing T cells and that IL-17 blockade can inhibit the progression of existing skin tumors stimulated by chemical reagents and cancel the induced inflammation that contributes to tumor growth[167]. In another study using the same experimental model, in addition to looking at the importance of IL-17-produced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in skin tumorigenesis, the researchers revealed an important regulatory role in the IL-17-STAT3 pathway in tumor development, verifying that IL-17 induces the oncogenic activity of STAT3 and promotes the proliferation of epidermal cells and hyperplasia. On the other hand the decrease in IL-17 reduced the activation of STAT3 and the unleashing of its protumor mechanisms[168]. In a research with samples of patients diagnosed with basal cell carcinoma (BCC) and squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) of the skin, the role of the cytokines IL-17 and IL-22 in the progression of both types of cancer was evaluated. The results showed that the tumor microenvironment in both carcinomas is enriched with IL-22<sup>+</sup> and IL-17<sup>+</sup> T cells. The IL-17, alone or along with TNF-α, was able to induce the production of IL-6 and IL-8, important for tumor progression in the analysis of SCC CAL27 cells. Another important finding is that IL-17 positively regulated NF-ĸB signaling, while IL-22 activated the STAT3 pathway and the anti-apoptotic AKT protein in both cell lines. Corroborating the in vitro findings, experiments with mice that received CAL27 also demonstrated that IL-17 and IL-22 increased the size of the tumor<sup>[169]</sup>. Another study with human BCC biopsies characterized by a moderate-tosevere inflammatory infiltrate evaluated the expression of the cytokines IFN-y, IL-23, IL-17, and IL-22 and their expression during treatment with the drug imiquimod (IMQ) and with photodynamic therapy (PDT). The results showed high expression of all cytokines in cancer, and they were related to the severity of the inflammatory infiltrate. It was also possible to observe a correlation between IFN-y and IL-17 expression, and both cytokines were expressed by CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. In addition, there was an increase in all cytokines in response to IMQ/PDT treatment[170].

Melanoma skin cancer: Melanoma is the 19<sup>th</sup> most frequent neoplasm in the world with an incidence rate of 3.3 per 100 thousand people[171]. Malignant melanoma is the type of skin cancer with the worst prognosis, having a high probability of spreading metastases when in advanced stage[172]. IL-17 promotes tumor growth by facilitating angiogenesis and the exit of tumor cells from their primary focus[172,173]. The expression of IL-17A represents an important target in the study of the escape of



tumor cells from the immune system[171]. A research conducted in 2010 points to IL-17 as a useful biomarker for early diagnosis of melanoma in mucosae[174]. It is believed that the unregulated tissue inflammatory process may contribute to tumor expansion and metastasization[175-177]. A study analyzed the effect of IL-17 on the growth of melanoma, and wild type mice and IL-17-/-were inoculated with a B16 melanoma cell lineage. The results showed that melanoma growth was significantly inhibited in IL-17-/- mice compared with wild type mice. In this same study, the Hmgb1 (High-mobility group box 1) molecule and its receptor RAGE, which is associated with inflammation and cellular injury, were also analyzed. The growth of the B16 cell lineage was inhibited and the expression of IL-23 and IL-17 was significantly reduced in RAGE-/-mice, indicating that the Hmgb1-RAGE route contributes to the IL-17 expression dependent on the production of IL-23, and promotes tumor growth[176]. A previous study demonstrates that the production of IL-17 by B16 melanoma strains induces the production of IL-6 that activates the nuclear transcription factor STAT3, which acts activating the transcription of several genes related to cell proliferation and to an increase in the expression of VEGF, MMP9, and prostaglandins E1 and E2. Moreover, STAT3 increases the expression of antiapoptotic genes[178]. Thus, it can be concluded that IL-17 promotes the growth of melanoma B16, while the blocking of IL-17 inhibits the growth of the tumor. On the other hand, Th17 cells might play a protumor role when they are converted into a hybrid phenotype expressing markers that characterize both this cell subtype and Treg cells. This conversion also occurs *via* the secretion of TGF- $\beta$  and retinoic acid in the presence of suppressor cells derived from tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells. These findings reinforce that Th17 cells might play conflicting effects on melanoma, also contributing for its pathogenesis[179]. These studies support the involvement of Th17 cells and interleukins produced by this population of T lymphocytes, highlighting the cytokine IL-17, in the development and progression of skin cancer. In addition, there is also the possibility of new therapeutic approaches targeting this immune response profile. Finally, further studies are needed to better understand the relationship between Th17 responses and skin cancers.

#### Other types of cancer

Cervical cancer: Cervical cancer is the second leading cause of cancer death in young women worldwide. Virtually all cervical cancers begin with infection with high-risk human papillomavirus (HPV)[180]. Most HPV infections are eliminated naturally as a result of humoral and cellular immune responses[181]. However, the persistence of this infection induces an inflammatory response, which seems to contribute to tumor growth and disease progression, instead of inducing an effective immune response [182]. This response is partially induced by tumor cells that regulate the immune response negatively through the expression of human leukocyte antigen, which produces immunosuppressive cytokines, such as IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ , and attracts regulatory T cells[183].

A large number of Th17 cells was a factor that improved prognosis and survival in this type of cancer, suggesting that Th17 cells play important antitumor responses in cervical cancer settings[183]. Evidence emphasizes that the infiltrate of Th17 cells in the cervical tumor had an activated phenotype with increased expression of CCR6, the receptor for the CCL20 chemokine. It corroborates the hypothesis that the Th17/Treg axis imbalance may be involved in the promotion and progression of cervical cancer [184]. A recent study suggested that the imbalance between Th1/Th2 and Th17/Treg cells was related to the stage of cervical cancer, tumor size, metastasis, and vasoinvasion. The findings demonstrated that the peripheral immune cell levels reflect the patient's condition[185]. Although some questions can already be answered, further studies on the involvement of the Th17 response to cervical cancer are still needed.

Lymphoma: Every year, approximately 500000 people are diagnosed with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and 80000 with Hodgkin's lymphoma, the most common cancers among the 90 lymphoma subtypes[186]. In a study conducted in China, a significantly decreased frequency of Th17 cells was observed in the peripheral blood of patients with non-Hodgkin's B-cell lymphoma compared to healthy individuals, along with an increase in Th1 cells[187]. This activity may be associated with the patient's response to treatment and the different stages of the disease[188]. Another study revealed that the number of Th17 cells in lymphomas is influenced by the amount of mast cells and granulocytes. The IL-6 expression by these cells contributes to the establishment of a pro-inflammatory environment for Th17 cells, favoring CXCL-13 production and its interaction with CXCR3 and CXCR5 receptors expressed in mast

cells[189]. It has been shown that drugs that block the IL-23/IL-17 axis, which are already available for the treatment of certain autoimmune diseases, can increase the therapeutic impact against classic Hodgkin's lymphoma[190,191]. Moreover, a recent study demonstrated that the prognostic implication of Th17 cells depends on the type of treatment employed, since the Th17 signature did not represent a negative prognosis in the treatment with the medication Lenalidomide in non-follicular lymphoma[192,193].

Breast cancer: Breast cancer is one of the main causes of death among women[194]. This type of cancer is a heterogeneous disease with different patterns of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes, depending on the molecular subtype and other factors of the tumor microenvironment that are important for prognosis and predictive for treatment [195]. Studies point to a relevant infiltrate, characterized mainly by Foxp3<sup>+</sup> cells and high levels of IL-6, in addition to revealing a high infiltration of IL-17-producing cells and a low amount of CD8+ cells, suggesting that Th17 cells participate in an effective immune response to eliminate the tumor in patients with breast cancer [196,197]. IL-6 is expressed in breast cancer patients, and its levels are positively associated with the number of Th17 cells. In the breast cancer microenvironment, IL-6 enhances the differentiation and expansion of Th17 cells[198]. Another study showed that Th17 cells positively regulate the production of CXCL1 during the progression of breast cancer. CXCL1, which is produced by breast cancer cells, might promote the growth and development of cancer[199]. In a recent study carried out in China, the involvement of high salt intake was evidenced as a factor that accelerated the growth of breast cancer in addition to increasing Th17 cells circulation in mice. It was also demonstrated in an in vitro study that the elevation of Th17 cells was reversed with the application of 1.25 Vitamin D3, inhibiting the differentiation of these cells (P < 0.001)[200]. Although some studies point to the important protective role of Th17 cells, further investigation is needed in that context[201].

Bone-related cancers: Studies evaluating the relationship between Th17/Treg axis and bone marrow cancer concluded that deregulations in this axis leading to immune tolerance or impaired immune response might contribute to bone tumorigenesis. In that context, a study evaluating peripheral blood mononuclear cells and bone-marrow mononuclear cells from patients with multiple myeloma and healthy controls observed an enhanced expression of Th17 cell-related cytokines in the affected individuals. Moreover, that study demonstrated that the IL-17 has the potential to promote the growth of myeloma cells and colony formation through the activation of IL-17 receptors as well as to inhibit the Th1 immune system profile along with the IL-22[202]. Otherwise, studies have observed an increased number of Treg cells in patients with acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) compared to controls, which suggests that the Treg immune profile might contribute for an improper immune response against the malignancy and to a consequent progression of the AML[203, 204]. Furthermore, a study investigating the role of IL-22 produced by Th17 and Th22 cells in osteosarcoma demonstrated that its levels were enhanced in osteosarcoma cells and that it stimulates the proliferation and invasion of tumor cells via STAT3 signaling [205]. Finally, the aforementioned studies suggest that the understanding of the role of the Th17/Treg axis is essential for the study of bone-related cancers and should be explored as a potential therapeutic target in the treatment of those malignancies. Interestingly, vitamin D3 can act therapeutically over Th17 cells, reducing IL-17A and IFN-y levels in rheumatoid arthritis. Therefore, vitamin D3 might could be used for the development of a therapeutic approach against bone-related cancers through the modulation of the Th17 immune profile (Figure 2)[206].

#### CONCLUSION

The Th17 response is intimately linked to the development of cancers and, in the last few years, the knowledge on the role of Th17 cells in the tumor microenvironment have significantly increased. However, much still has to be done in order to achieve a broader understanding on this issue. The IL-17 stands out among the Th17 cellsrelated inflammatory cytokines, being involved mainly in processes that promote tumorigenesis. In addition, the plasticity of Th17 cells, which allows a broader dynamics of the Th17/Treg axis in different tumor activities, and the Th17/Th1 axis, which is associated with antitumor mechanisms, are important issues to be taken into account in the immune-oncology field. The modulation of these immune system



Figure 2 Main protumor mechanisms related to the Th17 immune response profile. STAT3: Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; MMP2: Matrix metalloproteinases 2; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor; PD-L1: Programmed death-ligand 1; PGE1: Prostalglandins E1; PGE2: Prostalglandins E2; TIM-3: T-cell immunoglobulin-3; NF-kB: Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; AP-1: Activating protein-1.

> interplays might be a potential alternative for the development of new therapeutic interventions for various malignancies. Moreover, the role of the IL-27 should be further studied in various types of cancer since an important antitumor effect has been associated with this interleukin in some malignancies. Because IL-17 has shown to be so important in the pathogenesis of several malignant tumors, anti-IL-17 monoclonal antibodies are promising drugs that should be evaluated in numerous neoplasms. Finally, it has to be emphasized that there are several similarities and differences between Th17 responses in various cancers, being it highly dependent on the tumor context. The comprehension of the Th17 immune response in cancer is important not only to predict prognosis, but also to identify new therapeutic possibilities.

#### REFERENCES

- Mattiuzzi C, Lippi G. Current Cancer Epidemiology. J Epidemiol Glob Health 2019; 9: 217-222 1 [PMID: 31854162 DOI: 10.2991/jegh.k.191008.001]
- 2 Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. Nature 2017; 541: 321-330 [PMID: 28102259 DOI: 10.1038/nature21349]
- Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to 3 cancer. Annu Rev Immunol 2011; 29: 235-271 [PMID: 21219185 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101324]
- 4 Stadhouders R, Lubberts E, Hendriks RW. A cellular and molecular view of T helper 17 cell plasticity in autoimmunity. J Autoimmun 2018; 87: 1-15 [PMID: 29275836 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.12.007
- 5 Couturier M, Lamarthée B, Arbez J, Renauld JC, Bossard C, Malard F, Bonnefoy F, Mohty M, Perruche S, Tiberghien P, Saas P, Gaugler B. IL-22 deficiency in donor T cells attenuates murine acute graft-versus-host disease mortality while sparing the graft-versus-leukemia effect. Leukemia 2013; 27: 1527-1537 [PMID: 23399894 DOI: 10.1038/leu.2013.39]
- Zheng HL, Shi BY, Du GS, Wang Z. Changes in Th17 and IL-17 levels during acute rejection after 6 mouse skin transplantation. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2014; 18: 2720-2786 [PMID: 25317809]
- 7 Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Romagnani S. Human and murine Th17. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2010; 5: 114-119 [PMID: 20543587 DOI: 10.1097/COH.0b013e32833647c2]
- 8 Chang SH. T helper 17 (Th17) cells and interleukin-17 (IL-17) in cancer. Arch Pharm Res 2019; 42:



549-559 [PMID: 30941641 DOI: 10.1007/s12272-019-01146-9]

- 9 Ye J, Su X, Hsueh EC, Zhang Y, Koenig JM, Hoft DF, Peng G. Human tumor-infiltrating Th17 cells have the capacity to differentiate into IFN-y+ and FOXP3+ T cells with potent suppressive function. Eur J Immunol 2011; 41: 936-951 [PMID: 21381020 DOI: 10.1002/eji.201040682]
- 10 Bending D, De la Peña H, Veldhoen M, Phillips JM, Uyttenhove C, Stockinger B, Cooke A. Highly purified Th17 cells from BDC2.5NOD mice convert into Th1-like cells in NOD/SCID recipient mice. J Clin Invest 2009; 119: 565-572 [PMID: 19188681 DOI: 10.1172/JCI37865]
- 11 Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. Nature 2006; 441: 235-238 [PMID: 16648838 DOI: 10.1038/nature04753]
- 12 Su X, Ye J, Hsueh EC, Zhang Y, Hoft DF, Peng G. Tumor microenvironments direct the recruitment and expansion of human Th17 cells. J Immunol 2010; 184: 1630-1641 [PMID: 20026736 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902813]
- 13 Chen D, Jiang R, Mao C, Shi L, Wang S, Yu L, Hu Q, Dai D, Xu H. Chemokine/chemokine receptor interactions contribute to the accumulation of Th17 cells in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Hum Immunol 2012; 73: 1068-1072 [PMID: 22863447 DOI: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.07.333
- 14 Li J, Mo HY, Xiong G, Zhang L, He J, Huang ZF, Liu ZW, Chen QY, Du ZM, Zheng LM, Qian CN, Zeng YX. Tumor microenvironment macrophage inhibitory factor directs the accumulation of interleukin-17-producing tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and predicts favorable survival in nasopharyngeal carcinoma patients. J Biol Chem 2012; 287: 35484-35495 [PMID: 22893706 DOI: 10.1074/ibc.M112.367532
- 15 Yu Q, Lou XM, He Y. Preferential recruitment of Th17 cells to cervical cancer via CCR6-CCL20 pathway. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0120855 [PMID: 25768730 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0120855]
- 16 Ankathatti Munegowda M, Deng Y, Mulligan SJ, Xiang J. Th17 and Th17-stimulated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells play a distinct role in Th17-induced preventive and therapeutic antitumor immunity. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2011; 60: 1473-1484 [PMID: 21660450 DOI: 10.1007/s00262-011-1054-y]
- Diveu C, McGeachy MJ, Boniface K, Stumhofer JS, Sathe M, Joyce-Shaikh B, Chen Y, Tato CM, 17 McClanahan TK, de Waal Malefyt R, Hunter CA, Cua DJ, Kastelein RA. IL-27 blocks RORc expression to inhibit lineage commitment of Th17 cells. J Immunol 2009; 182: 5748-5756 [PMID: 19380822 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801162]
- 18 Patel SA, Dave MA, Bliss SA, Giec-Ujda AB, Bryan M, Pliner LF, Rameshwar P. Treed Th17 polarization by distinct subsets of breast cancer cells is dictated by the interaction with mesenchymal stem cells. J Cancer Stem Cell Res 2014; 2014 [PMID: 25705705 DOI: 10.14343/JCSCR.2014.2e1003]
- 19 Rustom A, Saffrich R, Markovic I, Walther P, Gerdes HH. Nanotubular highways for intercellular organelle transport. Science 2004; 303: 1007-1010 [PMID: 14963329 DOI: 10.1126/science.1093133
- Lotti F, Jarrar AM, Pai RK, Hitomi M, Lathia J, Mace A, Gantt GA Jr, Sukhdeo K, DeVecchio J, 20 Vasanji A, Leahy P, Hjelmeland AB, Kalady MF, Rich JN. Chemotherapy activates cancerassociated fibroblasts to maintain colorectal cancer-initiating cells by IL-17A. J Exp Med 2013; 210: 2851-2872 [PMID: 24323355 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20131195]
- 21 Shahid A, Bharadwaj M. The connection between the Th17 cell related cytokines and cancer stem cells in cancer: Novel therapeutic targets. Immunol Lett 2019; 213: 9-20 [PMID: 31278971 DOI: 10.1016/j.imlet.2019.07.001
- 22 Yang XO, Pappu BP, Nurieva R, Akimzhanov A, Kang HS, Chung Y, Ma L, Shah B, Panopoulos AD, Schluns KS, Watowich SS, Tian Q, Jetten AM, Dong C. T helper 17 lineage differentiation is programmed by orphan nuclear receptors ROR alpha and ROR gamma. Immunity 2008; 28: 29-39 [PMID: 18164222 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.11.016]
- 23 Ruan Q, Kameswaran V, Zhang Y, Zheng S, Sun J, Wang J, DeVirgiliis J, Liou HC, Beg AA, Chen YH. The Th17 immune response is controlled by the Rel-RORy-RORy T transcriptional axis. J Exp Med 2011; 208: 2321-2333 [PMID: 22006976 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20110462]
- Downs-Canner S, Berkey S, Delgoffe GM, Edwards RP, Curiel T, Odunsi K, Bartlett DL, 24 Obermajer N. Suppressive IL-17A<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> and ex-Th17 IL-17A<sup>neg</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T<sub>reg</sub> cells are a source of tumour-associated T<sub>reg</sub> cells. Nat Commun 2017; 8: 14649 [PMID: 28290453 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms14649]
- 25 Romagnani S. Human Th17 cells. Arthritis Res Ther 2008; 10: 206 [PMID: 18466633 DOI: 10.1186/ar2392]
- Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Capone M, Frosali F, Querci V, De Palma R, Liotta F, Cosmi L, Maggi E, 26 Romagnani S, Annunziato F. TGF-beta indirectly favors the development of human Th17 cells by inhibiting Th1 cells. Eur J Immunol 2009; 39: 207-215 [PMID: 19130583 DOI: 10.1002/eji.200838748
- 27 Monin L, Gaffen SL. Interleukin 17 Family Cytokines: Signaling Mechanisms, Biological Activities, and Therapeutic Implications. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2018; 10 [PMID: 28620097 DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a028522]
- Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. T(H)-17 cells in the circle of immunity and autoimmunity. Nat 28 Immunol 2007; 8: 345-350 [PMID: 17375096 DOI: 10.1038/ni0407-345]
- 29 Shabgah AG, Fattahi E, Shahneh FZ. Interleukin-17 in human inflammatory diseases. Postepy Dermatol Alergol 2014; 31: 256-261 [PMID: 25254011 DOI: 10.5114/pdia.2014.40954]



- Ouyang W, Kolls JK, Zheng Y. The biological functions of T helper 17 cell effector cytokines in 30 inflammation. Immunity 2008; 28: 454-467 [PMID: 18400188 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.004]
- 31 Dudakov JA, Hanash AM, van den Brink MR. Interleukin-22: immunobiology and pathology. Annu Rev Immunol 2015; 33: 747-785 [PMID: 25706098 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112123]
- Yao Z, Painter SL, Fanslow WC, Ulrich D, Macduff BM, Spriggs MK, Armitage RJ. Human IL-17: 32 a novel cytokine derived from T cells. J Immunol 1995; 155: 5483-5486 [PMID: 7499828]
- Morita R, Schmitt N, Bentebibel SE, Ranganathan R, Bourdery L, Zurawski G, Foucat E, Dullaers 33 M, Oh S, Sabzghabaei N, Lavecchio EM, Punaro M, Pascual V, Banchereau J, Ueno H. Human blood CXCR5(+)CD4(+) T cells are counterparts of T follicular cells and contain specific subsets that differentially support antibody secretion. Immunity 2011; 34: 108-121 [PMID: 21215658 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.012
- Asadzadeh Z, Mohammadi H, Safarzadeh E, Hemmatzadeh M, Mahdian-Shakib A, Jadidi-Niaragh 34 F, Azizi G, Baradaran B. The paradox of Th17 cell functions in tumor immunity. Cell Immunol 2017; 322: 15-25 [PMID: 29103586 DOI: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2017.10.015]
- Phillips JD, Knab LM, Blatner NR, Haghi L, DeCamp MM, Meyerson SL, Heiferman MJ, 35 Heiferman JR, Gounari F, Bentrem DJ, Khazaie K. Preferential expansion of pro-inflammatory Tregs in human non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2015; 64: 1185-1191 [PMID: 26047578 DOI: 10.1007/s00262-015-1725-1]
- Xin L, Gao J, Ge X, Tian C, Ma W, Tian Z, Zheng X, Hou J. Increased pro-inflammatory cytokine-36 secreting regulatory T cells are correlated with the plasticity of T helper cell differentiation and reflect disease status in asthma. Respir Med 2018; 143: 129-138 [PMID: 30261984 DOI: 10.1016/j.rmed.2018.09.007
- 37 Bhaumik S, Basu R. Cellular and Molecular Dynamics of Th17 Differentiation and its Developmental Plasticity in the Intestinal Immune Response. Front Immunol 2017; 8: 254 [PMID: 28408906 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00254]
- Hirota K, Duarte JH, Veldhoen M, Hornsby E, Li Y, Cua DJ, Ahlfors H, Wilhelm C, Tolaini M, 38 Menzel U, Garefalaki A, Potocnik AJ, Stockinger B. Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. Nat Immunol 2011; 12: 255-263 [PMID: 21278737 DOI: 10.1038/ni.1993]
- 39 Harbour SN, Maynard CL, Zindl CL, Schoeb TR, Weaver CT. Th17 cells give rise to Th1 cells that are required for the pathogenesis of colitis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015; 112: 7061-7066 [PMID: 26038559 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1415675112]
- 40 Agalioti T, Villablanca EJ, Huber S, Gagliani N. T<sub>H</sub>17 cell plasticity: The role of dendritic cells and molecular mechanisms. J Autoimmun 2018; 87: 50-60 [PMID: 29371049 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.12.003
- 41 Seidl A, Panzer M, Voehringer D. Protective immunity against the gastrointestinal nematode Nippostrongylus brasiliensis requires a broad T-cell receptor repertoire. Immunology 2011; 134: 214-223 [PMID: 21896015 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011.03480.x]
- Cosmi L, Maggi L, Santarlasci V, Capone M, Cardilicchia E, Frosali F, Querci V, Angeli R, 42 Matucci A, Fambrini M, Liotta F, Parronchi P, Maggi E, Romagnani S, Annunziato F. Identification of a novel subset of human circulating memory CD4(+) T cells that produce both IL-17A and IL-4. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 125: 222-30.e1 [PMID: 20109749 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.10.012]
- 43 Guéry L, Hugues S. Th17 Cell Plasticity and Functions in Cancer Immunity. *Biomed Res Int* 2015; 2015: 314620 [PMID: 26583099 DOI: 10.1155/2015/314620]
- Gagliani N, Amezcua Vesely MC, Iseppon A, Brockmann L, Xu H, Palm NW, de Zoete MR, 44 Licona-Limón P, Paiva RS, Ching T, Weaver C, Zi X, Pan X, Fan R, Garmire LX, Cotton MJ, Drier Y, Bernstein B, Geginat J, Stockinger B, Esplugues E, Huber S, Flavell RA. Th17 cells transdifferentiate into regulatory T cells during resolution of inflammation. Nature 2015; 523: 221-225 [PMID: 25924064 DOI: 10.1038/nature14452]
- 45 Gajewski TF, Schreiber H, Fu YX. Innate and adaptive immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. Nat Immunol 2013; 14: 1014-1022 [PMID: 24048123 DOI: 10.1038/ni.2703]
- 46 Ma S, Cheng Q, Cai Y, Gong H, Wu Y, Yu X, Shi L, Wu D, Dong C, Liu H. IL-17A produced by γδ T cells promotes tumor growth in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Res 2014; 74: 1969-1982 [PMID: 24525743 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2534]
- Chang CH, Qiu J, O'Sullivan D, Buck MD, Noguchi T, Curtis JD, Chen Q, Gindin M, Gubin MM, 47 van der Windt GJ, Tonc E, Schreiber RD, Pearce EJ, Pearce EL. Metabolic Competition in the Tumor Microenvironment Is a Driver of Cancer Progression. Cell 2015; 162: 1229-1241 [PMID: 26321679 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.016]
- 48 Muranski P, Borman ZA, Kerkar SP, Klebanoff CA, Ji Y, Sanchez-Perez L, Sukumar M, Reger RN, Yu Z, Kern SJ, Roychoudhuri R, Ferreyra GA, Shen W, Durum SK, Feigenbaum L, Palmer DC, Antony PA, Chan CC, Laurence A, Danner RL, Gattinoni L, Restifo NP. Th17 cells are long lived and retain a stem cell-like molecular signature. Immunity 2011; 35: 972-985 [PMID: 22177921 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.019
- 49 Bailey SR, Nelson MH, Himes RA, Li Z, Mehrotra S, Paulos CM. Th17 cells in cancer: the ultimate identity crisis. Front Immunol 2014; 5: 276 [PMID: 24987392 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00276]
- Yang S, Wang B, Guan C, Wu B, Cai C, Wang M, Zhang B, Liu T, Yang P. Foxp3+IL-17+ T cells 50 promote development of cancer-initiating cells in colorectal cancer. J Leukoc Biol 2011; 89: 85-91 [PMID: 20952660 DOI: 10.1189/jlb.0910506]
- 51 Ma C, Dong X. Colorectal cancer-derived Foxp3(+) IL-17(+) T cells suppress tumour-specific



CD8+ T cells. Scand J Immunol 2011; 74: 47-51 [PMID: 21352252 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2011.02539.x]

- Sharma MD, Hou DY, Liu Y, Koni PA, Metz R, Chandler P, Mellor AL, He Y, Munn DH. 52 Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase controls conversion of Foxp3+ Tregs to TH17-like cells in tumordraining lymph nodes. Blood 2009; 113: 6102-6111 [PMID: 19366986 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2008-12-195354]
- Liu H, Ji Y, Ma X, He A, Zhao W, Zhang P, Gu L, Lei B, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Zhang W, Wang J. 53 Effects of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides on the differentiation of Treg/Th17 cells. Mol Immunol 2021; 132: 199-208 [PMID: 33454107 DOI: 10.1016/j.molimm.2021.01.003]
- 54 Wang L, Zhang Y, Xie F. T-regulatory cell/T helper 17 cell imbalance functions as prognostic biomarker of oral squamous cell carcinoma - CONSORT. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020; 99: e23145 [PMID: 33285688 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000023145]
- 55 Cluxton D, Petrasca A, Moran B, Fletcher JM. Differential Regulation of Human Treg and Th17 Cells by Fatty Acid Synthesis and Glycolysis. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 115 [PMID: 30778354 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00115]
- Lee YK, Turner H, Maynard CL, Oliver JR, Chen D, Elson CO, Weaver CT. Late developmental 56 plasticity in the T helper 17 lineage. Immunity 2009; 30: 92-107 [PMID: 19119024 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.005]
- 57 Ma Y, Shurin GV, Peiyuan Z, Shurin MR. Dendritic cells in the cancer microenvironment. J Cancer 2013; 4: 36-44 [PMID: 23386903 DOI: 10.7150/jca.5046]
- 58 Jiao S, Subudhi SK, Aparicio A, Ge Z, Guan B, Miura Y, Sharma P. Differences in Tumor Microenvironment Dictate T Helper Lineage Polarization and Response to Immune Checkpoint Therapy. Cell 2019; 179: 1177-1190.e13 [PMID: 31730856 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.10.029]
- 59 Benchetrit F, Ciree A, Vives V, Warnier G, Gey A, Sautès-Fridman C, Fossiez F, Haicheur N, Fridman WH, Tartour E. Interleukin-17 inhibits tumor cell growth by means of a T-cell-dependent mechanism. Blood 2002; 99: 2114-2121 [PMID: 11877287 DOI: 10.1182/blood.v99.6.2114]
- Wu L, Awaji M, Saxena S, Varney ML, Sharma B, Singh RK. IL-17-CXC Chemokine Receptor 2 60 Axis Facilitates Breast Cancer Progression by Up-Regulating Neutrophil Recruitment. Am J Pathol 2020; 190: 222-233 [PMID: 31654638 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2019.09.016]
- 61 Akbay EA, Koyama S, Liu Y, Dries R, Bufe LE, Silkes M, Alam MM, Magee DM, Jones R, Jinushi M, Kulkarni M, Carretero J, Wang X, Warner-Hatten T, Cavanaugh JD, Osa A, Kumanogoh A, Freeman GJ, Awad MM, Christiani DC, Bueno R, Hammerman PS, Dranoff G, Wong KK. Interleukin-17A Promotes Lung Tumor Progression through Neutrophil Attraction to Tumor Sites and Mediating Resistance to PD-1 Blockade. J Thorac Oncol 2017; 12: 1268-1279 [PMID: 28483607 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2017.04.017]
- 62 Chen CL, Wang Y, Huang CY, Zhou ZQ, Zhao JJ, Zhang XF, Pan QZ, Wu JX, Weng DS, Tang Y, Zhu Q, Yuan LP, Xia JC. IL-17 induces antitumor immunity by promoting beneficial neutrophil recruitment and activation in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Oncoimmunology 2017; 7: e1373234 [PMID: 29296528 DOI: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1373234]
- Oberg HH, Wesch D, Kalyan S, Kabelitz D. Regulatory Interactions Between Neutrophils, Tumor Cells and T Cells. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 1690 [PMID: 31379875 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01690]
- 64 Pelletier M, Maggi L, Micheletti A, Lazzeri E, Tamassia N, Costantini C, Cosmi L, Lunardi C, Annunziato F, Romagnani S, Cassatella MA. Evidence for a cross-talk between human neutrophils and Th17 cells. Blood 2010; 115: 335-343 [PMID: 19890092 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2009-04-216085]
- 65 Witowski J, Pawlaczyk K, Breborowicz A, Scheuren A, Kuzlan-Pawlaczyk M, Wisniewska J, Polubinska A, Friess H, Gahl GM, Frei U, Jörres A. Interleukin-17 stimulates intraperitoneal neutrophil infiltration through the release of the chemokine GROa from peritoneal mesothelial cells. Crit Care 2000; 4(Suppl 1): P60 [PMID: 11067941 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.10.5814]
- Yu H, Kortylewski M, Pardoll D. Crosstalk between cancer and immune cells: role of STAT3 in the 66 tumour microenvironment. Nat Rev Immunol 2007; 7: 41-51 [PMID: 17186030 DOI: 10.1038/nri1995]
- Eyerich K, Dimartino V, Cavani A. IL-17 and IL-22 in immunity: Driving protection and 67 pathology. Eur J Immunol 2017; 47: 607-614 [PMID: 28295238 DOI: 10.1002/eji.201646723]
- Huber S, Gagliani N, Zenewicz LA, Huber FJ, Bosurgi L, Hu B, Hedl M, Zhang W, O'Connor W Jr, 68 Murphy AJ, Valenzuela DM, Yancopoulos GD, Booth CJ, Cho JH, Ouyang W, Abraham C, Flavell RA. IL-22BP is regulated by the inflammasome and modulates tumorigenesis in the intestine. Nature 2012; 491: 259-263 [PMID: 23075849 DOI: 10.1038/nature11535]
- Khosravi N, Caetano MS, Cumpian AM, Unver N, De la Garza Ramos C, Noble O, Daliri S, 69 Hernandez BJ, Gutierrez BA, Evans SE, Hanash S, Alekseev AM, Yang Y, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Kadara H, Chen J, Ostrin EJ, Moghaddam SJ. IL22 Promotes Kras-Mutant Lung Cancer by Induction of a Protumor Immune Response and Protection of Stemness Properties. Cancer Immunol Res 2018; 6: 788-797 [PMID: 29764837 DOI: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0655]
- 70 Qian X, Chen H, Wu X, Hu L, Huang Q, Jin Y. Interleukin-17 acts as double-edged sword in antitumor immunity and tumorigenesis. Cytokine 2017; 89: 34-44 [PMID: 26883678 DOI: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.09.011]
- Chen G, Zhang PG, Li JS, Duan JJ, Su W, Guo SP, Wang YF, Sun JN, Yang XT. Th17 cell 71 frequency and IL-17A production in peripheral blood of patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. J Int Med Res 2020; 48: 300060520925948 [PMID: 32600079 DOI: 10.1177/0300060520925948]



- 72 Numasaki M, Watanabe M, Suzuki T, Takahashi H, Nakamura A, McAllister F, Hishinuma T, Goto J, Lotze MT, Kolls JK, Sasaki H. IL-17 enhances the net angiogenic activity and in vivo growth of human non-small cell lung cancer in SCID mice through promoting CXCR-2-dependent angiogenesis. J Immunol 2005; 175: 6177-6189 [PMID: 16237115 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.9.6177]
- 73 Wilke CM, Kryczek I, Wei S, Zhao E, Wu K, Wang G, Zou W. Th17 cells in cancer: help or hindrance? Carcinogenesis 2011; 32: 643-649 [PMID: 21304053 DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgr019]
- 74 Protopsaltis NJ, Liang W, Nudleman E, Ferrara N. Interleukin-22 promotes tumor angiogenesis. Angiogenesis 2019; 22: 311-323 [PMID: 30539314 DOI: 10.1007/s10456-018-9658-x]
- 75 Punt S, Langenhoff JM, Putter H, Fleuren GJ, Gorter A, Jordanova ES. The correlations between IL-17 vs. Th17 cells and cancer patient survival: a systematic review. Oncoimmunology 2015; 4: e984547 [PMID: 25949881 DOI: 10.4161/2162402X.2014.984547]
- 76 Yoshimura T, Takeda A, Hamano S, Miyazaki Y, Kinjyo I, Ishibashi T, Yoshimura A, Yoshida H. Two-sided roles of IL-27: induction of Th1 differentiation on naive CD4+ T cells vs suppression of proinflammatory cytokine production including IL-23-induced IL-17 on activated CD4+ T cells partially through STAT3-dependent mechanism. J Immunol 2006; 177: 5377-5385 [PMID: 17015723 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.8.5377]
- Rocha GA, de Melo FF, Cabral MMDA, de Brito BB, da Silva FAF, Queiroz DMM. Interleukin-27 77 is abrogated in gastric cancer, but highly expressed in other Helicobacter pylori-associated gastroduodenal diseases. Helicobacter 2020; 25: e12667 [PMID: 31702083 DOI: 10.1111/hel.12667]
- 78 Duan M, Ning Z, Fu Z, Zhang J, Liu G, Wei Q, Zheng X. Decreased IL-27 Negatively Correlated with Th17 Cells in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients. Mediators Inflamm 2015; 2015: 802939 [PMID: 25969628 DOI: 10.1155/2015/802939]
- 79 Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z. The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? Cell Stem Cell 2015; 16: 225-238 [PMID: 25748930 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.015
- Terraza-Aguirre C, Campos-Mora M, Elizondo-Vega R, Contreras-López RA, Luz-Crawford P, 80 Jorgensen C, Djouad F. Mechanisms behind the Immunoregulatory Dialogue between Mesenchymal Stem Cells and Th17 Cells. Cells 2020; 9 [PMID: 32664207 DOI: 10.3390/cells9071660]
- 81 Chaudhry A, Rudra D, Treuting P, Samstein RM, Liang Y, Kas A, Rudensky AY. CD4+ regulatory T cells control TH17 responses in a Stat3-dependent manner. Science 2009; 326: 986-991 [PMID: 19797626 DOI: 10.1126/science.1172702]
- 82 Dingli D, Michor F. Successful therapy must eradicate cancer stem cells. Stem Cells 2006; 24: 2603-2610 [PMID: 16931775 DOI: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0136]
- 83 La Vecchia C. Ovarian cancer: epidemiology and risk factors. Eur J Cancer Prev 2017; 26: 55-62 [PMID: 26731563 DOI: 10.1097/CEJ.00000000000217]
- 84 Bilska M, Pawłowska A, Zakrzewska E, Chudzik A, Suszczyk D, Gogacz M, Wertel I. Th17 Cells and IL-17 As Novel Immune Targets in Ovarian Cancer Therapy. J Oncol 2020; 2020: 8797683 [PMID: 32148497 DOI: 10.1155/2020/8797683]
- Erratum for the Research Article: "The brain microenvironment mediates resistance in luminal breast 85 cancer to PI3K inhibition through HER3 activation" by D. P. Kodack, V. Askoxylakis, G. B. Ferraro, Q. Sheng, M. Badeaux, S. Goel, X. Qi, R. Shankaraiah, Z. A. Cao, R. R. Ramjiawan, D. Bezwada, B. Patel, Y. Song, C. Costa, K. Naxerova, C. S. F. Wong, J. Kloepper, R. Das, A. Tam, J. Tanboon, D. G. Duda, C. R. Miller, M. B. Siegel, C. K. Anders, M. Sanders, M. V. Estrada, R. Schlegel, C. L. Arteaga, E. Brachtel, A. Huang, D. Fukumura, J. A. Engelman, R. K. Jain. Sci Transl Med 2019; 11 [PMID: 30700575 DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaw6935]
- 86 Klinke DJ 2nd. An evolutionary perspective on anti-tumor immunity. Front Oncol 2012; 2: 202 [PMID: 23336100 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2012.00202]
- 87 Schwanhäusser B, Busse D, Li N, Dittmar G, Schuchhardt J, Wolf J, Chen W, Selbach M. Global quantification of mammalian gene expression control. Nature 2011; 473: 337-342 [PMID: 21593866 DOI: 10.1038/nature100981
- 88 Wang L, Yi T, Kortylewski M, Pardoll DM, Zeng D, Yu H. IL-17 can promote tumor growth through an IL-6-Stat3 signaling pathway. J Exp Med 2009; 206: 1457-1464 [PMID: 19564351 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20090207
- Ogura H, Murakami M, Okuyama Y, Tsuruoka M, Kitabayashi C, Kanamoto M, Nishihara M, 89 Iwakura Y, Hirano T. Interleukin-17 promotes autoimmunity by triggering a positive-feedback loop via interleukin-6 induction. Immunity 2008; 29: 628-636 [PMID: 18848474 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.07.018
- Hamanishi J, Mandai M, Matsumura N, Abiko K, Baba T, Konishi I. PD-1/PD-L1 blockade in 90 cancer treatment: perspectives and issues. Int J Clin Oncol 2016; 21: 462-473 [PMID: 26899259 DOI: 10.1007/s10147-016-0959-z]
- Miyahara Y, Odunsi K, Chen W, Peng G, Matsuzaki J, Wang RF. Generation and regulation of 91 human CD4+ IL-17-producing T cells in ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci US A 2008; 105: 15505-15510 [PMID: 18832156 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0710686105]
- 92 Kato T, Furumoto H, Ogura T, Onishi Y, Irahara M, Yamano S, Kamada M, Aono T. Expression of IL-17 mRNA in ovarian cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001; 282: 735-738 [PMID: 11401524 DOI: 10.1006/bbrc.2001.4618]
- 93 Kryczek I, Lange A, Mottram P, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Hogan M, Moons L, Wei S, Zou L, Machelon



V, Emilie D, Terrassa M, Lackner A, Curiel TJ, Carmeliet P, Zou W. CXCL12 and vascular endothelial growth factor synergistically induce neoangiogenesis in human ovarian cancers. Cancer Res 2005; 65: 465-472 [PMID: 15695388]

- 94 Curiel TJ, Cheng P, Mottram P, Alvarez X, Moons L, Evdemon-Hogan M, Wei S, Zou L, Kryczek I, Hoyle G, Lackner A, Carmeliet P, Zou W. Dendritic cell subsets differentially regulate angiogenesis in human ovarian cancer. Cancer Res 2004; 64: 5535-5538 [PMID: 15313886 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1272
- Patil RS, Shah SU, Shrikhande SV, Goel M, Dikshit RP, Chiplunkar SV. IL17 producing γδT cells 95 induce angiogenesis and are associated with poor survival in gallbladder cancer patients. Int J Cancer 2016; 139: 869-881 [PMID: 27062572 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.30134]
- 96 Munn DH. Th17 cells in ovarian cancer. Blood 2009; 114: 1134-1135 [PMID: 19661273 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2009-06-224246
- Block MS, Dietz AB, Gustafson MP, Kalli KR, Erskine CL, Youssef B, Vijay GV, Allred JB, 97 Pavelko KD, Strausbauch MA, Lin Y, Grudem ME, Jatoi A, Klampe CM, Wahner-Hendrickson AE, Weroha SJ, Glaser GE, Kumar A, Langstraat CL, Solseth ML, Deeds MC, Knutson KL, Cannon MJ. Th17-inducing autologous dendritic cell vaccination promotes antigen-specific cellular and humoral immunity in ovarian cancer patients. Nat Commun 2020; 11: 5173 [PMID: 33057068 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-18962-z]
- Kryczek I, Banerjee M, Cheng P, Vatan L, Szeliga W, Wei S, Huang E, Finlayson E, Simeone D, 98 Welling TH, Chang A, Coukos G, Liu R, Zou W. Phenotype, distribution, generation, and functional and clinical relevance of Th17 cells in the human tumor environments. Blood 2009; 114: 1141-1149 [PMID: 19470694 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-208249]
- Winkler I, Gogacz M, Rechberger T. [Do Th17 cells play an important role in the pathogenesis and 99 prognosis of ovarian cancer? Ginekol Pol 2012; 83: 295-300 [PMID: 22712263]
- 100 Cardenas H, Vieth E, Lee J, Segar M, Liu Y, Nephew KP, Matei D. TGF-ß induces global changes in DNA methylation during the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in ovarian cancer cells. Epigenetics 2014; 9: 1461-1472 [PMID: 25470663 DOI: 10.4161/15592294.2014.971608]
- 101 Zhou J, Li X, Wu X, Zhang T, Zhu Q, Wang X, Wang H, Wang K, Lin Y. Exosomes Released from Tumor-Associated Macrophages Transfer miRNAs That Induce a Treg/Th17 Cell Imbalance in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. Cancer Immunol Res 2018; 6: 1578-1592 [PMID: 30396909 DOI: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0479
- 102 Liu J, Zhang N, Li Q, Zhang W, Ke F, Leng Q, Wang H, Chen J. Tumor-associated macrophages recruit CCR6+ regulatory T cells and promote the development of colorectal cancer via enhancing CCL20 production in mice. PLoS One 2011; 6: e19495 [PMID: 21559338 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019495]
- 103 Camussi G, Deregibus MC, Bruno S, Cantaluppi V, Biancone L. Exosomes/microvesicles as a mechanism of cell-to-cell communication. Kidney Int 2010; 78: 838-848 [PMID: 20703216 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2010.278]
- 104 Takikawa T, Masamune A, Yoshida N, Hamada S, Kogure T, Shimosegawa T. Exosomes Derived From Pancreatic Stellate Cells: MicroRNA Signature and Effects on Pancreatic Cancer Cells. Pancreas 2017; 46: 19-27 [PMID: 27841793 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.00000000000022]
- 105 Wacleche VS, Landay A, Routy JP, Ancuta P. The Th17 Lineage: From Barrier Surfaces Homeostasis to Autoimmunity, Cancer, and HIV-1 Pathogenesis. Viruses 2017; 9 [PMID: 29048384 DOI: 10.3390/v9100303]
- Planas D, Routy JP, Ancuta P. New Th17-specific therapeutic strategies for HIV remission. Curr 106 Opin HIV AIDS 2019; 14: 85-92 [PMID: 30543544 DOI: 10.1097/COH.00000000000522]
- 107 Kalli KR, Oberg AL, Keeney GL, Christianson TJ, Low PS, Knutson KL, Hartmann LC. Folate receptor alpha as a tumor target in epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2008; 108: 619-626 [PMID: 18222534 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.11.020]
- 108 Cochaud S, Giustiniani J, Thomas C, Laprevotte E, Garbar C, Savoye AM, Curé H, Mascaux C, Alberici G, Bonnefoy N, Eliaou JF, Bensussan A, Bastid J. IL-17A is produced by breast cancer TILs and promotes chemoresistance and proliferation through ERK1/2. Sci Rep 2013; 3: 3456 [PMID: 24316750 DOI: 10.1038/srep03456]
- Zhang Q, Liu S, Ge D, Cunningham DM, Huang F, Ma L, Burris TP, You Z. Targeting Th17-IL-17 109 Pathway in Prevention of Micro-Invasive Prostate Cancer in a Mouse Model. Prostate 2017; 77: 888-899 [PMID: 28240383 DOI: 10.1002/pros.23343]
- Shacter E, Weitzman SA. Chronic inflammation and cancer. Oncology (Williston Park) 2002; 16: 110 217-226, 229; discussion 230 [PMID: 11866137]
- Sfanos KS, De Marzo AM. Prostate cancer and inflammation: the evidence. *Histopathology* 2012; 111 60: 199-215 [PMID: 22212087 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2011.04033.x]
- 112 Zhang Q, Liu S, Ge D, Zhang Q, Xue Y, Xiong Z, Abdel-Mageed AB, Myers L, Hill SM, Rowan BG, Sartor O, Melamed J, Chen Z, You Z. Interleukin-17 promotes formation and growth of prostate adenocarcinoma in mouse models. Cancer Res 2012; 72: 2589-2599 [PMID: 22461511 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3795]
- Radej S, Płaza P, Olender A, Szewc M, Bar K, Maciejewski R. Infiltrating Treg and Th17 Cells of 113 the Prostate Hypertrophy Gland Associated with Propionibacterium Acnes Infection. Res Rep Urol 2020; 12: 593-597 [PMID: 33299822 DOI: 10.2147/RRU.S284066]
- 114 Saleh R, Elkord E. FoxP3<sup>+</sup> T regulatory cells in cancer: Prognostic biomarkers and therapeutic targets. Cancer Lett 2020; 490: 174-185 [PMID: 32721551 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2020.07.022]



- Beyer M, Schultze JL. Regulatory T cells in cancer. Blood 2006; 108: 804-811 [PMID: 16861339 115 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2006-02-002774]
- 116 Koenen HJ, Smeets RL, Vink PM, van Rijssen E, Boots AM, Joosten I. Human CD25highFoxp3pos regulatory T cells differentiate into IL-17-producing cells. Blood 2008; 112: 2340-2352 [PMID: 18617638 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2008-01-133967]
- Baxevanis CN, Fortis SP, Perez SA. Prostate cancer: any room left for immunotherapies? 117 Immunotherapy 2019; 11: 69-74 [PMID: 30727800 DOI: 10.2217/imt-2018-0159]
- 118 Handy CE, Antonarakis ES. Sipuleucel-T for the treatment of prostate cancer: novel insights and future directions. Future Oncol 2018; 14: 907-917 [PMID: 29260582 DOI: 10.2217/fon-2017-0531]
- Duan Z, Miller HD, Fu X, Ge D, Jin B, Moustafa AA, Lan R, Zhang K, Chen Z, You Z. Th17 cells 119 promote tumor growth in an immunocompetent orthotopic mouse model of prostate cancer. Am J Clin Exp Urol 2019; 7: 249-261 [PMID: 31511831]
- 120 Liu L, Ge D, Ma L, Mei J, Liu S, Zhang Q, Ren F, Liao H, Pu Q, Wang T, You Z. Interleukin-17 and prostaglandin E2 are involved in formation of an M2 macrophage-dominant microenvironment in lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2012; 7: 1091-1100 [PMID: 22534817 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3182542752]
- Zhang ZY, Schluesener HJ. HDAC inhibitor MS-275 attenuates the inflammatory reaction in rat 121 experimental autoimmune prostatitis. Prostate 2012; 72: 90-99 [PMID: 21538420 DOI: 10.1002/pros.21410
- Wang XF, Zhu YT, Wang JJ, Zeng DX, Mu CY, Chen YB, Lei W, Zhu YH, Huang JA. The 122 prognostic value of interleukin-17 in lung cancer: A systematic review with meta-analysis based on Chinese patients. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0185168 [PMID: 28934305 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0185168]
- 123 Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fedewa SA, Ahnen DJ, Meester RGS, Barzi A, Jemal A. Colorectal cancer statistics, 2017. CA Cancer J Clin 2017; 67: 177-193 [PMID: 28248415 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21395]
- Singh SP, Zhang HH, Foley JF, Hedrick MN, Farber JM. Human T cells that are able to produce IL-124 17 express the chemokine receptor CCR6. J Immunol 2008; 180: 214-221 [PMID: 18097022 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.1.214]
- 125 Kirshberg S, Izhar U, Amir G, Demma J, Vernea F, Beider K, Shlomai Z, Wald H, Zamir G, Shapira OM, Peled A, Wald O. Involvement of CCR6/CCL20/IL-17 axis in NSCLC disease progression. PLoS One 2011; 6: e24856 [PMID: 21949768 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024856]
- Littman DR, Rudensky AY. Th17 and regulatory T cells in mediating and restraining inflammation. 126 Cell 2010; 140: 845-858 [PMID: 20303875 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.021]
- 127 Pan B, Che D, Cao J, Shen J, Jin S, Zhou Y, Liu F, Gu K, Man Y, Shang L, Yu Y. Interleukin-17 levels correlate with poor prognosis and vascular endothelial growth factor concentration in the serum of patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Biomarkers 2015; 20: 232-239 [PMID: 26301881 DOI: 10.3109/1354750X.2015.10688531
- 128 Xu C, Hao K, Yu L, Zhang X. Serum interleukin-17 as a diagnostic and prognostic marker for nonsmall cell lung cancer. Biomarkers 2014; 19: 287-290 [PMID: 24731052 DOI: 10.3109/1354750X.2014.908954
- 129 Jin W, Dong C. IL-17 cytokines in immunity and inflammation. Emerg Microbes Infect 2013; 2: e60 [PMID: 26038490 DOI: 10.1038/emi.2013.58]
- 130 Chang SH, Mirabolfathinejad SG, Katta H, Cumpian AM, Gong L, Caetano MS, Moghaddam SJ, Dong C. T helper 17 cells play a critical pathogenic role in lung cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci US A 2014; 111: 5664-5669 [PMID: 24706787 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1319051111]
- 131 You R, DeMayo FJ, Liu J, Cho SN, Burt BM, Creighton CJ, Casal RF, Lazarus DR, Lu W, Tung HY, Yuan X, Hill-McAlester A, Kim M, Perusich S, Cornwell L, Rosen D, Song LZ, Paust S, Diehl G, Corry D, Kheradmand F. IL17A Regulates Tumor Latency and Metastasis in Lung Adeno and Squamous SQ.2b and AD.1 Cancer. Cancer Immunol Res 2018; 6: 645-657 [PMID: 29653981 DOI: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0554
- Carmi Y, Rinott G, Dotan S, Elkabets M, Rider P, Voronov E, Apte RN. Microenvironment-derived 132 IL-1 and IL-17 interact in the control of lung metastasis. J Immunol 2011; 186: 3462-3471 [PMID: 21300825 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.10029011
- Reppert S, Boross I, Koslowski M, Türeci Ö, Koch S, Lehr HA, Finotto S. A role for T-bet-133 mediated tumour immune surveillance in anti-IL-17A treatment of lung cancer. Nat Commun 2011; 2: 600 [PMID: 22186896 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms1609]
- Neurath MF, Finotto S. The emerging role of T cell cytokines in non-small cell lung cancer. 134 Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2012; 23: 315-322 [PMID: 23022528 DOI: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2012.08.009]
- 135 Maxeiner JH, Karwot R, Sauer K, Scholtes P, Boross I, Koslowski M, Türeci O, Wiewrodt R, Neurath MF, Lehr HA, Finotto S. A key regulatory role of the transcription factor NFATc2 in bronchial adenocarcinoma via CD8+ T lymphocytes. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 3069-3076 [PMID: 19318584 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1678]
- 136 Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, Tosolini M, Camus M, Berger A, Wind P, Zinzindohoué F, Bruneval P, Cugnenc PH, Trajanoski Z, Fridman WH, Pagès F. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science 2006; 313: 1960-1964 [PMID: 17008531 DOI: 10.1126/science.1129139]
- 137 Fourcade J, Sun Z, Benallaoua M, Guillaume P, Luescher IF, Sander C, Kirkwood JM, Kuchroo V, Zarour HM. Upregulation of Tim-3 and PD-1 expression is associated with tumor antigen-specific



CD8+ T cell dysfunction in melanoma patients. J Exp Med 2010; 207: 2175-2186 [PMID: 20819923 DOI: 10.1084/jem.201006371

- 138 Gao X, Zhu Y, Li G, Huang H, Zhang G, Wang F, Sun J, Yang Q, Zhang X, Lu B. TIM-3 expression characterizes regulatory T cells in tumor tissues and is associated with lung cancer progression. PLoS One 2012; 7: e30676 [PMID: 22363469 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030676]
- 139 Smyth EC, Nilsson M, Grabsch HI, van Grieken NC, Lordick F. Gastric cancer. Lancet 2020; 396: 635-648 [PMID: 32861308 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31288-5]
- 140 Iwakura Y, Ishigame H. The IL-23/IL-17 axis in inflammation. J Clin Invest 2006; 116: 1218-1222 [PMID: 16670765 DOI: 10.1172/JCI28508]
- Bagheri N, Azadegan-Dehkordi F, Shirzad H, Rafieian-Kopaei M, Rahimian G, Razavi A. The 141 biological functions of IL-17 in different clinical expressions of Helicobacter pylori-infection. Microb Pathog 2015; 81: 33-38 [PMID: 25773771 DOI: 10.1016/j.micpath.2015.03.010]
- 142 Meng XY, Zhou CH, Ma J, Jiang C, Ji P. Expression of interleukin-17 and its clinical significance in gastric cancer patients. Med Oncol 2012; 29: 3024-3028 [PMID: 22744708 DOI: 10.1007/s12032-012-0273-1
- 143 Su Z, Sun Y, Zhu H, Liu Y, Lin X, Shen H, Chen J, Xu W, Xu H. Th17 cell expansion in gastric cancer may contribute to cancer development and metastasis. Immunol Res 2014; 58: 118-124 [PMID: 24402773 DOI: 10.1007/s12026-013-8483-y]
- 144 Meng X, Zhu S, Dong Q, Zhang S, Ma J, Zhou C. Expression of Th17/Treg related molecules in gastric cancer tissues. Turk J Gastroenterol 2018; 29: 45-51 [PMID: 29391307 DOI: 10.5152/tjg.2018.17114]
- Miossec P, Korn T, Kuchroo VK. Interleukin-17 and type 17 helper T cells. N Engl J Med 2009; 145 361: 888-898 [PMID: 19710487 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra0707449]
- 146 Nguyen PM, Putoczki TL. Could the inhibition of IL-17 or IL-18 be a potential therapeutic opportunity for gastric cancer? Cytokine 2019; 118: 8-18 [PMID: 29396054 DOI: 10.1016/j.cyto.2018.01.008
- 147 Nagaoka K, Shirai M, Taniguchi K, Hosoi A, Sun C, Kobayashi Y, Maejima K, Fujita M, Nakagawa H, Nomura S, Kakimi K. Deep immunophenotyping at the single-cell level identifies a combination of anti-IL-17 and checkpoint blockade as an effective treatment in a preclinical model of data-guided personalized immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer 2020; 8 [PMID: 33093158 DOI: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001358
- 148 McGuigan A, Kelly P, Turkington RC, Jones C, Coleman HG, McCain RS. Pancreatic cancer: A review of clinical diagnosis, epidemiology, treatment and outcomes. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 4846-4861 [PMID: 30487695 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i43.4846]
- Mizrahi JD, Surana R, Valle JW, Shroff RT. Pancreatic cancer. Lancet 2020; 395: 2008-2020 149 [PMID: 32593337 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30974-0]
- 150 McAllister F, Leach SD. Targeting IL-17 for pancreatic cancer prevention. Oncotarget 2014; 5: 9530-9531 [PMID: 25393980 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.2618]
- Loncle C, Bonjoch L, Folch-Puy E, Lopez-Millan MB, Lac S, Molejon MI, Chuluyan E, Cordelier 151 P, Dubus P, Lomberk G, Urrutia R, Closa D, Iovanna JL. IL17 Functions through the Novel REG3β-JAK2-STAT3 Inflammatory Pathway to Promote the Transition from Chronic Pancreatitis to Pancreatic Cancer. Cancer Res 2015; 75: 4852-4862 [PMID: 26404002 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0896
- 152 Wu HH, Hwang-Verslues WW, Lee WH, Huang CK, Wei PC, Chen CL, Shew JY, Lee EY, Jeng YM, Tien YW, Ma C. Targeting IL-17B-IL-17RB signaling with an anti-IL-17RB antibody blocks pancreatic cancer metastasis by silencing multiple chemokines. J Exp Med 2015; 212: 333-349 [PMID: 25732306 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20141702]
- He S, Fei M, Wu Y, Zheng D, Wan D, Wang L, Li D. Distribution and clinical significance of Th17 153 cells in the tumor microenvironment and peripheral blood of pancreatic cancer patients. Int J Mol Sci 2011; 12: 7424-7437 [PMID: 22174607 DOI: 10.3390/ijms12117424]
- 154 Zhang Y, Chandra V, Riquelme Sanchez E, Dutta P, Quesada PR, Rakoski A, Zoltan M, Arora N, Baydogan S, Horne W, Burks J, Xu H, Hussain P, Wang H, Gupta S, Maitra A, Bailey JM, Moghaddam SJ, Banerjee S, Sahin I, Bhattacharya P, McAllister F. Interleukin-17-induced neutrophil extracellular traps mediate resistance to checkpoint blockade in pancreatic cancer. J Exp Med 2020; 217 [PMID: 32860704 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20190354]
- 155 Wang X, Wang L, Mo Q, Dong Y, Wang G, Ji A. Changes of Th17/Treg cell and related cytokines in pancreatic cancer patients. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2015; 8: 5702-5708 [PMID: 26191284]
- 156 Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray F. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer 2015; 136: E359-E386 [PMID: 25220842 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.29210]
- 157 Lucas C, Barnich N, Nguyen HTT. Microbiota, Inflammation and Colorectal Cancer. Int J Mol Sci 2017; 18 [PMID: 28632155 DOI: 10.3390/ijms18061310]
- 158 Shi Y, Lin H, Cui J, Oi H, Florholmen J, Liu Z, Cui G, The role of interleukin-17A in colorectal tumorigenesis. Cancer Biother Radiopharm 2013; 28: 429-432 [PMID: 23701420 DOI: 10.1089/cbr.2012.1396
- 159 Razi S, Baradaran Noveiry B, Keshavarz-Fathi M, Rezaei N. IL-17 and colorectal cancer: From carcinogenesis to treatment. Cytokine 2019; 116: 7-12 [PMID: 30684916 DOI: 10.1016/j.cyto.2018.12.021]
- 160 Cui G, Yang H, Zhao J, Yuan A, Florholmen J. Elevated proinflammatory cytokine IL-17A in the


adjacent tissues along the adenoma-carcinoma sequence. Pathol Oncol Res 2015; 21: 139-146 [PMID: 24859972 DOI: 10.1007/s12253-014-9799-1]

- 161 Zeller FP, Spinler SA. Bepridil: a new long-acting calcium channel blocking agent. Drug Intell Clin Pharm 1987; 21: 487-492 [PMID: 3301244 DOI: 10.1177/106002808702100601]
- 162 El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2011; 365: 1118-1127 [PMID: 21992124 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1001683]
- Gu FM, Li QL, Gao Q, Jiang JH, Zhu K, Huang XY, Pan JF, Yan J, Hu JH, Wang Z, Dai Z, Fan J, 163 Zhou J. IL-17 induces AKT-dependent IL-6/JAK2/STAT3 activation and tumor progression in hepatocellular carcinoma. Mol Cancer 2011; 10: 150 [PMID: 22171994 DOI: 10.1186/1476-4598-10-150
- 164 Chang X, Wang L, Zang M, Rong W, Wu Z, Liu L, Du J, Liu J, Wu J, Qu C. [Relationship between CCL20/CCR6/Th17 axis and vascular invasion and metastasis in patients with primary hepatocellular carcinoma]. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi 2015; 37: 5-10 [PMID: 25877311]
- Liao R, Sun J, Wu H, Yi Y, Wang JX, He HW, Cai XY, Zhou J, Cheng YF, Fan J, Qiu SJ. High 165 expression of IL-17 and IL-17RE associate with poor prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2013; 32: 3 [PMID: 23305119 DOI: 10.1186/1756-9966-32-3]
- World Health Organization. Radiation: Ultraviolet (UV) radiation and skin cancer. [cited 3 166 February 2021]. Available from: https://www.who.int/
- 167 He D, Li H, Yusuf N, Elmets CA, Athar M, Katiyar SK, Xu H. IL-17 mediated inflammation promotes tumor growth and progression in the skin. PLoS One 2012; 7: e32126 [PMID: 22359662 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032126]
- Wang L, Yi T, Zhang W, Pardoll DM, Yu H. IL-17 enhances tumor development in carcinogen-168 induced skin cancer. Cancer Res 2010; 70: 10112-10120 [PMID: 21159633 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0775
- Nardinocchi L, Sonego G, Passarelli F, Avitabile S, Scarponi C, Failla CM, Simoni S, Albanesi C, 169 Cavani A. Interleukin-17 and interleukin-22 promote tumor progression in human nonmelanoma skin cancer. Eur J Immunol 2015; 45: 922-931 [PMID: 25487261 DOI: 10.1002/eji.201445052]
- 170 Pellegrini C, Orlandi A, Costanza G, Di Stefani A, Piccioni A, Di Cesare A, Chiricozzi A, Ferlosio A, Peris K, Fargnoli MC. Expression of IL-23/Th17-related cytokines in basal cell carcinoma and in the response to medical treatments. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0183415 [PMID: 28829805 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0183415]
- 171 Rastrelli M, Tropea S, Rossi CR, Alaibac M. Melanoma: epidemiology, risk factors, pathogenesis, diagnosis and classification. In Vivo 2014; 28: 1005-1011 [PMID: 25398793]
- 172 Nunes LM, Sobrinho HMR, Silva CMN, Modesto DC, Marinho LC, Wastowski IJ. The IL-17A expression in the molecular mechanisms on tumor escape from immune response by neoplastic melanocytes. EVS 2016; 43: 54-61 [DOI: 10.18224/est.v43i1.5200]
- Nasso M, Fedele G, Spensieri F, Palazzo R, Costantino P, Rappuoli R, Ausiello CM. Genetically 173 detoxified pertussis toxin induces Th1/Th17 immune response through MAPKs and IL-10-dependent mechanisms. J Immunol 2009; 183: 1892-1899 [PMID: 19596995 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901071]
- 174 Sirikanjanapong S, Lanson B, Amin M, Martiniuk F, Kamino H, Wang BY. Collision tumor of primary laryngeal mucosal melanoma and invasive squamous cell carcinoma with IL-17A and CD70 gene over-expression. Head Neck Pathol 2010; 4: 295-299 [PMID: 20697851 DOI: 10.1007/s12105-010-0200-8
- 175 Kryczek I, Wu K, Zhao E, Wei S, Vatan L, Szeliga W, Huang E, Greenson J, Chang A, Roliński J, Radwan P, Fang J, Wang G, Zou W. IL-17+ regulatory T cells in the microenvironments of chronic inflammation and cancer. J Immunol 2011; 186: 4388-4395 [PMID: 21357259 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003251]
- Tang Q, Li J, Zhu H, Li P, Zou Z, Xiao Y. Hmgb1-IL-23-IL-17-IL-6-Stat3 axis promotes tumor 176 growth in murine models of melanoma. Mediators Inflamm 2013; 2013: 713859 [PMID: 24453427 DOI: 10.1155/2013/713859]
- 177 Hayata K, Iwahashi M, Ojima T, Katsuda M, Iida T, Nakamori M, Ueda K, Nakamura M, Miyazawa M, Tsuji T, Yamaue H. Inhibition of IL-17A in tumor microenvironment augments cytotoxicity of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in tumor-bearing mice. PLoS One 2013; 8: e53131 [PMID: 23372655 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053131]
- Hirano T, Ishihara K, Hibi M. Roles of STAT3 in mediating the cell growth, differentiation and 178 survival signals relayed through the IL-6 family of cytokine receptors. Oncogene 2000; 19: 2548-2556 [PMID: 10851053 DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1203551]
- 179 Chen C, Gao FH. Th17 Cells Paradoxical Roles in Melanoma and Potential Application in Immunotherapy. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 187 [PMID: 30800130 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00187]
- 180 Small W Jr, Bacon MA, Bajaj A, Chuang LT, Fisher BJ, Harkenrider MM, Jhingran A, Kitchener HC, Mileshkin LR, Viswanathan AN, Gaffney DK. Cervical cancer: A global health crisis. Cancer 2017; 123: 2404-2412 [PMID: 28464289 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.30667]
- 181 Lin W, Niu Z, Zhang H, Kong Y, Wang Z, Yang X, Yuan F. Imbalance of Th1/Th2 and Th17/Treg during the development of uterine cervical cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2019; 12: 3604-3612 [PMID: 31934210]
- 182 Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? Lancet 2001; 357: 539-545 [PMID: 11229684 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0]
- Punt S, Fleuren GJ, Kritikou E, Lubberts E, Trimbos JB, Jordanova ES, Gorter A. Angels and 183 demons: Th17 cells represent a beneficial response, while neutrophil IL-17 is associated with poor



prognosis in squamous cervical cancer. Oncoimmunology 2015; 4: e984539 [PMID: 25949866 DOI: 10.4161/2162402X.2014.984539]

- Alves JJP, De Medeiros Fernandes TAA, De Araújo JMG, Cobucci RNO, Lanza DCF, Bezerra FL, 184 Andrade VS, Fernandes JV. Th17 response in patients with cervical cancer. Oncol Lett 2018; 16: 6215-6227 [PMID: 30405758 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2018.9481]
- Lin W, Zhang HL, Niu ZY, Wang Z, Kong Y, Yang XS, Yuan F. The disease stage-associated 185 imbalance of Th1/Th2 and Th17/Treg in uterine cervical cancer patients and their recovery with the reduction of tumor burden. BMC Womens Health 2020; 20: 126 [PMID: 32552719 DOI: 10.1186/s12905-020-00972-0]
- 186 Khanmohammadi S, Shabani M, Tabary M, Rayzan E, Rezaei N. Lymphoma in the setting of autoimmune diseases: A review of association and mechanisms. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2020; 150: 102945 [PMID: 32353704 DOI: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.102945]
- 187 Lu T, Yu S, Liu Y, Yin C, Ye J, Liu Z, Ma D, Ji C. Aberrant Circulating Th17 Cells in Patients with B-Cell Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0148044 [PMID: 26812681 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148044]
- Yang ZZ, Novak AJ, Ziesmer SC, Witzig TE, Ansell SM. Malignant B cells skew the balance of 188 regulatory T cells and TH17 cells in B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 5522-5530 [PMID: 19509224 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0266]
- 189 Tripodo C, Gri G, Piccaluga PP, Frossi B, Guarnotta C, Piconese S, Franco G, Vetri V, Pucillo CE, Florena AM, Colombo MP, Pileri SA. Mast cells and Th17 cells contribute to the lymphomaassociated pro-inflammatory microenvironment of angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma. Am J Pathol 2010; 177: 792-802 [PMID: 20595635 DOI: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.091286]
- 190 Menter T, Hayoz S, Zucca E, Kimby E, Dirnhofer S, Tzankov A. Immunomodulatory drugs may overcome the negative prognostic role of active Th17 axis in follicular lymphoma: evidence from the SAKK35/10 trial. Br J Haematol 2020; 190: e258-e261 [PMID: 32525232 DOI: 10.1111/bjh.16876]
- 191 Duffield AS, Ascierto ML, Anders RA, Taube JM, Meeker AK, Chen S, McMiller TL, Phillips NA, Xu H, Ogurtsova A, Berger AE, Pardoll DM, Topalian SL, Ambinder RF. Th17 immune microenvironment in Epstein-Barr virus-negative Hodgkin lymphoma: implications for immunotherapy. Blood Adv 2017; 1: 1324-1334 [PMID: 29296775 DOI: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2017007260
- 192 Ferrarini I, Rigo A, Zamò A, Vinante F. Classical Hodgkin lymphoma cells may promote an IL-17enriched microenvironment. Leuk Lymphoma 2019; 60: 3395-3405 [PMID: 31304817 DOI: 10.1080/10428194.2019.1636983]
- 193 Zhong W, Xu X, Zhu Z, Du Q, Du H, Yang L, Ling Y, Xiong H, Li Q. Increased expression of IRF8 in tumor cells inhibits the generation of Th17 cells and predicts unfavorable survival of diffuse large B cell lymphoma patients. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 49757-49772 [PMID: 28537908 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.17693]
- 194 Avalos-Navarro G, Muñoz-Valle JF, Daneri-Navarro A, Quintero-Ramos A, Franco-Topete RA, Morán-Mendoza AJ, Oceguera-Villanueva A, Bautista-Herrera LA, Topete-Camacho A, Del Toro-Arreola A. Circulating soluble levels of MIF in women with breast cancer in the molecular subtypes: relationship with Th17 cytokine profile. Clin Exp Med 2019; 19: 385-391 [PMID: 31102004 DOI: 10.1007/s10238-019-00559-6]
- Dushyanthen S, Beavis PA, Savas P, Teo ZL, Zhou C, Mansour M, Darcy PK, Loi S. Relevance of 195 tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer. BMC Med 2015; 13: 202 [PMID: 26300242 DOI: 10.1186/s12916-015-0431-3
- Matsumoto H, Koo SL, Dent R, Tan PH, Iqbal J. Role of inflammatory infiltrates in triple negative 196 breast cancer. J Clin Pathol 2015; 68: 506-510 [PMID: 25750267 DOI: 10.1136/jclinpath-2015-202944]
- 197 Agahozo MC, Hammerl D, Debets R, Kok M, van Deurzen CHM. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast: friends or foes? Mod Pathol 2018; 31: 1012-1025 [PMID: 29463884 DOI: 10.1038/s41379-018-0030-x]
- 198 Neurath MF, Finotto S. IL-6 signaling in autoimmunity, chronic inflammation and inflammationassociated cancer. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2011; 22: 83-89 [PMID: 21377916 DOI: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.02.003]
- Ma K, Yang L, Shen R, Kong B, Chen W, Liang J, Tang G, Zhang B. Th17 cells regulate the 199 production of CXCL1 in breast cancer. Int Immunopharmacol 2018; 56: 320-329 [PMID: 29438938 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.01.026]
- 200 Kleinewietfeld M, Manzel A, Titze J, Kvakan H, Yosef N, Linker RA, Muller DN, Hafler DA. Sodium chloride drives autoimmune disease by the induction of pathogenic TH17 cells. Nature 2013; 496: 518-522 [PMID: 23467095 DOI: 10.1038/nature11868]
- 201 Alinejad V, Dolati S, Motallebnezhad M, Yousefi M. The role of IL17B-IL17RB signaling pathway in breast cancer. Biomed Pharmacother 2017; 88: 795-803 [PMID: 28160754 DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.01.120]
- Prabhala RH, Pelluru D, Fulciniti M, Prabhala HK, Nanjappa P, Song W, Pai C, Amin S, Tai YT, 202 Richardson PG, Ghobrial IM, Treon SP, Daley JF, Anderson KC, Kutok JL, Munshi NC. Elevated IL-17 produced by TH17 cells promotes myeloma cell growth and inhibits immune function in multiple myeloma. Blood 2010; 115: 5385-5392 [PMID: 20395418 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2009-10-246660]
- Ustun C, Miller JS, Munn DH, Weisdorf DJ, Blazar BR. Regulatory T cells in acute myelogenous 203 leukemia: is it time for immunomodulation? Blood 2011; 118: 5084-5095 [PMID: 21881045 DOI:



#### 10.1182/blood-2011-07-365817]

- 204 Szczepanski MJ, Szajnik M, Czystowska M, Mandapathil M, Strauss L, Welsh A, Foon KA, Whiteside TL, Boyiadzis M. Increased frequency and suppression by regulatory T cells in patients with acute myelogenous leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 2009; 15: 3325-3332 [PMID: 19417016 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-3010]
- 205 Li P, Shi X, Xu Y, Zhong B, Lu Y, Sun Y. Interleukin-22 Promotes Osteosarcoma Cell Proliferation and Invasion via STAT3 Activation. Med Sci Monit 2018; 24: 7802-7808 [PMID: 30381753 DOI: 10.12659/MSM.910962]
- 206 Iwamoto J, Takeda T, Ichimura S. Treatment with vitamin D3 and/or vitamin K2 for postmenopausal osteoporosis. Keio J Med 2003; 52: 147-150 [PMID: 14529146 DOI: 10.2302/kjm.52.147]



WJC0

# World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 868-881

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.868

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

# Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 targeted therapy in endometrial cancer: Clinical and pathological perspectives

Ayumi Saito, Hiroshi Yoshida, Tadaaki Nishikawa, Kan Yonemori

ORCID number: Ayumi Saito 0000-0001-9302-4287; Hiroshi Yoshida 0000-0002-7569-7813; Tadaaki Nishikawa 0000-0003-2606-4208; Kan Yonemori 0000-0002-7624-7611.

Author contributions: Saito A, Yoshida H, Nishikawa T, and Yonemori K contributed equally to this work.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors have no conflict of interest to declare

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Specialty type: Oncology

Country/Territory of origin: Japan

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification Grade A (Excellent): 0

Ayumi Saito, Tadaaki Nishikawa, Kan Yonemori, Department of Breast and Medical Oncology, National Cancer Center Hospital, Tokyo 1040045, Japan

Hiroshi Yoshida, Department of Diagnostic Pathology, National Cancer Center Hospital, Tokyo 1040045, Japan

Corresponding author: Hiroshi Yoshida, MD, PhD, Staff Physician, Department of Diagnostic Pathology, National Cancer Center Hospital, 5-1-1, Tsukiji, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 1040045, Japan. hiroyosh@ncc.go.jp

# Abstract

Endometrial cancer is the most common gynecological cancer in developed countries, and its incidence has increased. The majority of patients with endometrial cancer have an early disease and favorable prognosis; however, a significant proportion of endometrial cancer, which mainly comprises high-grade or type II endometrial cancer such as serous, clear cell, and carcinosarcoma, shows advanced/recurrent disease and dismal prognosis. Novel therapeutic development is required for patients with aggressive endometrial cancers. Recent genomic and immunohistochemical analyses revealed human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) overexpression/gene amplification in 20%-40% of patients with type II endometrial cancer. Historically, HER2 targeted therapy has been developed for various major cancers, including breast and gastric cancer. Notably, recent advances in HER2 targeted therapy for patients with type II endometrial cancer are also expected to change. Simultaneously, an optimized HER2 test for endometrial cancer as companion diagnostics should be established. In this review, we summarize the recent findings on endometrial cancer, current treatment, optimized HER2 testing, key clinical trials on HER2 targeted therapy, and future directions in aggressive endometrial cancer, including serous carcinoma and carcinosarcoma.

Key Words: Endometrial cancer; Serous carcinoma; Carcinosarcoma; Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; Chemotherapy; Antibody-drug conjugates

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: February 26, 2021 Peer-review started: February 26, 2021 First decision: June 7, 2021 Revised: June 14, 2021 Accepted: September 2, 2021 Article in press: September 2, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Liu SY, Wu RC S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xing YX



**Core Tip:** Endometrial cancer is the most common gynecological cancer in developed countries, and its incidence has increased. A significant proportion of endometrial cancer, which mainly comprises high-grade or type II endometrial cancer, including serous carcinoma and carcinosarcoma, shows a dismal prognosis. Recent molecular analyses revealed human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) overexpression/ gene amplification in 20%-40% of patients with type II endometrial cancer. Notably, HER2 targeted therapy for type II endometrial cancer has been dramatically developed. We review the recent findings on endometrial cancer, current treatment, optimized HER2 testing, key clinical trials on HER2 targeted therapy, and future directions in these aggressive endometrial cancers.

**Citation:** Saito A, Yoshida H, Nishikawa T, Yonemori K. Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 targeted therapy in endometrial cancer: Clinical and pathological perspectives. *World J Clin Oncol* 2021; 12(10): 868-881

**URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/868.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.868

### INTRODUCTION

Endometrial cancer is the most common gynecologic malignancy, with 65000 cases diagnosed and 12000 deaths in the United States in 2020[1]. In Japan, approximately 16000 cases are diagnosed, 2500 deaths occur annually, and the number of patients is increasing[2,3]. The prognosis is relatively good, with a 5-year survival rate of 80%, and many cases are diagnosed at the localized stage[4]. However, a significant proportion of patients with endometrial cancer still have an advanced or recurrent disease and have a dismal prognosis.

Endometrial cancers can be classified into two types. Type I shows endometrioid morphology, which accounts for 80% of endometrial cancers, and type II shows nonendometrioid morphology, such as serous carcinoma, clear cell carcinoma, and carcinosarcoma, which account for the remaining 20%. Each type of carcinoma is known to have a different background and clinical course. Type I is reportedly caused by unopposed estrogen, and obesity is a trigger for carcinogenesis; it is diagnosed at a young age, has low grade and early stage, and is usually curable by surgery. In contrast to type I, type II is more common in elderly patients, occurs on a background atrophic endometrium, is diagnosed at an advanced stage, and is resistant to chemotherapy, resulting in a poor prognosis[5].

An analysis of The Cancer Genome Atlas revealed different molecular genetic pathways that are present in these two types. The results show that endometrial cancers can be divided into four clusters: *POLE* ultramutated (cluster 1), microsatellite instability hypermutated (cluster 2), copy-number low, endometrioid (cluster 3), and copy-number high; serous-like (cluster 4). Uterine serous carcinoma (USC), classified as Type II, accounts for the majority of cluster 4 cases[6]. Differences in common genomic alterations by cluster were characterized by *PTEN*, *PIK3R1*, *FBXW7*, and *KRAS* alterations in cluster 1, *KRAS* alterations in cluster 2, *CTNNB1* alterations in cluster 3, *TP53*, *FBXW7*, *PPP2R1A* alterations, *ERBB2*, and *CCND1* amplification in cluster 4[6].

Surgical treatment is appropriate for early-stage endometrial cancer, and chemotherapy and radiation therapy should be considered according to the risk of recurrence after resection. Women with low-risk endometrial cancer undergoing surgical treatment alone and no adjuvant treatment are indicated. For women with high-risk endometrial cancers undergoing surgery, adjuvant chemotherapy with or without radiation should be offered[7,8]. Although there is no consensus on adjuvant treatment among intermediate-risk cancers, some clinicians may offer adjuvant chemotherapy and/or radiation[5]. For advanced or recurrent uterine cancer, carboplatin, paclitaxel, adriamycin, and cisplatin are often chosen as chemotherapy regimens based on the GOG 122L[9], GOG 209L[10], and JGOG 2043 trials[11]. Furthermore, low-grade endometrial cancer with positive estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor can be expected to benefit from hormone therapy[12].

Raishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Molecular targeted agents for patients with endometrial cancer have been developed, similar to other solid tumors. In recent years, the efficacy of pembrolizumab has been demonstrated in solid tumors of microsatellite instability-high (MSI-H)/mismatch repair deficient (dMMR)[13,14]. MSI-H/dMMR is found in 20%-30% of endometrial cancers[6,15]. The combination of pembrolizumab and lenvatinib has been shown to be effective in patients with microsatellite stable/mismatch repair proficient, regardless of histologic subtype, with 40% of participants having type II, serous/clear cell carcinoma, and type I[16]. Notably, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) targeted therapy for patients with endometrial cancer has demonstrated practice-changing efficacy in the recent decade. In this review, we aim to overview recent advances in HER2 targeted therapeutics and HER2 testing for endometrial cancer.

## HER2 AMPLIFICATION AND OVEREXPRESSION IN ENDOMETRIAL CANCER

HER2 is a cell surface receptor named after human epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-related 2 in the 1980s. It is encoded by the *ERBB2* gene on chromosome 17. It is known to belong to the EGFR family that includes other receptors: EGFR, HER3, and HER4. When *HER2* is amplified, HER2 is overexpressed and forms active dimers that induce the downstream RAS/RAF/MAPK and PI3K/AKT pathways without ligand stimulation. This, in turn, activates the downstream pathway, contributing to oncogenesis[17,18]

HER2 amplification/overexpression is known to occur in a variety of solid tumors, including about 20% in breast cancer [17], 10%-20% in gastric cancer, 2%-10% in colorectal cancer, 5%-20% in biliary tract cancer, 10% in bladder cancer, and 2%-5% in lung cancer[19,20]. In all endometrial cancers, HER2 overexpression and amplification have been reported 18%-80% and 4%-69% [19]. HER2 positivity differs according to histopathological subtype. Although HER2 overexpression and amplification are rarely seen in low-grade endometrioid adenocarcinoma, USC has the highest prevalence of HER2 positivity. The rates of HER2 overexpression and amplification by histologic subtype are shown in Table 1.

HER2-targeted drugs are being used and developed for various malignancies. Currently, trastuzumab, pertuzumab, lapatinib, neratinib, tucatinib[21], trastuzumab emtansine, and trastuzumab deruxtecan[22] have shown clinical activity in HER2positive breast cancer[19]. For HER2-positive gastric cancer, trastuzumab[23] and trastuzumab deruxtecan[24] have also shown clinical activity. In other carcinomas, HER2-targeted drug therapies are being developed for tumors with HER2 overexpression, amplification, or mutations[25-28]. In endometrial cancer, treatment options are very limited, especially for type II uterine carcinoma, which is resistant to cytotoxic chemotherapy. Therefore, new therapeutic targets and effective new drugs are required.

HER2 overexpression/amplification is currently assessed using immunostaining and fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH)/dual-color in situ hybridization. However, there is variability in positive/negative results depending on the type of cancer. In this article, we summarize the methods used to assess HER2 in type II endometrial cancer and the related development of HER2-targeted drugs.

# HER2 TESTING IN ENDOMETRIAL CANCER; PATHOLOGICAL PERS-PECTIVE

A significant proportion of endometrial cancers show HER2 overexpression or gene amplification[19,29-31]. The percentage of HER2 positive cases varies by histological type, with serous carcinomas having the highest prevalence of HER2 positivity[29-31]. Standardization of HER2 testing accompanied with evidence-based treatment has not been performed for all endometrial cancers; thus, HER2 testing methods are currently optimized for each histological type, specifically in serous carcinoma and carcinosarcoma.

HER2 testing as companion diagnostics has been best established for breast and gastric cancers, and ASCO/CAP guidelines have been provided[32,33]. The HER2 assessment algorithm is based on the detection of protein overexpression by immunohistochemistry (IHC) and gene amplification by ISH to determine HER2-positive/-



Table 1 Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 overexpression and gene amplification in endometrial cancer						
Histological type	HER2 overexpression	HER2 gene amplification	Ref.			
Overall	4%-69%	18%-80%	[19,45,55]			
Endometrioid (low grade)	rare	rare	[29,45]			
Endometrioid (high grade)	8%-31%	15%-29%	[29,45]			
Serous carcinoma	20%-60%	13%-29%	[29,42,43,45]			
Clear cell carcinoma	33%-70%	22%-50%	[29,55]			
Carcinosarcoma	0-25%	13%-20%	[38,48-51]			

negative cases[32,33]. Although HER2 overexpression has been reported in other types of carcinomas, in most cases, these two HER2 testing methods are used[19,34] or modified (e.g., in colorectal cancer[35,36]).

In endometrial cancer, HER2 testing has become more clinically relevant in serous carcinoma[37] and carcinosarcoma[38,39], with the accumulating knowledge of HER2 testing accompanied by ongoing therapeutic developments.

#### HER2 TESTING IN SEROUS CARCINOMA

Serous carcinoma accounts for up to 10% of endometrial cancers; however, it is aggressive and responsible for almost 40% of endometrial cancer deaths[40]. Histopathologically, serous carcinoma is usually composed of tumor cells with marked nuclear pleomorphism and presents a complex papillary pattern of typically small, bud-like papillae, irregular slit-like glands, an endometrioid-like glandular pattern, solid nests and sheets, and microcysts[41]. HER2 is overexpressed in 20%-60% of serous carcinomas[29,42-45]; however, less frequent HER2 gene amplification has been reported[43,44]. Notably, the staining pattern of HER2 in serous carcinoma cells has been well studied; approximately 75% of HER2 expressing carcinoma cells reportedly show a basolateral/Lateral membranous staining pattern, similar to that of gastric adenocarcinoma[37]. HER2 assessment of serous carcinoma has been performed using various methods, mainly based on the breast cancer criteria[42-44]. However, an optimal HER2 testing method specific for endometrial serous carcinoma has not been established in the clinical trial setting.

Recently, a randomized phase 2 clinical trial of carboplatin/paclitaxel vs carboplatin/ paclitaxel/trastuzumab in advanced or recurrent HER2 positive serous carcinoma demonstrated the survival benefit of adding trastuzumab[46]. Both prolonged progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) were observed in the trastuzumab arm. For patient enrollment in this clinical trial, HER2 status was determined based on the modified 2007 ASCO/CAP breast criteria (Figure 1)[37]. Serous carcinoma showing intense complete or lateral/basolateral membranous HER2 staining in more than 30% of tumor cells were classified as score 3+, and score 2+ was assigned when intense complete or lateral/basolateral membrane staining was seen in  $\leq$  30%, or weak to moderate staining in  $\geq$  10% of tumor cells. FISH was performed only in tumors with an IHC score of 2+, and a HER2/CEP17 ratio of  $\geq$  2.0 was considered as amplified. Although this HER2 assessment criterion was justified in the context of the treatment effect of trastuzumab-containing regimens, it is still uncertain whether this HER2 testing algorithm should be used in patients receiving HER2 targeted drugs with a different mode of action from that of trastuzumab. For example, HER2antibody drug conjugate (ADC) has been shown to be clinically effective in patients with low-level HER2 expressing breast cancer who have been assessed as HER2negative according to the ASCO/CAP breast cancer criteria established for the prediction of response to trastuzumab<sup>[47]</sup>. The HER2 testing algorithm was optimized to maximize patient benefit and safety for each HER2 targeted therapy.

#### HER2 TESTING IN UTERINE CARCINOSARCOMA

Uterine carcinosarcoma (UCS) is a rare and high-grade subtype of endometrial cancer (WHO2020) and is characterized by the presence of both carcinomatous and





Figure 1 Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing for serous carcinoma used in the Phase 2 clinical trial[37,46]. IHC: Immunohistochemistry; FISH: Fluorescent in situ hybridization.

sarcomatous components that are usually intimately admixed. The carcinomatous component is usually a high-grade endometrioid, serous, clear, or nonspecific carcinoma. HER2 is a promising therapeutic target for UCS. *HER2* gene amplification has been reported in 13%-20% of UCS cases[48,49]. Additionally, HER2 overexpression (IHC score 3+) reportedly ranges from 0 to 25%[38,49-51].

An evidence-based HER2 testing protocol for UCS has not been fully established; thus, several researchers have adopted HER2 testing protocols and assessment methods based on ASCO/CAP recommendations for HER2 testing for breast cancer and gastroesophageal cancer.

Recently, we proposed several requirements for HER2 testing in UCSs[39]. Our evaluation method has been used in the ongoing phase 2 clinical trial of HER2 ADC in patients with recurrent/metastatic UCS (STATICE trial)[52]. In this study, we identified that most UCS showed lateral/basolateral staining patterns (Figure 2), similar to endometrial serous carcinoma and gastric adenocarcinoma[39]. Based on our previous observations, we concluded that a HER2 testing protocol for UCS should contain the following requirements[39]: (1) Established pre-analytical factors of HER2 IHC[32,33] should be carefully controlled; (2) One representative section containing carcinoma components should be submitted from the hysterectomy specimen; (3) HER2 IHC should be performed using an IVD kit or a laboratory-developed test with appropriate quality control[32,33]; (4) Positive lateral/basolateral membranous staining patterns should be considered as positive, according to the 2016 ASCO/CAP gastric cancer criteria<sup>[32]</sup>; and (5) The proportion of HER2 expressing tumor cells should be determined as an approximate number of HER2-positive tumor cells divided by that of total tumor cells (both carcinoma and sarcomatous elements). Unfortunately, we did not provide supporting data for the best scoring system based on the patient clinical outcomes. However, we would report the correlation between treatment efficacy and HER2 score in patients with UCS in 1-2 years.

#### FUTURE DIRECTION OF HER2 TESTING IN ENDOMETRIAL CANCER

Most quality assurance of HER2 testing should be performed in accordance with wellestablished methods for breast and gastric cancer. In addition, we should consider specific issues for HER2 testing in endometrial cancers, including correlation with specific treatment response, intratumoral heterogeneity of HER2 status, discordant HER2 status between the primary site and metastasis, improvement of interobserver reproducibility of HER2 assessment, and use of liquid biopsy in the future.



Figure 2 Representative staining patterns of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 and fluorescent in situ hybridization results in

Raishideng® WJCO https://www.wjgnet.com

uterine carcinosarcoma. Serous-like carcinoma component (A) shows diffuse strong membranous staining of Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) (B). Most tumor cells show lateral or basolateral membranous staining patterns (C). HER2 amplification observed in these tumor cells using fluorescent in situ hybridization (D). Representative images of HER2 score according to ASCO/CAP gastric cancer criteria. Score 3+ (E), score 2+ (F), score 1+ (G), and score 0 (H) (x 200). A (H&E, × 100); B, E-G, and H (HER2, × 100); C (HER2, × 400). FISH: Fluorescent in situ hybridization; H&E: Hematoxylin and eosin.

# CURRENT THERAPIES AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS FOR HER2 TARGETED THERAPIES FOR UTERINE SEROUS CARCINOMA AND UTERINE CARCINOSARCOMA

Trastuzumab is the most popular HER2-targeted drug. Several case reports have shown that trastuzumab had clinical activity in patients with endometrial cancer[53, 54]. Fleming et al[55] investigated the efficacy of trastuzumab as a single agent in HER2-positive endometrial carcinoma in a GOG study (Table 2). However, the overall response rate was 0%, and no significant clinical activity was observed. A possible issue was that many endometrioid carcinomas with low HER2 positivity were screened, and the study had early termination with poor accrual. Lapatinib is a dual inhibitor of EGFR and HER2 used in HER2-positive breast cancer. The GOG 229D[56] trial examined the efficacy of lapatinib in uterine cancer (n = 2 for HER2-positive) in a phase II trial. The response rate was 3%, the median PFS was 1.82 mo, and clinical activity could not be demonstrated. This lack of clinical activity could be explained by the unselected patient population. Therefore, further studies are warranted to highlight type II endometrial carcinoma patients with high HER2-positivity.

Fader et al[46] conducted a randomized phase II trial to evaluate the effect of trastuzumab on carboplatin and paclitaxel, the standard of care for HER2-positive USC. The median PFS [12.6 mo vs 8.0 mo; hazard ratio (HR) = 0.44, 90% confidence interval (CI): 0.26-0.76, P = 0.005] was significantly different between the two groups. Updated analysis (median PFS 12.9 mo vs 8.0 mo; HR = 0.46, 90%CI: 0.28-0.76; P = 0.005, median OS 29.6 mo *vs* 24.4 mo; HR = 0.58, 90%CI: 0.34-0.99; *P* = 0.46) showed clinically significant benefit<sup>[57]</sup>. The addition of trastuzumab to carboplatin and paclitaxel chemotherapy represents a new standard treatment for USC. In the NCCN guidelines, carboplatin, paclitaxel, and trastuzumab combination therapy are recommended in Category 2A for advanced or recurrent USC[58].

Several basket trials in HER2-positive solid tumors, including endometrial carcinoma, have been reported. MyPathway is a phase II, multiple basket study with patients with advanced refractory solid tumors harboring molecular alterations such as HER2, BRAF, EGFR, and the Hedgehog pathway [25]. Patients with HER2 alterations were treated with pertuzumab plus trastuzumab. Eight patients with HER2-positive endometrial carcinoma received trastuzumab plus pertuzumab. No responses were observed. The efficacy of trastuzumab emtansine has also been evaluated in a phase II basket trial, including HER2-positive endometrial carcinoma[59]. This trial demonstrated that 18 patients with uterine cancer (subtype unknown) were included, and two patients had a complete response and two had a partial response (PR), suggesting high efficacy.

Currently, several clinical trials of HER2-targeted drugs are ongoing. The DESTINY-PanTumor02 trial is a basket trial to evaluate the efficacy of trastuzumab deruxtecan in HER2-positive tumors, including endometrial carcinoma (NCT04482309). A phase I trial evaluating combination therapy with trastuzumab deruxtecan and olaparib in HER2-positive USC is also ongoing (NCT04585958). In HER2-positive UCS, the STATICE trial is a phase II trial to evaluate the efficacy of trastuzumab deruxtecan (UMIN00002956, NCCH1615)[52].

Novel therapeutic agents targeting HER2 have emerged. Trastuzumab duocarmazine (known as SYD985) is a novel HER2-targeted ADC that combines trastuzumab with duocarmazine, a DNA alkylating agent, as a payload. Trastuzumab duocarmazine has shown preclinical anti-tumor activity in USC[60]. Banerji et al[61] demonstrated phase 1 dose-escalation and dose-expansion study in breast, gastric, urothelial, and endometrial carcinomas that express HER2. Thirteen patients with endometrial cancer were included in the dose-expansion cohort. Five patients (39%) had PR, and the median PFS was 4.3 mo[61]. Treatment-related serious adverse events were reported in 11% of patients, and the frequency of cardiac toxicity did not increase compared with previous anti-HER2 drugs. Most patients had ocular adverse events, such as conjunctivitis, dry eye, and lacrimation. Trastuzumab duocarmazine has a manageable safety toxicity profile[61]. Further investigation of trastuzumab duocarmazine is ongoing in phase III trials for HER2-positive breast cancer (TULIP study,



Table 2 Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-targeted therapies for uterine serous carcinoma and carcinosarcoma							
Trial	Phase	Participants Treatment		Efficacy/indentifer			
GOG181B[ <mark>55</mark> ]	II	HER2-positive EC ( <i>n</i> = 33, endometrioid: 13, serous: 11, clear: 3, others: 6)	Trastuzumab	ORR 0%, mPFS 1.84 mo, mOS 7.8 mo			
GOG229D[ <mark>56</mark> ]	Ш	Persistent or recurrent EC ( <i>n</i> = 31, endometrioid: 16, serous: 7, clear: 3, others: 5, HER2-positive: <i>n</i> = 2)	Lapatinib	mPFS 1.82 mo, mOS 7.33 mo			
Fader <i>et al</i> [46,57]	II	HER2-positive USC ( $n = 61$ )	carboplatin+paclitaxel+trastuzumab vs carboplatin+paclitaxel	mPFS 12.9 mo <i>vs</i> 8.0 mo, mOS 29.6 <i>vs</i> 24.4 mo			
MyPathway[ <mark>25</mark> ]	Phase IIa Multiple basket study	Solid tumor(HER2-positive EC, <i>n</i> = 7)	Trastuzumab+pertuzumab	ORR 0%(EC)			
Li et al[ <mark>59</mark> ]	II	HER2 amplified cancer (endometrial cancer: $n = 18$ )	Trastuzumab emtansine	Endometrial cancers: CR 2, PR 2			
DESTINY- PanTumor02[77]	Π	HER2 expressing tumor (urothelial, biliary tract, cervical, endometrial, ovarian, pancreatic, rare tumors)	Trastumab deruxtecan	NCT04482309			
Veneris[78]	Ι	HER2-positive USC	Trastuzumab deruxtecan+olaparib	NCT04585958			
Banerji <i>et al</i> [ <mark>61</mark> ]	Ι	Dose-expansion cohort: HER2-positive breast, gastric, urothelial, endometrial cancer	SYD-985 (Trastuzumab duocarmazine)	Endometrial cancer: ORR 39%, mPFS 4.3 mo			
Koper[79]	Ι	HER2-positive solid tumor	SYD-985 (Trastuzumab duocarmazine)+Niraparib	NCT04235101			
Hendriks[80]	Π	HER2-positive endometrial cancer	SYD-985 (Trastuzumab duocarmazine)	NCT04205630			
STATICE[52]	II	HER2-positive UCS	Trastuzumab deruxtecan	UMIN00002956 (NCCH1615)			
Makker[81]	П	HER2-positive endometrial cancer, UCS	ZW25	NCT04513665			
Ramos[82]	II	HER2-positive solid tumors	Tucatinib and trastuzumab	NCT04579380			

EC: Endometrial cancer; USC: Uterine serous carcinoma; UCS: Uterine carcinosarcoma; CR: Complete response; mOS: Median overall survival; mPFS: Median progression-free survival; ORR: Objective response rate; PR: Partial response.

> NCT03262935), phase II trials for HER2-positive endometrial cancer (NCT04205630), and phase I trial for HER2-positive solid tumor combination with niraparib (NCT04235101).

> There are important considerations for future studies. Anti-HER2 therapy has been successful in HER2-positive breast cancer, but most of these drugs have not been successful in non-breast HER2-positive solid tumors. One explanation for these differences is the pattern of HER2 expression and heterogeneity within the tumor. Since the HER2 expression pattern of USC and UCS is similar to that of gastric cancer, but not breast cancer, it is possible that the same HER2-targeted therapy may have similar effects.

> The first consideration may be to focus on combination therapies and ADC drugs rather than HER2 blockade alone in endometrial cancer. The second consideration is to overcome the resistance to HER2 targeted agents. Mechanisms of resistance to HER2 targeted therapy have been studied and can be classified into four groups: intratumoral heterogeneity, alterations in the binding site, activation of downstream signals, and overexpression of other HER2 family members[62]. The strategy against intratumoral heterogeneity could be a bystander effect of clinical activity against not only targeted cells but also surrounding cells. A novel HER2 ADC drug, trastuzumab deruxtecan, and trastuzumab duocarmazine showed a bystander effect in vitro and in vivo, and showed anti-tumor activity in clinical trials with low HER2 positivity [47,60, 63-65]. Alteration in the binding site of HER2 and extracellular domain shedding could be overcome using irreversible inhibitors. In preclinical studies, afatinib and neratinib are irreversible pan-HER inhibitors that show anti-tumor activity in USC and gynecologic carcinosarcoma[66-68]. Tucatinib is an HER2 and HER3 kinase inhibitor, combination with trastuzumab are investigated in baskets study of Solid tumor with HER2 alterations, including uterine neoplasms. In downstream pathway alterations, the gain of function in PI3K is well known as resistance to HER2. Combined HER2 and PIK3CA dual inhibition using neratinib and taselisib were effective in cell lines and



xenograft models of USC[69,70]. Of overexpression of other HER2 family members, HER3 overexpression plays an important role. The formation of HER2-HER3 heterodimers is most related to resistance to anti-HER2 therapy. Pertuzumab is an HER2 antibody that binds to a different epitope from that of trastuzumab and inhibits dimerization. In breast cancer, the combination of trastuzumab and pertuzumab improved clinical outcomes<sup>[71]</sup>. Pertuzumab and trastuzumab showed anti-tumor activity in USC cell lines [72]. Although these drug combinations showed no clinical benefit in the Mypathway trial with HER2 amplification in endometrial cancer<sup>[25]</sup>, further investigation is warranted. Several HER2 bispecific antibodies have been developed that simultaneously bind to two distinct HER2 epitopes, the same domain as trastuzumab and pertuzumab<sup>[73]</sup>. Researchers demonstrated a phase 1 basket trial to evaluate ZW25, one of HER2 bispecific antibodies, in HER2 positive solid tumors, including endometrial cancer. Of 17 evaluable patients, seven patients (41%) had an objective response, and the median PFS was 6.2 mo[74]. ZW25 is investigated in phase 2 clinical trial of HER2 overexpressed advanced endometrial cancer and carcinosarcomas.

In addition, there is rapidly growing HER2-directed immunotherapy in patients with HER2-positive solid tumors[19,75]. Several drugs with a different target, such as bispecific antibodies, immune-stimulating conjugates, vaccines, and adoptive T-cell therapies, are under investigation[76]. The bispecific HER2/CD3 antibodies BTRC4017A, GBR-1302 and M802 induce cytotoxic effect by interaction with HER2 on tumor cell and CD3 on cytotoxic T cell. NJH395 are immune-stimulating antibody conjugates which HER2 antibody links to payload as toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) and TLR8. Stimulating TLR activated natural killer cells and antigen-presenting cells and facilitate invasion of CTLs to tumor tissues. PRS-343 increases tumor lymphocyte invasion via targeting HER2 and CD137 (4-1BB). CD137 is known as a co-stimulating factor of T cell activation[73]. We expect a further investigation of these drugs in patients with endometrial cancer.

#### CONCLUSION

In this review, we provided an overview of HER2-overexpression/amplification in endometrial cancer, pathological evaluation methods, and the current status of HER2targeted therapies. With the advent of precision medicine, the development of therapies targeting biomarkers has become increasingly advanced. In the development of anti-HER2 inhibitors and ADC drugs targeting HER2, it may be important to develop not only a single drug but also combination therapies. Since there are limited therapeutic agents for endometrial cancer, especially for type II, the development of HER2-targeted therapy is urgently needed.

#### REFERENCES

- National Cancer Institute. SEER Cancer Stat Facts: Uterine Cancer. [cited 23 January 2021]. Available from: https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/corp.html
- 2 Cancer Registry and Statistics. Cancer Information Service, National Cancer Center, Japan (Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, National Cancer Registry). [cited 23 January 2021]. Available from: https://ganjoho.jp/reg\_stat/statistics/data/dl/index.html#a14
- 3 Cancer Registry and Statistics. Cancer Information Service, National Cancer Center, Japan (Vital Statistics of Japan). [cited 23 January 2021]. Available from: https://ganjoho.jp/reg\_stat/statistics/data/dl/index.html#a14
- Yamagami W, Nagase S, Takahashi F, Ino K, Hachisuga T, Aoki D, Katabuchi H. Clinical statistics 4 of gynecologic cancers in Japan. J Gynecol Oncol 2017; 28: e32 [PMID: 28198168 DOI: 10.3802/jgo.2017.28.e32]
- Lu KH, Broaddus RR. Endometrial Cancer. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: 2053-2064 [PMID: 33207095 5 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1514010]
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, Kandoth C, Schultz N, Cherniack AD, Akbani R, Liu Y, 6 Shen H, Robertson AG, Pashtan I, Shen R, Benz CC, Yau C, Laird PW, Ding L, Zhang W, Mills GB, Kucherlapati R, Mardis ER, Levine DA. Integrated genomic characterization of endometrial carcinoma. Nature 2013; 497: 67-73 [PMID: 23636398 DOI: 10.1038/nature12113]
- 7 Randall ME, Filiaci V, McMeekin DS, von Gruenigen V, Huang H, Yashar CM, Mannel RS, Kim JW, Salani R, DiSilvestro PA, Burke JJ, Rutherford T, Spirtos NM, Terada K, Anderson PR, Brewster WR, Small W, Aghajanian CA, Miller DS. Phase III Trial: Adjuvant Pelvic Radiation Therapy Versus Vaginal Brachytherapy Plus Paclitaxel/Carboplatin in High-Intermediate and High-Risk Early Stage Endometrial Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 1810-1818 [PMID: 30995174 DOI:



#### 10.1200/JCO.18.01575]

- 8 de Boer SM, Powell ME, Mileshkin L, Katsaros D, Bessette P, Haie-Meder C, Ottevanger PB, Ledermann JA, Khaw P, Colombo A, Fyles A, Baron MH, Jürgenliemk-Schulz IM, Kitchener HC, Nijman HW, Wilson G, Brooks S, Carinelli S, Provencher D, Hanzen C, Lutgens LCHW, Smit VTHBM, Singh N, Do V, D'Amico R, Nout RA, Feeney A, Verhoeven-Adema KW, Putter H, Creutzberg CL; PORTEC study group. Adjuvant chemoradiotherapy versus radiotherapy alone for women with high-risk endometrial cancer (PORTEC-3): final results of an international, open-label, multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2018; 19: 295-309 [PMID: 29449189 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30079-2]
- Randall ME, Filiaci VL, Muss H, Spirtos NM, Mannel RS, Fowler J, Thigpen JT, Benda JA; Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. Randomized phase III trial of whole-abdominal irradiation versus doxorubicin and cisplatin chemotherapy in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 36-44 [PMID: 16330675 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2004.00.7617]
- Miller DS, Filiaci VL, Mannel RS, Cohn DE, Matsumoto T, Tewari KS, DiSilvestro P, Pearl ML, 10 Argenta PA, Powell MA, Zweizig SL, Warshal DP, Hanjani P, Carney ME, Huang H, Cella D, Zaino R, Fleming GF. Carboplatin and Paclitaxel for Advanced Endometrial Cancer: Final Overall Survival and Adverse Event Analysis of a Phase III Trial (NRG Oncology/GOG0209). J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 3841-3850 [PMID: 33078978 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.20.01076]
- 11 Nomura H, Aoki D, Michimae H, Mizuno M, Nakai H, Arai M, Sasagawa M, Ushijima K, Sugiyama T, Saito M, Tokunaga H, Matoda M, Nakanishi T, Watanabe Y, Takahashi F, Saito T, Yaegashi N; Japanese Gynecologic Oncology Group. Effect of Taxane Plus Platinum Regimens vs Doxorubicin Plus Cisplatin as Adjuvant Chemotherapy for Endometrial Cancer at a High Risk of Progression: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Oncol 2019; 5: 833-840 [PMID: 30896757 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.0001]
- 12 Decruze SB, Green JA. Hormone therapy in advanced and recurrent endometrial cancer: a systematic review. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2007; 17: 964-978 [PMID: 17442022 DOI: 10.1111/j.1525-1438.2007.00897.x]
- 13 Marabelle A, Le DT, Ascierto PA, Di Giacomo AM, De Jesus-Acosta A, Delord JP, Geva R, Gottfried M, Penel N, Hansen AR, Piha-Paul SA, Doi T, Gao B, Chung HC, Lopez-Martin J, Bang YJ, Frommer RS, Shah M, Ghori R, Joe AK, Pruitt SK, Diaz LA Jr. Efficacy of Pembrolizumab in Patients With Noncolorectal High Microsatellite Instability/Mismatch Repair-Deficient Cancer: Results From the Phase II KEYNOTE-158 Study. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 1-10 [PMID: 31682550 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.19.02105]
- Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, Skora AD, Luber BS, Azad NS, 14 Laheru D, Biedrzycki B, Donehower RC, Zaheer A, Fisher GA, Crocenzi TS, Lee JJ, Duffy SM, Goldberg RM, de la Chapelle A, Koshiji M, Bhaijee F, Huebner T, Hruban RH, Wood LD, Cuka N, Pardoll DM, Papadopoulos N, Kinzler KW, Zhou S, Cornish TC, Taube JM, Anders RA, Eshleman JR, Vogelstein B, Diaz LA Jr. PD-1 Blockade in Tumors with Mismatch-Repair Deficiency. N Engl J Med 2015; 372: 2509-2520 [PMID: 26028255 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1500596]
- 15 Cortes-Ciriano I, Lee S, Park WY, Kim TM, Park PJ. A molecular portrait of microsatellite instability across multiple cancers. Nat Commun 2017; 8: 15180 [PMID: 28585546 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms15180]
- 16 Makker V, Taylor MH, Aghajanian C, Oaknin A, Mier J, Cohn AL, Romeo M, Bratos R, Brose MS, DiSimone C, Messing M, Stepan DE, Dutcus CE, Wu J, Schmidt EV, Orlowski R, Sachdev P, Shumaker R, Casado Herraez A. Lenvatinib Plus Pembrolizumab in Patients With Advanced Endometrial Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 2981-2992 [PMID: 32167863 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.19.02627]
- 17 Hayes DF. HER2 and Breast Cancer A Phenomenal Success Story. N Engl J Med 2019; 381: 1284-1286 [PMID: 31502769 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMcibr1909386]
- Yarden Y, Sliwkowski MX. Untangling the ErbB signalling network. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001; 2: 18 127-137 [PMID: 11252954 DOI: 10.1038/35052073]
- 19 Oh DY, Bang YJ. HER2-targeted therapies - a role beyond breast cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2020; 17: 33-48 [PMID: 31548601 DOI: 10.1038/s41571-019-0268-3]
- Fusco N, Bosari S. HER2 aberrations and heterogeneity in cancers of the digestive system: 20 Implications for pathologists and gastroenterologists. World J Gastroenterol 2016; 22: 7926-7937 [PMID: 27672288 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i35.7926]
- 21 Murthy RK, Loi S, Okines A, Paplomata E, Hamilton E, Hurvitz SA, Lin NU, Borges V, Abramson V, Anders C, Bedard PL, Oliveira M, Jakobsen E, Bachelot T, Shachar SS, Müller V, Braga S, Duhoux FP, Greil R, Cameron D, Carey LA, Curigliano G, Gelmon K, Hortobagyi G, Krop I, Loibl S, Pegram M, Slamon D, Palanca-Wessels MC, Walker L, Feng W, Winer EP. Tucatinib, Trastuzumab, and Capecitabine for HER2-Positive Metastatic Breast Cancer. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 597-609 [PMID: 31825569 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1914609]
- 22 Modi S, Saura C, Yamashita T, Park YH, Kim SB, Tamura K, Andre F, Iwata H, Ito Y, Tsurutani J, Sohn J, Denduluri N, Perrin C, Aogi K, Tokunaga E, Im SA, Lee KS, Hurvitz SA, Cortes J, Lee C, Chen S, Zhang L, Shahidi J, Yver A, Krop I; DESTINY-Breast01 Investigators. Trastuzumab Deruxtecan in Previously Treated HER2-Positive Breast Cancer. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 610-621 [PMID: 31825192 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1914510]
- Bang YJ, Van Cutsem E, Feyereislova A, Chung HC, Shen L, Sawaki A, Lordick F, Ohtsu A, Omuro 23



Y, Satoh T, Aprile G, Kulikov E, Hill J, Lehle M, Rüschoff J, Kang YK; ToGA Trial Investigators. Trastuzumab in combination with chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for treatment of HER2positive advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction cancer (ToGA): a phase 3, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2010; 376: 687-697 [PMID: 20728210 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61121-X]

- 24 Shitara K, Bang YJ, Iwasa S, Sugimoto N, Ryu MH, Sakai D, Chung HC, Kawakami H, Yabusaki H, Lee J, Saito K, Kawaguchi Y, Kamio T, Kojima A, Sugihara M, Yamaguchi K; DESTINY-Gastric01 Investigators. Trastuzumab Deruxtecan in Previously Treated HER2-Positive Gastric Cancer. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 2419-2430 [PMID: 32469182 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2004413]
- 25 Hainsworth JD, Meric-Bernstam F, Swanton C, Hurwitz H, Spigel DR, Sweeney C, Burris H, Bose R, Yoo B, Stein A, Beattie M, Kurzrock R. Targeted Therapy for Advanced Solid Tumors on the Basis of Molecular Profiles: Results From MyPathway, an Open-Label, Phase IIa Multiple Basket Study. J Clin Oncol 2018; 36: 536-542 [PMID: 29320312 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2017.75.3780]
- Kurzrock R, Bowles DW, Kang H, Meric-Bernstam F, Hainsworth J, Spigel DR, Bose R, Burris H, Sweeney CJ, Beattie MS, Blotner S, Schulze K, Cuchelkar V, Swanton C. Targeted therapy for advanced salivary gland carcinoma based on molecular profiling: results from MyPathway, a phase IIa multiple basket study. Ann Oncol 2020; 31: 412-421 [PMID: 32067683 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2019.11.018
- Meric-Bernstam F, Hurwitz H, Raghav KPS, McWilliams RR, Fakih M, VanderWalde A, Swanton 27 C, Kurzrock R, Burris H, Sweeney C, Bose R, Spigel DR, Beattie MS, Blotner S, Stone A, Schulze K, Cuchelkar V, Hainsworth J. Pertuzumab plus trastuzumab for HER2-amplified metastatic colorectal cancer (MyPathway): an updated report from a multicentre, open-label, phase 2a, multiple basket study. Lancet Oncol 2019; 20: 518-530 [PMID: 30857956 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30904-5]
- 28 Hyman DM, Piha-Paul SA, Won H, Rodon J, Saura C, Shapiro GI, Juric D, Quinn DI, Moreno V, Doger B, Mayer IA, Boni V, Calvo E, Loi S, Lockhart AC, Erinjeri JP, Scaltriti M, Ulaner GA, Patel J, Tang J, Beer H, Selcuklu SD, Hanrahan AJ, Bouvier N, Melcer M, Murali R, Schram AM, Smyth LM, Jhaveri K, Li BT, Drilon A, Harding JJ, Iver G, Taylor BS, Berger MF, Cutler RE Jr, Xu F, Butturini A, Eli LD, Mann G, Farrell C, Lalani AS, Bryce RP, Arteaga CL, Meric-Bernstam F, Baselga J, Solit DB. HER kinase inhibition in patients with HER2- and HER3-mutant cancers. Nature 2018; 554: 189-194 [PMID: 29420467 DOI: 10.1038/nature25475]
- Morrison C, Zanagnolo V, Ramirez N, Cohn DE, Kelbick N, Copeland L, Maxwell GL, Fowler JM. 29 HER-2 is an independent prognostic factor in endometrial cancer: association with outcome in a large cohort of surgically staged patients. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 2376-2385 [PMID: 16710036 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2005.03.4827]
- 30 Peiró G, Mayr D, Hillemanns P, Löhrs U, Diebold J. Analysis of HER-2/neu amplification in endometrial carcinoma by chromogenic in situ hybridization. Correlation with fluorescence in situ hybridization, HER-2/neu, p53 and Ki-67 protein expression, and outcome. Mod Pathol 2004; 17: 227-287 [PMID: 14752523 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.3800006]
- Vermij L, Horeweg N, Leon-Castillo A, Rutten TA, Mileshkin LR, Mackay HJ, Leary A, Powell ME, Singh N, Crosbie EJ, Smit VTHBM, Creutzberg CL, Bosse T. HER2 Status in High-Risk Endometrial Cancers (PORTEC-3): Relationship with Histotype, Molecular Classification, and Clinical Outcomes. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 13 [PMID: 33375706 DOI: 10.3390/cancers13010044]
- 32 Bartley AN, Washington MK, Colasacco C, Ventura CB, Ismaila N, Benson AB 3rd, Carrato A, Gulley ML, Jain D, Kakar S, Mackay HJ, Streutker C, Tang L, Troxell M, Ajani JA. HER2 Testing and Clinical Decision Making in Gastroesophageal Adenocarcinoma: Guideline From the College of American Pathologists, American Society for Clinical Pathology, and the American Society of Clinical Oncology. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 446-464 [PMID: 28129524 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.69.4836]
- 33 Wolff AC, Hammond MEH, Allison KH, Harvey BE, Mangu PB, Bartlett JMS, Bilous M, Ellis IO, Fitzgibbons P, Hanna W, Jenkins RB, Press MF, Spears PA, Vance GH, Viale G, McShane LM, Dowsett M. Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 Testing in Breast Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists Clinical Practice Guideline Focused Update. J Clin Oncol 2018; 36: 2105-2122 [PMID: 29846122 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2018.77.8738]
- Yoshida H, Shimada K, Kosuge T, Hiraoka N. A significant subgroup of resectable gallbladder 34 cancer patients has an HER2 positive status. Virchows Arch 2016; 468: 431-439 [PMID: 26758058 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-015-1898-1]
- Sartore-Bianchi A, Trusolino L, Martino C, Bencardino K, Lonardi S, Bergamo F, Zagonel V, Leone 35 F, Depetris I, Martinelli E, Troiani T, Ciardiello F, Racca P, Bertotti A, Siravegna G, Torri V, Amatu A, Ghezzi S, Marrapese G, Palmeri L, Valtorta E, Cassingena A, Lauricella C, Vanzulli A, Regge D, Veronese S, Comoglio PM, Bardelli A, Marsoni S, Siena S. Dual-targeted therapy with trastuzumab and lapatinib in treatment-refractory, KRAS codon 12/13 wild-type, HER2-positive metastatic colorectal cancer (HERACLES): a proof-of-concept, multicentre, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2016; 17: 738-746 [PMID: 27108243 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)00150-9]
- Valtorta E, Martino C, Sartore-Bianchi A, Penaullt-Llorca F, Viale G, Risio M, Rugge M, Grigioni 36 W, Bencardino K, Lonardi S, Zagonel V, Leone F, Noe J, Ciardiello F, Pinto C, Labianca R, Mosconi S, Graiff C, Aprile G, Frau B, Garufi C, Loupakis F, Racca P, Tonini G, Lauricella C, Veronese S, Truini M, Siena S, Marsoni S, Gambacorta M. Assessment of a HER2 scoring system for colorectal cancer: results from a validation study. Mod Pathol 2015; 28: 1481-1491 [PMID: 26449765 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2015.98]



- Buza N. HER2 Testing in Endometrial Serous Carcinoma: Time for Standardized Pathology Practice 37 to Meet the Clinical Demand. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2021; 145: 687-691 [PMID: 32649220 DOI: 10.5858/arpa.2020-0207-RA
- Rottmann D, Snir OL, Wu X, Wong S, Hui P, Santin AD, Buza N. HER2 testing of gynecologic 38 carcinosarcomas: tumor stratification for potential targeted therapy. Mod Pathol 2020; 33: 118-127 [PMID: 31477811 DOI: 10.1038/s41379-019-0358-x]
- Yoshida H, Nishikawa T, Matsumoto K, Mori M, Hirashima Y, Takehara K, Ariyoshi K, Hasegawa 39 K, Yonemori K. Histopathological features of HER2 overexpression in uterine carcinosarcoma: proposal for requirements in HER2 testing for targeted therapy. Virchows Arch 2021; 478: 1161-1171 [PMID: 33423127 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-021-03017-5]
- 40 Hamilton CA, Cheung MK, Osann K, Chen L, Teng NN, Longacre TA, Powell MA, Hendrickson MR, Kapp DS, Chan JK. Uterine papillary serous and clear cell carcinomas predict for poorer survival compared to grade 3 endometrioid corpus cancers. Br J Cancer 2006; 94: 642-646 [PMID: 16495918 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603012]
- 41 Gatius S, Matias-Guiu X. Practical issues in the diagnosis of serous carcinoma of the endometrium. Mod Pathol 2016; 29 Suppl 1: S45-S58 [PMID: 26715173 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2015.141]
- Buza N, English DP, Santin AD, Hui P. Toward standard HER2 testing of endometrial serous 42 carcinoma: 4-year experience at a large academic center and recommendations for clinical practice. Mod Pathol 2013; 26: 1605-1612 [PMID: 23765245 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2013.113]
- 43 Mentrikoski MJ. Stoler MH. HER2 immunohistochemistry significantly overestimates HER2 amplification in uterine papillary serous carcinomas. Am J Surg Pathol 2014; 38: 844-851 [PMID: 24698965 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.000000000000182]
- Singh P, Smith CL, Cheetham G, Dodd TJ, Davy ML. Serous carcinoma of the uterus-determination 44 of HER-2/neu status using immunohistochemistry, chromogenic in situ hybridization, and quantitative polymerase chain reaction techniques: its significance and clinical correlation. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2008; **18**: 1344-1351 [PMID: 18248390 DOI: 10.1111/j.1525-1438.2007.01181.x]
- 45 Grushko TA, Filiaci VL, Mundt AJ, Ridderstråle K, Olopade OI, Fleming GF; Gynecologic Oncology Group. An exploratory analysis of HER-2 amplification and overexpression in advanced endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol 2008; 108: 3-9 [PMID: 17945336 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.09.007]
- Fader AN, Roque DM, Siegel E, Buza N, Hui P, Abdelghany O, Chambers SK, Secord AA, 46 Havrilesky L, O'Malley DM, Backes F, Nevadunsky N, Edraki B, Pikaart D, Lowery W, ElSahwi KS, Celano P, Bellone S, Azodi M, Litkouhi B, Ratner E, Silasi DA, Schwartz PE, Santin AD. Randomized Phase II Trial of Carboplatin-Paclitaxel Versus Carboplatin-Paclitaxel-Trastuzumab in Uterine Serous Carcinomas That Overexpress Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2/neu. J Clin Oncol 2018; 36: 2044-2051 [PMID: 29584549 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2017.76.5966]
- 47 Modi S. Park H. Murthy RK. Iwata H. Tamura K. Tsurutani J. Moreno-Aspitia A. Doi T. Sagara Y. Redfern C, Krop IE, Lee C, Fujisaki Y, Sugihara M, Zhang L, Shahidi J, Takahashi S. Antitumor Activity and Safety of Trastuzumab Deruxtecan in Patients With HER2-Low-Expressing Advanced Breast Cancer: Results From a Phase Ib Study. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 1887-1896 [PMID: 32058843 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.19.02318]
- Amant F, Vloeberghs V, Woestenborghs H, Debiec-Rychter M, Verbist L, Moerman P, Vergote I. 48 ERBB-2 gene overexpression and amplification in uterine sarcomas. Gynecol Oncol 2004; 95: 583-587 [PMID: 15581967 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2004.07.041]
- 49 Livasy CA, Reading FC, Moore DT, Boggess JF, Lininger RA. EGFR expression and HER2/neu overexpression/amplification in endometrial carcinosarcoma. Gynecol Oncol 2006; 100: 101-106 [PMID: 16157366 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2005.07.124]
- Swisher EM, Gown AM, Skelly M, Ek M, Tamimi HK, Cain JM, Greer BE, Muntz HG, Goff BA. 50 The expression of epidermal growth factor receptor, HER-2/Neu, p53, and Ki-67 antigen in uterine malignant mixed mesodermal tumors and adenosarcoma. Gynecol Oncol 1996; 60: 81-88 [PMID: 8557233 DOI: 10.1006/gyno.1996.0015]
- Saglam O, Husain S, Toruner G. AKT, EGFR, C-ErbB-2, and C-kit expression in uterine 51 carcinosarcoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol 2013; 32: 493-500 [PMID: 23896716 DOI: 10.1097/PGP.0b013e31827fedef
- Yonemori K. A clinical trial of DS-8201a in HER2 positive(HER2>=1) metastatic/recurrent uterine 52 carcinosarcoma patients (NCCH1615,STATICE trial). [cited 27 September 2020]. Available from: https://upload.umin.ac.jp/cgi-open-bin/ctr\_e/ctr\_view.cgi?recptno=R000033713
- 53 Santin AD, Bellone S, Roman JJ, McKenney JK, Pecorelli S. Trastuzumab treatment in patients with advanced or recurrent endometrial carcinoma overexpressing HER2/neu. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2008; 102: 128-131 [PMID: 18555254 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2008.04.008]
- Jewell E, Secord AA, Brotherton T, Berchuck A. Use of trastuzumab in the treatment of metastatic 54 endometrial cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2006; 16: 1370-1373 [PMID: 16803532 DOI: 10.1111/j.1525-1438.2006.00543.x]
- 55 Fleming GF, Sill MW, Darcy KM, McMeekin DS, Thigpen JT, Adler LM, Berek JS, Chapman JA, DiSilvestro PA, Horowitz IR, Fiorica JV. Phase II trial of trastuzumab in women with advanced or recurrent, HER2-positive endometrial carcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol 2010; 116: 15-20 [PMID: 19840887 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2009.09.025]
- Leslie KK, Sill MW, Lankes HA, Fischer EG, Godwin AK, Gray H, Schilder RJ, Walker JL, Tewari 56 K, Hanjani P, Abulafia O, Rose PG. Lapatinib and potential prognostic value of EGFR mutations in a



Gynecologic Oncology Group phase II trial of persistent or recurrent endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol 2012; 127: 345-350 [PMID: 22885469 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2012.07.127]

- 57 Fader AN, Roque DM, Siegel E, Buza N, Hui P, Abdelghany O, Chambers S, Secord AA, Havrilesky L, O'Malley DM, Backes FJ, Nevadunsky N, Edraki B, Pikaart D, Lowery W, ElSahwi K, Celano P, Bellone S, Azodi M, Litkouhi B, Ratner E, Silasi DA, Schwartz PE, Santin AD. Randomized Phase II Trial of Carboplatin-Paclitaxel Compared with Carboplatin-Paclitaxel-Trastuzumab in Advanced (Stage III-IV) or Recurrent Uterine Serous Carcinomas that Overexpress Her2/Neu (NCT01367002): Updated Overall Survival Analysis. Clin Cancer Res 2020; 26: 3928-3935 [PMID: 32601075 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-0953
- 58 National Comprehensive Cancer Network. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology Uterine Neoplasms. Version 1. 2021. [cited 24 January 2021] Available from: https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician\_gls/pdf/uterine.pdf
- Li BT, Makker V, Buonocore DJ, Offin MD, Olah ZT, Panora E, Shen R, Ho AL, Yaeger R, Iyer G, 59 Ginsberg MS, Ulaner G, Solit DB, Hyman DM, Rudin CM, Berger MF, Baselga J, Scaltriti M, Arcila ME, Kris MG. A multi-histology basket trial of ado-trastuzumab emtansine in patients with HER2 amplified cancers. J Clin Oncol 2018; 36: 2502-2502 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2018.36.15\_suppl.2502]
- Black J, Menderes G, Bellone S, Schwab CL, Bonazzoli E, Ferrari F, Predolini F, De Haydu C, 60 Cocco E, Buza N, Hui P, Wong S, Lopez S, Ratner E, Silasi DA, Azodi M, Litkouhi B, Schwartz PE, Goedings P, Beusker PH, van der Lee MM, Timmers CM, Dokter WH, Santin AD. SYD985, a Novel Duocarmycin-Based HER2-Targeting Antibody-Drug Conjugate, Shows Antitumor Activity in Uterine Serous Carcinoma with HER2/Neu Expression. Mol Cancer Ther 2016; 15: 1900-1909 [PMID: 27256376 DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-16-0163]
- 61 Banerji U, van Herpen CML, Saura C, Thistlethwaite F, Lord S, Moreno V, Macpherson IR, Boni V, Rolfo C, de Vries EGE, Rottey S, Geenen J, Eskens F, Gil-Martin M, Mommers EC, Koper NP, Aftimos P. Trastuzumab duocarmazine in locally advanced and metastatic solid tumours and HER2expressing breast cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation and dose-expansion study. Lancet Oncol 2019; 20: 1124-1135 [PMID: 31257177 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30328-6]
- Erickson BK, Zeybek B, Santin AD, Fader AN. Targeting human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 62 (HER2) in gynecologic malignancies. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2020; 32: 57-64 [PMID: 31833974 DOI: 10.1097/GCO.000000000000599]
- van der Lee MM, Groothuis PG, Ubink R, van der Vleuten MA, van Achterberg TA, Loosveld EM, 63 Damming D, Jacobs DC, Rouwette M, Egging DF, van den Dobbelsteen D, Beusker PH, Goedings P, Verheijden GF, Lemmens JM, Timmers M, Dokter WH. The Preclinical Profile of the Duocarmycin-Based HER2-Targeting ADC SYD985 Predicts for Clinical Benefit in Low HER2-Expressing Breast Cancers. Mol Cancer Ther 2015; 14: 692-703 [PMID: 25589493 DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0881-T
- 64 Ogitani Y, Aida T, Hagihara K, Yamaguchi J, Ishii C, Harada N, Soma M, Okamoto H, Oitate M, Arakawa S, Hirai T, Atsumi R, Nakada T, Hayakawa I, Abe Y, Agatsuma T. DS-8201a, A Novel HER2-Targeting ADC with a Novel DNA Topoisomerase I Inhibitor, Demonstrates a Promising Antitumor Efficacy with Differentiation from T-DM1. Clin Cancer Res 2016; 22: 5097-5108 [PMID: 27026201 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2822]
- 65 Ogitani Y, Hagihara K, Oitate M, Naito H, Agatsuma T. Bystander killing effect of DS-8201a, a novel anti-human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 antibody-drug conjugate, in tumors with human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 heterogeneity. Cancer Sci 2016; 107: 1039-1046 [PMID: 27166974 DOI: 10.1111/cas.12966]
- Schwab CL, Bellone S, English DP, Roque DM, Lopez S, Cocco E, Nicoletti R, Bortolomai I, 66 Bonazzoli E, Ratner E, Silasi DA, Azodi M, Schwartz PE, Rutherford TJ, Santin AD. Afatinib demonstrates remarkable activity against HER2-amplified uterine serous endometrial cancer in vitro and in vivo. Br J Cancer 2014; 111: 1750-1756 [PMID: 25268372 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2014.519]
- 67 Schwab CL, English DP, Roque DM, Bellone S, Lopez S, Cocco E, Nicoletti R, Rutherford TJ, Schwartz PE, Santin AD. Neratinib shows efficacy in the treatment of HER2/neu amplified uterine serous carcinoma in vitro and in vivo. Gynecol Oncol 2014; 135: 142-148 [PMID: 25124161 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2014.08.006
- 68 Schwab CL, English DP, Black J, Bellone S, Lopez S, Cocco E, Bonazzoli E, Bussi B, Predolini F, Ferrari F, Ratner E, Silasi DA, Azodi M, Rutherford T, Schwartz PE, Santin AD. Neratinib shows efficacy in the treatment of HER2 amplified carcinosarcoma in vitro and in vivo. Gynecol Oncol 2015; 139: 112-117 [PMID: 26260909 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.08.002]
- 69 Lopez S, Schwab CL, Cocco E, Bellone S, Bonazzoli E, English DP, Schwartz PE, Rutherford T, Angioli R, Santin AD. Taselisib, a selective inhibitor of PIK3CA, is highly effective on PIK3CAmutated and HER2/neu amplified uterine serous carcinoma in vitro and in vivo. Gynecol Oncol 2014; 135: 312-317 [PMID: 25172762 DOI: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2014.08.024]
- Lopez S, Cocco E, Black J, Bellone S, Bonazzoli E, Predolini F, Ferrari F, Schwab CL, English DP, Ratner E, Silasi DA, Azodi M, Schwartz PE, Terranova C, Angioli R, Santin AD. Dual HER2/PIK3CA Targeting Overcomes Single-Agent Acquired Resistance in HER2-Amplified Uterine Serous Carcinoma Cell Lines In Vitro and In Vivo. Mol Cancer Ther 2015; 14: 2519-2526 [PMID: 26333383 DOI: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-15-0383]
- Swain SM, Baselga J, Kim SB, Ro J, Semiglazov V, Campone M, Ciruelos E, Ferrero JM, 71 Schneeweiss A, Heeson S, Clark E, Ross G, Benyunes MC, Cortés J; CLEOPATRA Study Group. Pertuzumab, trastuzumab, and docetaxel in HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med



2015; 372: 724-734 [PMID: 25693012 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1413513]

- El-Sahwi K, Bellone S, Cocco E, Cargnelutti M, Casagrande F, Bellone M, Abu-Khalaf M, Buza N, 72 Tavassoli FA, Hui P, Silasi DA, Azodi M, Schwartz PE, Rutherford TJ, Pecorelli S, Santin AD. In vitro activity of pertuzumab in combination with trastuzumab in uterine serous papillary adenocarcinoma. Br J Cancer 2010; 102: 134-143 [PMID: 19920829 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605448]
- 73 De Santis R. Anti-ErbB2 immunotherapeutics: struggling to make better antibodies for cancer therapy. MAbs 2020; 12: 1725346 [PMID: 32054397 DOI: 10.1080/19420862.2020.1725346]
- Effective in HER2-Positive Cancers. Cancer Discov 2019; 9: 8 [PMID: 30504239 DOI: 74 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-NB2018-162
- 75 Meric-Bernstam F, Johnson AM, Dumbrava EEI, Raghav K, Balaji K, Bhatt M, Murthy RK, Rodon J, Piha-Paul SA. Advances in HER2-Targeted Therapy: Novel Agents and Opportunities Beyond Breast and Gastric Cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2019; 25: 2033-2041 [PMID: 30442682 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-2275
- 76 Costa RLB, Czerniecki BJ. Clinical development of immunotherapies for HER2<sup>+</sup> breast cancer: a review of HER2-directed monoclonal antibodies and beyond. NPJ Breast Cancer 2020; 6: 10 [PMID: 32195333 DOI: 10.1038/s41523-020-0153-3]
- 77 AstraZeneca. A Phase 2, Multicenter, Open-label Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Trastuzumab Deruxtecan (T-DXd, DS-8201a) for the Treatment of Selected HER2 Expressing Tumors (DESTINY-PanTumor02). [Accessed January 25, 2021]. In: ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04482309 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04482309
- 78 Veneris JL. Testing the Combination of DS-8201a and Olaparib in HER2-Expressing Cancers With Expansion in Patients With Endometrial Cancer. [Accessed January 25, 2021]. In: ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT04585958 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04585958
- Koper N. Phase I Study of SYD985 With Niraparib in Patients With Solid Tumors. [Accessed 79 January 25, 2021]. In: ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT04235101 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04235101
- Hendriks M. SYD985 in Patients With HER2-expressing Recurrent, Advanced or Metastatic 80 Endometrial Carcinoma. [Accessed January 25, 2021]. In: ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from:

https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT04205630 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT0425630 Makker V. ZW25 in Women With Endometrial Cancers. [Accessed January 25, 2021]. In: 81

- ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT04513665 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04513665
- Ramos J. Basket Study of Tucatinib and Trastuzumab in Solid Tumors With HER2 Alterations. 82 [Accessed January 25, 2021]. In: ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT04579380 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04579380



WJC0

# World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 882-896

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.882

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

# Role of lenalidomide in the treatment of peripheral T-cell non-Hodgkin lymphomas

Emanuele Cencini, Alberto Fabbri, Bianca Mecacci, Monica Bocchia

**ORCID number:** Emanuele Cencini 0000-0002-0432-9706; Alberto Fabbri 0000-0003-2603-9715; Bianca Mecacci 0000-0002-9762-8843; Monica Bocchia 0000-0003-3538-3913.

Author contributions: Cencini E prepared the first draft of the manuscript; Fabbri A and Mecacci B contributed to reviewing and revising the manuscript; Cencini E and Bocchia M coordinated the preparation of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare having no conflicts of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Specialty type: Hematology

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

Emanuele Cencini, Alberto Fabbri, Bianca Mecacci, Monica Bocchia, Unit of Hematology, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Senese and University of Siena, Siena 53100, Italy

Corresponding author: Emanuele Cencini, MD, PhD, Doctor, Unit of Hematology, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Senese and University of Siena, Policlinico Le Scotte, viale Bracci 16, Siena 53100, Italy. emanuele.cencini@ao-siena.toscana.it

# Abstract

T-cell lymphomas (TCLs) represent a group of lymphoid neoplasms characterized by an aggressive clinical course, even after an anthracycline-containing regimen. Novel agents for patients with relapsed/refractory TCL are urgently needed. Lenalidomide is an oral drug with immunomodulatory, antiangiogenic and direct antineoplastic effects. These peculiar mechanisms of action make TCL an attractive target for lenalidomide. We have identified five clinical trials in which lenalidomide monotherapy was investigated to treat TCL, including cutaneous TCL (CTCL) and adult T-cell lymphoma/leukemia (ATLL). In the ATLL-002 study, the overall response rate (ORR) was 42% and median progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival were 3.8 mo and 20.3 mo, respectively. In a phase II trial for CTCL, ORR was 28% and median PFS and overall survival were 8 mo and 43 mo, respectively. For nodal peripheral TCL, ORR was between 10% and 43% in three clinical trials, with a median PFS of about 4 mo, even if some patients had a durable response. Overall toxicity is manageable and grade 3-4 events are mainly hematological and reversible. Combination strategies did not improve PFS. In conclusion, lenalidomide could represent a suitable treatment option for relapsed/refractory TCL, especially for neoplasms with a T-follicular helper origin, such as angioimmunoblastic TCL.

Key Words: T-cell lymphomas; Lenalidomide; Therapy; Survival; Safety; T follicular helper

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: T cell lymphoma (TCL) are rare. Lenalidomide is an oral drug with an immunomodulatory, antiangiogenic and direct antineoplastic effect. These peculiar mechanisms of action makes TCL an attractive target for lenalidomide. We have



#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: March 3, 2021 Peer-review started: March 3, 2021 First decision: July 6, 2021 Revised: July 7, 2021 Accepted: September 2, 2021 Article in press: September 2, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Somasagara RR S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



identified 5 clinical trials in which lenalidomide monotherapy was investigated to treat TCL, including cutaneous TCL and adult T-cell lymphoma/leukemia. Overall response rate was between 10 % and 43%, with prolonged response in a significant proportion of cases and manageable toxicity. Lenalidomide could represent a suitable treatment option for R/R TCL, especially for neoplasms with a T-follicular helper origin, such as angioimmunoblastic TCL.

Citation: Cencini E, Fabbri A, Mecacci B, Bocchia M. Role of lenalidomide in the treatment of peripheral T-cell non-Hodgkin lymphomas. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12(10): 882-896 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/882.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.882

### INTRODUCTION

Peripheral T-cell lymphomas (TCLs), including primary nodal, extranodal, leukemic and cutaneous TCL (CTCL), are a heterogeneous group of lymphoid neoplasms characterized by aggressive clinical course and poor prognosis, representing about 10%-20% of non-Hodgkin lymphoma cases[1-3]. Due to its rarity, the treatment approach has historically been similar to that used for aggressive B-cell neoplasms, such as diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL)[3,4]. However, except for anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK)-positive anaplastic lymphoma (ALCL), treatment efficacy is limited compared to DLBCL, disease relapse is frequent even after high-dose therapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation, and long-term responses are seldom observed[1,5-8]. Allogeneic stem-cell transplantation often remains the only curative option, but many elderly and/or relapsed/refractory (R/R) patients are not eligible, and treatment morbidity and mortality are not negligible [9]. Novel agents approved by the Food and Drug Administration and/or the European Medicines Agency for R/R TCL, as shown in Table 1, include pralatrexate, romidepsin, belinostat, brentuximab vedotin (only for ALCL and CD30-positive CTCL) and mogamulizumab [only for mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome (SS)][10-14]. Additional new drugs with different mechanisms of action are listed in the National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines, including bortezomib, alemtuzumab, crizotinib, cyclosporine, nivolumab and lenalidomide[15]. Interestingly, several drugs work very well on a few TCL subtypes, while their efficacy is limited for the others; this allows for speculation that disease biology could influence the therapeutic response[16].

Lenalidomide is an immunomodulatory drug initially approved as a treatment for patients with R/R multiple myeloma (MM)[17]. It was successfully used to treat myelodysplastic syndromes, chronic lymphocytic leukemia and R/R B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma, including DLBCL, mantle-cell lymphoma and follicular lymphoma[18-22]. Due to its peculiar mechanisms of action, TCL could represent an attractive target for lenalidomide; however, available data are limited [4,14]. According to this background, we would like to briefly summarize the pharmacological properties and to review the clinical efficacy and safety of lenalidomide monotherapy in previously treated TCL.

### SEARCH CRITERIA FOR LITERATURE REVIEW

We performed a computerized search in MEDLINE to find full-text publications, in English, published to 2020, which focused on lenalidomide and TCL. We included nodal and extranodal peripheral TCL (PTCL), adult T-cell leukemia-lymphoma (ATLL) and CTCL. The key terms were "T-cell lymphoma OR TCL OR T-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma OR mycosis fungoides (MF) OR Sézary syndrome (SS) OR cutaneous TCL OR peripheral TCL OR adult T-cell leukemia-lymphoma AND lenalidomide OR treatment OR immunotherapy OR combined modalities". We included prospective clinical trials, retrospective studies, letters to the editor and case reports. For each study, we extracted the following data, when available: number of patients, study design, patient population, treatment regimen, overall response rate (ORR), complete response (CR) rate, time to response (referred to as TTR), toxicity, and survival end-points, such as OS, PFS and duration of response (DOR). OS represents



#### Table 1 Clinical results of approved novel agents as monotherapy for relapsed/refractory T-cell lymphomas

	Deficients			Mashaniana	Histology,		0.0	Madian	<b>M</b>	
Ref.	Patients, n	Study design	Treatment	Mechanism of action	(number of patients)	ORR	rate	Median PFS	Median DOR	Median OS
O'Connor <i>et al</i> [10], 2011	111	Multicenter phase II	Pralatrexate	Antifolate	Total evaluable (109)	29%	11%	3.5 mo	10.1 mo	14.5 mo
					PTCL-NOS (59)					
					ALCL (17)	32%	NA			
					AITL (13)	35%	NA			
					MF (12)	8%	NA			
					Other (8)	25%	NA			
						38%	NA			
Coiffier <i>et al</i> [ <b>11</b> ], 2014	130	Multicenter phase II	Romidepsin	Histone deacetylase inhibitor	Total evaluable	25%	15%	4 mo	28 mo	11.3 mo
					-130					
					PTCL-NOS (69)	29%	14%			
					ALCL ALK- (21)	24%	19%			
					AITL (27)	30%	19%			
					Other (13)	/	/			
O'Connor 1 et al[12],	129	Multicenter phase II	Belinostat	Histone deacetylase inhibitor	Total evaluable	25.80%	10.80%	1.6 mo	13.6 mo	7.9 mo
2015					-120					
					PTCL-NOS (77)	23%	NA			
					ALCL ALK- (13)	15%	NA			
					ALCL ALK+ (2)	/	NA			
					AITL (22)	46%	NA			
					Other (6)	16.60%	NA			
Pro <i>et al</i> [ <mark>13</mark> ], 2017	58	Multicenter phase II	Brentuximab vedotin	Monoclonal antibody anti- CD30	ALCL	86%	57%	20 mo	25.6 mo	NR (estimated 5-yr OS 60%)
Kim <i>et al</i> [ <mark>14</mark> ], 2018	186	Multicenter, randomized, phase III	Mogamulizumab	Monoclonal antibody anti C- C chemokine receptor 4	MF or Sézary syndrome	28%	2.70%	7.7 mo	14.1 mo	NR

AITL: Angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma; ALCL: Anaplastic T-cell lymphoma; ALK: Anaplastic lymphoma kinase; CR: Complete response; DOR: Duration of response; MF: Mycosis fungoides; NA: Not available; NR: Not reached; ORR: Overall response rate; OS: Overall survival; PFS: Progression-free survival; PTCL-NOS: Peripheral T-cell lymphomas: not otherwise specified.

the most relevant outcome; PFS could be more accurate but the PFS definition has not been the same in different studies over the years. We included abstracts extracted from the last meetings of the European Hematology Association, American Society of Hematology, and International Conference on Malignant Lymphoma.

Baishideng® WJCO https://www.wjgnet.com

# MECHANISMS OF ACTION AND PHARMACOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF LENALIDOMIDE

Lenalidomide is administered orally and rapidly adsorbed, without marked accumulation, even after multiple courses[23]. The drug is mainly excreted unchanged by renal elimination, thus a dose reduction is recommended in patients with reduced creatinine clearance due to renal impairment. Lenalidomide is characterized by an acceptable safety profile, and clinically relevant interactions with other drugs are unlikely<sup>[23]</sup>.

The multiple mechanisms of action, as shown in Figure 1, include an immunomodulatory, antiangiogenic and direct antineoplastic effect[24]. Lenalidomide may be able to restore the function of the T-cell immune synapse and to suppress regulatory T-cells ( i.e., Tregs)[25,26]. Moreover, it could activate CD8-positive T-cells and favor a shift of T-helper (*i.e.*,  $T_{\rm H}$ ) response towards a  $T_{\rm H}$ 1 vs a  $T_{\rm H2}$  subtype[27,28]. Moreover, it could improve natural killer (NK)-mediated immune function and NK cell activation, leading to the induction of a primarily NK-mediated tumor cells apoptosis[28,29]. Moreover, lenalidomide could inhibit the production of cytokines with a pro-inflammatory activity, such as interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, IL-12 and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , while the production of anti-inflammatory molecules, such as IL-10, is increased[30].

The antiangiogenic effect is achieved by blocking the migration and adhesion of endothelial cells and by inhibiting the formation of microvessels (reduced microvessels density)[28]. In mantle-cell lymphoma mouse models, the drug could cause a depletion of immune cells associated with lymphomagenesis, such as monocytes and macrophages[31]. Moreover, a direct inhibitory effect of lenalidomide on the vascular endothelial growth factor production was demonstrated and was associated with an increased SPARC expression[32,33].

The antiproliferative effect is carried out by directly inducing G1 growth arrest of the cell cycle and apoptosis[34]. A relevant discovery was represented by the identification of cereblon, a component of a cullin-RING E3 ubiquitin ligase enzyme complex, which includes the deoxyribonucleic acid damage binding protein 1, cullin 4 and the cullin regulator 1[35,36]. After the direct binding of lenalidomide, cereblon leads to the ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of the substrate proteins Aiolos (IKZF3) and Ikaros (IKZF1), which are lymphoid transcription factors, with consequent cytotoxic and immunomodulatory effects[37,38]. In DLBCL, especially nongerminal center B-cell-like DLBCL, a direct, cereblon-dependent capability of lenalidomide to kill neoplastic cells was observed, through deregulation of interferon regulatory factor 4[39]. Remarkably, the antiproliferative effect can occur in a p53independent manner[40].

#### LENALIDOMIDE IN THE TREATMENT OF TCLS

#### ATLL

ATLL represents an uncommon neoplasm linked to the human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 infection and characterized by an aggressive course with poor prognosis[41]. Although rare in Western countries, it represents a common TCL in Japan, where human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 is endemic[41]. ATLL is subdivided into four subtypes: smoldering; chronic (often with an indolent course); lymphoma; and acute (with a very aggressive behavior)[2,41]. Anthracyclines-containing regimens, such as cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisone (CHOP), showed limited efficacy, and most patients are refractory or relapse after an initial response[42]. R/R ATLL, due to the rarity of disease, has been frequently excluded from clinical trials investigating novel agents[42]. Ogura et al[43] investigated lenalidomide in relapsed ATLL or PTCL in a phase I study, in which 14 patients were enrolled. Maximum tolerated dose was 25 mg daily given continuously; out of 9 ATLL cases, 3/9 achieved a partial response (PR), leading to the design of a phase II study (ATLL-002), in which 26 relapsed or recurrent Japanese ATLL cases were enrolled [43,44]. The patients had received a median of two previous regimens (range: 1-4). Interestingly, 2 patients received lenalidomide for more than 1 year. As represented in Table 2, ORR was 42% (11/26 cases), with 4 CR and 1 unconfirmed CR; out of 11 responders, 2 were previously treated with mogamulizumab[44]. Median TTR, median PFS and OS were 1.9 mo, 3.8 mo and 20.3 mo, respectively, with manageable toxicity. According to disease subtype, ORR was 33% for acute ATLL and 57% for lymphoma ATLL[44]. Interestingly, in another Japanese experience, 2/4 relapsed ATLL cases after allo-stem-cell



Cencini E et al. Lenalidomide and TCL

#### Table 2 Clinical efficacy of lenalidomide single-agent in T-cell lymphomas

Ref.	Patient, <i>n</i>	Study design	Treatment	Histology (number of patients)	ORR	CR rate	Median PFS	Median DOR	Median OS
Ishida <i>et al</i> [44], 2016	26	Multicenter phase II	25 mg continuously until progression or unacceptable toxicity	ATLL (26)	42%	19%	3.8 mo	NR	20.3 mo
Querfeld <i>et al</i> 32 [52], 2014	32	Multicenter phase II	25 mg for 21 d of a 28-d cycle; initial dose was reduced to 10 mg, with the	Total evaluable (29)	28%	/	8 mo	10 mo	43 mo
		cycle, until a maximum of 25 mg, until progression or up to 2 yr for SD or PR,	Mycosis fungoides (19)	36.8%					
			additional cycles	Sézary syndrome (13)	15.4%				
Zinzani et al [ <mark>56]</mark> , 2011	10	Phase II, bi- centric	25 mg for 21 d of a 28-d cycle for 4 cycles as induction phase; After the 4 <sup>th</sup> cycle, patients who achieved at least a SD continued for other eight cycles as maintenance	PTCL-NOS (10)	30%	30%	NA	13 mo	NA
Morschhauser 54 <i>et al</i> [51], 2013	54	Multicenter phase II	25 mg on d 1-21 of a 28-d cycle, until progression or unacceptable toxicity, for a maximum of 2 yr	Total evaluable (54)	22%	11%	2.5 mo 3.6 r (4.6 mo in AITL)	3.6 mo	NA
				AITL (26)	31%	15%			
			PTCL-NOS (20)	20%	NA				
			CTCL (3)	NA	NA				
				ALCL (3)	NA	NA			
				Cutaneous ALCL (1)	NA	NA			
				Extranodal NK/T-cell, nasal type (1)	NA	NA			
Toumishey <i>et al</i> [57], 2015	39	Multicenter phase II	25 mg daily on d 1-21 of a 28-d cycle, until progression or unacceptable toxicity	Total evaluable (39)	26%	7.7%	4 mo	13 mo	12 mo
				ALCL (10)	10%	/			
				AITL (9)	33%	11.1%			
				PTCL-NOS (14)	43%	14.3%			
				Other (6)	/	/			

AITL: Angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma; ALCL: Anaplastic T-cell lymphoma; ATLL: Adult T-cell lymphoma/leukemia; CTCL: Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma; CR: Complete response; DOR: Duration of response; NA: Not available; NK: Natural killer; NR: Not reached; OS: Overall survival; PR: Partial response; ORR: Overall response rate; PFS: Progression-free survival; PTCL-NOS: Peripheral T-cell lymphomas: Not otherwise specified; SD: Stable disease.

transplantation achieved a CR, and 1 of them showed a prolonged remission[45].

Even if these findings have not been confirmed outside Japan, lenalidomide could represent a promising option for R/R ATLL, as single-agent or in the context of combination strategies[46].

#### **CTCLS**

CTCLs are a heterogeneous group of TCL, and cell of origin is represented by skinhoming, mature, CD4-positive T<sub>H</sub>lymphocytes[47] MF and SS are the most common subtypes and frequently relapse after systemic therapy; R/R MF/SS are not curable and characterized by dismal prognosis[48]. Moreover, treatment toxicity is elevated after cytotoxic therapy, thus biological agents are needed to improve therapeutic efficacy with limited toxicity [47,48]. As there is a prevalent  $T_{\rm H}2$  response with a reduction of CD8-positive T-cells in MF/SS, especially in advanced-stage disease, the immunomodulatory characteristics of lenalidomide represent a strong rationale for its use in CTCL patients [49,50].

Baishidena® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Lenalidomide mechanisms of action. IL: Interleukin; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor.

Three MF patients were included in the phase II, single-arm EXPECT trial, in which lenalidomide dose was 25 mg once daily on days 1-21 of a 28-d cycle, given until progressive disease (PD) or unacceptable toxicity, for a maximum of 2 years. Unfortunately, treatment response for MF patients was not reported[51]. As illustrated in Table 2, Querfeld et al[52] enrolled in a phase II trial 32 patients with stage IB to IVB MF (18 cases), erythrodemic MF (3 cases) and SS (11 cases), who failed at least one prior therapy (skin-directed or systemic therapy). Lenalidomide was administered at a daily dose of 25 mg for 21 d of a 28-d cycle to the first 19 patients; the protocol was amended due to fatigue and tumor-flare reaction (referred to as TFR), and initial dose was reduced to 10 mg, with the possibility of daily dose increasing by 5 mg every cycle, based on treatment tolerance, up to a maximum of 25 mg[52]. Treatment was administered until PD or up to 2 years for patients who achieved a stable disease (SD) or PR, while patients in CR received two additional cycles before discontinuation. All patients received a median of six previous therapies (range: 1-14). In an intention-totreat analysis, ORR was 28% (9/32 cases), all were PRs, with a median DOR of 10 mo [52]. The median TTR was 4 mo and 2 mo for an initial dose of 10 mg and 25 mg, respectively. Treatment response was achieved in a significant proportion of patients with blood or lymph node involvement and/or erythrodermic disease. Median PFS and OS were 8 mo and 43 mo, respectively; the main cause of death was PD (12/18 patients)[52]. Interestingly, immunophenotypic analysis showed lenalidomide effect could be associated with a reduction in circulating CD25-positive and CD4-positive Tcell count[52].

#### Nodal TCLS

The category of nodal PTCL includes angioimmunoblastic (AITL), anaplastic (ALCL) and PTCL not otherwise specified (NOS). PTCL-NOS represents the most common subtype, followed by AITL and ALCL (further divided in ALK-positive and ALKnegative ALCL)[1,2].

ALCL is characterized by a strong CD30 expression and large-cell anaplastic morphology; most ALK-positive cases occur in young adults and have a good prognosis, while ALK-negative cases are mainly reported in older population and display an aggressive behavior, with frequent disease relapse and/or chemorefractoriness<sup>[53]</sup>. AITL has peculiar pathophysiological features, such as the presence of an increased vascular proliferation and a reactive microenvironment (eosinophils, plasma



cells, epithelioid cells) in the lymph node, together with neoplastic T-cells[54]. Skin rash, B symptoms, hemolytic anemia and polyclonal hypergammaglobulinemia are frequently reported. Moreover, a deregulated T-cell response has been observed, with immune dysfunction[54]. A new category of neoplasms with derivation from CD4positive T follicular helper (TFH) cells was defined in the last World Health Organization classification, which includes AITL, follicular TCL, and nodal lymphoma with a TFH phenotype<sup>[2]</sup>. PTCL-NOS is a heterogeneous subgroup of TCL cases, which do not fulfill the characteristics of more specific categories<sup>[1]</sup>. Due to this background, nodal PTCL, especially those with a TFH cell derivation, could represent an attractive target for lenalidomide.

To our knowledge, the first published study focused on lenalidomide for PTCL therapy is the interim report of a phase II trial by Dueck *et al*[55]. Both newly diagnosed (with contraindications to chemotherapy) and R/R TCL other than CTCL were enrolled from September 2006 to November 2008. The primary endpoint was ORR; patients received lenalidomide 25 mg daily on days 1-21 of a 28-d cycle, until PD or unacceptable side effects. Out of 24 patients, 20 were R/R; the diagnosis was PTCL-NOS (10 cases), AITL (7 cases), ALCL (5 cases), enteropathic-type and hepatosplenic  $\gamma\delta$  TCL (1 case each). The median number of previous regimens was 1 (range: 0-4), and 5/24 cases were refractory to last previous line. Out of 23 evaluable patients, ORR was 30% (all achieved a PR), and median PFS and OS were 96 d and 241 d, respectively (for patients with at least a SD, median PFS was 168 d)[55]. Among different histologies, ORR was 40% 29% and 33% for ALCL, AITL and PTCL-NOS, respectively. Interestingly, 2 PR patients were refractory to their previous regimen, and the development of skin rash was associated with treatment response[55].

All final reports of clinical trials focused on lenalidomide treatment for nodal TCL are illustrated in Table 2. Between November 2008 and June 2009, Zinzani et al[56] enrolled 10 R/R PTCL-NOS patients with stage II-IV disease in a prospective, singlearm, phase II trial. Lenalidomide initial dose was 25 mg for 21 d of a 28-d cycle for four cycles as induction phase. At disease restaging after the 4th cycle, patients who achieved at least a SD continued lenalidomide administration for another eight cycles with the same schedule as maintenance phase. The results after induction phase, with an ORR of 30% (3/10 cases, all CRs) and 1 SD, were encouraging, considering that most of patients were heavily pretreated (median number of 4 Lines, range of 2-7)[56]. After maintenance phase, CR was confirmed for all 3 patients, with 2/3 cases relapsed after 3 and 5 mo, respectively, while the remaining case maintained a durable CR at last follow-up after 11 mo. The patient with SD received all 12 cycles but developed PD 1 mo upon completion of the last treatment administration[56].

On 2013, the results of the above mentioned phase II EXPECT trial were published. Even if the primary end-point was met, the study was terminated early after 54 patients were enrolled, because the efficacy was considered unsatisfactory when compared to the results obtained with other investigated compounds[51]. Patients were heavily pretreated (median number of 3 prior therapies, range of 1-11), histological subtypes included AITL (26/54 cases), PTCL-NOS (20/54 cases), ALCL (3/54 cases) and 5 cases with extranodal TCL (3 MF, 1 cutaneous ALCL and 1 TCL nasaltype). The median drug exposure time was 42 d, while the median treatment duration was 176 d for patients achieving at least a PR[51]. ORR was 22% and CR rate was 11%; among the different histologies, ORR was 20% and 31% for PTCL-NOS and AITL, respectively<sup>[51]</sup>. The median DOR was 3.6 mo (not reached for patients in CR) and the response rate was slightly higher for younger vs older cases (27% and 18%, respectively). Median PFS for the entire cohort was 2.5 mo, while it was 4.6 mo and 1.9 mo for AITL and non-AITL cases, respectively; OS data were not shown[51].

On 2015, the final report of the above mentioned interim analysis was published by Toumishey et al [57]. Out of 39 enrolled patients (8 treatment-naïve cases), diagnosis was PTCL-NOS (14 cases), ALCL (10 cases), AITL (9 cases), lymphoblastic TCL, enteropathic-type and hepatosplenic  $\gamma\delta$  TCL (2 cases each). The median number of previous regimens was 1 (range: 0-5) and 11/39 cases were refractory to last previous line. ORR was 26% (10/39 cases), 3 patients achieved a CR. Among the different histologies, ORR was 10%, 33% and 43% for ALCL, AITL and PTCL-NOS, respectively [57]. The median PFS, DOR and OS were 4 mo, 13 mo and 12 mo, respectively. Interestingly, a trend between skin rash and treatment response was reported. When we analyzed newly diagnosed and R/R patients separately, ORR, median OS, PFS and DOR were 50% and 24%, 22 mo and 12 mo, 2 mo and 4 mo, 21 mo and 5 mo, respectively<sup>[57]</sup>.

Due to the rarity of disease, we would like to mention several case reports about lenalidomide efficacy in R/R AITL. The peculiar pathophysiology of AITL makes the disease a suitable target for an immunomodulatory drug such as lenalidomide<sup>[58]</sup>.



Our group administered lenalidomide to a patient with an unsatisfactory response despite three lines of chemotherapy. The patient received 12 treatment cycles (25 mg for four cycles and 15 mg for eight cycles) and maintained a durable CR after a followup of 30 mo[59]. In another report, a patient refractory to two previous lines received lenalidomide 15 mg continuously and achieved a CR, which was maintained after 2 years of follow-up[60]. Broccoli et al[61] administered reduced doses of lenalidomide (10 mg) to a refractory AITL patient with persistent disease and thrombocytopenia after autologous stem-cell transplantation. The patient achieved a long-lasting CR and continued therapy at an escalated dose of 15 mg for a total of 11 cycles. Finally, an 87year-old woman with AITL and concurrent MM was refractory to multiple lines of chemotherapy and achieved a PR after four cycles of lenalidomide, with a dose escalation until 20 mg[62]. Interestingly, both AITL and MM improved after lenalidomide administration.

#### SAFETY

Lenalidomide is generally administered as an outpatient regimen and is well tolerated. As shown in Table 3, commonly observed side effects include neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, infections, skin rash and gastrointestinal disorders.

In the phase II study for R/R ATLL, the most common hematologic adverse event (AE) was thrombocytopenia (77%), while neutropenia and anemia occurred in 73% and 54% of total cases, respectively [44]. The incidence of grade 3-4 thrombocytopenia and neutropenia was 23% and 65%, respectively. The most frequent nonhematologic AEs were hypoalbuminemia (35%), constipation, hyponatremia and hypocalcemia (all with an incidence of 31%)[44]. Serious AEs were reported in 9 cases (35%), while AEs leading to treatment discontinuation were observed in 6 patients, including neutropenia and thrombocytopenia (2 cases each), toxic skin eruption (1 case), skin rash and hepatic failure (both in the same patient). Interestingly, no second primary malignancies (SPMs) were observed[44]

In the phase II trial focused on CTCL, the most common AEs were fatigue, lower leg edema and anemia, with an incidence of 59%, 47% and 41%, respectively [52]. Mild-to moderate constipation or diarrhea was observed in 11 cases (35%), while peripheral neuropathy was uncommon (19%). Grade 3-4 toxicity included fatigue (22%), infections (9%) and leukopenia (3%). Nine cases experienced a TFR, while no SPMs were reported[52].

In the Italian study, the incidence of grade 3-4 neutropenia, thrombocytopenia and asthenia was 25%, 15% and 10%, respectively [56]. In the EXPECT trial, grade 3-4 thrombocytopenia and neutropenia occurred in 20% and 15% of total cases, respectively[51]. Grade 3-4 infections and febrile neutropenia were observed in 15% and 4% of total cases, respectively; these events did not lead to treatment discontinuation. Grade 3-4 gastrointestinal disorders and TFR were experienced by 17% and 4% of total cases, respectively; only 1 patient had a treatment discontinuation due to TFR[51]. The most common AEs leading to treatment interruption or dose reduction were neutropenia and thrombocytopenia (11% of total cases each). Serious AE were reported in 54% of patients, the most frequently observed were hematological events and infections (19% of total cases each). SPMs were experienced by 3 patients, in 1 case the neoplasm was considered as therapy-related[51].

Finally, in the phase II trial by Toumishey et al[57], the most common AEs were pain (mainly considered as lymphoma-related rather than therapy-related), fatigue, gastrointestinal and hematological events[57]. The incidence of grade 3-4 anemia, neutropenia, febrile neutropenia, dyspnea, muscle weakness and dehydration was 11%, 16%, 8%, 13%, and 10%, respectively. Neutropenia was the main cause for dose reduction, while no deaths were considered as lenalidomide-related and no SPMs were reported[57].

#### **NEW PERSPECTIVES**

Lenalidomide monotherapy can produce a durable CR with manageable toxicity in R/R TCL, with an overall efficacy comparable to other investigated novel agents. New perspectives could be represented by combination strategies with lenalidomide in association with conventional chemotherapy and/or other novel agents, with the aim to have a place for earlier lenalidomide administration, even in a front-line regimen, especially for TCL with a TFH cell origin, such as AITL[56,57].



Table 3 Toxicity profile of lenalidomide in clinical trials for T-cell lymphomas						
Toxicity/Adverse event	lshida et al <mark>[44</mark> ]	Querfeld et al[52]	Morschhauser et al[51]	Toumishey et al[57]		
Hematological toxicity						
Anemia total	54%	41%	NR	26%		
Anemia grade 3-4	19.2%	/	4%	11%		
Leukopenia total	50%	22%	NR	NR		
Leukopenia grade 3-4	38.5%	3%	4%	NR		
Neutropenia total	73%	NR	NR	18%		
Neutropenia grade 3-4	65.4%	NR	15%	16%		
Thrombocytopenia total	77%	NR	NR	26%		
Thrombocytopenia grade 3-4	23.1%	NR	20%	5%		
Hypoalbuminemia	35%	28%	NR	NR		
Grade 3-4	/	/	NR	NR		
Constipation	31%	34% <sup>1</sup>	17%	44%		
Grade 3-4	/	/	NR	3%		
Nausea	23.1%	13%	NR	28%		
Grade 3-4	3.8%	/	NR	/		
Vomiting	23.1%	NR	NR	10%		
Grade 3-4	/	NR	NR	/		
Skin rash	23.1%	25%	NR	38%		
Grade 3-4	7.6%	/	9%	11%		
Fatigue	15.4%	59%	NR	56%		
Grade 3-4	3.8%	22%	NR	11%		
Diarrhea	NR	NR	NR	31%		
Grade 3-4	NR	NR	NR	8%		
Pain	NR	34%	NR	64%		
Grade 3-4	NR	/	NR	21%		
Infection	19.2%	34%	NR	26%		
Grade 3-4	10.4%	9%	15%	5%		
Neuropathy	NR	19%	NR	NR		
Grade 3-4	NR	/	NR	NR		
Lower leg edema	NR	47%	NR	28%		
Grade 3-4	NR	/	NR	3%		
Anorexia	NR	16%	NR	28%		
Grade 3-4	NR	/	NR	5%		
Respiratory disorders	10.4%	NR	NR	26%		
Grade 3-4	7.6%	NR	13%	13%		
Pulmonary embolism	NR	NR	NR	10%		
Grade 3-4	NR	NR	NR	8%		
Tumor flare reaction	NR	28%	14%	NR		
Grade 3-4	NR	NR	4%	NR		

<sup>1</sup>Considered together with diarrhea; Gastrointestinal disorders. NR: Not reported.



The genomic TCL landscape is being elucidated and a significant proportion of ATLL cases have shown alterations in interferon regulatory factor 4 and RHOA, which are involved in the mechanism of action of lenalidomide[63]. Due to the different mechanism of action, a combination regimen with mogamulizumab appears very promising[44-46]. The NK cells function is enhanced with lenalidomide, which could allow mogamulizumab to work better through an improvement of the antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity[46].

The REVAIL study investigated lenalidomide in association with CHOP in newly diagnosed AITL patients. At the last International Conference on Malignant Lymphoma meeting, an ancillary study was presented in which bone marrow involvement (BMI), but no blood involvement, showed an association with reduced survival. Median PFS and OS for patients with or without BMI were 9 mo and 36 mo and 17 mo and 54 mo, respectively. The prognostic index for PTCL, including BMI, had the best power to divide the entire cohort between high-risk and low-risk cases, with a 2-year OS of 38% vs 79%. Moreover, BMI was associated with the presence of IDH-2 mutations<sup>[64]</sup>.

An integrative analysis of this trial has been recently published, lenalidomide was given in association with CHOP every 21 d for eight total cycles[65]. CHOP was administered on day 1, and lenalidomide was added at a daily dose of 25 mg for 14 d every 21 d. Out of 78 patients included in the efficacy analysis, ORR was 56%, with a CR rate of 41%. The median dose intensity for lenalidomide was 81%, and 55% of total cases completed the study; the most common reasons for early treatment discontinuation were PD and toxicity[65]. After a median follow-up of 45 mo, 2-year PFS and OS were 42.1% and 59.2%, respectively; the presence of DNMT3A mutation appeared related with shorter PFS. Unfortunately, the primary end-point to improve a positron emission tomography-based CR rate from 45% to 60% was not reached, and the authors suggest the lack of benefit from adding lenalidomide to CHOP as AITL firstline therapy[65]. In 2 refractory AITL cases, lenalidomide was investigated in association with bortezomib and dexamethasone, achieving a CR and a PR with a manageable safety profile[66]. The rationale could be represented by a potential synergism between the immunomodulatory and antiangiogenic action of lenalidomide and the proteasome inhibitor activity of bortezomib.

In another phase I/II study, a combination of lenalidomide, vorinostat and dexamethasone was explored. Out of 8 enrolled R/R nodal TCL patients, 2 experienced a dose-limiting toxicity with a daily dose of 10 mg; thus, the maximum tolerated dose of lenalidomide was 5 mg/d[67]. ORR was 25% (1 CR and 1 PR), with a median PFS and OS of 2.2 and 6.7 mo, respectively. Due to these disappointing results, the authors did not find any additional benefit for this combination regimen compared to lenalidomide alone and discouraged further investigations[67].

The histone deacetylase inhibitor romidepsin showed a potential synergism with lenalidomide and could enhance tumor cell death in a TCL preclinical model[68]. This combination demonstrated a synergistic effect in the Hut-78 human TCL cell line and an additive effect in the Karpas-299 human TCL cell line; it was mainly related to the activation of a caspase-dependent pro-apoptotic pathway[68]. A phase Ib/IIa study, in which both PTCL and MM will be enrolled, is currently ongoing (NCT01755975).

Another promising strategy is represented by the use of lenalidomide as maintenance after debulking therapy, as previously published for R/R DLBCL cases[69]. Lenalidomide maintenance vs observation for advanced CTCL was investigated in a phase III, randomized trial at a daily dose of 25 mg for 21 d every 28 d<sup>[70]</sup>. Unfortunately, the trial was terminated early, following withdrawal of funding; out of 21 patients, 9/21 and 12/21 cases had been randomized to lenalidomide and observation. Median PFS was 5.3 mo and 2 mo, respectively, further suggesting a potential benefit for maintenance therapy, even if the reduced sample size did not permit a statistical comparison[70].

#### CONCLUSION

R/R TCL cases are characterized by poor prognosis and current guidelines showed a lack of satisfactory treatment options. Lenalidomide has been successfully used in several hematologic malignancies, such as mantle-cell lymphoma, MM, DLBCL and myelodysplatic syndromes. The multiple mechanisms of action, with immunomodulatory, antiangiogenic and direct antineoplastic properties, represent a strong rationale to investigate the drug, alone or in association, for the treatment of R/R TCL patients. Lenalidomide demonstrated a promising efficacy with manageable toxicity in the

treatment of ATLL, CTCL and nodal TCL, at least comparable to licensed drugs such as mogamulizumab, pralatrexate or romidepsin, even in heavily pretreated patients. Identification of the TFH cell as the cell of origin of several TCLs, including AITL, could explain the high efficacy of lenalidomide in the treatment of R/R AITL cases. To our knowledge, combination strategies did not show an additional benefit compared to monotherapy, even if further investigations are warranted.

In conclusion, lenalidomide as a single-agent prolongs PFS in R/R TCL with an acceptable toxicity and could represent a suitable treatment option for this patient population, especially for neoplasm cases with a TFH origin.

#### REFERENCES

- d'Amore F, Gaulard P, Trümper L, Corradini P, Kim WS, Specht L, Bjerregaard Pedersen M, Ladetto M; ESMO Guidelines Committee. Peripheral T-cell lymphomas: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2015; 26 Suppl 5: v108-v115 [PMID: 26314772 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdv201]
- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Pileri SA, Harris NL, Stein H, Siebert R, Advani R, Ghielmini M, Salles GA, Zelenetz AD, Jaffe ES. The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. Blood 2016; 127: 2375-2390 [PMID: 26980727 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2016-01-643569
- Bachy E, Broccoli A, Dearden C, de Leval L, Gaulard P, Koch R, Morschhauser F, Trümper L, 3 Zinzani PL. Controversies in the Treatment of Peripheral T-cell Lymphoma. Hemasphere 2020; 4: e461 [PMID: 33062943 DOI: 10.1097/HS9.000000000000461]
- Laribi K, Alani M, Truong C, Baugier de Materre A. Recent Advances in the Treatment of Peripheral T-Cell Lymphoma. Oncologist 2018; 23: 1039-1053 [PMID: 29674443 DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.2017-0524]
- 5 Shustov A, Cabrera ME, Civallero M, Bellei M, Ko YH, Manni M, Skrypets T, Horwitz SM, De Souza CA, Radford JA, Bobillo S, Prates MV, Ferreri AJM, Chiattone C, Spina M, Vose JM, Chiappella A, Laszlo D, Marino D, Stelitano C, Federico M. ALK-negative anaplastic large cell lymphoma: features and outcomes of 235 patients from the International T-Cell Project. Blood Adv 2021; 5: 640-648 [PMID: 33560375 DOI: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020001581]
- Vose J, Armitage J, Weisenburger D; International T-Cell Lymphoma Project. International peripheral T-cell and natural killer/T-cell lymphoma study: pathology findings and clinical outcomes. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26: 4124-4130 [PMID: 18626005 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2008.16.4558]
- 7 Cencini E, Fabbri A, Sicuranza A, Bocchia M. Prognostic significance of lymphocyte/monocyte count and neutrophil/lymphocyte count in peripheral T cell lymphoma. Leuk Res 2019; 77: 5-7 [PMID: 30594867 DOI: 10.1016/j.leukres.2018.12.008]
- Bellei M, Foss FM, Shustov AR, Horwitz SM, Marcheselli L, Kim WS, Cabrera ME, Dlouhy I, Nagler A, Advani RH, Pesce EA, Ko YH, Martinez V, Montoto S, Chiattone C, Moskowitz A, Spina M, Biasoli I, Manni M, Federico M; International T-cell Project Network. The outcome of peripheral T-cell lymphoma patients failing first-line therapy: a report from the prospective, International T-Cell Project. Haematologica 2018; 103: 1191-1197 [PMID: 29599200 DOI: 10.3324/haematol.2017.186577]
- Abeyakoon C, van der Weyden C, Harrop S, Khot A, Dickinson M, Yannakou CK, Prince HM. Role of Haematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation in Peripheral T-Cell Lymphoma. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 33114606 DOI: 10.3390/cancers12113125]
- 10 O'Connor OA, Pro B, Pinter-Brown L, Bartlett N, Popplewell L, Coiffier B, Lechowicz MJ, Savage KJ, Shustov AR, Gisselbrecht C, Jacobsen E, Zinzani PL, Furman R, Goy A, Haioun C, Crump M, Zain JM, Hsi E, Boyd A, Horwitz S. Pralatrexate in patients with relapsed or refractory peripheral Tcell lymphoma: results from the pivotal PROPEL study. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 1182-1189 [PMID: 21245435 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2010.29.9024]
- 11 Coiffier B, Pro B, Prince HM, Foss F, Sokol L, Greenwood M, Caballero D, Morschhauser F, Wilhelm M, Pinter-Brown L, Padmanabhan Iyer S, Shustov A, Nielsen T, Nichols J, Wolfson J, Balser B, Horwitz S. Romidepsin for the treatment of relapsed/refractory peripheral T-cell lymphoma: pivotal study update demonstrates durable responses. J Hematol Oncol 2014; 7: 11 [PMID: 24456586 DOI: 10.1186/1756-8722-7-111
- O'Connor OA, Horwitz S, Masszi T, Van Hoof A, Brown P, Doorduijn J, Hess G, Jurczak W, 12 Knoblauch P, Chawla S, Bhat G, Choi MR, Walewski J, Savage K, Foss F, Allen LF, Shustov A. Belinostat in Patients With Relapsed or Refractory Peripheral T-Cell Lymphoma: Results of the Pivotal Phase II BELIEF (CLN-19) Study. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 2492-2499 [PMID: 26101246 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2014.59.2782]
- Pro B, Advani R, Brice P, Bartlett NL, Rosenblatt JD, Illidge T, Matous J, Ramchandren R, Fanale 13 M, Connors JM, Fenton K, Huebner D, Pinelli JM, Kennedy DA, Shustov A. Five-year results of brentuximab vedotin in patients with relapsed or refractory systemic anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Blood 2017; 130: 2709-2717 [PMID: 28974506 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2017-05-780049]
- Kim YH, Bagot M, Pinter-Brown L, Rook AH, Porcu P, Horwitz SM, Whittaker S, Tokura Y, 14 Vermeer M, Zinzani PL, Sokol L, Morris S, Kim EJ, Ortiz-Romero PL, Eradat H, Scarisbrick J,



Tsianakas A, Elmets C, Dalle S, Fisher DC, Halwani A, Poligone B, Greer J, Fierro MT, Khot A, Moskowitz AJ, Musiek A, Shustov A, Pro B, Geskin LJ, Dwyer K, Moriya J, Leoni M, Humphrey JS, Hudgens S, Grebennik DO, Tobinai K, Duvic M; MAVORIC Investigators. Mogamulizumab versus vorinostat in previously treated cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (MAVORIC): an international, openlabel, randomised, controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2018; 19: 1192-1204 [PMID: 30100375 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30379-6]

- Horwitz SM, Ansell S, Ai WZ, Barnes J, Barta SK, Clemens MW, Dogan A, Goodman AM, Goyal 15 G, Guitart J, Halwani A, Haverkos BM, Hoppe RT, Jacobsen E, Jagadeesh D, Jones A, Kim YH, Mehta-Shah N, Olsen EA, Pro B, Rajguru SA, Rozati S, Said J, Shaver A, Shustov A, Sokol L, Torka P, Torres-Cabala C, Wilcox R, William BM, Zain J, Dwyer MA, Sundar H. NCCN Guidelines Insights: T-Cell Lymphomas, Version 1. 2021. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2020; 18: 1460-1467 [PMID: 33152703 DOI: 10.6004/jnccn.2020.0053]
- Broccoli A, Argnani L, Zinzani PL. Peripheral T-cell lymphomas: Focusing on novel agents in 16 relapsed and refractory disease. Cancer Treat Rev 2017; 60: 120-129 [PMID: 28946015 DOI: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.09.002]
- Palumbo A, Hajek R, Delforge M, Kropff M, Petrucci MT, Catalano J, Gisslinger H, Wiktor-17 Jędrzejczak W, Zodelava M, Weisel K, Cascavilla N, Iosava G, Cavo M, Kloczko J, Bladé J, Beksac M, Spicka I, Plesner T, Radke J, Langer C, Ben Yehuda D, Corso A, Herbein L, Yu Z, Mei J, Jacques C, Dimopoulos MA; MM-015 Investigators. Continuous lenalidomide treatment for newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med 2012; 366: 1759-1769 [PMID: 22571200 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1112704]
- 18 Strati P, Keating MJ, Wierda WG, Badoux XC, Calin S, Reuben JM, O'Brien S, Kornblau SM, Kantarjian HM, Gao H, Ferrajoli A. Lenalidomide induces long-lasting responses in elderly patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2013; 122: 734-737 [PMID: 23801633 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-495341]
- 19 Defina M, Rondoni M, Gozzetti A, Aprile L, Chitarrelli I, Fabbri A, Lauria F, Bocchia M. Lenalidomide on alternative days is effective in myelodysplastic syndrome with 5q- deletion. Br J Haematol 2010; 148: 483-484 [PMID: 19874309 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009.07971.x]
- Czuczman MS, Trněný M, Davies A, Rule S, Linton KM, Wagner-Johnston N, Gascoyne RD, Slack 20 GW, Brousset P, Eberhard DA, Hernandez-Ilizaliturri FJ, Salles G, Witzig TE, Zinzani PL, Wright GW, Staudt LM, Yang Y, Williams PM, Lih CJ, Russo J, Thakurta A, Hagner P, Fustier P, Song D, Lewis ID. A Phase 2/3 Multicenter, Randomized, Open-Label Study to Compare the Efficacy and Safety of Lenalidomide Versus Investigator's Choice in Patients with Relapsed or Refractory Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. Clin Cancer Res 2017; 23: 4127-4137 [PMID: 28381416 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2818]
- Strati P, Jain P, Johnson RJ, Forbes S, Feng L, Samaniego F, Rodriguez MA, Fayad LE, Hagemeister F, Westin J, Wang M, Neelapu SS, Nastoupil LJ, Fowler NH. Long-term follow-up of lenalidomide and rituximab as initial treatment of follicular lymphoma. Blood 2021; 137: 1124-1129 [PMID: 32932518 DOI: 10.1182/blood.2020007994]
- 22 Stefoni V, Pellegrini C, Broccoli A, Baldini L, Tani M, Cencini E, Figuera A, Ansuinelli M, Bernocco E, Cantonetti M, Cox MC, Ballerini F, Rusconi C, Visco C, Arcaini L, Fama A, Marasca R, Volpetti S, Castellino A, Califano C, Cavaliere M, Gini G, Liberati AM, Musuraca G, Lucania A, Ricciuti G, Argnani L, Zinzani PL. Lenalidomide in Pretreated Mantle Cell Lymphoma Patients: An Italian Observational Multicenter Retrospective Study in Daily Clinical Practice (the Lenamant Study). Oncologist 2018; 23: 1033-1038 [PMID: 29674440 DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.2017-0597]
- 23 Chen N, Zhou S, Palmisano M. Clinical Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Lenalidomide. Clin Pharmacokinet 2017; 56: 139-152 [PMID: 27351179 DOI: 10.1007/s40262-016-0432-1]
- 24 Kritharis A, Coyle M, Sharma J, Evens AM. Lenalidomide in non-Hodgkin lymphoma: biological perspectives and therapeutic opportunities. Blood 2015; 125: 2471-2476 [PMID: 25736312 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2014-11-567792
- 25 Ramsay AG, Clear AJ, Kelly G, Fatah R, Matthews J, Macdougall F, Lister TA, Lee AM, Calaminici M, Gribben JG. Follicular lymphoma cells induce T-cell immunologic synapse dysfunction that can be repaired with lenalidomide: implications for the tumor microenvironment and immunotherapy. Blood 2009; 114: 4713-4720 [PMID: 19786615 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2009-04-217687]
- Ramsay AG, Clear AJ, Fatah R, Gribben JG. Multiple inhibitory ligands induce impaired T-cell 26 immunologic synapse function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia that can be blocked with lenalidomide: establishing a reversible immune evasion mechanism in human cancer. Blood 2012; 120: 1412-1421 [PMID: 22547582 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-411678]
- Kater AP, Tonino SH, Egle A, Ramsay AG. How does lenalidomide target the chronic lymphocytic 27 leukemia microenvironment? Blood 2014; 124: 2184-2189 [PMID: 25161268 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-578286
- Reddy N, Hernandez-Ilizaliturri FJ, Deeb G, Roth M, Vaughn M, Knight J, Wallace P, Czuczman 28 MS. Immunomodulatory drugs stimulate natural killer-cell function, alter cytokine production by dendritic cells, and inhibit angiogenesis enhancing the anti-tumour activity of rituximab in vivo. Br J Haematol 2008; 140: 36-45 [PMID: 17995965 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06841.x]
- 29 Wu L, Adams M, Carter T, Chen R, Muller G, Stirling D, Schafer P, Bartlett JB. lenalidomide enhances natural killer cell and monocyte-mediated antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity of rituximab-treated CD20+ tumor cells. Clin Cancer Res 2008; 14: 4650-4657 [PMID: 18628480 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4405]



- 30 Gribben JG, Fowler N, Morschhauser F. Mechanisms of Action of Lenalidomide in B-Cell Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 2803-2811 [PMID: 26195701 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2014.59.5363
- Song K, Herzog BH, Sheng M, Fu J, McDaniel JM, Chen H, Ruan J, Xia L. Lenalidomide inhibits 31 lymphangiogenesis in preclinical models of mantle cell lymphoma. Cancer Res 2013; 73: 7254-7264 [PMID: 24158094 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0750]
- Pellagatti A. Jädersten M. Forsblom AM. Cattan H. Christensson B. Emanuelsson EK. Merup M. 32 Nilsson L, Samuelsson J, Sander B, Wainscoat JS, Boultwood J, Hellström-Lindberg E. Lenalidomide inhibits the malignant clone and up-regulates the SPARC gene mapping to the commonly deleted region in 5q- syndrome patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci US A 2007; 104: 11406-11411 [PMID: 17576924 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0610477104]
- Lu L, Payvandi F, Wu L, Zhang LH, Hariri RJ, Man HW, Chen RS, Muller GW, Hughes CC, Stirling 33 DI, Schafer PH, Bartlett JB. The anti-cancer drug lenalidomide inhibits angiogenesis and metastasis via multiple inhibitory effects on endothelial cell function in normoxic and hypoxic conditions. Microvasc Res 2009; 77: 78-86 [PMID: 18805433 DOI: 10.1016/j.mvr.2008.08.003]
- Jin Z, Qing K, Ouyang Y, Liu Z, Wang W, Li X, Xu Z, Li J. Low dose of lenalidmide and 34 PI3K/mTOR inhibitor trigger synergistic cytoxicity in activated B cell-like subtype of diffuse large B cell lymphoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2016; 35: 52 [PMID: 27009084 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-016-0327-x
- Lopez-Girona A, Mendy D, Ito T, Miller K, Gandhi AK, Kang J, Karasawa S, Carmel G, Jackson P, 35 Abbasian M, Mahmoudi A, Cathers B, Rychak E, Gaidarova S, Chen R, Schafer PH, Handa H, Daniel TO, Evans JF, Chopra R. Cereblon is a direct protein target for immunomodulatory and antiproliferative activities of lenalidomide and pomalidomide. Leukemia 2012; 26: 2326-2335 [PMID: 22552008 DOI: 10.1038/leu.2012.119]
- Zhu YX, Braggio E, Shi CX, Bruins LA, Schmidt JE, Van Wier S, Chang XB, Bjorklund CC, 36 Fonseca R, Bergsagel PL, Orlowski RZ, Stewart AK. Cereblon expression is required for the antimyeloma activity of lenalidomide and pomalidomide. Blood 2011; 118: 4771-4779 [PMID: 21860026 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2011-05-356063]
- Gandhi AK, Kang J, Havens CG, Conklin T, Ning Y, Wu L, Ito T, Ando H, Waldman MF, Thakurta 37 A, Klippel A, Handa H, Daniel TO, Schafer PH, Chopra R. Immunomodulatory agents lenalidomide and pomalidomide co-stimulate T cells by inducing degradation of T cell repressors Ikaros and Aiolos via modulation of the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex CRL4 (CRBN.). Br J Haematol 2014; 164: 811-821 [PMID: 24328678 DOI: 10.1111/bjh.12708]
- Krönke J, Udeshi ND, Narla A, Grauman P, Hurst SN, McConkey M, Svinkina T, Heckl D, Comer 38 E, Li X, Ciarlo C, Hartman E, Munshi N, Schenone M, Schreiber SL, Carr SA, Ebert BL. Lenalidomide causes selective degradation of IKZF1 and IKZF3 in multiple myeloma cells. Science 2014; 343: 301-305 [PMID: 24292625 DOI: 10.1126/science.1244851]
- 39 Zhang LH, Kosek J, Wang M, Heise C, Schafer PH, Chopra R. Lenalidomide efficacy in activated Bcell-like subtype diffuse large B-cell lymphoma is dependent upon IRF4 and cereblon expression. Br J Haematol 2013; 160: 487-502 [PMID: 23252516 DOI: 10.1111/bjh.12172]
- Fecteau JF, Corral LG, Ghia EM, Gaidarova S, Futalan D, Bharati IS, Cathers B, Schwaederlé M, 40 Cui B, Lopez-Girona A, Messmer D, Kipps TJ. Lenalidomide inhibits the proliferation of CLL cells via a cereblon/p21(WAF1/Cip1)-dependent mechanism independent of functional p53. Blood 2014; 124: 1637-1644 [PMID: 24990888 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2014-03-559591]
- Tsukasaki K, Marçais A, Nasr R, Kato K, Fukuda T, Hermine O, Bazarbachi A. Diagnostic 41 Approaches and Established Treatments for Adult T Cell Leukemia Lymphoma. Front Microbiol 2020; 11: 1207 [PMID: 32636814 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.01207]
- Cook LB, Fuji S, Hermine O, Bazarbachi A, Ramos JC, Ratner L, Horwitz S, Fields P, Tanase A, 42 Bumbea H, Cwynarski K, Taylor G, Waldmann TA, Bittencourt A, Marcais A, Suarez F, Sibon D, Phillips A, Lunning M, Farid R, Imaizumi Y, Choi I, Ishida T, Ishitsuka K, Fukushima T, Uchimaru K, Takaori-Kondo A, Tokura Y, Utsunomiya A, Matsuoka M, Tsukasaki K, Watanabe T. Revised Adult T-Cell Leukemia-Lymphoma International Consensus Meeting Report. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 677-687 [PMID: 30657736 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.18.00501]
- Ogura M, Imaizumi Y, Uike N, Asou N, Utsunomiya A, Uchida T, Aoki T, Tsukasaki K, Taguchi J, 43 Choi I, Maruyama D, Nosaka K, Chen N, Midorikawa S, Ohtsu T, Tobinai K. Lenalidomide in relapsed adult T-cell leukaemia-lymphoma or peripheral T-cell lymphoma (ATLL-001): a phase 1, multicentre, dose-escalation study. Lancet Haematol 2016; 3: e107-e118 [PMID: 26947199 DOI: 10.1016/S2352-3026(15)00284-7]
- 44 Ishida T, Fujiwara H, Nosaka K, Taira N, Abe Y, Imaizumi Y, Moriuchi Y, Jo T, Ishizawa K, Tobinai K, Tsukasaki K, Ito S, Yoshimitsu M, Otsuka M, Ogura M, Midorikawa S, Ruiz W, Ohtsu T. Multicenter Phase II Study of Lenalidomide in Relapsed or Recurrent Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma: ATLL-002. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34: 4086-4093 [PMID: 27621400 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.7732
- 45 Sakamoto H, Itonaga H, Sawayama Y, Furumoto T, Fujioka M, Chiwata M, Toriyama E, Kasai S, Nakashima J, Horai M, Kato T, Sato S, Ando K, Taguchi J, Imaizumi Y, Yoshida S, Hata T, Moriuchi Y, Miyazaki Y. Treatment with mogamulizumab or lenalidomide for relapsed adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: The Nagasaki transplant group experience. Hematol Oncol 2020; 38: 162-170 [PMID: 31922287 DOI: 10.1002/hon.2712]
- 46 Mehta-Shah N. Horwitz SM. Lenalidomide in Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol



2016; 34: 4066-4067 [PMID: 27863193 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.69.4505]

- 47 Willemze R, Hodak E, Zinzani PL, Specht L, Ladetto M; ESMO Guidelines Committee. Primary cutaneous lymphomas: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2018; 29: iv30-iv40 [PMID: 29878045 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdy133]
- 48 Agar NS, Wedgeworth E, Crichton S, Mitchell TJ, Cox M, Ferreira S, Robson A, Calonje E, Stefanato CM, Wain EM, Wilkins B, Fields PA, Dean A, Webb K, Scarisbrick J, Morris S, Whittaker SJ. Survival outcomes and prognostic factors in mycosis fungoides/Sézary syndrome: validation of the revised International Society for Cutaneous Lymphomas/European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer staging proposal. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 4730-4739 [PMID: 20855822 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.7665]
- 49 Chong BF, Wilson AJ, Gibson HM, Hafner MS, Luo Y, Hedgcock CJ, Wong HK. Immune function abnormalities in peripheral blood mononuclear cell cytokine expression differentiates stages of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma/mycosis fungoides. Clin Cancer Res 2008; 14: 646-653 [PMID: 18245523 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0610]
- 50 Tiemessen MM, Mitchell TJ, Hendry L, Whittaker SJ, Taams LS, John S. Lack of suppressive CD4+CD25+FOXP3+ T cells in advanced stages of primary cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. J Invest Dermatol 2006; 126: 2217-2223 [PMID: 16741512 DOI: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700371]
- Morschhauser F, Fitoussi O, Haioun C, Thieblemont C, Quach H, Delarue R, Glaisner S, Gabarre J, 51 Bosly A, Lister J, Li J, Coiffier B. A phase 2, multicentre, single-arm, open-label study to evaluate the safety and efficacy of single-agent lenalidomide (Revlimid) in subjects with relapsed or refractory peripheral T-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma: the EXPECT trial. Eur J Cancer 2013; 49: 2869-2876 [PMID: 23731832 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2013.04.029]
- 52 Querfeld C, Rosen ST, Guitart J, Duvic M, Kim YH, Dusza SW, Kuzel TM. Results of an open-label multicenter phase 2 trial of lenalidomide monotherapy in refractory mycosis fungoides and Sézary syndrome. Blood 2014; 123: 1159-1166 [PMID: 24335103 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2013-09-525915]
- 53 Tsuyama N, Sakamoto K, Sakata S, Dobashi A, Takeuchi K. Anaplastic large cell lymphoma: pathology, genetics, and clinical aspects. J Clin Exp Hematop 2017; 57: 120-142 [PMID: 29279550 DOI: 10.3960/jslrt.17023]
- 54 Broccoli A, Zinzani PL. Angioimmunoblastic T-Cell Lymphoma. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 2017; 31: 223-238 [PMID: 28340875 DOI: 10.1016/j.hoc.2016.12.001]
- Dueck G, Chua N, Prasad A, Finch D, Stewart D, White D, van der Jagt R, Johnston J, Belch A, 55 Reiman T. Interim report of a phase 2 clinical trial of lenalidomide for T-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Cancer 2010; 116: 4541-4548 [PMID: 20572046 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.25377]
- 56 Zinzani PL, Pellegrini C, Broccoli A, Stefoni V, Gandolfi L, Quirini F, Argnani L, Berti E, Derenzini E, Pileri S, Baccarani M. Lenalidomide monotherapy for relapsed/refractory peripheral T-cell lymphoma not otherwise specified. Leuk Lymphoma 2011; 52: 1585-1588 [PMID: 21504290 DOI: 10.3109/10428194.2011.573031
- Toumishey E, Prasad A, Dueck G, Chua N, Finch D, Johnston J, van der Jagt R, Stewart D, White D, Belch A, Reiman T. Final report of a phase 2 clinical trial of lenalidomide monotherapy for patients with T-cell lymphoma. Cancer 2015; 121: 716-723 [PMID: 25355245 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.29103]
- 58 de Leval L, Rickman DS, Thielen C, Reynies Ad, Huang YL, Delsol G, Lamant L, Leroy K, Brière J, Molina T, Berger F, Gisselbrecht C, Xerri L, Gaulard P. The gene expression profile of nodal peripheral T-cell lymphoma demonstrates a molecular link between angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma (AITL) and follicular helper T (TFH) cells. Blood 2007; 109: 4952-4963 [PMID: 17284527 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2006-10-055145]
- 59 Fabbri A, Cencini E, Pietrini A, Gozzetti A, Defina M, Fontanelli G, Mazzei MA, Volterrani L, Bocchia M. Impressive activity of lenalidomide monotherapy in refractory angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma: report of a case with long-term follow-up. Hematol Oncol 2013; 31: 213-217 [PMID: 23161606 DOI: 10.1002/hon.2038]
- Beckers MM, Huls G. Therapy refractory angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma in complete 60 remission with lenalidomide. Eur J Haematol 2013; 90: 162-163 [PMID: 23227803 DOI: 10.1111/ejh.12053]
- 61 Broccoli A, Pellegrini C, Celli M, Argnani L, Agostinelli C, Pileri S, Zinzani PL. Single-agent lenalidomide is effective in the treatment of a heavily pretreated and refractory angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma patient. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2014; 14: e119-e122 [PMID: 24629851 DOI: 10.1016/j.clml.2014.01.011]
- Kishimoto W, Takiuchi Y, Nakae Y, Tabata S, Fukunaga A, Matsuzaki N, Yuba Y, Kitano T, Arima 62 N. A case of AITL complicated by EBV-positive B cell and monoclonal plasma cell proliferation and effectively treated with lenalidomide. Int J Hematol 2019; 109: 499-504 [PMID: 30604313 DOI: 10.1007/s12185-018-02587-6
- Nagata Y, Kontani K, Enami T, Kataoka K, Ishii R, Totoki Y, Kataoka TR, Hirata M, Aoki K, 63 Nakano K, Kitanaka A, Sakata-Yanagimoto M, Egami S, Shiraishi Y, Chiba K, Tanaka H, Shiozawa Y, Yoshizato T, Suzuki H, Kon A, Yoshida K, Sato Y, Sato-Otsubo A, Sanada M, Munakata W, Nakamura H, Hama N, Miyano S, Nureki O, Shibata T, Haga H, Shimoda K, Katada T, Chiba S, Watanabe T, Ogawa S. Variegated RHOA mutations in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. Blood 2016; 127: 596-604 [PMID: 26574607 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2015-06-644948]
- Lemonnier F, Safar V, A. Ferchiou A, A. Cottereau A, E. Bachy E, G. Cartron G, Moles-Moreau M, 64 Delmer A, Bouabdallah R, Voillat L, Parrens M, Casasnovas O, Cacheux V, Réguy C, Tilly H, Meignan M, Gaulard P, de Leval L, Delfau-Larrue M, Haioun C. Bone marrow involvement, but no



blood involvement, impairs survival in angioimmunoblastic T cell lymphoma: an ancillary study of the REVAIL trial. Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on Malignant Lymphoma. Lugano, Switzerland–June 18-22, 2019. Hematol Oncol 2019; 37 [DOI: 10.1002/hon.89 2630]

- 65 Lemonnier F, Safar V, Beldi-Ferchiou A, Cottereau AS, Bachy E, Cartron G, Fataccioli V, Pelletier L, Robe C, Letourneau A, Missiaglia E, Fourati S, Moles-Moreau MP, Delmer A, Bouabdallah R, Voillat L, Becker S, Bossard C, Parrens M, Casasnovas O, Cacheux V, Régny C, Camus V, Delfau-Larue MH, Meignan M, de Leval L, Gaulard P, Haioun C. Integrative analysis of a phase 2 trial combining lenalidomide with CHOP in angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma. Blood Adv 2021; 5: 539-548 [PMID: 33496747 DOI: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020003081]
- 66 Chaoui D, Bouallegue S, Arakelyan N, Genet P, Aljijakli A, Sutton L. Bortezomib, lenalidomide and dexamethasone (VRD) combination as salvage therapy in refractory angioimmunoblastic T cell lymphoma. Br J Haematol 2014; 164: 750-752 [PMID: 25136706 DOI: 10.1111/bjh.12678]
- Hopfinger G, Nösslinger T, Lang A, Linkesch W, Melchardt T, Weiss L, Egle A, Greil R. 67 Lenalidomide in combination with vorinostat and dexamethasone for the treatment of relapsed/refractory peripheral T cell lymphoma (PTCL): report of a phase I/II trial. Ann Hematol 2014; 93: 459-462 [PMID: 24441915 DOI: 10.1007/s00277-014-2009-0]
- Cosenza M, Civallero M, Fiorcari S, Pozzi S, Marcheselli L, Bari A, Ferri P, Sacchi S. The histone deacetylase inhibitor romidepsin synergizes with lenalidomide and enhances tumor cell death in T-cell lymphoma cell lines. Cancer Biol Ther 2016; 17: 1094-1106 [PMID: 27657380 DOI: 10.1080/15384047.2016.1219820]
- Ferreri AJ, Sassone M, Zaja F, Re A, Spina M, Rocco AD, Fabbri A, Stelitano C, Frezzato M, 69 Rusconi C, Zambello R, Couto S, Ren Y, Arcari A, Bertoldero G, Nonis A, Scarfò L, Calimeri T, Cecchetti C, Chiozzotto M, Govi S, Ponzoni M. Lenalidomide maintenance in patients with relapsed diffuse large B-cell lymphoma who are not eligible for autologous stem cell transplantation: an open label, single-arm, multicentre phase 2 trial. Lancet Haematol 2017; 4: e137-e146 [PMID: 28219694 DOI: 10.1016/S2352-3026(17)30016-9]
- 70 Bagot M, Hasan B, Whittaker S, Beylot-Barry M, Knobler R, Shah E, Marreaud S, Morris S, Dalle S, Servitje O, Cowan R, Väkevä L, Chaby G, Jonak C, Fox CP, Ritchie D, Vermeer MH, Stadler R, Romero PLO, Scarisbrick J, Quaglino P. A phase III study of lenalidomide maintenance after debulking therapy in patients with advanced cutaneous T-cell lymphoma - EORTC 21081 (NCT01098656): results and lessons learned for future trial designs. Eur J Dermatol 2017; 27: 286-294 [PMID: 28468739 DOI: 10.1684/ejd.2017.3008]



WJC0

# World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 897-911

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.897

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

# Current update on imaging for pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms

Nicole Segaran, Catherine Devine, Mindy Wang, Dhakshinamoorthy Ganeshan

**ORCID number:** Nicole Segaran 0000-0002-6787-3004; Catherine Devine 0000-0003-0353-2574; Mindy Wang 0000-0002-3457-9327; Dhakshinamoorthy Ganeshan 0000-0001-5027-3347.

Author contributions: Segaran N drafted the review article and contributed to the design of the manuscript; Devine C contributed to the design of the manuscript and edited the draft; Wang M contributed to manuscript design and edited the manuscript; Ganeshan D designed the structure of the overall manuscript and made critical revisions related to important intellectual content of the manuscript; all authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the

Nicole Segaran, Department of Radiology, Mayo Clinic Arizona, Phoenix, AZ 85259, United States

Catherine Devine, Mindy Wang, Department of Diagnostic Radiology, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX 77030, United States

Dhakshinamoorthy Ganeshan, Department of Diagnostic Radiology, Abdominal Imaging, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX 77030, United States

Corresponding author: Dhakshinamoorthy Ganeshan, MD, Associate Professor, Department of Diagnostic Radiology, Abdominal Imaging, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, 1400 Pressler Street, Unit 1473, Houston, TX 77030, United States. dganeshan@mdanderson.org

# Abstract

Pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (panNEN) are a heterogeneous group of tumors with differing pathological, genetic, and clinical features. Based on clinical findings, they may be categorized into functioning and nonfunctioning tumors. Adoption of the 2017 World Health Organization classification system, particularly its differentiation between grade 3, well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (panNET) and grade 3, poorly-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas (panNEC) has emphasized the role imaging plays in characterizing these lesions. Endoscopic ultrasound can help obtain biopsy specimen and assess tumor margins and local spread. Enhancement patterns on computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may be used to classify panNEN. Contrast enhanced MRI and diffusion-weighted imaging have been reported to be useful for characterization of panNEN and quantifying metastatic burden. Current and emerging radiotracers have broadened the utility of functional imaging in evaluating panNEN. Fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (PET)/CT and somatostatin receptor imaging such as Gallium-68 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid-octreotate PET/CT may be useful for improved identification of panNEN in comparison to anatomic modalities. These new techniques can also play a direct role in optimizing the selection of treatment for individuals and predicting tumor response based on somatostatin receptor expression. In addition, emerging methods of radiomics such as texture analysis may be a potential tool for staging and outcome prediction in panNEN, however further investigation is required before clinical implementation.



Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

#### Specialty type: Oncology

Country/Territory of origin: United States

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: March 31, 2021 Peer-review started: March 31, 2021 First decision: June 7, 2021 Revised: June 21, 2021 Accepted: August 27, 2021 Article in press: August 27, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Wang Z S-Editor: Chang KL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



**Key Words:** Pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms; Computed tomography; Ultrasound; Positron emission tomography; Magnetic resonance imaging; Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Imaging plays a critical role in the diagnosis and management of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Enhancement patterns and diffusion-weighted imaging aid the detection and classification of these lesions. Contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging is useful for the evaluation of hepatic metastases. Dual-tracer positron emission tomography/computed tomography with Gallium-68 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid-octreotate and Fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose may be particularly useful for distinguishing grade 3 pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor from pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma. Furthermore, these advanced imaging techniques can help in the staging and detection of distant metastases. Evaluation of somatostatin receptor expression and metabolic activity with functional imaging can help select optimal treatment.

Citation: Segaran N, Devine C, Wang M, Ganeshan D. Current update on imaging for pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12(10): 897-911 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/897.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.897

## INTRODUCTION

Pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (panNEN) represent a rare, diverse group of neoplasms[1]. These tumors account for less than 2% of pancreatic cancers and only 7% of all neuroendocrine tumors. These entities can manifest at any age but are most often diagnosed in individuals between 40 and 65 years old. The majority of panNEN are sporadic<sup>[2]</sup>. Up to 10% are associated with hereditary disorders including Von Hippel-Lindau disease, neurofibromatosis type 1, tuberous sclerosis complex, and multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) syndrome, which increase a patient's predilection for neoplasms. PanNEN can be categorized into functioning and nonfunctioning neoplasms based on clinical findings. Recent discoveries on the mechanisms behind panNEN pathogenesis and molecular cytogenetics have resulted in significant changes regarding their classification, diagnosis, and treatment. In particular, new distinctions in classification between well-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (panNET) and poorly-differentiated pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas (panNEC) has emphasized the need for more advanced imaging techniques to guide diagnosis and follow-up[1]. In this review, we will discuss the most current classifications of panNEN based on pathology, genetic, and clinical features. In addition, we will review the use of anatomic imaging modalities like ultrasound (US), computed tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for initial detection and management, along with molecular imaging techniques that have proven useful for identifying occult tumors and further characterization. The potential use of CT, MRI, and positron emission tomography (PET)/CT texture analysis to grade tumors and predict clinical outcome will also be briefly highlighted.

## PATHOLOGY

PanNEN demonstrate two histopathological classifications: panNET and panNEC. PanNET account for more than 90% of panNEN and are characterized as well-differentiated neoplasms that manifest with little to moderate atypia. On gross examination, they appear well-circumscribed by a thin capsule. Cystic changes and hemorrhage may be identified. PanNEC can manifest as a small cell or large cell variant. The large cell variation comprises 60% of panNEC and exhibits expansile growth. Small cell panNEC exhibit more infiltrative growth. Necrosis and vascular invasion are com-



monly observed[3].

The 2010 World Health Organization (WHO) classification system for panNEN based categorization on a neoplasm's Ki-67 proliferation index and mitotic index. In this system, when both indices are greater than 20, the tumor is classified as panNEC. Subsequently, many large studies showed the existence of well-differentiated panNET presenting high mitotic and Ki-67 indices. Thus, the 2017 WHO classification system (Table 1) accounts for both the level of proliferation and differentiation of neoplasms, distinguishing a well-differentiated grade 3 panNET from a poorly-differentiated grade 3 panNEC<sup>[1,4]</sup>. Additional changes include the renaming of mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas to mixed neuroendocrine-nonneuroendocrine neoplasms (MiNEN), in order to reflect their capacity to manifest not only as high-grade, malignant neoplasms, but also as low-grade, benign tumors. MiNEN are composed of both neuroendocrine and non-neuroendocrine components and have relatively nonspecific features, tending to mimic panNEC[1].

Although WHO classification relies on pathological features to distinguish grading, single location biopsy may not be an accurate representation of all tumor burden due to the variance within and between lesions. In addition, grade transformation can occur following biopsy. Thus, imaging evaluation and follow-up often play an important role in dictating ongoing and future management, regardless of initial grading.

#### MOLECULAR CYTOGENETICS

Research focusing on the study of panNEN pathogenesis has significantly broadened the knowledge behind genetic mutations which may influence these lesions and their prognosis. The most common genetic alterations seen in panNET include mutations of the tumor suppressor gene MEN1, and chromatin-remodeling genes ATRX and DAXX [3]. *MEN1* encodes the protein menin, which is involved in histone methylation and cell cycle inhibition. MEN1 mutations are seen in 31% to 44% of grade 3 panNET, resulting in the disruption of tumor suppression[5]. The majority of these mutations are sporadic, but some may be inherited and seen in association with MEN1 syndrome, Von Hippel Lindau syndrome, neurofibromatosis type 1 and tuberous sclerosis. ATRX and DAXX mutations are strongly associated with high grade tumors and poor outcomes. A mutation in one of the two genes is observed in more than 45% of well-differentiated neoplasms, and result in an alternative lengthening of telomeres phenotype which correlates with aggressive behavior. DAXX abnormalities are also associated with low expression of TP53, a tumor suppressor gene that is involved in apoptosis, cell proliferation, and DNA repair. Other molecular abnormalities that may be observed in panNET are mutations in TSC1 and TSC2, PTEN, PIK3CA, and *DEPDC5*, which all play a role in the mammalian target rapamycin (mTOR) pathway. These mutations occur in approximately 15% of tumors[1,3].

The molecular abnormalities driving panNET do not usually occur in panNEC. Instead, these neoplasms commonly feature mutations in TP53 and Rb1. KRAS and SMAD4 mutations can also occur, but these are less frequent[1].

#### CLINICAL FEATURES

PanNEN have a wide range of clinical findings, depending on the subtype. The clinical presentation of functioning panNET is influenced by their characteristic hypersecretion of various hormones. Insulinomas account for 60% of functioning panNET and are composed of insulin-producing  $\beta$  cells[3]. They typically manifest with Whipple's Triad (*i.e.* fasting hypoglycemia, symptoms of hypoglycemia, and relief of symptoms following administration of IV glucose)[2]. About 10% of cases will present multiple insulinomas, usually in association with MEN1 syndrome. Gastrinomas represent the second most common functioning panNET. They usually arise in the gastrinoma triangle, a region enclosed by the pancreatic head and neck, the second and third part of the duodenum, and the cystic and common bile duct[1]. Overproduction of gastrin leads to the onset of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, resulting in peptic ulcer disease, secretory diarrhea, or gastroesophageal reflux disease[3]. Glucagonoma is characterized by its hypersecretion of glucagon. Common manifestations include necrolytic migratory erythema, diabetes mellitus, deep vein thrombosis, and depression[3,6,7]. Other functioning panNET are somatostatinomas, vasoactive intestinal peptidesecreting tumors, and adrenocorticotropic hormone-secreting tumors, which comprise



Table 1 Comparison of 2010 and 2017 World Health Organization classification system for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors						
WHO 2010 Classification system	WHO 2017 Classification system	Ki-67 index (%)	Mitotic index <sup>1</sup>			
Well-differentiated PanNET G1	Well-differentiated PanNET G1	< 3	< 2			
Well-differentiated PanNET G2	Well-differentiated PanNET G2	3-20	2-20			
	Well-differentiated PanNET G3	> 20	> 20			
Poorly-differentiated PanNEC G3 ( <i>i.e.</i> small cell carcinoma, large cell carcinoma)	Poorly-differentiated PanNEC G3 ( <i>i.e.</i> small cell carcinoma, large cell carcinoma)	> 20	> 20			
MiNEN	MANEC					

<sup>1</sup>Per 10 high-power fields. WHO: World Health Organization; PanNEN: Pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms; PanNET: Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors; PanNEC: Pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas; MiNEN: mixed neuroendocrine-nonneuroendocrine neoplasms; MANEC: Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinomas

less than 20% of cases[8].

Nonfunctioning panNET are usually asymptomatic until advanced stages, resulting in later presentation and diagnosis. These tumors can secrete polypeptides; however, such secretions do not lead to any associated clinical findings. When symptoms do appear, they are often a result of tumor burden and its mass effect. Up to 50% of nonfunctioning panNET present distant metastases, particularly in the liver, although other locations include the lungs, bone, peritoneum, adrenal glands, brain, and spleen [3]. Similarly, metastatic disease is a common clinical feature of panNEC. A retrospective study reported 88% of panNEC in their cohort demonstrated metastases upon diagnosis[9].

#### **IMAGING FEATURES**

Imaging plays a critical role in diagnosing and evaluating panNEN. Conventional modalities like US, CT, and MRI are often used in the initial detection of panNEN. Techniques using PET/CT and novel radiotracers have proven to be extremely useful in the identification and classification of these tumors.

#### US

On sonography, panNEN usually appear as a well-defined, solid, heterogeneous hypoechoic mass (Figure 1). Some lesions may present with cystic regions[8,10]. Hepatic metastases from panNEN are often hyperechoic in comparison to surrounding liver parenchyma, however they can also manifest as hypoechoic and targetoid lesions. Doppler US reveals increased vascularity. Endoscopic US (EUS) is the preferred modality for detecting small, occult panNEN that are difficult to see with noninvasive techniques[1]. EUS has been reported to have 80% to 90% sensitivity towards panNET, including those that remain undetected on CT and transabdominal US[11-14]. EUS sensitivity towards small insulinomas and duodenal gastrinomas is particularly useful, as these lesions can often be overlooked by other modalities. Following microbubble contrast, panNET show early, intense enhancement on EUS, differentiating these tumors from panNEC or pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) which are generally hypovascular. Homogeneous enhancement typically indicates a lower Ki-67 index[1]. Other benefits of EUS include its capacity for tissue acquisition using fine needle aspiration or core biopsy; EUS-guided biopsies agree with surgical Ki-67 evaluation in up to 84% of cases[15-18]. Intraoperative US also plays a useful role in some cases by allowing for accurate localization of neoplasms in relation to adjacent structure, thus reducing the risk of postoperative fistulas[1].

#### СТ

CT is commonly used for initial assessment of suspected panNET. Given its high spatial resolution, CT provides excellent diagnostic information with regards to the detection and characterization of the primary tumor and allows assessment of local vascular spread and distant metastatic spread. Typical CT protocol involves multiphasic imaging with pre-contrast acquisition and arterial, pancreatic, and venous phase acquisition following contrast[19]. Pre-contrast images may be useful in cases where there is hemorrhage. Following contrast administration panNEN are generally




Figure 1 Forty-year-old man with pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm. A: Axial ultrasound shows a large solid heterogeneous mass (long arrow). Internal calcification (small arrow) is seen, causing posterior acoustic shadowing; B: Doppler ultrasound shows increased vascularity within the pancreatic tumor.

> hyperenhancing (Figure 2) in comparison to surrounding pancreatic tissue on arterial phase and remain mildly hyperattenuating on venous and delayed phases. However, more subtle discrimination of enhancement patterns may allow further classification. Intense, homogeneous enhancement is typical of lower grade panNEN. Grade 1 and 2 neoplasms often appear as small, well-circumscribed lesions, best depicted on arterial phase. These tumors may contain cystic regions in up to 15%-20% of cases [20,21], and are more common in cases associated with MEN1. Pancreatic ductal dilation is more commonly seen in high-grade neoplasms and mixed tumors than well-differentiated panNEN; however, ductal dilation in low-grade tumors may be seen with secretion of serotonin. Grade 3 tumors are characterized as large, ill-defined masses that manifest with mild to low enhancement on arterial phase. They are typically hypointense on portal venous phase imaging. Heterogeneous attenuation due to necrosis and cystic change and the presence of lymphadenopathy or metastatic disease is common.

> CT radiomics may be useful for distinguishing the grade of panNEN based on tumor heterogeneity and spatial variation when imaging findings are ambiguous. Texture analysis interprets the distribution of pixel values and position within an image to provide objective, quantitative evaluation of tissue heterogeneity. Guo et al [22] found texture parameters such as mean grey-level intensity, entropy, and uniformity demonstrated adequate sensitivity (73%-91%) and specificity (85%-100%) when differentiating grade 1 and 2 panNET from grade 3 panNEC, suggesting texture analysis may be useful for staging panNEN. Mean grey-level intensity showed up to a 100% sensitivity and 91% specificity for distinguishing grade 1 and grade 2 panNET. Canellas and colleagues reported significant differences between low-grade (grade 1) and high-grade (grade 2 and 3) panNEN in texture parameters including skewness, mean of positive pixels, and entropy. However, the only parameter that was an independent predictor of tumor grade was entropy. In addition, further investigation and standardization of postprocessing techniques is required before texture analysis can be applied in a clinical setting[23].

> In conjunction with clinical findings, CT can also aid distinguishing functioning from nonfunctioning panNET. Functioning panNET tend to be smaller and more homogenous lesions. Gastrinomas may present ring-like enhancement. Nonfunctioning panNET are usually larger, heterogeneously enhancing masses, and are more likely to exhibit local or vascular spread. Necrosis, cystic changes, and calcifications may be observed[1,8]. Larger nonfunctioning panNET are more likely to exhibit aggressive behavior and often present with metastatic disease.

> Hepatic metastases demonstrate intense enhancement on arterial phase imaging and only mildly enhance during the portal venous phase. Similar to gastrinoma, ringlike enhancement may also be seen and can be useful for differentiating panNENrelated metastatic disease from other hepatic lesions[1,11].

### MRI

MRI provides improved detection of panNEN and hepatic metastases over abdominal sonography and CT given its superior contrast resolution (Figure 3). MRI enhancement patterns on arterial, venous, and delayed sequences are similar to those seen on CT. Fat-suppressed and diffusion-weighted imaging are particularly useful for identifying small, occult lesions and recognizing associated edema[11]. On MRI,



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Thirty-eight-year-old woman with pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm. A: Axial precontrast computed tomography; B and C: Contrastenhanced computed tomography in the arterial phase (B) and delayed phase (C) demonstrate pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm (arrow). Patient underwent surgical resection; D and E: Follow-up Gallium-68 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid-octreotate positron emission tomography/computed tomography shows metastatic adenopathy (short arrow) and liver metastases (long arrow).



Figure 3 Thirty-five-year-old male with small pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm. A: Axial magnetic resonance T2 weighted image; B: T1 weighted image show a small 1 cm mass (arrow) in the head of pancreas; C: Arterial phase image shows avid enhancement in the tumor; D: Diffusion-weighted image; E: Apparent diffusion coefficient map show restricted diffusion within the tumor (arrow). Biopsy confirmed diagnosis of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm.

panNEN typically manifest as hypointense on T1-weighted imaging and isointense on portal venous and delayed phases. Low-grade panNEN tend to exhibit high T2 signal while high-grade neoplasms typically exhibit low to intermediate hyperintensity on T2-weighted imaging[1].

Differentiating between panNEC and grade 3 panNET is challenging on imaging alone (Table 2). PanNEC usually share similar enhancement patterns to grade 3 panNET. Imaging features such as hypoenhancement or rim-like enhancement on arterial phase, persistent enhancement on portal venous phase, and hyperenhancement on delayed phase imaging may favor a diagnosis of panNEC over panNET. On diffusion-weighted imaging, panNEC also demonstrate high signal intensity and low apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) in comparison to grade 3 panNET[1];

Baishideng® WJCO https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Imaging features of grade 3 pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors vs grade 3 pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas							
Grade 3 PanNET	Grade 3 PanNEC						
Smaller, more defined lesions	Larger, ill-defined lesions						
Absence of ductal dilation or metastatic disease	Ductal dilation or metastatic disease						
Low to moderate homogeneous enhancement on arterial phase imaging	Heterogeneous or rim-like enhancement on arterial phase imaging						
Hypointense on delayed phase imaging	Atypical persistence of enhancement on delayed phase imaging						
Higher ADC values	Signal hyperintensity on diffusion-weighted MRI and lower ADC value						
Low uptake on <sup>18</sup> F-FDG PET/CT	High uptake on <sup>18</sup> F-FDG PET/CT						
Moderate uptake on <sup>68</sup> Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT	Low uptake on <sup>68</sup> Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT						

MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging; ADC: Apparent diffusion coefficient; PanNET: Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors; PanNEC: Pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinomas; ADC: Apparent diffusion coefficient; <sup>18</sup>F-FDG: Fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose; PET/CT: positron emission tomography/computed tomography; 68Ga-DOTATATE: Gallium-68 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid-octreotate.

> however exact ADC cutoffs vary between studies and are not typically used in clinical practice to differentiate between panNEC and panNET<sup>[24-26]</sup>. The presence of ductal dilation and metastatic disease may indicate panNEC rather than panNET[1].

> MRI is very helpful towards assessing the spread of panNEN to the liver[27]. Hepatic metastases are usually heterogeneously hyperintense on T2-weighted imaging, though atypical presentations include low to moderate T2 intensity. PanNEN hepatic metastases are typically hyperintense on the arterial phase of MRI. A peripheral ring of enhancement with gradual internal enhancement may also occur[1, 11,28]. The apparent size of metastases can also vary depending on the dynamic contrast phase on which the dimension is measured. For estimation of tumor load, measurements on the hepatobiliary phase of gadoxetate MRI may be more accurate[29, 30]. Histogram analysis of ADC maps could be useful for further indicating the aggressiveness and spread of panNEN. ADC entropy and kurotsis were reported to increase with tumor grade and vascular invasion. These parameters may also be useful for distinguishing panNEN with lymph node or distant metastasis, as both increase with the presence of metastases[31].

#### Functional imaging

The majority of panNEN express somatostatin receptors, allowing for excellent detection and characterization of these lesions using somatostatin analogs (SSA) coupled with radionuclide tracers. These techniques represent the forefront of panNEN imaging and can help to select patients for peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT)[1].

Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy (SRS) with Indium 111 (111In)-pentetreotide can identify primary or metastatic disease throughout the body with 77% sensitivity and provides functional information on tumor somatostatin receptor expression[1,8]. However, SRS is limited due to its nonspecific uptake in other organs and inflammatory tissues. In addition, its poor spatial resolution and comparatively low affinity for somatostatin receptors has led to the adoption of substantially superior PET/CT techniques[32].

Gallium-68 (68Ga) 1,4,7,10-tetraazacvclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid (DOTA)-octreotate, more commonly called <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE, has demonstrated consistently high specificity (81%-100%) and sensitivity (90%-100%) as a PET agent for panNET[33,34] (Figure 4). 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT is particularly useful for distinguishing low-grade, well-differentiated panNEN, which show greater <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE uptake than high-grade panNEN. Grade 3 panNET exhibit moderate uptake, while panNEC exhibit relatively poor uptake[1]. Physiological uptake in the pancreatic uncinate process is observed in up to one-third of individuals. The European Association of Nuclear Medicine (EANM) recommends disregarding uptake in the pancreatic uncinate process unless corresponding imaging findings are seen [35]. Other <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTA-peptides include DOTATOC and DOTANOC, which are reported to have similar diagnostic yields as to <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE.

The decrease of somatostatin receptors seen in higher grade, less differentiated neoplasms is accompanied by an increase in metabolic activity, making Fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose (<sup>18</sup>F-FDG) PET an ideal technique for identifying these lesions. Grade 3 tumors have a reported median maximum standardized uptake value of 11.7



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Sixty-two-year-old female with metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm. Coronal fused Gallium-68 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-1,4,7,10-tetraacetic acid-octreotate (DOTATATE) positron emission tomography/computed tomography shows a large soft tissue mass in the pancreatic head with intensely avid DOTATATE uptake. Note the subtle metastatic lesion in the pericardium (short arrow) along the left atrium.

> for <sup>18</sup>F-FDG, vs 4.4 for <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE[1]. Conversely, tumors with a Ki-67 index lower than 10% showed minimal <sup>18</sup>F-FDG uptake, but high <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE uptake [36]. Dual-tracer PET/CT with 68Ga-DOTATATE and 18F-FDG may be useful for distinguishing grade 3 panNET from panNEC, as higher uptake of <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE indicates grade 3 panNET, while higher uptake of <sup>18</sup>F-FDG indicates panNEC[1,35]. The use of SSA-PET/CT combined with texture analysis may also be a useful indicator of prognosis. A multi-center retrospective study demonstrated higher entropy could predict greater overall survival[37].

> A minority of insulinomas (< 10%) are negative on all conventional modalities due to their small size[35]. In such instances, SSA-PET/CT is a poor alternative, with a reported 25% sensitivity and specificity [38-43]. 18F-dihydroxyphenylalanine (18F-DOPA) PET/CT may aid localization of insulinomas, offering high sensitivity in cases of hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia. However, this technique frequently results in positive findings for non-neuroendocrine pancreatic lesions and is only indicated for detecting non-pancreatic NENs by 2017 EANM guidelines[44]. Carbidopa premedication may increase <sup>18</sup>F-DOPA specificity towards insulinomas by inhibiting physiologic uptake. Multiple retrospective studies with small cohorts using <sup>18</sup>F-DOPA and carbidopa premedication have demonstrated insulinoma detection rates of 70-85% [45-47]. However, further investigation into the role of <sup>18</sup>F-DOPA PET/CT in panNEN is required.

> Glucagon-like peptide receptor (GLP-1R) PET/CT may also prove useful for detecting insulinomas. The majority of benign insulinoma express GLP-1R, resulting in a sensitivity on GLP-1R -based PET/CT of more than 95% [47,48]. However, uptake in the pancreatic tail can be mistaken for physiological renal accumulation of radionuclides; uptake by duodenal Brunner gland may be mistaken for an insulinoma in the pancreatico-duodenal groove. In addition, malignant insulinomas express GLP-1R considerably less than their benign counterparts [35,49].

### DIFFERENTIAL DIAGNOSIS

The differential diagnosis for panNEN includes other hypervascular pancreatic lesions. Pancreatic metastases from renal cell carcinoma, melanoma, and sarcoma may often appear as hypervascular masses resembling panNEN. In particular, renal cell carcinoma may present with late onset metastasis in pancreas, even 5 to 10 years following treatment of the primary tumor, causing diagnostic dilemma. A history of previous primary malignancies should alert to the possibility of pancreatic metastases over panNEN. Serous cystadenomas represent another possible mimic of panNEN, particularly the rare subset of cases which may appear solid on CT. T2-weighted usually reveals presence of multiple septated cysts in serous cystadenomas which may occasionally not be apparent on CT. Lack of uptake on 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT is also useful for separating serous cystadenomas from panNEN. Intrapancreatic accessory splenules in the pancreatic tail may be another potential pitfall causing



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

diagnostic confusion, especially if only a single-phase CT is available. However, on MRI this diagnosis is generally straightforward. Splenules will have the same appearance as normal spleen on all MR sequences including T1-weighted, T2weighted, diffusion-weighted and postcontrast sequences. In cases of diagnostic difficulty, uptake on technetium 99m (99mTc)-labeled heat-damaged red blood celltagged or <sup>99m</sup>Tc-labeled sulfur colloid scans may help. Cystic panNEN may be mistaken for other cystic pancreatic entities such as mucinous cystic neoplasms, in which case EUS-guided fine needle aspiration might be necessary to confirm diagnosis [1].

Distinguishing the typical well-differentiated panNET from PDAC is usually straightforward, as panNET typically are hypervascular, well-defined and do not typically cause ductal obstruction. Nevertheless, the imaging appearance of panNEC often overlap with PDAC given their shared hypovascularity and ill-defined borders. These similar radiologic findings may result in misdiagnosis of up to 57% of panNEC as PDAC[31]. Decreased portal phase enhancement and a lower enhancement ratio between arterial and portal phase may raise suspicion for PDAC over nonhypervascular panNEN[50-52]. Features that are more common in panNEC include tumoral calcification and vascular invasion[1,31]. CT texture analysis may be useful as panNEC typically demonstrate more intratumoral homogeneity than PDAC. Consequently, panNEC demonstrate higher uniformity and lower entropy than PDAC at portal phase imaging [50]. Texture analysis based on ADC values may also improve diagnostic capabilities; ADC histogram analysis of diffusion-weighted imaging revealed PDAC demonstrate higher kurtosis and skewness on ADC400 and ADC800 than panNEN, overall. PanNEN exhibited significantly lower entropy regardless of b value [31]. However, definitive discrimination between panNEC and PDAC using imaging alone is difficult, and histological diagnosis is usually warranted.

### MANAGEMENT

The management of panNEN varies with their classification and the degree of local and metastatic spread. Localized, asymptomatic panNET less than 2 cm in size are usually treated conservatively with active surveillance[53]. However, larger or symptomatic panNEN require more comprehensive treatment such as symptom-directed therapy, SSA therapy, molecularly-targeted and conventional chemotherapy, or peptide receptor radionuclide therapy. Liver-specific therapy may be used to treat hepatic metastases[54,55].

### Surgical resection and debulking

Surgical resection is currently used for nonfunctioning tumors larger than 2 cm, and functioning panNET of any size. Accurate tumor localization is critical for operative success. 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT is the preferred imaging study for evaluating the spread of noninsulinoma panNET[54]. Selective arterial calcium stimulation with hepatic venous sampling is occasionally used to localize insulinomas that are difficult to assess on anatomic imaging. The emergence of GLP-1R PET/CT represents a superior alternative to this technique[54,56,57]. Simple enucleation may be sufficient for smaller, low-grade tumors that are at least 2-3 mm away from the main pancreatic duct. MR cholangiopancreatography and EUS are useful for estimating this distance [54]. The majority of functioning panNET require more extensive resection and lymphadenectomy[1]. A total pancreatectomy may be considered for multifocal disease. Noncurative surgical debulking may be pursued in cases of unresectable, metastatic panNEN to palliate symptoms and extend survival[1]. However, advanced disease is typically managed with non-surgical treatment strategies (Figure 5).

#### SAA therapy

SSA such as octreotide or lanreotide is often used in the management of advanced, progressive tumors. In addition to their antisecretory benefits these drugs have cytostatic effects on the tumor, as proven by the multicenter, phase III CLARINET and PROMID trials which demonstrated an increase in estimated progression-free survival [58,59]. However, this effect appears to be diminished in tumors that do not show adequate uptake on somatostatin imaging techniques. Koch et al[60] reported a 2.9-fold increased probability of achieving stable disease following SSA therapy in neuroendocrine tumors with high uptake on 68Ga-DOTATATE PET, in comparison to tumors with low uptake. Thus, a multidisciplinary panel of experts convened by the Society for Medicine and Molecular Imaging (SNMMI) suggested the potential utility of 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT in selecting patients with nonfunctioning panNET for soma-



Segaran N et al. Current imaging for panNEN



Figure 5 Thirty-nine-year-old male with metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasm. Axial T2 weighted image shows innumerable bilobar metastases (curved arrows). Note the heterogeneous primary pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor (straight arrow). Patient was treated with capecitabine and temozolomide.

tostatin analog therapy. However, the SNMMI expert panel agreed that in the case of symptomatic manifestations, SSA therapy is indicated regardless of imaging findings [61].

### Molecularly targeted chemotherapy

Molecularly targeted chemotherapy using agents such as everolimus, an mTOR inhibitor, and sunitinib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, have been reported to improve progression-free survival of individuals with grade 3 panNET and metastatic disease [1]. Early studies on emerging agents including multi-targeted kinase inhibitors and a combination of temsirolimus and bevacizumab, also show positive results [55,62].

### Conventional chemotherapy

Although SSA and molecular therapies have shown significant benefits in patients with panNEN, conventional chemotherapy or PRRT is preferred for highly symptomatic patients and those with rapidly growing metastases. A streptozocin-based regimen or a combination of temozolomide and capecitabine is the optimal approach for panNET[55]. Platinum-based chemotherapies such as cisplatin with etoposide or irinotecan are the regimen of choice for panNEC, with reported response rates of 60% [1,63].

### Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy

Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) uses SSA to deliver radionuclides such as yttrium-90 (90Y) and lutetium-177 (177Lu). These agents deliver beta radiation or high energy electrons, causing localized cellular necrosis at the site of accumulation, and have been associated with promising outcomes in grade 1 and 2 panNET. One phase II, single-center clinical trial demonstrated an increase in median survival by 26 mo in neuroendocrine tumor patients treated with PRRT[64-68]. However, PRRT may be less useful in panNEC due to their lower somatostatin receptor expression[1]. In addition, panNET with lower expression of somatostatin receptors may be susceptible to a similar decrease in response rate. Multiple studies propose the use of the "NETPET" scoring system developed by Chan and colleagues, and similar PET/CT-dependent classification, to select patients for PRRT[69-72]. In the NETPET system, tumors are graded from P1 to P5 based on their avidity on 68Ga-DOTATATE and 18F-FDG PET, with a score of 1 indicating positive results on 68Ga-DOTATATE but not 18F-FDG PET, and a score of 5 indicating positive results on <sup>18</sup>F-FDG PET but not on <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE PET. However, further investigation into the correlation between PRRT outcome and NETPET scores must be done to establish if such imaging-based classification systems have a role in clinical settings. Other methods for predicting PRRT response include the measurement of skewness and kurtosis based off <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE imaging; Onner et al<sup>[73]</sup> reported significantly higher skewness and kurtosis in tumors which did not response to treatment that those that did. Nevertheless, the diagnostic ability of the two metrics to indicate poor PRRT response remained moderate to low.

Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

### Liver-specific therapy

In the presence of hepatic metastases, liver-directed therapies including partial hepatectomy, ablation, or arterial chemo- and radioembolization may be useful. Resection is usually contraindicated in the presence of multifocal extrahepatic metastases, high-grade and poorly-differentiated carcinoma, liver disfunction, or diffuse bilobar involvement[55]. Previously, resection was only recommended if more than 90% of disease could be removed but more recent literature supports lowering this threshold to 70% [74-76]. Ablation is often reserved for the treatment of small metastases that do not qualify for surgical resection or may be done in addition to resection in the presence of multifocal disease. Arterial embolization, radioembolization, and chemoembolization can be used to diminish the secretory effects of functioning panNET. Liver transplantation is only considered in patients with significant hepatic tumor burden, without the presence of extrahepatic metastases, and is not routinely undertaken in metastatic panNET[1,55]. <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT may be useful for determining suitability of patients for transplantation, as this technique allows for a whole-body acquisition in order to assess potential extrahepatic metastatic disease[35].

### Symptom-directed therapy

Symptom-directed therapy plays an important role in the management of functioning panNETs. Treatment varies with each functioning panNET; common interventions include the use of diazoxide to suppress insulin secretion in insulinomas, and proton pump inhibitors to suppress hypersecretion by gastrinomas. Long-acting SSA may also be useful for controlling the secretory effects of these tumors, particularly vasoactive intestinal peptide-secreting tumors and glucagonomas[55].

### CONCLUSION

Better understanding of the genetic and biological features of panNEN has led to significant changes in the diagnosis and management of these tumors. Imaging is crucial for diagnosing and staging of panNEN. CT and MR play a vital role in differentiating these tumors from other benign and malignant lesions of the pancreas. Recent studies indicate enhancement pattern of panNEN on cross sectional imaging and texture analysis may also be helpful in classifying these tumors or indicating prognosis. Diagnosis of panNEN is typically confirmed with EUS guided biopsy. Functional imaging techniques including SRS and PET/CT are very helpful in the management of panNEN. 68Ga-DOTATATE and GLP-1R-based PET/CT may improve detection of occult lesions and their characterization. These techniques also have the potential to guide management, as information on somatostatin receptor expression and metabolic activity are useful for determining optimal treatment.

### REFERENCES

- Khanna L, Prasad SR, Sunnapwar A, Kondapaneni S, Dasyam A, Tammisetti VS, Salman U, Nazarullah A. Katabathina VS. Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: 2020 Update on Pathologic and Imaging Findings and Classification. Radiographics 2020; 40: 1240-1262 [PMID: 32795239 DOI: 10.1148/rg.2020200025]
- Perri G, Prakash LR, Katz MHG. Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2019; 2 35: 468-477 [PMID: 31306159 DOI: 10.1097/MOG.000000000000571]
- 3 Guilmette JM, Nosé V. Neoplasms of the Neuroendocrine Pancreas: An Update in the Classification, Definition, and Molecular Genetic Advances. Adv Anat Pathol 2019; 26: 13-30 [PMID: 29912000 DOI: 10.1097/PAP.0000000000000201]
- Inzani F, Petrone G, Rindi G. The New World Health Organization Classification for Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasia. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2018; 47: 463-470 [PMID: 30098710 DOI: 10.1016/j.ecl.2018.04.008]
- Mafficini A, Scarpa A. Genetics and Epigenetics of Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. Endocr Rev 2019; 40: 506-536 [PMID: 30657883 DOI: 10.1210/er.2018-00160]
- Lewis RB, Lattin GE Jr, Paal E. Pancreatic endocrine tumors: radiologic-clinicopathologic 6 correlation. Radiographics 2010; 30: 1445-1464 [PMID: 21071369 DOI: 10.1148/rg.306105523]
- Sandru F, Carsote M, Albu SE, Valea A, Petca A, Dumitrascu MC. Glucagonoma: From skin lesions 7 to the neuroendocrine component (Review). Exp Ther Med 2020; 20: 3389-3393 [PMID: 32905095 DOI: 10.3892/etm.2020.8966]
- 8 Ciaravino V, De Robertis R, Tinazzi Martini P, Cardobi N, Cingarlini S, Amodio A, Landoni L,



Capelli P, D'Onofrio M. Imaging presentation of pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Insights Imaging 2018; 9: 943-953 [PMID: 30302635 DOI: 10.1007/s13244-018-0658-6]

- 9 Basturk O, Tang L, Hruban RH, Adsay V, Yang Z, Krasinskas AM, Vakiani E, La Rosa S, Jang KT, Frankel WL, Liu X, Zhang L, Giordano TJ, Bellizzi AM, Chen JH, Shi C, Allen P, Reidy DL, Wolfgang CL, Saka B, Rezaee N, Deshpande V, Klimstra DS. Poorly differentiated neuroendocrine carcinomas of the pancreas: a clinicopathologic analysis of 44 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 2014; 38: 437-447 [PMID: 24503751 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.000000000000169]
- 10 Lee DW, Kim MK, Kim HG. Diagnosis of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. Clin Endosc 2017; 50: 537-545 [PMID: 29207856 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2017.131]
- Lo GC, Kambadakone A. MR Imaging of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. Magn Reson Imaging 11 Clin N Am 2018; 26: 391-403 [PMID: 30376977 DOI: 10.1016/j.mric.2018.03.010]
- 12 Rösch T, Lightdale CJ, Botet JF, Boyce GA, Sivak MV Jr, Yasuda K, Heyder N, Palazzo L, Dancygier H, Schusdziarra V. Localization of pancreatic endocrine tumors by endoscopic ultrasonography. N Engl J Med 1992; 326: 1721-1726 [PMID: 1317506 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199206253262601]
- Sotoudehmanesh R, Hedayat A, Shirazian N, Shahraeeni S, Ainechi S, Zeinali F, Kolahdoozan S. Endoscopic ultrasonography (EUS) in the localization of insulinoma. Endocrine 2007; 31: 238-241 [PMID: 17906369 DOI: 10.1007/s12020-007-0045-4]
- 14 **Pitre J**, Soubrane O, Palazzo L, Chapuis Y. Endoscopic ultrasonography for the preoperative localization of insulinomas. Pancreas 1996; 13: 55-60 [PMID: 8783334 DOI: 10.1097/00006676-199607000-00007]
- 15 Di Leo M, Poliani L, Rahal D, Auriemma F, Anderloni A, Ridolfi C, Spaggiari P, Capretti G, Di Tommaso L, Preatoni P, Zerbi A, Carnaghi C, Lania A, Malesci A, Repici A, Carrara S. Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumours: The Role of Endoscopic Ultrasound Biopsy in Diagnosis and Grading Based on the WHO 2017 Classification. *Dig Dis* 2019; **37**: 325-333 [PMID: 30897588 DOI: 10.1159/0004991721
- Cui Y, Khanna LG, Saqi A, Crapanzano JP, Mitchell JM, Sethi A, Gonda TA, Kluger MD, Schrope 16 BA, Allendorf J, Chabot JA, Poneros JM. The Role of Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Ki67 in the Management of Non-Functioning Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. Clin Endosc 2020; 53: 213-220 [PMID: 31302988 DOI: 10.5946/ce.2019.068]
- 17 Laskiewicz L, Jamshed S, Gong Y, Ainechi S, LaFemina J, Wang X. The diagnostic value of FNA biopsy in grading pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Cancer Cytopathol 2018; 126: 170-178 [PMID: 29266776 DOI: 10.1002/cncv.21956]
- Larghi A, Capurso G, Carnuccio A, Ricci R, Alfieri S, Galasso D, Lugli F, Bianchi A, Panzuto F, De 18 Marinis L, Falconi M, Delle Fave G, Doglietto GB, Costamagna G, Rindi G. Ki-67 grading of nonfunctioning pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors on histologic samples obtained by EUS-guided fine-needle tissue acquisition: a prospective study. Gastrointest Endosc 2012; 76: 570-577 [PMID: 22898415 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2012.04.477]
- 19 Lee L, Ito T, Jensen RT. Imaging of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: recent advances, current status, and controversies. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2018; 18: 837-860 [PMID: 29973077 DOI: 10.1080/14737140.2018.1496822]
- 20 Baker MS, Knuth JL, DeWitt J, LeBlanc J, Cramer H, Howard TJ, Schmidt CM, Lillemoe KD, Pitt HA. Pancreatic cystic neuroendocrine tumors: preoperative diagnosis with endoscopic ultrasound and fine-needle immunocytology. J Gastrointest Surg 2008; 12: 450-456 [PMID: 18157720 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-007-0219-7
- Kawamoto S, Johnson PT, Shi C, Singhi AD, Hruban RH, Wolfgang CL, Edil BH, Fishman EK. 21 Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor with cystlike changes: evaluation with MDCT. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2013; 200: W283-W290 [PMID: 23436873 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.12.8941]
- 22 Guo C, Zhuge X, Wang Z, Wang Q, Sun K, Feng Z, Chen X. Textural analysis on contrast-enhanced CT in pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: association with WHO grade. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2019; 44: 576-585 [PMID: 30182253 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-018-1763-1]
- 23 Canellas R, Burk KS, Parakh A, Sahani DV. Prediction of Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor Grade Based on CT Features and Texture Analysis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2018; 210: 341-346 [PMID: 29140113 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.17.18417]
- 24 De Robertis R, Cingarlini S, Tinazzi Martini P, Ortolani S, Butturini G, Landoni L, Regi P, Girelli R, Capelli P, Gobbo S, Tortora G, Scarpa A, Pederzoli P, D'Onofrio M. Pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: Magnetic resonance imaging features according to grade and stage. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 275-285 [PMID: 28127201 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i2.275]
- 25 Zaboriene I, Zviniene K, Lukosevicius S, Ignatavicius P, Barauskas G. Dynamic Perfusion Computed Tomography and Apparent Diffusion Coefficient as Potential Markers for Poorly Differentiated Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. Dig Surg 2021; 38: 128-135 [PMID: 33503636 DOI: 10.1159/000511973
- 26 Garces-Descovich A, Morrison TC, Beker K, Jaramillo-Cardoso A, Moser AJ, Mortele KJ. DWI of Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma: A Pilot Study to Estimate the Correlation With Metastatic Disease Potential and Overall Survival. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2019; 212: 323-331 [PMID: 30667305 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.18.20017]
- 27 Scott AT, Howe JR. Evaluation and Management of Neuroendocrine Tumors of the Pancreas. Surg Clin North Am 2019; 99: 793-814 [PMID: 31255207 DOI: 10.1016/j.suc.2019.04.014]
- Dromain C, de Baere T, Baudin E, Galline J, Ducreux M, Boige V, Duvillard P, Laplanche A, Caillet 28



H, Lasser P, Schlumberger M, Sigal R. MR imaging of hepatic metastases caused by neuroendocrine tumors: comparing four techniques. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2003; 180: 121-128 [PMID: 12490490 DOI: 10.2214/ajr.180.1.1800121]

- 29 Ronot M, Clift AK, Baum RP, Singh A, Kulkarni HR, Frilling A, Vilgrain V. Morphological and Functional Imaging for Detecting and Assessing the Resectability of Neuroendocrine Liver Metastases. Neuroendocrinology 2018; 106: 74-88 [PMID: 28728155 DOI: 10.1159/000479293]
- 30 Morse B, Jeong D, Thomas K, Diallo D, Strosberg JR. Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Neuroendocrine Tumor Hepatic Metastases: Does Hepatobiliary Phase Imaging Improve Lesion Conspicuity and Interobserver Agreement of Lesion Measurements? Pancreas 2017; 46: 1219-1224 [PMID: 28902795 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.000000000000920]
- 31 Saleh M, Bhosale PR, Yano M, Itani M, Elsayes AK, Halperin D, Bergsland EK, Morani AC. New frontiers in imaging including radiomics updates for pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2020 [PMID: 33095312 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-020-02833-8]
- 32 Deguelte S, de Mestier L, Hentic O, Cros J, Lebtahi R, Hammel P, Kianmanesh R. Preoperative imaging and pathologic classification for pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. J Visc Surg 2018; 155: 117-125 [PMID: 29397338 DOI: 10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2017.12.008]
- 33 Gabriel M, Decristoforo C, Kendler D, Dobrozemsky G, Heute D, Uprimny C, Kovacs P, Von Guggenberg E, Bale R, Virgolini IJ. 68Ga-DOTA-Tyr3-octreotide PET in neuroendocrine tumors: comparison with somatostatin receptor scintigraphy and CT. J Nucl Med 2007; 48: 508-518 [PMID: 17401086 DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.106.035667]
- Ilhan H, Fendler WP, Cyran CC, Spitzweg C, Auernhammer CJ, Gildehaus FJ, Bartenstein P, Angele 34 MK, Haug AR. Impact of (68)Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT on the surgical management of primary neuroendocrine tumors of the pancreas or ileum. Ann Surg Oncol 2015; 22: 164-171 [PMID: 25190113 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-014-3981-2]
- Calabrò D, Argalia G, Ambrosini V. Role of PET/CT and Therapy Management of Pancreatic 35 Neuroendocrine Tumors. Diagnostics (Basel) 2020; 10 [PMID: 33297381 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics10121059]
- Zhang P, Yu J, Li J, Shen L, Li N, Zhu H, Zhai S, Zhang Y, Yang Z, Lu M. Clinical and Prognostic 36 Value of PET/CT Imaging with Combination of <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE and <sup>18</sup>F-FDG in Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms. Contrast Media Mol Imaging 2018; 2018: 2340389 [PMID: 29681780 DOI: 10.1155/2018/2340389]
- Werner RA, Ilhan H, Lehner S, Papp L, Zsótér N, Schatka I, Muegge DO, Javadi MS, Higuchi T, 37 Buck AK, Bartenstein P, Bengel F, Essler M, Lapa C, Bundschuh RA. Pre-therapy Somatostatin Receptor-Based Heterogeneity Predicts Overall Survival in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor Patients Undergoing Peptide Receptor Radionuclide Therapy. Mol Imaging Biol 2019; 21: 582-590 [PMID: 30014345 DOI: 10.1007/s11307-018-1252-5]
- Geijer H, Breimer LH. Somatostatin receptor PET/CT in neuroendocrine tumours: update on 38 systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2013; 40: 1770-1780 [PMID: 23873003 DOI: 10.1007/s00259-013-2482-z]
- Treglia G, Castaldi P, Rindi G, Giordano A, Rufini V. Diagnostic performance of Gallium-68 somatostatin receptor PET and PET/CT in patients with thoracic and gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumours: a meta-analysis. Endocrine 2012; 42: 80-87 [PMID: 22350660 DOI: 10.1007/s12020-012-9631-1
- Cingarlini S, Ortolani S, Salgarello M, Butturini G, Malpaga A, Malfatti V, D'Onofrio M, Davì MV, 40 Vallerio P, Ruzzenente A, Capelli P, Citton E, Grego E, Trentin C, De Robertis R, Scarpa A, Bassi C, Tortora G. Role of Combined 68Ga-DOTATOC and 18F-FDG Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography in the Diagnostic Workup of Pancreas Neuroendocrine Tumors: Implications for Managing Surgical Decisions. Pancreas 2017; 46: 42-47 [PMID: 27906872 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.00000000000745]
- Morgat C, Vélayoudom-Céphise FL, Schwartz P, Guyot M, Gaye D, Vimont D, Schulz J, Mazère J, 41 Nunes ML, Smith D, Hindié E, Fernandez P, Tabarin A. Evaluation of (68)Ga-DOTA-TOC PET/CT for the detection of duodenopancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in patients with MEN1. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2016; 43: 1258-1266 [PMID: 26819103 DOI: 10.1007/s00259-016-3319-3]
- 42 Deppen SA, Liu E, Blume JD, Clanton J, Shi C, Jones-Jackson LB, Lakhani V, Baum RP, Berlin J, Smith GT, Graham M, Sandler MP, Delbeke D, Walker RC. Safety and Efficacy of 68Ga-DOTATATE PET/CT for Diagnosis, Staging, and Treatment Management of Neuroendocrine Tumors. J Nucl Med 2016; 57: 708-714 [PMID: 26769865 DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.115.163865]
- Sharma P, Arora S, Karunanithi S, Khadgawat R, Durgapal P, Sharma R, Kandasamy D, Bal C, Kumar R. Somatostatin receptor based PET/CT imaging with 68Ga-DOTA-Nal3-octreotide for localization of clinically and biochemically suspected insulinoma. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2016; 60: 69-76 [PMID: 24740163]
- Bozkurt MF, Virgolini I, Balogova S, Beheshti M, Rubello D, Decristoforo C, Ambrosini V, Kjaer 44 A, Delgado-Bolton R, Kunikowska J, Oyen WJG, Chiti A, Giammarile F, Sundin A, Fanti S. Guideline for PET/CT imaging of neuroendocrine neoplasms with <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTA-conjugated somatostatin receptor targeting peptides and <sup>18</sup>F-DOPA. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2017; 44: 1588-1601 [PMID: 28547177 DOI: 10.1007/s00259-017-3728-y]
- 45 Imperiale A, Sebag F, Vix M, Castinetti F, Kessler L, Moreau F, Bachellier P, Guillet B, Namer IJ, Mundler O, Taïeb D. 18F-FDOPA PET/CT imaging of insulinoma revisited. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2015; 42: 409-418 [PMID: 25367749 DOI: 10.1007/s00259-014-2943-z]



- Nakuz TS, Berger E, El-Rabadi K, Wadsak W, Haug A, Hacker M, Karanikas G. Clinical Value of <sup>18</sup> 46 F-FDOPA PET/CT With Contrast Enhancement and Without Carbidopa Premedication in Patients with Insulinoma. Anticancer Res 2018; 38: 353-358 [PMID: 29277794 DOI: 10.21873/anticanres.12229]
- Christ E, Wild D, Ederer S, Béhé M, Nicolas G, Caplin ME, Brändle M, Clerici T, Fischli S, Stettler 47 C, Ell PJ, Seufert J, Gloor B, Perren A, Reubi JC, Forrer F. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor imaging for the localisation of insulinomas: a prospective multicentre imaging study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2013; 1: 115-122 [PMID: 24622317 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70049-4]
- 48 Sowa-Staszczak A, Pach D, Mikołajczak R, Mäcke H, Jabrocka-Hybel A, Stefańska A, Tomaszuk M, Janota B, Gilis-Januszewska A, Małecki M, Kamiński G, Kowalska A, Kulig J, Matyja A, Osuch C, Hubalewska-Dydejczyk A. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor imaging with [Lys40(Ahx-HYNIC-99mTc/EDDA)NH2]-exendin-4 for the detection of insulinoma. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2013: **40**: 524-531 [PMID: 23224740 DOI: 10.1007/s00259-012-2299-1]
- Wild D, Christ E, Caplin ME, Kurzawinski TR, Forrer F, Brändle M, Seufert J, Weber WA, Bomanji 49 J, Perren A, Ell PJ, Reubi JC. Glucagon-like peptide-1 vs somatostatin receptor targeting reveals 2 distinct forms of malignant insulinomas. J Nucl Med 2011; 52: 1073-1078 [PMID: 21680696 DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.110.085142]
- Guo C, Zhuge X, Wang Q, Xiao W, Wang Z, Feng Z, Chen X. The differentiation of pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinoma from pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: the values of CT imaging features and texture analysis. Cancer Imaging 2018; 18: 37 [PMID: 30333055 DOI: 10.1186/s40644-018-0170-8]
- Guo C, Chen X, Wang Z, Xiao W, Wang Q, Sun K, Zhuge X. Differentiation of pancreatic 51 neuroendocrine carcinoma from pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma using magnetic resonance imaging: The value of contrast-enhanced and diffusion weighted imaging. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 42962-42973 [PMID: 28487490 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.17309]
- Jeon SK, Lee JM, Joo I, Lee ES, Park HJ, Jang JY, Ryu JK, Lee KB, Han JK. Nonhypervascular 52 Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors: Differential Diagnosis from Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinomas at MR Imaging-Retrospective Cross-sectional Study. Radiology 2017; 284: 77-87 [PMID: 28092495 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2016160586]
- Pavel M, Öberg K, Falconi M, Krenning EP, Sundin A, Perren A, Berruti A; ESMO Guidelines 53 Committee, Electronic address; clinicalguidelines@esmo.org, Gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2020; **31**: 844-860 [PMID: 32272208 DOI: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.03.304]
- Bartolini I, Bencini L, Risaliti M, Ringressi MN, Moraldi L, Taddei A. Current Management of 54 Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors: From Demolitive Surgery to Observation. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2018; 2018: 9647247 [PMID: 30140282 DOI: 10.1155/2018/9647247]
- Akirov A, Larouche V, Alshehri S, Asa SL, Ezzat S. Treatment Options for Pancreatic 55 Neuroendocrine Tumors. Cancers (Basel) 2019; 11 [PMID: 31207914 DOI: 10.3390/cancers11060828]
- Ore AS, Barrows CE, Solis-Velasco M, Shaker J, Moser AJ. Robotic enucleation of benign 56 pancreatic tumors. J Vis Surg 2017; 3: 151 [PMID: 29302427 DOI: 10.21037/jovs.2017.08.15]
- 57 Christ E, Antwi K, Fani M, Wild D. Innovative imaging of insulinoma: the end of sampling? Endocr Relat Cancer 2020; 27: R79-R92 [PMID: 31951592 DOI: 10.1530/ERC-19-0476]
- 58 Caplin ME, Pavel M, Ćwikła JB, Phan AT, Raderer M, Sedláčková E, Cadiot G, Wolin EM, Capdevila J, Wall L, Rindi G, Langley A, Martinez S, Blumberg J, Ruszniewski P; CLARINET Investigators. Lanreotide in metastatic enteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. N Engl J Med 2014; 371: 224-233 [PMID: 25014687 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1316158]
- Rinke A, Müller HH, Schade-Brittinger C, Klose KJ, Barth P, Wied M, Mayer C, Aminossadati B, 59 Pape UF, Bläker M, Harder J, Arnold C, Gress T, Arnold R; PROMID Study Group. Placebocontrolled, double-blind, prospective, randomized study on the effect of octreotide LAR in the control of tumor growth in patients with metastatic neuroendocrine midgut tumors: a report from the PROMID Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27: 4656-4663 [PMID: 19704057 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.22.8510]
- Koch W, Auernhammer CJ, Geisler J, Spitzweg C, Cyran CC, Ilhan H, Bartenstein P, Haug AR. Treatment with octreotide in patients with well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors of the ileum: prognostic stratification with Ga-68-DOTA-TATE positron emission tomography. Mol Imaging 2014; 13: 1-10 [PMID: 24824963 DOI: 10.2310/7290.2014.00009]
- Hope TA, Bergsland EK, Bozkurt MF, Graham M, Heanev AP, Herrmann K, Howe JR, Kulke MH, 61 Kunz PL, Mailman J, May L, Metz DC, Millo C, O'Dorisio S, Reidy-Lagunes DL, Soulen MC, Strosberg JR. Appropriate Use Criteria for Somatostatin Receptor PET Imaging in Neuroendocrine Tumors. J Nucl Med 2018; 59: 66-74 [PMID: 29025982 DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.117.202275]
- 62 Grillo F, Florio T, Ferraù F, Kara E, Fanciulli G, Faggiano A, Colao A; NIKE Group. Emerging multitarget tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the treatment of neuroendocrine neoplasms. Endocr Relat Cancer 2018; 25: R453-R466 [PMID: 29769293 DOI: 10.1530/ERC-17-0531]
- 63 Hijioka S, Hosoda W, Morizane C, Mizuno N, Hara K, Okusaka T. The Diagnosis and Treatment of Pancreatic NEN-G3-A Focus on Clinicopathological Difference of NET-G3 and NEC G3. J Pancreas 2017: 346
- 64 Imhof A, Brunner P, Marincek N, Briel M, Schindler C, Rasch H, Mäcke HR, Rochlitz C, Müller-Brand J, Walter MA. Response, survival, and long-term toxicity after therapy with the radiolabeled



somatostatin analogue [90Y-DOTA]-TOC in metastasized neuroendocrine cancers. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 2416-2423 [PMID: 21555692 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.7873]

- 65 Pfeifer AK, Gregersen T, Grønbæk H, Hansen CP, Müller-Brand J, Herskind Bruun K, Krogh K, Kjær A, Knigge U. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with Y-DOTATOC and (177)Lu-DOTATOC in advanced neuroendocrine tumors: results from a Danish cohort treated in Switzerland. Neuroendocrinology 2011; 93: 189-196 [PMID: 21335949 DOI: 10.1159/000324096]
- Kwekkeboom DJ, de Herder WW, Kam BL, van Eijck CH, van Essen M, Kooij PP, Feelders RA, 66 van Aken MO, Krenning EP. Treatment with the radiolabeled somatostatin analog [177 Lu-DOTA 0, Tyr3]octreotate: toxicity, efficacy, and survival. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26: 2124-2130 [PMID: 18445841 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.2553]
- Bodei L, Cremonesi M, Grana CM, Fazio N, Iodice S, Baio SM, Bartolomei M, Lombardo D, Ferrari 67 ME, Sansovini M, Chinol M, Paganelli G. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy with 177Lu-DOTATATE: the IEO phase I-II study. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2011; 38: 2125-2135 [PMID: 21892623 DOI: 10.1007/s00259-011-1902-1]
- Villard L, Romer A, Marincek N, Brunner P, Koller MT, Schindler C, Ng QK, Mäcke HR, Müller-68 Brand J, Rochlitz C, Briel M, Walter MA. Cohort study of somatostatin-based radiopeptide therapy with [(90)Y-DOTA]-TOC vs [(90)Y-DOTA]-TOC plus [(177)Lu-DOTA]-TOC in neuroendocrine cancers. J Clin Oncol 2012; 30: 1100-1106 [PMID: 22393097 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2011.37.2151]
- 69 Chan DL, Pavlakis N, Schembri GP, Bernard EJ, Hsiao E, Hayes A, Barnes T, Diakos C, Khasraw M, Samra J, Eslick E, Roach PJ, Engel A, Clarke SJ, Bailey DL. Dual Somatostatin Receptor/FDG PET/CT Imaging in Metastatic Neuroendocrine Tumours: Proposal for a Novel Grading Scheme with Prognostic Significance. Theranostics 2017; 7: 1149-1158 [PMID: 28435454 DOI: 10.7150/thno.18068]
- 70 Karfis I, Marin G, Levillain H, Drisis S, Muteganya R, Critchi G, Taraji-Schiltz L, Guix CA, Shaza L, Elbachiri M, Mans L, Machiels G, Hendlisz A, Flamen P. Prognostic value of a three-scale grading system based on combining molecular imaging with <sup>68</sup>Ga-DOTATATE and <sup>18</sup>F-FDG PET/CT in patients with metastatic gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasias. Oncotarget 2020; 11: 589-599 [PMID: 32110279 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.27460]
- Hindié E. The NETPET Score: Combining FDG and Somatostatin Receptor Imaging for Optimal 71 Management of Patients with Metastatic Well-Differentiated Neuroendocrine Tumors. Theranostics 2017; 7: 1159-1163 [PMID: 28435455 DOI: 10.7150/thno.19588]
- 72 Ezziddin S, Lohmar J, Yong-Hing CJ, Sabet A, Ahmadzadehfar H, Kukuk G, Biersack HJ, Guhlke S, Reichmann K. Does the pretherapeutic tumor SUV in 68Ga DOTATOC PET predict the absorbed dose of 177Lu octreotate? Clin Nucl Med 2012; 37: e141-e147 [PMID: 22614212 DOI: 10.1097/RLU.0b013e31823926e5
- Önner H, Abdülrezzak Ü, Tutuş A. Could the skewness and kurtosis texture parameters of lesions 73 obtained from pretreatment Ga-68 DOTA-TATE PET/CT images predict receptor radionuclide therapy response in patients with gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors? Nucl Med Commun 2020; 41: 1034-1039 [PMID: 32516240 DOI: 10.1097/MNM.00000000001231]
- Morgan RE, Pommier SJ, Pommier RF. Expanded criteria for debulking of liver metastasis also 74 apply to pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Surgery 2018; 163: 218-225 [PMID: 29103583 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2017.05.030]
- 75 Graff-Baker AN, Sauer DA, Pommier SJ, Pommier RF. Expanded criteria for carcinoid liver debulking: Maintaining survival and increasing the number of eligible patients. Surgery 2014; 156: 1369-1376; discussion 1376-1377 [PMID: 25456912 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2014.08.009]
- Maxwell JE, Sherman SK, O'Dorisio TM, Bellizzi AM, Howe JR. Liver-directed surgery of neuroendocrine metastases: What is the optimal strategy? Surgery 2016; 159: 320-333 [PMID: 26454679 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2015.05.040]



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 912-925

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.912

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

# Recent advances and new insights in the management of early-stage epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer

Miguel J Sotelo, José Luis García, Cesar Torres-Mattos, Héctor Milián, Carlos Carracedo, María Ángeles González-Ruiz, Xabier Mielgo-Rubio, Juan Carlos Trujillo-Reyes, Felipe Couñago

**ORCID number:** Miguel J Sotelo 0000-0002-8861-9355; José Luis García 0000-0002-0044-8265; Cesar Torres-Mattos 0000-0003-4030-0457; Héctor Milián 0000-0003-3870-3572; Carlos Carracedo 0000-0001-6071-7714; María Ángeles González-Ruiz 0000- 0002-4616-9499; Xabier Mielgo-Rubio 0000-0002-0985-6150; Juan Carlos Trujillo-Reyes 0000-0002-3370-0869; Felipe Couñago 0000-0001-7233-0234.

Author contributions: Sotelo MJ performed the research and wrote the manuscript; Luis García J, Torres-Mattos C, Milián H, Carracedo C, González-Ruíz MA, Trujillo JC, Couñago F and Mielgo-Rubio X contributed critical review of the manuscript for important intellectual content and all authors approved the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Dr. MIELGO-RUBIO reports personal fees and non-financial support from ROCHE, personal fees from ASTRA ZENECA, grants, personal fees and non-financial support from BMS, personal fees from MSD, personal fees from ABBOTT, personal fees from KIOWA-KIRIN, outside the submitted work. Rest of authors declares no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was

Miguel J Sotelo, Department of Medical Oncology, Hospital María Auxiliadora; Department of Medical Oncology, Centro Oncológico Aliada; Oncological Research Unit, Clínica San Gabriel, Lima 15801, Peru

José Luis García, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Hospital Universitario La Princesa; Department of Thoracic Surgery, MD Anderson Cancer Center; Department of Thoracic Surgery, Hospital HM, Madrid 28006, Spain

Cesar Torres-Mattos, Department of Medical Oncology, Hospital Nacional Guillermo Almenara; Oncological Research Unit, Clínica San Gabriel, Lima 15033, Peru

Héctor Milián, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Hospital Universitario La Princesa, Madrid 28006, Spain

Carlos Carracedo, Department of Medical Oncology, Centro Oncológico Aliada, Lima 15036, Peru

María Ángeles González-Ruiz, Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital Universitario Virgen Macarena, Sevilla 41009, Spain

Xabier Mielgo-Rubio, Department of Oncology, Hospital Universitario Fundación Alcorcón, Alcorcón 28922, Madrid, Spain

Juan Carlos Trujillo-Reyes, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Hospital de la Santa Creu i Sant Pau, Barcelona 08041, Spain

Felipe Couñago, Department of Radiation Oncology, Hospital Universitario Quirónsalud Madrid; Hospital La Luz; Universidad Europea de Madrid, Madrid 28223, Spain

Corresponding author: Miguel J Sotelo, MD, PhD, Department of Medical Oncology, Hospital María Auxiliadora; Department of Medical Oncology, Centro Oncológico Aliada; Oncological Research Unit, Clínica San Gabriel, Avda Miguel Iglesias 968, Lima 15801, Peru. miguel.sotelo.lezama@gmail.com

### Abstract

Patients with early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) are candidates for curative surgery; however, despite multiple advances in lung cancer management, recurrence rates remain high. Adjuvant chemotherapy has been demonstrated to significantly prolong overall survival (OS), but this benefit is modest



selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

### Specialty type: Oncology

### Country/Territory of origin: Peru

### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: April 16, 2021 Peer-review started: April 16, 2021 First decision: July 6, 2021 Revised: July 29, 2021 Accepted: September 16, 2021 Article in press: September 16, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Chen LJ S-Editor: Wang LL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wu RR



and there is an urgent need for effective new therapies to provide a cure for more patients. The high efficacy of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) against epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated (EGFR) in patients with advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC has led to the evaluation of these agents in early stages of the disease. Multiple clinical trials have evaluated the safety and efficacy of EGFR TKIs as an adjuvant treatment, in patients with resected EGFR-mutated NSCLC, and shown that they significantly prolong disease-free survival (DFS), but this benefit does not translate to OS. Recently, an interim analysis of the ADAURA trial demonstrated that, surprisingly, osimertinib improved DFS. This led to the study being stopped early, leaving many unanswered questions about its potential effect on OS and its incorporation as a standard adjuvant treatment in this patient subgroup. These targeted agents are also being evaluated in locally-advanced disease, with promising results, although prospective studies with larger sample sizes are needed to confirm these results. In this article, we review the most relevant studies on the role of EGFR TKIs in the management of early-stage EGFR-mutated NSCLC.

Key Words: Non-small-cell lung cancer; Early stage; Epidermal growth factor receptormutated; Epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated-tyrosine kinase inhibitor; Adjuvant; Neoadjuvant

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated (EGFR) tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) have changed the natural history of advanced EGFR-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Multiple clinical trials conducted in the adjuvant setting have shown that EGFR TKIs prolong disease-free survival (DFS) but not overall survival (OS). Osimertinib demonstrated a surprising improvement in DFS in an interim analysis of the ADAURA study, which led to the study being stopped early, and left many unanswered questions about its potential effect on OS. Locally-advanced disease is also an attractive situation for assessment of the efficacy of these agents, with encouraging results so far. We discuss the recent advances in the management of earlystage EGFR-mutated NSCLC.

Citation: Sotelo MJ, Luis García J, Torres-Mattos C, Milián H, Carracedo C, González-Ruiz MÁ, Mielgo-Rubio X, Trujillo-Reyes JC, Couñago F. Recent advances and new insights in the management of early-stage epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12(10): 912-925 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/912.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.912

### INTRODUCTION

Non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) represents 85% of all lung cancers, and more than 50% of patients with NSCLC are diagnosed in advanced stages[1,2]. Only 25%-30% are diagnosed in early stages, making them candidates for curative surgical treatment[3-6]; however, more than 50% of these patients go on to have recurrence and die from the disease[3,6-9]. NSCLC has a high metastatic potential, even in early stages, and the aim of adjuvant treatment is to eradicate residual micrometastases[10]. Platinum-based adjuvant chemotherapy has been shown to prolong overall survival (OS), but with an absolute improvement in 5-year OS of only 4% [11,12]. Therefore, there is a need for new effective and minimally-toxic treatments to increase the cure rate.

Treatment with EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) in patients with metastatic EGFR-mutated NSCLC has been demonstrated to increase survival more than chemotherapy, changing the natural history of the disease in this subgroup of patients [13-17]. This has raised the question of whether a molecularly-targeted adjuvant treatment with EGFR TKIs could improve the modest benefit afforded by chemotherapy in patients with completely-resected EGFR-mutated NSCLC. Multiple EGFR



TKIs have been assessed in this setting and have shown a significant benefit in diseasefree survival (DFS) but not OS[9,18-20].

Unresectable and potentially-resectable locally-advanced disease are also attractive settings for evaluating the role of these agents. Multiple phase II clinical trials have shown encouraging results[9,21-23], although many questions remain to be answered.

In this review, we discuss the most relevant studies evaluating the role of EGFR TKIs in resectable, potentially-resectable, and unresectable locally-advanced NSCLC with EGFR-activating mutation.

### EGFR TKIS AS TREATMENT FOR RESECTABLE DISEASE

EGFR mutations are the most common oncogenic drivers in NSCLC, occurring in 10-15% of Caucasian patients[24-26] and approximately 30% of patients in Latin America [27], while in the Asian population the prevalence of EGFR mutations is significantly higher, around 50%[28,29].

The presence of EGFR-activating mutations in patients with NSCLC confers high sensitivity to treatment with EGFR TKIs. In phase III clinical trials, multiple EGFR TKIs have shown dramatic, long-lasting responses that have translated to longer survival[13-17,30-36], never before seen in patients with advanced NSCLC treated with chemotherapy, positioning these targeted agents as the standard treatment in patients with advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC.

The prevalence of EGFR mutations in NSCLC, the results observed in advanced disease, and the clinical need for new treatments to help cure more patients in early stages have led to the evaluation of EGFR TKIs as adjuvant therapy (Table 1).

Initially, studies were carried out in a population that was not selected for the presence of EGFR mutations. Based on the rationale that high EGFR expression in NSCLC confers aggressiveness and poor response to chemotherapy, Goss et al [37] conducted the phase III trial BR19, which compared gefitinib for 2 yr vs placebo in 503 patients with resected stage IB-IIIA NSCLC, and found no differences in DFS or OS between the two arms. There were only 15 patients with EGFR mutations, and no benefit was observed for gefitinib in this small subgroup, either in DFS [hazard ratio (HR): 1.84, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.44-7.73; P = 0.395], or OS (HR 3.16, 95%CI: 0.61-16.45; P = 0.15][37]. Similarly, the phase III trial RADIANT evaluated erlotinib for 2 yr vs placebo, after completion of standard adjuvant treatment, in 973 patients with resected stage IB-IIIA NSCLC with EGFR expression/amplification. There were no significant differences in DFS or OS between the two arms. However, when the data from the 161 patients with EGFR-activating mutations were analysed, DFS was better with erlotinib (46.4 vs 28.5 mo; HR: 0.61, 95%CI: 0.384-0.981; P = 0.039), but this did not reach statistical significance due to the hierarchical analysis established in the study design. The 2-year DFS was 75% and 54% for erlotinib and placebo, respectively [38]. Although there was a marked difference between the two study arms in patients with EGFR mutation, it should be noted that certain imbalances in the patient characteristics may have influenced these results (more patients with stage IB in the erlotinib arm; in the placebo arm, more patients were in stage IIIA and 44% of patients did not receive previous adjuvant chemotherapy).

Following the discovery that the presence of EGFR mutation favours response to EGFR TKIs, multiple trials have been performed to evaluate these agents as adjuvant treatment in patients with EGFR mutations. SELECT was a phase II single-arm trial that included 100 patients with resected stage IA-IIIA EGFR-mutated NSCLC, who, after completing standard adjuvant treatment, received erlotinib for 2 years. The 2year DFS was 88%, which was significantly higher than the 76% observed in historic controls (P = 0.0047). The 5-year DFS and OS were 56% and 86%, respectively. It is important to mention that of the 40 patients who had disease recurrence, this occurred during treatment in only 4; in the other 36 it occurred after stopping erlotinib[39]. In the phase III trial ADJUVANT/CTONG1104, 222 patients with resected stage II-IIIA EGFR-mutated NSCLC were randomly assigned to receive gefitinib for 2 yr or cisplatin plus vinorelbine for 4 cycles. With a median follow-up of 36.5 mo, the median DFS was significantly longer with gefitinib than with cisplatin plus vinorelbine (28.7 vs 18 mo; HR: 0.60, 95%CI: 0.42-0.87; P = 0.0054)[40]. However, with longer follow-up, no statistically significant difference was observed between the two arms for 3-year DFS (39.6% vs 32.5%; P = 0.316), 5-year DFS (22.6% vs 23.2%; P = 0.928), or OS (75.5 vs 62.8 mo; HR: 0.92, 95%CI: 0.62-1.36; *P* = 0.674)[41]. Likewise, Tada *et al* conducted the phase III IMPACT study, which included 234 patients with resected stage II-III EGFRmutated NSCLC randomized to receive gefitinib for 2 yr or cisplatin plus vinorelbine



rabio r ennoar anaio er aujavan	e opraorini	an grotten hadter ree				naeimai greinin laeter recepter i	inatatoa non	ernan oon rang cancer	
Clinical trial	Type of trial	Sample size	Primary outcome	Stage	Treatment	Previous adjuvant chemotherapy	TKI Duration	DFS	OS
BR19, Goss <i>et al</i> [37]	Phase III	503 (15 with EGFR mutation)	OS	IB- IIIA	Gefitinib vs placebo	Yes (17% in gefitinib arm and 17% in placebo arm)	2 yr	HR 1.84; $P = 0.395^1$	HR: 3.16; $P = 0.15^1$
RADIANT, Kelly et al[38]	Phase III	973 (161 with EGFR mutation)	DFS (ITT population)	IB- IIIA	Erlotinib <i>vs</i> placebo	Yes (45.1% in erlotinib arm and 55.9% in placebo arm) <sup>1</sup>	2 yr	46.4 <i>vs</i> 28.5 mo; HR: 0.61; <i>P</i> = 0.039 <sup>1</sup>	Median OS NR in both arms; HR: 1.09; $P < 0.001^1$
SELECT, Pennell <i>et al</i> [39]	Phase II	100	2-yr DFS	IA- IIIA	Erlotinib	Yes (not reported)	2 yr	Mean DFS NR; 2-yr DFS 88%; 5- yr DFS 56%	Median OS NR, 5-yr OS 86%
ADJUVANT/CTONG1104, Zhong et al[40,41]	Phase III	222	DFS	II-IIIA	Gefitinib <i>vs</i> cisplatin- vinorelbine	No	2 yr	28.7 vs 18 mo; HR: 0.60; P = 0.0054 3-yr DFS 39.6% vs 32.5%; P = 0.316 5-yr DFS 22.6% vs 23.2%; P = 0.928	75.5 <i>vs</i> 62.8 mo; HR: 0.92; <i>P</i> = 0.674
IMPACT, Tada et al[42]	Phase III	234	DFS	II-III	Gefitinib vs cisplatin- vinorelbine	No	2 yr	36 <i>vs</i> 25.2 mo; HR: 0.92; <i>P</i> = 0.63	Median OS NR in both arms; HR: 1.03; <i>P</i> = 0.89
EVAN, Yue et al[ <mark>43</mark> ]	Phase II	102	2-yr DFS	IIIA	Erlotinib <i>vs</i> cisplatin- vinorelbine	No	2 yr	42.4 vs 21 mo; HR: 0.268; P < 0.0001 2-yr DFS 81.4% vs 44.6%; P = 0.0054 3-yr DFS 54.2% vs 19.8%; P = 0.0460	Median OS NR in both arms; HR: 0.165; <i>P</i> = 0.0013
Neal <i>et al</i> [44]	Phase II	46	2-yr DFS	IA- IIIA	Afatinib 3 mo vs 2 yr	Yes (52% in 3-mo arm and 45% in 2-yr arm)	3 mo <i>vs</i> 2 yr	42.8 <i>vs</i> 58.6 mo 2-yr DFS 81% <i>vs</i> 70%; <i>P</i> = 0.55	Median OS NR in both arms
ADAURA, Wu et al[45]	Phase III	682	DFS in stages II- IIIA	IB- IIIA	Osimertinib <i>vs</i> placebo	Yes (60% in both arms)	3 yr	Stages II-IIIA: NR <i>vs</i> 19.6 mo; HR: 0.17; <i>P</i> < 0.001 2-yr DFS 90% <i>vs</i> 44% ITT: NR <i>vs</i> 27.5 mo; HR: 0.20; <i>P</i> < 0.001 2-yr DFS 89% <i>vs</i> 52%	Median OS NR in both arms (immature OS data)

### Table 1 Clinical trials of adjuvant epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated tyrosine kinase inhibitors in epidermal growth factor receptor-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer

<sup>1</sup>Results in EGFR-mutated population. EGFR: Epidermal growth factor receptor; DFS: Disease-free survival; HR: Hazard ratio; ITT: Intention to treat; NR: Not reached; OS: Overall survival; TKI: Tyrosine kinase inhibitor.

for 4 cycles. The results were recently reported, with no differences observed in DFS (36 *vs* 25.2 mo; HR: 0.92, 95%CI: 0.67-1.28; P = 0.63) or OS (median not reached in either arm; HR: 1.03, 95%CI: 0.65-1.65; P = 0.89) between the two arms[42]. The ADJUVANT/CTONG1104 and IMPACT trials, with similar designs, showed an initial separation of the DFS curves, which overlap around 48 mo, suggesting that adjuvant treatment with EGFR TKIs only delays relapse.

The lack of results demonstrating a benefit in OS and the heterogeneous populations (stages IA-IIIA) included in the various clinical trials prompted the phase II randomised trial EVAN, which evaluated erlotinib for 2 yr vs cisplatin plus vinorelbine for 4 cycles, as an adjuvant treatment, in a specific population of 102 patients with resected stage IIIA EGFR-mutated NSCLC who had received no previous treatment[43]. The median DFS was significantly longer with erlotinib than with chemotherapy (42.4 vs 21 mo; HR: 0.268, 95%CI: 0.136-0.531; P < 0.0001). Both 2-year DFS (81.4% vs 44.6%; P = 0.0054), and 3-year DFS (54.2% vs 19.8%; P = 0.0460) were significantly higher with erlotinib. However, this study had several limitations, including the small sample size and the high percentage of patients (35%) in the chemo -therapy arm who did not meet the per protocol population criteria (8 patients who did not receive chemotherapy and 11 major protocol deviations), which could have influenced the difference in DFS between the two study arms. Furthermore, in this study, PET scan was not performed as part of screening; this, in addition to the patients with stage IIIA having a high probability of micrometastatic disease<sup>[10]</sup>, means that a percentage of patients, rather than an adjuvant treatment, could have been receiving treatment for advanced disease – a situation in which it is already known that EGFR TKIs are superior to chemotherapy. Afatinib, the second-generation EGFR TKI, which was the first to demonstrate a benefit in OS in patients with advanced EGFR-mutated NSCLC[13], was also assessed as an adjuvant, in a phase II clinical trial comparing afatinib for 2 yr vs afatinib for 3 mo, in 46 patients with resected stage IA-IIIA EGFR-mutated NSCLC, who had previously received standard adjuvant treatment. The 2-year DFS was numerically higher with 2 yr of afatinib than with 3 mo (81% vs 70%; P = 0.55), but this difference did not reach statistical significance, although it must be recognised that certain limitations of the study such as the small sample size and low percentage of patients who completed treatment in the 2year group (41%) could have influenced the lack of statistical significance[44].

Osimertinib, a third-generation EGFR TKI, was evaluated as first-line treatment for EGFR-mutated NSCLC in the phase III trial FLAURA, showing longer survival and greater central nervous system (CNS) efficacy than erlotinib or gefitinib[15,16]. The high efficacy demonstrated by this agent in advanced disease and the lack of robust results supporting the use of EGFR TKIs as adjuvant treatment led Wu et al to conduct the phase III trial ADAURA. This included 682 patients with resected stage IB-IIIA EGFR-mutated NSCLC, who, after completing standard adjuvant chemotherapy, were randomly assigned to receive osimertinib or placebo for 3 yr. The primary outcome of the study was DFS in patients in stages II-IIIA. After an interim analysis that was not planned as part of the protocol, the independent monitoring committee recommended unblinding of the study, due to evidence of a clear benefit in favour of osimertinib. In patients with stage II-IIIA disease, osimertinib markedly improved DFS (not reached *vs* 19.6 mo; HR: 0.17, 99.06%CI: 0.11-0.26; *P* < 0.001) in comparison with placebo, the 2year DFS being 90% and 44%, respectively. These results were consistent in the total population (median not reached vs 27.5 mo; 2-year DFS 89% vs 52%; HR: 0.20, 99.12%CI: 0.14-0.30; P < 0.001), and a reduction was also observed in risk of CNS recurrence or death (HR 0.18, 95%CI: 0.10-0.33)[45].

While the benefit observed with osimertinib in terms of DFS was striking, many questions were raised regarding whether these results, with a median follow-up of 22 mo in an adjuvant trial, were sufficient to position osimertinib as a standard treatment in this situation. Recently, Zhong et al[41] published the updated data from the ADJUVANT/CTONG1104 trial, confirming a benefit in DFS, but which ultimately did not translate to an OS benefit. In addition, multiple meta-analyses have analysed the role of EGFR TKIs as adjuvant treatment in patients with NSCLC with an EGFRactivating mutation, showing a benefit in DFS but not OS[46-48].

Although, overall, the trials with first- and second-generation TKIs showed a benefit in DFS, the high number of recurrences after stopping adjuvant treatment with EGFR TKIs in the different studies was striking. In the ADJUVANT/CTONG1104 trial, the difference in DFS observed between the two arms was smaller with a longer follow-up [41], while in the SELECT trial, 90% of recurrences occurred after stopping erlotinib [39]. These findings suggest that adjuvant treatment with EGFR TKIs delays recurrence but does not prevent it, and therefore does not appear to be able to change the natural history of the disease by curing more patients.

Although multiple studies have evaluated the role of EGFR TKIs as adjuvant therapy, the question of whether previous adjuvant chemotherapy is necessary remains unanswered. An indirect comparison of the DFS results from RADIANT, SELECT, and the phase II afatinib trial with those from the ADJUVANT/CTONG1104 trial suggests that giving an EGFR TKI after standard adjuvant treatment provides a greater benefit in DFS than giving an EGFR TKI as a sole adjuvant treatment[18]. In the ADAURA trial, 60% of patients in the osimertinib arm received adjuvant chemotherapy, which could have led to a greater benefit in the experimental arm, and the



lack of adjuvant chemotherapy in 40% of the control arm patients could have led to a more marked difference between the two arms.

It should be borne in mind that EGFR TKIs given for a prolonged period cause toxicity[38,39,44,45], which can negatively affect quality of life in patients who are considered disease-free. If we were to treat all patients with resected EGFR-mutated NSCLC with adjuvant EGFR TKIs, we would be over-treating a group of patients that may already be cured, meaning we would not be adding any benefit and only worsening their quality of life.

Another point under discussion is the response to EGFR TKIs in patients with recurrence after receiving adjuvant therapy. In the SELECT study, only one patient with recurrence during erlotinib treatment was found to have a T790M mutation, and 65% of patients with recurrence were retreated with erlotinib, reaching a median treatment duration of 13 mo[39]. Likewise, in the ADJUVANT/CTONG1104 trial, 36.8% of patients with recurrence in the gefitinib arm were treated with EGFR TKIs, achieving a response rate of 46.4% [41]. While the results available so far suggest that adjuvant treatment with EGFR TKIs does not appear to affect sensitivity to these agents in patients with recurrence, there is still insufficient evidence and we cannot draw definitive conclusions regarding the potential development of resistance to these agents.

Targeted treatments and immunotherapy have been shown to significantly prolong OS in advanced NSCLC; however, high prices make access difficult, so many patients cannot benefit from these agents. Osimertinib is a very expensive drug and the ADAURA study proposed a prolonged treatment, so it is reasonable to demand a strong benefit in OS that justifies its use, especially as there would be a group of patients receiving adjuvant osimertinib who may already be cured and would therefore be overtreated at the expense of toxicity and a very high economic cost[19,49,50].

Finally, a significant improvement in DFS that does not translate to a significant improvement in OS has been a constant finding in adjuvant studies of EGFR TKIs, which raises the issue of whether DFS is a suitable primary outcome in adjuvant studies[19]. Although, in the past, DFS was considered a surrogate for OS in NSCLC [51], this is only applicable for chemotherapy[50], and nowadays, in the era of targeted therapies, with more treatment options available, there is a greater probability that OS will be affected by subsequent treatments, as has been seen in multiple studies with EGFR TKIs in patients with advanced disease<sup>[52]</sup>. One possible explanation for the lack of OS benefit in adjuvant studies is that, in patients in the control arm, treatment with EGFR TKIs at the time of recurrence could have attenuated a potential benefit in OS, if present[20]. This makes us question whether we really should treat all these patients with adjuvant EGFR TKIs, if treating only patients with recurrence would achieve the same results. We must await the OS results from the ADAURA trial, but it is likely that these will be affected by the early termination of the study<sup>[19]</sup>, and that we will never know if this dramatic benefit in DFS translates to a higher patient cure rate. Currently, the phase III trial ALCHEMIST (A081105) is underway, which compares erlotinib for 2 yr vs placebo, in patients with completely-resected stage IB-IIIA EGFR-mutated NSCLC, after standard adjuvant treatment. The primary outcome of this study is OS[53], and it could give us more information on the role of EGFR TKIs in this setting.

### EGFR TKIS AS TREATMENT FOR POTENTIALLY-RESECTABLE LOCALLY-ADVANCED DISEASE

Locally-advanced NSCLC is associated with a poor prognosis[54]. Although such patients are treated with curative intent, the 5-year OS rates are low. In this situation, pathological complete response (pCR) after a preoperative treatment has been correlated with OS[55]. However, neoadjuvant chemotherapy achieves pCR rates that range from 0-16% [56]. Currently, ongoing research aims to translate the benefits from targeted therapy and immunotherapy to potentially-resectable disease.

Neodjuvant immunotherapy, with or without chemotherapy, is being assessed in multiple clinical trials, with promising results [57,58]. Provencio et al carried out the phase II clinical trial NADIM, in which a surprising pCR of 63% was reported with chemotherapy plus nivolumab[59].

EGFR TKIs are also being assessed for use as neoadjuvant treatment in NSCLC (Table 2). Zhong *et al*[41] carried out a small phase II trial in which they assessed the feasibility of giving neoadjuvant treatment guided by EGFR status, in 24 patients with stage IIIA NSCLC. Patients with mutated EGFR received erlotinib for 42 d, while



Table 2 Clinical trials of neoadjuvant epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in epidermal growth factor receptormutated non-small-cell lung cancer

Clinical trial	Study type	Sample size	Primary outcome	Stage	Treatment	TKI duration	RR	R0 resectability rate	PR	OS
Zhong et al[60]	Phase II	24 (12 with EGFR mutation)	RR	IIIA	Erlotinib (patients with EGFR mutation) vs carboplatin-gemcitabine (patients with native EGFR)	42 d	58.3% vs 25%; P = 0.18	50% <i>vs</i> 71.4; <i>P</i> = 0.59	16.7% vs 25%; P = 0.64	14.5 <i>vs</i> 28.1 mo; <i>P</i> = 0.201
Xiong <i>et al</i> [61]	Phase II	25	Resectability rate	IIIA	Erlotinib	56 d	42.1%	68.4%	50%	51.6 mo
Xiong et al[62]	Phase II	31 (15 with EGFR mutation)	Resectability rate	IIIA	Erlotinib <i>vs</i> cisplatin- based chemotherapy	4-7 wk	67% <i>vs</i> 19%	80% <i>vs</i> 50%	67% vs 38%	51 <i>vs</i> 20.9 mo
EMERGING- CTONG 1103, Zhong et al[63], Wu et al[64]	Phase II	72	RR	IIIA	Erlotinib vs cisplatin- gemcitabine	42 d (12 mo after surgery)	54.1% vs 34.3%; P = 0.092	73% <i>vs</i> 63%	MPR: 9.7% vs 0%	42.2 <i>vs</i> 36.9 mo; HR: 0.83; <i>P</i> = 0.513

EGFR: Epidermal growth factor receptor; HR: Hazard ratio; MPR: Major pathological response; OS: Overall survival; PR: Pathological response; RR: Response rate; TKI: Tyrosine kinase inhibitor.

patients with native EGFR received carboplatin plus gemcitabine for 3 cycles. Although the response rate (RR) was numerically higher with erlotinib (58.3% vs 25%; P = 0.18), there was no increase in the N2 pCR (16.7% vs 25%; P = 0.64) or in OS (14.5 vs 28.1 mo; P = 0.201 [60]. A different phase II single-arm trial included 25 patients with stage IIIA EGFR-mutated NSCLC treated with neoadjuvant erlotinib for 56 d, observing a RR of 42.1%, with a resectability rate of 68.4%. On pathology, 50% partial responses were reported, but no complete response[61]. Similarly, Xiong et al conducted a phase II clinical trial in patients with stage IIIA NSCLC, in which they compared neoadjuvant treatment with erlotinib for 4-7 wk (15 patients with EGFR mutation) and cisplatin-based doublet chemotherapy for 2 cycles (16 patients without EGFR mutation), observing a RR (67% vs 19%) and an OS (51 vs 20.9 mo) that were numerically higher in the patients treated with erlotinib. The pathological response was higher in the erlotinib group (67% vs 38%), although this difference was not statistically significant and there was no pCR in this group[62]. Finally, the phase II trial EMERGING-CTONG 1103 included 72 patients with stage IIIA EGFR-mutated NSCLC, randomly assigned to erlotinib (42 d neoadjuvant and 12 mo adjuvant) vs cisplatin plus gemcitabine (2 cycles neoadjuvant and 2 cycles adjuvant). There were no significant differences in RR (54.1% vs 34.3%; P = 0.092) or OS (45.8 vs 39.2 mo; HR: 0.77, 95% CI: 0.41-1.45; *P* = 0.417), and pCR was not observed in either arm[63]. Final analysis of OS was recently reported, with similar results (42.2 vs 36.9 mo; HR: 0.83, 95%CI: 0.47-1.47; P = 0.513)[64].

The small sample sizes and heterogeneity of these phase II trials do not allow us to draw definitive conclusions regarding efficacy. There was a remarkable lack of pCR in these studies; in addition, the response rates appear to be lower than those observed with EGFR TKIs as first-line treatment[31,33,34,36], which could be due to the short preoperative treatment duration in these trials. Although neoadjuvant treatment with these agents appears feasible, there remain many unanswered questions, such as the risk of disease flare after stopping EGFR TKI treatment[65]; randomised trials with larger sample sizes are needed to provide more data on the safety and efficacy of these agents in potentially-resectable disease. Currently underway is the phase III clinical trial NeoADAURA (ClinicalTrials.gov number, NCT04351555), which compares osimertinib for 9 wk with or without chemotherapy for 3 cycles *vs* chemotherapy alone for 3 cycles, as neoadjuvant treatment, in patients with stage II-IIIB EGFR-mutated NSCLC, followed by adjuvant osimertinib for 3 yr. This trial could provide more information on the optimal duration of preoperative treatment, the role of chemotherapy in this scenario, and the need for adjuvant treatment.

Raisbideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

### Table 3 Clinical trials of pidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in the management of unresectable pidermal growth factor receptor-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer

Clinical trial	Type of study	Sample size	Primary outcome	Stage	Treatment	TKI duration	RR	PFS	OS
RECEL, Xing <i>et al</i> [70]	Phase II	40	PFS	III unresectable	Erlotinib + RT vs cisplatin-etoposide + RT	2 yr	70% <i>vs</i> 61.9%; <i>P</i> = 0.744	24.5 <i>vs</i> 9 mo; HR: 0.104; <i>P</i> < 0.001	Not reported
Lee et al[71]	Phase II	59 (12 with EGFR mutation)	RR, toxicity and OS	III unresectable	EGFR mutation: erlotinib x 3 $\rightarrow$ erlotinib+RT $\rightarrow$ erlotinib x 6 vs erlotinib x 3 $\rightarrow$ cisplatin- irinotecan+RT Native/unknown EGFR: cisplatin-irinotecan × 3 $\rightarrow$ cisplatin-irinotecan+RT vs cisplatin-irinotecan+RT $\rightarrow$ cisplatin-irinotecan x 3	33 wk	EGFR mutation: 71.4% vs 80% Native/unknown EGFR: 70% vs 73.9%	EGFR mutation: 11.6 vs 8.1 mo Native/unknown EGFR: 9 vs 12.3 mo	EGFR mutation: $39.3 vs 31.2$ mo Native/unknown EGFR: $16.3 vs 25.3$ mo Mutated $vs$ native EGFR: 74.8 vs 25.3 mo, $P = 0.034$
LOGIK0902/OLCSG0905, Saeki et al[73]	Phase II	20	2-yr OS	III unresectable	Gefitinib cisplatin-docetaxel+RT	8 wk	85%	2-yr PFS 36.9%	2-yr OS 90%

HR: Hazard ratio; OS: Overall survival; PFS: Progression-free survival; RR: Response rate; RT: Radiotherapy; TKI: Tyrosine kinase inhibitors.

### EGFR TKIS AS TREATMENT FOR UNRESECTABLE LOCALLY-ADVAN-CED DISEASE

The phase III PACIFIC trial demonstrated that maintenance with durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy, in patients with unresectable stage III NSCLC, significantly prolonged DFS and OS[66,67], positioning it as the standard treatment for these patients. Despite the good outcomes with this treatment strategy, approximately 44% of patients had progression and died from the disease[67]. Therefore, there is a need for new biomarker-guided therapies that would allow us to appropriately select the best treatment for each patient.

The PACIFIC trial subgroup analysis suggests that patients with EGFR mutation may benefit less from chemoradiotherapy followed by durvalumab[66]. This is probably due to the biology of EGFR-mutated NSCLC, which is associated with a higher risk of metastasis, meaning these patients obtain a greater benefit from local treatment such as chemoradiotherapy[68,69]. Thus, the optimal treatment in this patient subgroup is unknown.

Preclinical studies suggest that EGFR TKIs have a radiosensitizing effect[21,22]. This has prompted several clinical trials to evaluate the role of these targeted agents in unresectable locally-advanced disease (Table 3). The phase II trial RECEL compared erlotinib (for 2 yr) or cisplatin plus etoposide, concomitantly with radiotherapy in 40 patients with unresectable stage III EGFR-mutated NSCLC, and demonstrated that erlotinib plus radiotherapy significantly prolonged DFS (24.5 *vs* 9 mo; HR: 0.104, 95%CI: 0.028-0.389; *P* < 0.001) compared to chemoradiotherapy[70]. A different phase II study by Lee *et al* included 59 patients with unresectable stage III NSCLC, of whom

12 had an EGFR-activating mutation. Patients with mutated EGFR were randomised to erlotinib for 3 cycles, followed by erlotinib plus radiotherapy, followed by erlotinib for 6 cycles, vs erlotinib for 3 cycles followed by chemoradiotherapy with cisplatin plus irinotecan; patients with native/unknown EGFR status were randomised to cisplatin plus irinotecan for 3 cycles before or after chemoradiotherapy with cisplatin plus irinotecan. Patients with mutated EGFR had a significantly longer OS (74.8 vs 25.3 mo, P = 0.034) than patients with native EGFR[71]. Gefitinib has also been assessed, in the phase II trial LOGIK0902/OLCSG0905[72], which included 20 patients with unresectable stage III EGFR-mutated NSCLC who were treated with gefitinib for 8 wk followed by chemoradiotherapy with cisplatin plus docetaxel, and found a RR of 85%, a 2-year DFS rate of 36.9%, and a 2-year OS of 90% [73].

Although these phase II studies show encouraging results, they must be confirmed in phase III clinical trials. Currently, the phase III LAURA trial is underway, comparing osimertinib until progression vs placebo, as maintenance treatment after standard chemoradiotherapy[74].

### CONCLUSION

Adjuvant treatment with first- and second-generation EGFR TKIs, in patients with resected EGFR-mutated NSCLC, has demonstrated a benefit in DFS, which does not translate to OS. Surprisingly, in the ADAURA trial, the third-generation EGFR TKI osimertinib prolonged DFS in these patients; however, certain limitations of the design of this study and its early termination based on a benefit in DFS only, raise questions about its use as a standard adjuvant treatment. The OS data from the ADAURA trial and the results of the ALCHEMIST trial will confirm if EGFR TKIs have a role as adjuvant treatment.

These targeted therapies are also undergoing evaluation in potentially-resectable and unresectable locally-advanced disease, with encouraging results; however, we must await the results of the phase III trials NeoADAURA and LAURA, which should provide more data on the safety and efficacy of EGFR TKIs in these situations.

### REFERENCES

- Langer CJ, Besse B, Gualberto A, Brambilla E, Soria JC. The evolving role of histology in the management of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 5311-5320 [PMID: 21079145 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2010.28.8126]
- 2 Bradbury P, Sivajohanathan D, Chan A, Kulkarni S, Ung Y, Ellis PM. Postoperative Adjuvant Systemic Therapy in Completely Resected Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: A Systematic Review. Clin Lung Cancer 2017; 18: 259-273.e8 [PMID: 28162945 DOI: 10.1016/j.cllc.2016.07.002]
- 3 Wakelee H, Chhatwani L. Adjuvant chemotherapy for resected non-small cell lung cancer. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008; 20: 198-203 [PMID: 19038728 DOI: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2008.09.001]
- Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD, Schild SE, Adjei AA. Non-small cell lung cancer: epidemiology, 4 risk factors, treatment, and survivorship. Mayo Clin Proc 2008; 83: 584-594 [PMID: 18452692 DOI: 10.4065/83.5.584]
- Le Chevalier T. Adjuvant chemotherapy for resectable non-small-cell lung cancer: where is it going? Ann Oncol 2010; 21 Suppl 7: vii196-vii198 [PMID: 20943614 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdq376]
- 6 Heon S, Johnson BE. Adjuvant chemotherapy for surgically resected non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012; 144: S39-S42 [PMID: 22502967 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2012.03.039]
- Goldstraw P, Crowley J, Chansky K, Giroux DJ, Groome PA, Rami-Porta R, Postmus PE, Rusch V, 7 Sobin L; International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer International Staging Committee; Participating Institutions. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: proposals for the revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (seventh) edition of the TNM Classification of malignant tumours. J Thorac Oncol 2007; 2: 706-714 [PMID: 17762336 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e31812f3c1a]
- Pignon JP, Tribodet H, Scagliotti GV, Douillard JY, Shepherd FA, Stephens RJ, Dunant A, Torri V, 8 Rosell R, Seymour L, Spiro SG, Rolland E, Fossati R, Aubert D, Ding K, Waller D, Le Chevalier T; LACE Collaborative Group. Lung adjuvant cisplatin evaluation: a pooled analysis by the LACE Collaborative Group. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26: 3552-3559 [PMID: 18506026 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2007.13.9030
- Friedlaender A, Addeo A, Russo A, Gregorc V, Cortinovis D, Rolfo CD. Targeted Therapies in Early Stage NSCLC: Hype or Hope? Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 32878298 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21176329]
- 10 Deng XF, Jiang L, Liu QX, Zhou D, Hou B, Cui K, Min JX, Dai JG. Lymph node micrometastases are associated with disease recurrence and poor survival for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer patients: a meta-analysis. J Cardiothorac Surg 2016; 11: 28 [PMID: 26883746 DOI:



### 10.1186/s13019-016-0427-x]

- 11 NSCLC Meta-analyses Collaborative Group. Arriagada R, Auperin A, Burdett S, Higgins JP, Johnson DH, Le Chevalier T, Le Pechoux C, Parmar MK, Pignon JP, Souhami RL, Stephens RJ, Stewart LA, Tierney JF, Tribodet H, van Meerbeeck J. Adjuvant chemotherapy, with or without postoperative radiotherapy, in operable non-small-cell lung cancer: two meta-analyses of individual patient data. Lancet 2010; 375: 1267-1277 [PMID: 20338627 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60059-1]
- 12 Burdett S, Pignon JP, Tierney J, Tribodet H, Stewart L, Le Pechoux C, Aupérin A, Le Chevalier T, Stephens RJ, Arriagada R, Higgins JP, Johnson DH, Van Meerbeeck J, Parmar MK, Souhami RL, Bergman B, Douillard JY, Dunant A, Endo C, Girling D, Kato H, Keller SM, Kimura H, Knuuttila A, Kodama K, Komaki R, Kris MG, Lad T, Mineo T, Piantadosi S, Rosell R, Scagliotti G, Seymour LK, Shepherd FA, Sylvester R, Tada H, Tanaka F, Torri V, Waller D, Liang Y; Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Collaborative Group. Adjuvant chemotherapy for resected early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015; CD011430 [PMID: 25730344 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011430]
- Yang JC, Wu YL, Schuler M, Sebastian M, Popat S, Yamamoto N, Zhou C, Hu CP, O'Byrne K, Feng 13 J, Lu S, Huang Y, Geater SL, Lee KY, Tsai CM, Gorbunova V, Hirsh V, Bennouna J, Orlov S, Mok T, Boyer M, Su WC, Lee KH, Kato T, Massey D, Shahidi M, Zazulina V, Sequist LV. Afatinib vs cisplatin-based chemotherapy for EGFR mutation-positive lung adenocarcinoma (LUX-Lung 3 and LUX-Lung 6): analysis of overall survival data from two randomised, phase 3 trials. Lancet Oncol 2015; 16: 141-151 [PMID: 25589191 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71173-8]
- 14 Wu YL, Cheng Y, Zhou X, Lee KH, Nakagawa K, Niho S, Tsuji F, Linke R, Rosell R, Corral J, Migliorino MR, Pluzanski A, Sbar EI, Wang T, White JL, Nadanaciva S, Sandin R, Mok TS. Dacomitinib vs gefitinib as first-line treatment for patients with EGFR-mutation-positive non-smallcell lung cancer (ARCHER 1050): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2017; 18: 1454-1466 [PMID: 28958502 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30608-3]
- Soria JC, Ohe Y, Vansteenkiste J, Reungwetwattana T, Chewaskulyong B, Lee KH, Dechaphunkul 15 A, Imamura F, Nogami N, Kurata T, Okamoto I, Zhou C, Cho BC, Cheng Y, Cho EK, Voon PJ, Planchard D, Su WC, Gray JE, Lee SM, Hodge R, Marotti M, Rukazenkov Y, Ramalingam SS; FLAURA Investigators. Osimertinib in Untreated EGFR-Mutated Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2018; 378: 113-125 [PMID: 29151359 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1713137]
- Ramalingam SS, Vansteenkiste J, Planchard D, Cho BC, Gray JE, Ohe Y, Zhou C, Reungwetwattana 16 T, Cheng Y, Chewaskulyong B, Shah R, Cobo M, Lee KH, Cheema P, Tiseo M, John T, Lin MC, Imamura F, Kurata T, Todd A, Hodge R, Saggese M, Rukazenkov Y, Soria JC; FLAURA Investigators. Overall Survival with Osimertinib in Untreated, EGFR-Mutated Advanced NSCLC. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 41-50 [PMID: 31751012 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1913662]
- 17 Mok TS, Cheng Y, Zhou X, Lee KH, Nakagawa K, Niho S, Chawla A, Rosell R, Corral J, Migliorino MR, Pluzanski A, Noonan K, Tang Y, Pastel M, Wilner KD, Wu YL. Updated Overall Survival in a Randomized Study Comparing Dacomitinib with Gefitinib as First-Line Treatment in Patients with Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer and EGFR-Activating Mutations. Drugs 2021; 81: 257-266 [PMID: 33331989 DOI: 10.1007/s40265-020-01441-6]
- Gridelli C, Casaluce F. The adjuvant regimen for resected EGFR mutated patients: the "same-for-all-18 therapy" or not? Ann Transl Med 2020; 8: 1195 [PMID: 33241044 DOI: 10.21037/atm-20-3170]
- 19 Gyawali B, West HJ. Lessons From ADAURA on Adjuvant Cancer Drug Trials: Evidence, Ethics, and Economics. J Clin Oncol 2021; 39: 175-177 [PMID: 33275490 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.20.01762]
- 20 Waqar SN, Govindan R. Adjuvant Therapy With EGFR Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors: Tempering Great Expectations With Realism. J Clin Oncol 2021; 39: 697-700 [PMID: 33417483 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.20.03297]
- Singhi EK, Gay CM. Narrative review of the emerging role of molecular biomarkers in guiding the 21 definitive management of unresectable non-small cell lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2020; 9: 2051-2058 [PMID: 33209625 DOI: 10.21037/tlcr-20-330]
- 22 Jiang L, Meng X, Zhao X, Xing L, Yu J. Perspective on treatment for unresectable locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer with oncogene-driven mutation: a narrative review. Transl Lung Cancer *Res* 2020; **9**: 2137-2144 [PMID: 33209632 DOI: 10.21037/tlcr-20-722]
- 23 Gong J, Zhang L. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors as induction therapy in nonsmall-cell lung cancer. Curr Opin Oncol 2021; 33: 55-58 [PMID: 33165003 DOI: 10.1097/CCO.00000000000696]
- 24 Kris MG, Johnson BE, Berry LD, Kwiatkowski DJ, Iafrate AJ, Wistuba II, Varella-Garcia M, Franklin WA, Aronson SL, Su PF, Shyr Y, Camidge DR, Sequist LV, Glisson BS, Khuri FR, Garon EB, Pao W, Rudin C, Schiller J, Haura EB, Socinski M, Shirai K, Chen H, Giaccone G, Ladanyi M, Kugler K, Minna JD, Bunn PA. Using multiplexed assays of oncogenic drivers in lung cancers to select targeted drugs. JAMA 2014; 311: 1998-2006 [PMID: 24846037 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2014.3741]
- Matikas A, Mistriotis D, Georgoulias V, Kotsakis A. Current and Future Approaches in the 25 Management of Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients With Resistance to EGFR TKIs. Clin Lung Cancer 2015; 16: 252-261 [PMID: 25700775 DOI: 10.1016/j.cllc.2014.12.013]
- Barlesi F, Mazieres J, Merlio JP, Debieuvre D, Mosser J, Lena H, Ouafik L, Besse B, Rouquette I, 26 Westeel V, Escande F, Monnet I, Lemoine A, Veillon R, Blons H, Audigier-Valette C, Bringuier PP, Lamy R, Beau-Faller M, Pujol JL, Sabourin JC, Penault-Llorca F, Denis MG, Lantuejoul S, Morin F, Tran O, Missy P, Langlais A, Milleron B, Cadranel J, Soria JC, Zalcman G: Biomarkers France contributors. Routine molecular profiling of patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: results of a 1-year nationwide programme of the French Cooperative Thoracic Intergroup (IFCT). Lancet



2016; 387: 1415-1426 [PMID: 26777916 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00004-0]

- Raez LE, Cardona AF, Santos ES, Catoe H, Rolfo C, Lopes G, Barrios C, Mas LA, Vallejos C, 27 Zatarain-Barrón ZL, Caglevic C, Arrieta O. The burden of lung cancer in Latin-America and challenges in the access to genomic profiling, immunotherapy and targeted treatments. Lung Cancer 2018; 119: 7-13 [PMID: 29656755 DOI: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2018.02.014]
- 28 Shi Y, Au JS, Thongprasert S, Srinivasan S, Tsai CM, Khoa MT, Heeroma K, Itoh Y, Cornelio G, Yang PC. A prospective, molecular epidemiology study of EGFR mutations in Asian patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer of adenocarcinoma histology (PIONEER). J Thorac Oncol 2014; 9: 154-162 [PMID: 24419411 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.00000000000033]
- 29 Han B, Tjulandin S, Hagiwara K, Normanno N, Wulandari L, Laktionov K, Hudoyo A, He Y, Zhang YP, Wang MZ, Liu CY, Ratcliffe M, McCormack R, Reck M. EGFR mutation prevalence in Asia-Pacific and Russian patients with advanced NSCLC of adenocarcinoma and non-adenocarcinoma histology: The IGNITE study. Lung Cancer 2017; 113: 37-44 [PMID: 29110846 DOI: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2017.08.021]
- Sequist LV, Yang JC, Yamamoto N, O'Byrne K, Hirsh V, Mok T, Geater SL, Orlov S, Tsai CM, Boyer M, Su WC, Bennouna J, Kato T, Gorbunova V, Lee KH, Shah R, Massey D, Zazulina V, Shahidi M, Schuler M. Phase III study of afatinib or cisplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with EGFR mutations. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31: 3327-3334 [PMID: 23816960 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2012.44.2806]
- Wu YL, Zhou C, Hu CP, Feng J, Lu S, Huang Y, Li W, Hou M, Shi JH, Lee KY, Xu CR, Massey D, 31 Kim M, Shi Y, Geater SL. Afatinib vs cisplatin plus gemcitabine for first-line treatment of Asian patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring EGFR mutations (LUX-Lung 6): an open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2014; 15: 213-222 [PMID: 24439929 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70604-1]
- 32 Mitsudomi T, Morita S, Yatabe Y, Negoro S, Okamoto I, Tsurutani J, Seto T, Satouchi M, Tada H, Hirashima T, Asami K, Katakami N, Takada M, Yoshioka H, Shibata K, Kudoh S, Shimizu E, Saito H, Toyooka S, Nakagawa K, Fukuoka M; West Japan Oncology Group. Gefitinib vs cisplatin plus docetaxel in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (WJTOG3405): an open label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2010; 11: 121-128 [PMID: 20022809 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70364-X]
- Fukuoka M, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, Sunpaweravong P, Leong SS, Sriuranpong V, Chao TY, 33 Nakagawa K, Chu DT, Saijo N, Duffield EL, Rukazenkov Y, Speake G, Jiang H, Armour AA, To KF, Yang JC, Mok TS. Biomarker analyses and final overall survival results from a phase III, randomized, open-label, first-line study of gefitinib vs carboplatin/paclitaxel in clinically selected patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer in Asia (IPASS). J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 2866-2874 [PMID: 21670455 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.4235]
- 34 Zhou C, Wu YL, Chen G, Feng J, Liu XQ, Wang C, Zhang S, Wang J, Zhou S, Ren S, Lu S, Zhang L, Hu C, Luo Y, Chen L, Ye M, Huang J, Zhi X, Zhang Y, Xiu Q, Ma J, You C. Erlotinib vs chemotherapy as first-line treatment for patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-smallcell lung cancer (OPTIMAL, CTONG-0802): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2011; 12: 735-742 [PMID: 21783417 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70184-X]
- 35 Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, Vergnenegre A, Massuti B, Felip E, Palmero R, Garcia-Gomez R, Pallares C, Sanchez JM, Porta R, Cobo M, Garrido P, Longo F, Moran T, Insa A, De Marinis F, Corre R, Bover I, Illiano A, Dansin E, de Castro J, Milella M, Reguart N, Altavilla G, Jimenez U, Provencio M, Moreno MA, Terrasa J, Muñoz-Langa J, Valdivia J, Isla D, Domine M, Molinier O, Mazieres J, Baize N, Garcia-Campelo R, Robinet G, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Lopez-Vivanco G, Gebbia V, Ferrera-Delgado L, Bombaron P, Bernabe R, Bearz A, Artal A, Cortesi E, Rolfo C, Sanchez-Ronco M, Drozdowskyj A, Queralt C, de Aguirre I, Ramirez JL, Sanchez JJ, Molina MA, Taron M, Paz-Ares L; Spanish Lung Cancer Group in collaboration with Groupe Français de Pneumo-Cancérologie and Associazione Italiana Oncologia Toracica. Erlotinib vs standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (EURTAC): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2012; 13: 239-246 [PMID: 22285168 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70393-X]
- Inoue A, Kobayashi K, Maemondo M, Sugawara S, Oizumi S, Isobe H, Gemma A, Harada M, 36 Yoshizawa H, Kinoshita I, Fujita Y, Okinaga S, Hirano H, Yoshimori K, Harada T, Saijo Y, Hagiwara K, Morita S, Nukiwa T; North-East Japan Study Group. Updated overall survival results from a randomized phase III trial comparing gefitinib with carboplatin-paclitaxel for chemo-naïve non-small cell lung cancer with sensitive EGFR gene mutations (NEJ002). Ann Oncol 2013; 24: 54-59 [PMID: 22967997 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mds214]
- Goss GD, O'Callaghan C, Lorimer I, Tsao MS, Masters GA, Jett J, Edelman MJ, Lilenbaum R, Choy 37 H, Khuri F, Pisters K, Gandara D, Kernstine K, Butts C, Noble J, Hensing TA, Rowland K, Schiller J, Ding K, Shepherd FA. Gefitinib vs placebo in completely resected non-small-cell lung cancer: results of the NCIC CTG BR19 study. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31: 3320-3326 [PMID: 23980091 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2013.51.1816
- Kelly K, Altorki NK, Eberhardt WE, O'Brien ME, Spigel DR, Crinò L, Tsai CM, Kim JH, Cho EK, 38 Hoffman PC, Orlov SV, Serwatowski P, Wang J, Foley MA, Horan JD, Shepherd FA. Adjuvant Erlotinib Versus Placebo in Patients With Stage IB-IIIA Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer (RADIANT): A Randomized, Double-Blind, Phase III Trial. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 4007-4014 [PMID: 26324372 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2015.61.8918]



- Pennell NA, Neal JW, Chaft JE, Azzoli CG, Jänne PA, Govindan R, Evans TL, Costa DB, Wakelee 39 HA, Heist RS, Shapiro MA, Muzikansky A, Murthy S, Lanuti M, Rusch VW, Kris MG, Sequist LV. SELECT: A Phase II Trial of Adjuvant Erlotinib in Patients With Resected Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-Mutant Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 97-104 [PMID: 30444685 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.18.00131]
- 40 Zhong WZ, Wang Q, Mao WM, Xu ST, Wu L, Shen Y, Liu YY, Chen C, Cheng Y, Xu L, Wang J, Fei K, Li XF, Li J, Huang C, Liu ZD, Xu S, Chen KN, Xu SD, Liu LX, Yu P, Wang BH, Ma HT, Yan HH, Yang XN, Zhou Q, Wu YL; ADJUVANT investigators. Gefitinib vs vinorelbine plus cisplatin as adjuvant treatment for stage II-IIIA (N1-N2) EGFR-mutant NSCLC (ADJUVANT/CTONG1104): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2018; 19: 139-148 [PMID: 29174310 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30729-5
- Zhong WZ, Wang Q, Mao WM, Xu ST, Wu L, Wei YC, Liu YY, Chen C, Cheng Y, Yin R, Yang F, 41 Ren SX, Li XF, Li J, Huang C, Liu ZD, Xu S, Chen KN, Xu SD, Liu LX, Yu P, Wang BH, Ma HT, Yang JJ, Yan HH, Yang XN, Liu SY, Zhou Q, Wu YL. Gefitinib Versus Vinorelbine Plus Cisplatin as Adjuvant Treatment for Stage II-IIIA (N1-N2) EGFR-Mutant NSCLC: Final Overall Survival Analysis of CTONG1104 Phase III Trial. J Clin Oncol 2021; 39: 713-722 [PMID: 33332190 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.20.01820
- Tada H, Mitsudomi T, Yamanaka T, Sugio K, Tsuboi M, Okamoto I, Iwamoto Y, Sakakura N, 42 Sugawara S, Atagi S, Takahashi T, Hayashi H, Okada M, Yoshioka H, Inokawa H, Takahashi K, Higashiyama M, Yoshino I, Nakagawa K; West Japan Oncology Group. Adjuvant gefitinib vs cisplatin/vinorelbine in Japanese patients with completely resected, EGFR-mutated, stage II-III nonsmall cell lung cancer (IMPACT, WJOG6410L): A randomized phase 3 trial. J Clin Oncol 2021; 39: 8501 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15\_suppl.8501]
- 43 Yue D, Xu S, Wang Q, Li X, Shen Y, Zhao H, Chen C, Mao W, Liu W, Liu J, Zhang L, Ma H, Li Q, Yang Y, Liu Y, Chen H, Wang C. Erlotinib vs vinorelbine plus cisplatin as adjuvant therapy in Chinese patients with stage IIIA EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (EVAN): a randomised, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Respir Med 2018; 6: 863-873 [PMID: 30150014 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30277-7
- Neal JW, Costa DB, Muzikansky A, Shrager JB, Lanuti M, Huang J, Ramachandran KJ, Rangachari 44 D, Huberman MS, Piotrowska Z, Kris MG, Azzoli CG, Sequist L V., Chaft JE. Randomized Phase II Study of 3 mo or 2 yr of Adjuvant Afatinib in Patients With Surgically Resected Stage I-III EGFR-Mutant Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. JCO Precis Oncol 2021; (5): 325-332 [DOI: 10.1200/PO.20.00301]
- Wu YL, Tsuboi M, He J, John T, Grohe C, Majem M, Goldman JW, Laktionov K, Kim SW, Kato T, 45 Vu HV, Lu S, Lee KY, Akewanlop C, Yu CJ, de Marinis F, Bonanno L, Domine M, Shepherd FA, Zeng L, Hodge R, Atasoy A, Rukazenkov Y, Herbst RS; ADAURA Investigators. Osimertinib in Resected EGFR-Mutated Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: 1711-1723 [PMID: 32955177 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa20270711
- Wu JX, He Q, Ye F, Zhou QX, Chen HJ, Sun L, Wu H. EGFR-TKI-based vs non-EGFR-TKI-based 46 adjuvant therapy in resected non-small-cell lung cancer with EGFR mutations: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Onco Targets Ther 2018; 11: 6803-6810 [PMID: 30349313 DOI: 10.2147/OTT.S174593
- Cheng H, Li XJ, Wang XJ, Chen ZW, Wang RQ, Zhong HC, Wu TC, Cao QD. A meta-analysis of 47 adjuvant EGFR-TKIs for patients with resected non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2019; 137: 7-13 [PMID: 31520922 DOI: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2019.08.002]
- 48 Raphael J, Vincent M, Boldt G, Shah PS, Rodrigues G, Blanchette P. Adjuvant Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors (TKIs) in Resected Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC): A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Am J Clin Oncol 2019; 42: 440-445 [PMID: 30913091 DOI: 10.1097/COC.00000000000533]
- 49 West HJ, Gyawali B. Why Not Adore ADAURA? vs7: 677-678 [PMID: 33538783 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.6752]
- 50 Uprety D. Osimertinib Should Not Yet Be Considered the Standard of Care for EGFR-Mutant NSCLC in the Adjuvant Setting. J Thorac Oncol 2021; 16: 371-374 [PMID: 33641721 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.12.003
- 51 Mauguen A, Pignon JP, Burdett S, Domerg C, Fisher D, Paulus R, Mandrekar SJ, Belani CP, Shepherd FA, Eisen T, Pang H, Collette L, Sause WT, Dahlberg SE, Crawford J, O'Brien M, Schild SE, Parmar M, Tierney JF, Le Pechoux C, Michiels S; Surrogate Lung Project Collaborative Group. Surrogate endpoints for overall survival in chemotherapy and radiotherapy trials in operable and locally advanced lung cancer: a re-analysis of meta-analyses of individual patients' data. Lancet Oncol 2013; 14: 619-626 [PMID: 23680111 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70158-X]
- 52 Langer CJ. Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition in mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer: is afatinib better or simply newer? J Clin Oncol 2013; 31: 3303-3306 [PMID: 23980079 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2013.49.8782
- Govindan R, Mandrekar SJ, Gerber DE, Oxnard GR, Dahlberg SE, Chaft J, Malik S, Mooney M, 53 Abrams JS, Jänne PA, Gandara DR, Ramalingam SS, Vokes EE. ALCHEMIST Trials: A Golden Opportunity to Transform Outcomes in Early-Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2015; 21: 5439-5444 [PMID: 26672084 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0354]
- Chansky K, Detterbeck FC, Nicholson AG, Rusch VW, Vallières E, Groome P, Kennedy C, Krasnik M, Peake M, Shemanski L, Bolejack V, Crowley JJ, Asamura H, Rami-Porta R; IASLC Staging and



Prognostic Factors Committee, Advisory Boards, and Participating Institutions. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: External Validation of the Revision of the TNM Stage Groupings in the Eighth Edition of the TNM Classification of Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2017; 12: 1109-1121 [PMID: 28461257 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2017.04.011]

- Pataer A, Kalhor N, Correa AM, Raso MG, Erasmus JJ, Kim ES, Behrens C, Lee JJ, Roth JA, 55 Stewart DJ, Vaporciyan AA, Wistuba II, Swisher SG; University of Texas M. D. Anderson Lung Cancer Collaborative Research Group. Histopathologic response criteria predict survival of patients with resected lung cancer after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. J Thorac Oncol 2012; 7: 825-832 [PMID: 22481232 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e318247504a]
- 56 Hellmann MD, Chaft JE, William WN Jr, Rusch V, Pisters KM, Kalhor N, Pataer A, Travis WD, Swisher SG, Kris MG; University of Texas MD Anderson Lung Cancer Collaborative Group. Pathological response after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in resectable non-small-cell lung cancers: proposal for the use of major pathological response as a surrogate endpoint. Lancet Oncol 2014; 15: e42-e50 [PMID: 24384493 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70334-6]
- Broderick SR, Bott MJ. Neoadjuvant immunotherapy in patients with resectable non-small cell lung 57 cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2019; 158: 1471-1474 [PMID: 31623813 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2019.06.114]
- 58 Yi C, He Y, Xia H, Zhang H, Zhang P. Review and perspective on adjuvant and neoadjuvant immunotherapies in NSCLC. Onco Targets Ther 2019; 12: 7329-7336 [PMID: 31564915 DOI: 10.2147/OTT.S218321]
- Provencio M, Nadal E, Insa A, García-Campelo MR, Casal-Rubio J, Dómine M, Majem M, 59 Rodríguez-Abreu D, Martínez-Martí A, De Castro Carpeño J, Cobo M, López Vivanco G, Del Barco E, Bernabé Caro R, Viñolas N, Barneto Aranda I, Viteri S, Pereira E, Royuela A, Casarrubios M, Salas Antón C, Parra ER, Wistuba I, Calvo V, Laza-Briviesca R, Romero A, Massuti B, Cruz-Bermúdez A. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy and nivolumab in resectable non-small-cell lung cancer (NADIM): an open-label, multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2020; 21: 1413-1422 [PMID: 32979984 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30453-8]
- Zhong W, Yang X, Yan H, Zhang X, Su J, Chen Z, Liao R, Nie Q, Dong S, Zhou Q, Yang J, Tu H, 60 Wu YL. Phase II study of biomarker-guided neoadjuvant treatment strategy for IIIA-N2 non-small cell lung cancer based on epidermal growth factor receptor mutation status. J Hematol Oncol 2015; 8: 54 [PMID: 25981169 DOI: 10.1186/s13045-015-0151-3]
- Xiong L, Li R, Sun J, Lou Y, Zhang W, Bai H, Wang H, Shen J, Jing B, Shi C, Zhong H, Gu A, Jiang 61 L, Shi J, Fang W, Zhao H, Zhang J, Wang J, Ye J, Han B. Erlotinib as Neoadjuvant Therapy in Stage IIIA (N2) EGFR Mutation-Positive Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: A Prospective, Single-Arm, Phase II Study. Oncologist 2019; 24: 157-e64 [PMID: 30158288 DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.2018-0120]
- 62 Xiong L, Lou Y, Bai H, Li R, Xia J, Fang W, Zhang J, Han-Zhang H, Lizaso A, Li B, Gu A, Han B. Efficacy of erlotinib as neoadjuvant regimen in EGFR-mutant locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients. J Int Med Res 2020; 48: 300060519887275 [PMID: 31885349 DOI: 10.1177/0300060519887275
- Zhong WZ, Chen KN, Chen C, Gu CD, Wang J, Yang XN, Mao WM, Wang Q, Qiao GB, Cheng Y, 63 Xu L, Wang CL, Chen MW, Kang X, Yan W, Yan HH, Liao RQ, Yang JJ, Zhang XC, Zhou Q, Wu YL. Erlotinib Versus Gemcitabine Plus Cisplatin as Neoadjuvant Treatment of Stage IIIA-N2 EGFR-Mutant Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer (EMERGING-CTONG 1103): A Randomized Phase II Study. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 2235-2245 [PMID: 31194613 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.19.00075]
- Wu Y-L, Zhong W, Chen K-N, Chen C, Yang F, Yang X-N, Gu C, Mao W, Wang Q, Qiao G-B, 64 Cheng Y, Xu L, Wang C, Chen M, Yan H-H, Liao R-Q, Zhang X, Yang J, Liu S-Y, Zhou Q, The EMERGING Investigators. CTONG1103: Final overall survival analysis of the randomized phase 2 trial of erlotinib vs gemcitabine plus cisplatin as neoadjuvant treatment of stage IIIA-N2 EGFRmutant non-small cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2021; 39: 8502 [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15\_suppl.8502]
- Chaft JE, Oxnard GR, Sima CS, Kris MG, Miller VA, Riely GJ. Disease flare after tyrosine kinase 65 inhibitor discontinuation in patients with EGFR-mutant lung cancer and acquired resistance to erlotinib or gefitinib: implications for clinical trial design. Clin Cancer Res 2011; 17: 6298-6303 [PMID: 21856766 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1468]
- Antonia SJ, Villegas A, Daniel D, Vicente D, Murakami S, Hui R, Yokoi T, Chiappori A, Lee KH, de Wit M, Cho BC, Bourhaba M, Quantin X, Tokito T, Mekhail T, Planchard D, Kim YC, Karapetis CS, Hiret S, Ostoros G, Kubota K, Gray JE, Paz-Ares L, de Castro Carpeño J, Wadsworth C, Melillo G, Jiang H, Huang Y, Dennis PA, Özgüroğlu M; PACIFIC Investigators. Durvalumab after Chemoradiotherapy in Stage III Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med 2017; 377: 1919-1929 [PMID: 28885881 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709937]
- 67 Gray JE, Villegas A, Daniel D, Vicente D, Murakami S, Hui R, Kurata T, Chiappori A, Lee KH, Cho BC, Planchard D, Paz-Ares L, Faivre-Finn C, Vansteenkiste JF, Spigel DR, Wadsworth C, Taboada M, Dennis PA, Özgüroğlu M, Antonia SJ. Three-Year Overall Survival with Durvalumab after Chemoradiotherapy in Stage III NSCLC-Update from PACIFIC. J Thorac Oncol 2020; 15: 288-293 [PMID: 31622733 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.10.002]
- 68 Tanaka K, Hida T, Oya Y, Oguri T, Yoshida T, Shimizu J, Horio Y, Hata A, Kaji R, Fujita S, Sekido Y, Kodaira T, Kokubo M, Katakami N, Yatabe Y. EGFR Mutation Impact on Definitive Concurrent Chemoradiation Therapy for Inoperable Stage III Adenocarcinoma. J Thorac Oncol 2015; 10: 1720-1725 [PMID: 26743855 DOI: 10.1097/JTO.000000000000675]



- Nakamura M, Kageyama SI, Niho S, Okumura M, Hojo H, Motegi A, Nakamura N, Zenda S, Yoh 69 K, Goto K, Akimoto T. Impact of EGFR Mutation and ALK Translocation on Recurrence Pattern After Definitive Chemoradiotherapy for Inoperable Stage III Non-squamous Non-small-cell Lung Cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 2019; 20: e256-e264 [PMID: 30926356 DOI: 10.1016/j.cllc.2019.02.021]
- Xing L, Wu G, Wang L, Li J, Wang J, Yuan Z, Chen M, Xu Y, Fu X, Zhu Z, Lu Y, Han C, Xia T, 70 Xie C, Li G, Ma S, Lu B, Lin Q, Zhu G, Qu B, Zhu W, Yu J. Erlotinib Versus Etoposide/Cisplatin With Radiation Therapy in Unresectable Stage III Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Mutation-Positive Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: A Multicenter, Randomized, Open-Label, Phase 2 Trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2021; 109: 1349-1358 [PMID: 33220395 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2020.11.026]
- 71 Lee Y, Han JY, Moon SH, Nam BH, Lim KY, Lee GK, Kim HT, Yun T, An HJ, Lee JS. Incorporating Erlotinib or Irinotecan Plus Cisplatin into Chemoradiotherapy for Stage III Non-small Cell Lung Cancer According to EGFR Mutation Status. Cancer Res Treat 2017; 49: 981-989 [PMID: 28111430 DOI: 10.4143/crt.2016.522]
- 72 Hotta K, Sasaki J, Saeki S, Takigawa N, Katsui K, Takayama K, Nogami N, Shioyama Y, Bessho A, Kishimoto J, Tanimoto M, Kiura K, Ichinose Y. Gefitinib Combined With Standard Chemoradiotherapy in EGFR-Mutant Locally Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: The LOGIK0902/OLCSG0905 Intergroup Study Protocol. Clin Lung Cancer 2016; 17: 75-79 [PMID: 26387039 DOI: 10.1016/j.cllc.2015.08.004]
- Saeki S, Hotta K, Yamaguchi M, Harada D, Bessho A, Tanaka K, Inoue K, Gemba K, Ichihara E, 73 Kishimoto J, Sasaki T, Shioyama Y, Katsui K, Sasaki J, Kiura K, Sugio K. Induction gefitinib followed by standard chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced (LA) non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) activating mutations: The LOGIK0902/OLCSG0905 intergroup phase II study. Ann Oncol 2019; ix153 [DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdz436]
- Lu S, Casarini I, Kato T, Cobo M, Özgüroğlu M, Hodge R, van der Gronde T, Saggese M, 74 Ramalingam SS. Osimertinib Maintenance After Definitive Chemoradiation in Patients With Unresectable EGFR Mutation Positive Stage III Non-small-cell Lung Cancer: LAURA Trial in Progress. Clin Lung Cancer 2021 [PMID: 33558193 DOI: 10.1016/j.cllc.2020.11.004]



World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 926-934

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.926

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

### **Retrospective Study**

# A biomarker study in Peruvian males with breast cancer

Carlos A Castaneda, Miluska Castillo, Luis A Bernabe, Joselyn Sanchez, Ebert Torres, Nancy Suarez, Katherine Tello, Hugo Fuentes, Jorge Dunstan, Miguel De La Cruz, Jose Manuel Cotrina, Julio Abugattas, Henry Guerra, Henry L Gomez

**ORCID number:** Carlos A Castaneda 0000-0001-6200-0856; Miluska Castillo 0000-0002-0111-3176; Luis A Bernabe 0000-0003-1896-7060; Joselyn Sanchez 0000-0002-6764-4180; Ebert Torres 0000-0002-7835-0436; Nancy Suarez 0000-0001-5955-3919; Katherine Tello 0000-0002-4981-3411; Hugo Fuentes 0000-0002-2747-7381; Jorge Dunstan 0000-0002-4148-6858; Miguel De La Cruz 0000-0003-4405-3991; Jose Manuel Cotrina 0000-0002-8330-803X; Julio Abugattas 0000-0002-9806-0989; Henry Guerra 0000-0002-4894-5631; Henry L Gomez 0000-0003-2660-1843.

Author contributions: Castaneda CA, Gomez H and Castillo M contributed to the conception, design of the study, performed data analysis and interpretation; Bernabe LA, Sanchez J, Torres E, Suarez N, Tello K and Guerra H performed data acquisition, as well as providing technical support; Fuentes H, Dunstan J, De La Cruz M, Cotrina JM and Abugattas J provided administrative and material support; all authors drafted the article, made critical revisions related to the intellectual content of the manuscript and approved the final version of the article to be published.

Supported by the Consejo Nacional de Ciencia, Tecnologia e

Carlos A Castaneda, Faculty of Health Sciences, Universidad Cientifica del Sur, Lima 15067, Peru

Carlos A Castaneda, Hugo Fuentes, Henry L Gomez, Department of Medical Oncology, Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplasicas, Lima 15038, Peru

Miluska Castillo, Luis A Bernabe, Joselyn Sanchez, Nancy Suarez, Katherine Tello, Department of Research, Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplasicas, Lima 15038, Peru

Ebert Torres, Henry Guerra, Department of Pathology, Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplasicas, Lima 15038, Peru

Jorge Dunstan, Miguel De La Cruz, Jose Manuel Cotrina, Julio Abugattas, Department of Breast Cancer Surgery, Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplasicas, Lima 15038, Peru

Corresponding author: Carlos A Castaneda, MD, MSc, Associate Research Scientist, Faculty of Health Sciences, Universidad Cientifica del Sur, Carr. Panamericana Sur 19, Villa El Salvador, Lima 15067, Peru. carloscastanedaaltamirano@yahoo.com

### Abstract

### BACKGROUND

Breast cancer (BC) frequency in males is extremely low and tumor features vary from its female counterpart. Breast cancer clinical and pathological features differ by race in women. Tumor infiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) levels, mismatch repair (MMR) protein loss, androgen receptor (AR) expression, and PIK3CA gene mutations are predictive biomarkers of response to biological therapy in female BC. There is limited information about clinical and pathological features as well as predictive biomarkers in males of non-Caucasian races with BC.

### AIM

To investigate clinicopathological features and biomarkers of BC tumors in males and their prognostic value in Peruvian population.

### **METHODS**

This study looked at a single-institution series of 54 Peruvian males with invasive BC who were diagnosed from Jan 2004 to June 2018. Standard pathological features, TIL levels, MMR proteins, AR immunohistochemistry staining, and PIK3CA gene mutations were prospectively evaluated in cases with available



Innovacion Tecnologica, No. 198-2015-FONDECYT.

### Institutional review board

statement: This study was reviewed and approved by the Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplasicas Institutional Review Board. Personal and filiation data including identity of every patient was protected with an added code in the excel table. It is a retrospective case series that does not have any not activity or contact with the patients.

### Informed consent statement:

Patients were not required to give informed consent to the study because the analysis used anonymous clinical data that were obtained after each patient agreed to treatment by written consent.

### Conflict-of-interest statement: We

have no financial relationships to disclose.

### Data sharing statement: No

additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Specialty type: Oncology

Country/Territory of origin: Peru

### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: March 13, 2021

paraffin material. Percentage of AR and estrogen receptor (ER) positive cells was additionally calculated by software after slide scanning. Statistical analyses included association tests, intraclass correlation test and Kaplan Meier overall survival curves.

### RESULTS

The median age was 63 years and most cases were ER-positive (85.7%), HER2 negative (87.2%), Luminal-A phenotype (60%) and clinical stage II (41.5%) among our male breast tumors. Median TIL was 10% and higher levels tended to be associated with Luminal-B phenotype and higher grade. AR-positive was found in 85.3% and was correlated with ER (intraclass index of 0.835, P < 0.001). Loss of MMR proteins was found in 15.4% and PIK3CA mutation (H1047R) in 14.3% (belonged to the Luminal-A phenotype). Loss of MMR proteins was associated with AR-negative (P = 0.018) but not with ER (P = 0.43) or TIL (P = 0.84). Early stages (P < 0.001) and lower grade (P = 0.006) were associated with longer overall survival. ER status, phenotype, AR status, TIL level, MMR protein loss nor PIK3CA mutation was not associated with survival (P > 0.05).

### CONCLUSION

Male BC is usually ER and AR positive, and Luminal-A. MMR loss and PIK3CA mutations are infrequent. Stage and grade predicted overall survival in our South American country population.

**Key Words:** Male breast neoplasm; Androgen receptor; Tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte; Mismatch repair protein; PIK3CA mutation

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Most male breast cancers were estrogen receptor-positive, HER2-negative, androgen receptor (AR)-positive, and Luminal A phenotype. Loss of mismatch repair (MMR) and PIK3CA mutations was found in around 15% of the cases. AR was correlated with ER expression and without loss of MMR proteins. Stage and grade are prognostic features in Peruvian male breast cancer.

Citation: Castaneda CA, Castillo M, Bernabe LA, Sanchez J, Torres E, Suarez N, Tello K, Fuentes H, Dunstan J, De La Cruz M, Cotrina JM, Abugattas J, Guerra H, Gomez HL. A biomarker study in Peruvian males with breast cancer. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12(10): 926-934

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/926.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.926

### INTRODUCTION

Male breast cancer (BC) represents less than 1% of mammary carcinomas. Male BC has a higher expression rate of estrogen receptor (ER), higher proliferative activity, and generally more aggressive behavior than in females. The etiological attribution of inheritance for BC is more prevalent among males than females, but only a small fraction is attributed to BRCA2 mutation, and even less to BRCA1[1-5].

Combination of immunohistochemical biomarkers predicts response to therapy and allows us to classify molecular subtypes in female BC[6]. Molecular subtypes distribution and clinical features differ regarding racial populations, for instance, high triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) prevalence and young age at diagnosis are described in Latin-American women[6]. However, only a few small reports have evaluated frequency of molecular BC subtypes in Latin-American males [7,8].

Androgen-receptor (AR) expression[9], tumor-infiltrating-lymphocytes (TIL)[10], loss of mismatch-repair (MMR) proteins (biomarker of the hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) syndrome)[11] and PI3K mutations[12] have been associated with response to target therapy in female BC. There is a need to develop epidemiological and therapeutic information in the male counterpart. This work aims



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Peer-review started: March 13, 2021 First decision: June 7, 2021 Revised: June 25, 2021 Accepted: September 8, 2021 Article in press: September 8, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Exbrayat JM, Rachmi E S-Editor: Wang LL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xing YX



to evaluate the prevalence of clinical and molecular biomarkers of BC tumors in Peruvian males, as well as their impact on survival.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Study design and Patients

Fifty-four male BC cases who were histologically diagnosed at the Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplasicas between 2004 and 2018 were included. Clinical information was obtained from the patients' medical records. Live status of patients with not accurate follow-up was obtained from the Peruvian national registry ( https://www.reniec.gob.pe) through the Epidemiology Department of the institution. The institutional review board waived informed consent and approved this retrospective case series.

### Routine pathological examination

TIL assessment on Hematoxylin and Eosin-stained slide was possible in 42 available samples. TIL and histological grade was prospectively evaluated by three experienced pathologists (JS, ET and HG), who were blinded to the clinical data, following international recommendations[7].

#### Immunohistochemistry staining

Tissue samples were fixed in 10% buffered formalin to obtain 4 µm paraffinized histological sections from 35 available tissue paraffin blocks. Sections were transferred onto adhesive slides and were dried at 60 °C for 30 min. After incubation with the primary antibodies, immunodetection was performed using biotinylated anti-mouse immunoglobulin, followed by peroxidase-labeled streptavidin. The labeled streptavidin biotin kit was used, and 3,3'-diaminobenzidine chromogen was used as a substrate. Immunohistochemical staining for androgen-receptor protein (AR antibody, Dako), estrogen-receptor protein (ER antibody, Zhongshan Bio), Mut L Protein Homolog protein (MLH1 antibody, Dako), DNA mismatch repair protein Msh2 (MSH2 antibody, Dako), MutS Protein Homolog 6 protein (MSH6, Dako) and Postmeiotic Segregation Increased 2 protein (PMS2 antibody, Dako) were carried out according to the manufacturer's instructions. Normal prostatic tissue was used as a positive control of AR. Phosphate-buffered saline was used to replace the primary antibody and served as the negative control.

Tumors that had more than 10% of cells exhibiting a moderate or strong intensity of AR expression were considered positive[7]. Additionally, slides of AR and ER staining were scanned in BX63 Olympus (Tokyo, Japan) and the analysis was performed through Visiopharm software in 34 male BC cases. Negative and positive cells were marked in blue and green by TissueMorph Software, (Visopharm, Hoerlson, Denmark), and the proportion of cell count was obtained through the ratio of AR and ER on number of positive overall cells in 5 high power fields (Figure 1) under supervision of a pathologist as previously described (JS)[7]. Non-malignant stromal cells were used as internal positive controls for MLH1, MSH2, MSH6, and PMS2, while the loss of MMR was considered when lacking nuclear staining for at least one was found[13].

### Determination of PIK3CA mutation

Tumor DNA from paraffin-embedded samples was extracted using the QIAamp DNA FFPE Tissue Kit (Qiagen; Hilden, Germany) in the available 14 tumor samples. TaqMan-based real-time PCR analysis was conducted using a LightCycler® 96 Real-Time PCR System (Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany) to detect the three "hot spot" PIK3CA mutations (H1047R, E545K and E542K). Custom TaqMan primers and probes were designed for the PIK3CA mutations (PI3KCA 760: c.1624 G (VIC) >A (FAM), PI3KCA 763: c.1633 G (VIC) >A (FAM), PI3KCA 775: c.3140 A (VIC) >G (FAM), ThermoFisher scientific). The thermal cycler protocol was as follows: 10 min at 96 C, 39 cycles at 60 °C for 2 min, 98 °C for 30 s, and 60 °C for 1 min. All samples were analyzed in a single assay for each mutation. The mutational threshold was determined by measuring the WT HDx FFPE reference standards (Horizon Diagnostics, Cambridge, UK), and was 1%. In contrast, the threshold of reagents inducing false positives was assumed to be 0.5% of the mutation frequency.

Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Immunohistochemical staining and automated scoring. Sections show positive staining for androgen receptor (A and B) and estrogen receptor (C and D) from the same tissue areas and the positive control. In the left, sections show images of the immunohistochemical studies (× 20). In the right, the automated analysis is presented, where negative nuclei are highlighted in blue and positive nuclei in green.

#### Statistical analyses

Associations of clinical-pathological variables were performed by the Chi-square test or the Fisher's exact test. Associations of ordinary variables were performed by the Kruskal-Wallis test. Identification of co-expression of AR and ER was performed by the intraclass correlation test. Overall survival (OS) analysis was estimated using the Kaplan-Meier method. Log-rank or Breslow tests were used to find differences between categories, according to the case. A P < 0.05 was considered significant. Analyses were performed using the SPSS statistical package (version 26.0.0, IBM SPSS Statistical).

### RESULTS

### Patient's characteristics

There were included 54 male BC patients and their median age was 63 years. Twentyeight (51.9%) tumors were located on the left side, concurrent in-situ component in 41.4% and the most frequent clinical stage was II (41.5%) (Table 1). A family cancer history was found in 12 (22.2%) cases. Regarding treatment, mastectomy, tumorectomy and no primary resection were performed in 72.2%, 7.4% and 20.4%, respectively. Axillary dissection, sentinel node biopsy and no study of nodes were performed in 59.3%, 5.5% and 35.2%, respectively. Neoadjuvant and adjuvant chemotherapy was administrated in 22.2 and 35.2% of the resected cases, while adjuvant radiation was used in 44.4%. Tamoxifen was used in ER-positive cases. Recurrence was found in 28.9% (11/38) of the cases who underwent a curative surgical treatment.

### Biomarkers, clinical-pathological features, and the correlations

Most cases were ER-positive (85.7%), HER2-negative (87.2%) and belonged to Luminal-A phenotype (Table 1). ER status was not associated with MMR-loss (P =0.43). No association between ER percentage and MMR-loss was found (P = 0.22).

Positive AR status was found in 85.3% of patients and the two TNBC cases were negative for AR. MMR-loss was associated with AR-negative (75% vs 10%, P = 0.018). A lower median percentage of AR-positive cells was found in cases with MMR-loss (5% vs 70%, P = 0.02).

Evaluation of similar areas for ER and AR found that a median of 3738 cells (52.9%) (range 0%-87%) from 7577 cells (range 2139-11883 cells) were positive for ER, and 3795



Table 1 Clinical-pathological features and overall surviva	al impact in male	breast cancer		
Features	n	%	OS-5yr	<i>P</i> value
Age				
Median (yr)	63			0.105 <sup>a</sup>
< 63	25	53.7	56.0	
≥63	29	46.3	69.0	
Clinical stage ( $n = 53$ )				< 0.001 <sup>a</sup>
I	2	3.8	100.0	
Ш	22	41.5	86.4	
ш	20	37.7	50.0	
IV	9	17.0	22.2	
Histological grade ( $n = 46$ )				0.006 <sup>a</sup>
1	7	15.2	85.7	
2	26	56.5	73.1	
3	13	28.3	30.8	
sTIL ( <i>n</i> = 42)				0.397 <sup>b</sup>
<10%	12	28.6	50.0	
≥10%	30	71.4	66.7	
ER status ( $n = 49$ )				0.567 <sup>a</sup>
Positive	42	85.7	66.7	
Negative	7	14.3	57.1	
PgR status ( $n = 49$ )				0.305 <sup>a</sup>
Positive	43	87.8	67.4	
Negative	6	12.2	50.0	
HER2 status ( $n = 47$ )				0.088 <sup>b</sup>
Positive	6	12.8	33.3	
Negative	41	87.2	70.7	
Ki67 ( <i>n</i> = 40) (median 5%)				0.232 <sup>a</sup>
0%-5%	22	55.0	59.1	
>5%	18	45.0	66.7	
Phenotype ( $n = 45$ )				0.356 <sup>a</sup>
Luminal A	27	60.0	63.0	
Luminal B	13	28.9	76.9	
TNBC	5	11.1	40.0	
AR ( <i>n</i> = 35)				0.294 <sup>a</sup>
0%-9%	5	14.3	60.0	
≥10%	30	85.7	63.3	
Mismatch repair loss ( $n = 26$ )				0.501 <sup>a</sup>
No	20	76.9	65.00	
Yes	4	15.4	75.00	
Undetermined	2	7.7	100.00	
PIK3CA mutation H1047R ( $n = 14$ )				0.844 <sup>b</sup>
Positive	2	14.3	50.0	



Negative	12	85.7	75.0

<sup>a</sup>P: Breslow.

<sup>b</sup>P: Log Rank. OS: Overall survival; TIL: Tumor infiltrating lymphocyte; TNBC: Triple negative breast cancer.

cells (55%) (range 0%-87.8%) from 7366 (range 2520-12135 cells) were positive for AR. Intraclass correlation coefficient of the means for AR and ER was 0.835 (P < 0.001) (Figure 2). A lower median of AR-positive tumor cell count proportion was also found in cases with MMR-loss (8% vs 65%, P = 0.018). No association between median of ERpositive tumor cell count proportion and MMR-loss was found (P = 0.163).

Castaneda CA et al. Biomarkers in males breast cancer

Median TIL was 10% and higher levels tended to be associated with Luminal-B (P = 0.058) (Figure 2). TIL  $\geq$  50% was associated with higher grade (*P* = 0.039), but not to age (*P* = 0.44), clinical stage (*P* = 0.59), MMR-loss (20% vs 15%, *P* = 0.72) nor PIK3CA mutation status (P = 0.53).

Loss of MMR protein expression was found in 4 (15.4%) cases. It was not associated with age (P = 0.69), clinical-stage (P = 0.68), grade (P = 0.53), molecular subtypes (P = 0.68) 0.91) or PIK3CA mutation status (P = 0.41).

PIK3CA mutations were found in 2 (14.3%) of the 14 evaluated cases and both were positive for H1047R (1321 copies/microL-15.07% and 1019 copies/microL-18.06%). Both cases belonged to the Luminal-A phenotype.

#### The association of prognostics and clinical-pathological features

Longer OS was associated with early stage (P < 0.001) and lower grade (P = 0.006). Survival was not associated with ER status (P = 0.305), phenotype (P = 0.152), AR status (P = 0.613), TIL level (P = 0.397), MMR protein loss (P = 0.501) nor PIK3CA mutation status (P = 0.844).

### DISCUSSION

We found a high frequency of AR expression and low frequency of both MMR-loss and PIK3CA mutations in our BC series in male Peruvian population.

Expression of AR was found in 85% of our male BC cases which is in the previously described range (40%-90%)[1], however we didn't find its association with prognosis. Androgen-receptor is a key driver of proliferation and cell survival, and although some retrospective male BC series describe its association with better prognosis[3] others like ours not[4]. Additionally, recent basic research and clinical trials describe that AR can predict activity of targeting drugs[9].

Our findings of high rates of ER-positive status and Luminal phenotype have been extensively described in Caucasian series [2,5]. Large sample size studies describe that ER-positive status would have a favorable prognostic effect (similar to the female BC) and predicts response to endocrine modulation [5,14,15]. The fact that we did not find an association with OS could be because of the small size of our series.

There was absence of HER2 enriched phenotype in our series and HER2- positive status was very infrequent. This corroborates previously published information that HER2 overexpression is less frequent than in female series, but it is expected to behave as a predictive feature to anti-HER2 therapies[2,5].

Our findings of 15% of cases with MMR loss have not previously been described in male BC. The HNPCC syndrome is an autosomal dominant genetic disorder characterized by predisposition to extracolonic malignancies at various sites including BC, is detected by loss of MMR proteins and is associated with high response to anti-PDL1 therapy. Studies with small sample size in female BC describe the lack or reduced expression of hMSH2 and hMLH1 in less than 20% [11,16]. Boyd et al [17] described a case of male BC belonging to a large HNPCC kindred that harbors a germline mutation of the MLH1. And recently, Piscuoglio *et al*<sup>[2]</sup> developed a pathway and network analysis of 241 genes in a series of 59 male BC and described an enrichment of mutations affecting DNA repair-related genes. We found that MMR-loss was associated with the previously described marker of endocrine response[3,4], the lower AR expression. Furthermore, this association appears to be specific for this steroid marker and not for ER, despite AR and ER expression were co-related. Haricharan et al [18] suggest that alteration in DNA damage repair genes could produce endocrine resistance because of the finding that defects in MMR pathway genes doesn't allow an accurate CDK4 suppression by endocrine therapy.



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Evaluation of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes on hematoxylin-eosin staining (x 20). A: A Luminal-A breast cancer with low TIL level; B: A Luminal-B breast cancer with high TIL level.

PIK3CA mutations were found in only 2 of 14 evaluated male BC cases that is lower than previously reported by our group in women with BC[19,20]. Piscuoglio *et al*[2] sequenced 241 genes in 59 male BC and found that most recurrent mutations affected the PIK3CA gene (20%). However, these rates would be lower than their female counterparts that have been detected in approximately 30%-40% of female BC[21]. In vitro and translational research in tumor samples from clinical trials found that PIK3CA mutations reduce sensitivity to anti-HER2 drugs[22] and endocrine modulation[19,20]. Additionally, a recent study demonstrates that Alpelisib, a drug targeting the PIK3CA pathway, has activity in breast cancer cases with presence of the mutation [12]

TIL is a well-described prognostic and predictive biomarker for anti-PDL1-therapy in female BC[10]. Vermeulen *et al*[22] found that high TIL density evaluated by a method different than the currently recommended in international guidelines was associated with Luminal-B HER2-positive subtype and longer OS in a 1483 male BC series. We also found a trend of higher TILs in Luminal-B subtype but not a relationship with longer OS (P = 0.378). Contrary to the female counterpart or other malignancies, we did not find that higher TIL levels were associated with AR or ER percentage nor with MMR-loss.

Finally, our finding that early stage and lower grade features achieve significant association with better prognosis is consistent with previous reports, and supports the current management of this entity [2,5].

The weakness of our study was that several patients were lost of follow-up; however, obtaining information about their live status from the national registry allowed us to build OS curves. The number of included cases is also small because it is a very unusual entity, representing less than 0.5% of their female counterpart (18552 female new BC cases diagnosed in our center during the same period). Our strongness is the prospective evaluation of biomarkers by pathologists and biologist authors. Our results serve to complement male BC knowledge in the South American population, which has been under-studied.

### CONCLUSION

We conclude that early-stage and low-grade features identify favorable prognoses in male BC. Most Peruvian BC cases are ER-positive, HER2-negative, AR-positive and Luminal-A tumors. MMR loss and PIK3CA mutations are infrequent, and MMR loss was associated with AR negative.

### ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

### Research background

Information about clinicopathological features associated with treatment response and



prognosis has been extensively described for female breast cancer, and differences regarding races has been described. Breast cancer in males is much less frequent, has important clinicopathological differences and is less studied than their female breast cancer counterpart.

### Research motivation

Discussion and new information about features and biomarkers of Breast cancer (BC) in males have been included in recent cancer-related meetings, and more than 30000 articles have been published in the last two years. However, very few of them have evaluated a South American population.

### Research objectives

To describe rates of currently accepted biomarkers for prognosis and for prediction of treatment response in Peruvian males with BC.

### Research methods

Clinical files and tumor slides were reviewed. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, mismatch repair proteins (MMR), PIK3CA gene mutations, estrogen (ER) and, androgen receptors (AR) were prospectively evaluated in available paraffin material.

### Research results

In our series of 54 Peruvian males with invasive breast cancer, we found that most cases were Luminal-A phenotype (60%), ER-positive (85.7%), AR-positive (85.3%), and the median of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes was 10%. MMR loss was found in 15.4% and PIK3CA mutation (H1047R) in 14.3% (all in the Luminal-A group). MMR loss was associated with AR-negative (P = 0.018). Longer overall survival was associated with early stages (P < 0.001) and lower grade (P = 0.006).

#### Research conclusions

Most breast cancer tumors in Peruvian males are ER and AR-positive, and MMR loss and PIK3CA mutations are infrequent. MMR loss was associated with hormone receptor-negative.

### Research perspectives

Biomarkers identified for women with breast cancer need to be validated for the male counterpart. Research in race disparities needs to be extended also for males of non-Caucasian races. Association between MMR loss and activity of AR pathways requires further evaluation.

### REFERENCES

- Kornegoor R, Verschuur-Maes AH, Buerger H, Hogenes MC, de Bruin PC, Oudejans JJ, van der Groep P, Hinrichs B, van Diest PJ. Molecular subtyping of male breast cancer by immunohistochemistry. Mod Pathol 2012; 25: 398-404 [PMID: 22056953 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2011.174]
- 2 Piscuoglio S, Ng CK, Murray MP, Guerini-Rocco E, Martelotto LG, Geyer FC, Bidard FC, Berman S, Fusco N, Sakr RA, Eberle CA, De Mattos-Arruda L, Macedo GS, Akram M, Baslan T, Hicks JB, King TA, Brogi E, Norton L, Weigelt B, Hudis CA, Reis-Filho JS. The Genomic Landscape of Male Breast Cancers. Clin Cancer Res 2016; 22: 4045-4056 [PMID: 26960396 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2840]
- 3 Humphries MP, Sundara Rajan S, Honarpisheh H, Cserni G, Dent J, Fulford L, Jordan LB, Jones JL, Kanthan R, Litwiniuk M, Di Benedetto A, Mottolese M, Provenzano E, Shousha S, Stephens M, Kulka J, Ellis IO, Titloye AN, Hanby AM, Shaaban AM, Speirs V. Characterisation of male breast cancer: a descriptive biomarker study from a large patient series. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 45293 [PMID: 28350011 DOI: 10.1038/srep45293]
- 4 Wenhui Z, Shuo L, Dabei T, Ying P, Zhipeng W, Lei Z, Xiaohui H, Jingshu G, Hongtao S, Qingyuan Z. Androgen receptor expression in male breast cancer predicts inferior outcome and poor response to tamoxifen treatment. Eur J Endocrinol 2014; 171: 527-533 [PMID: 25069458 DOI: 10.1530/EJE-14-0278]
- Cardoso F, Bartlett JMS, Slaets L, van Deurzen CHM, van Leeuwen-Stok E, Porter P, Linderholm B, 5 Hedenfalk I, Schröder C, Martens J, Bayani J, van Asperen C, Murray M, Hudis C, Middleton L, Vermeij J, Punie K, Fraser J, Nowaczyk M, Rubio IT, Aebi S, Kelly C, Ruddy KJ, Winer E, Nilsson C, Lago LD, Korde L, Benstead K, Bogler O, Goulioti T, Peric A, Litière S, Aalders KC, Poncet C, Tryfonidis K, Giordano SH. Characterization of male breast cancer: results of the EORTC



10085/TBCRC/BIG/NABCG International Male Breast Cancer Program. *Ann Oncol* 2018; **29**: 405-417 [PMID: 29092024 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdx651]

- 6 Carey LA, Perou CM, Livasy CA, Dressler LG, Cowan D, Conway K, Karaca G, Troester MA, Tse CK, Edmiston S, Deming SL, Geradts J, Cheang MC, Nielsen TO, Moorman PG, Earp HS, Millikan RC. Race, breast cancer subtypes, and survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. *JAMA* 2006; 295: 2492-2502 [PMID: 16757721 DOI: 10.1001/jama.295.21.2492]
- 7 Rebaza LP, Castaneda CA, Castillo M, Bernabe LA, Sanchez J, Calderon G, Dunstan J, la Cruz M de, Cotrina JM, Abugattas J. Androgen expression and clinicopathological features in male breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Manag* 2018; 7: BMT07 [DOI: 10.2217/bmt-2017-0027]
- 8 Thuler LC, Bergmann A. Male breast cancer: clinical-epidemiological characteristics of 1189 Brazilian patients. *Aging Male* 2015; 18: 118-123 [PMID: 24871582 DOI: 10.3109/13685538.2014.922532]
- 9 Traina TA, Miller K, Yardley DA, Eakle J, Schwartzberg LS, O'Shaughnessy J, Gradishar W, Schmid P, Winer E, Kelly C, Nanda R, Gucalp A, Awada A, Garcia-Estevez L, Trudeau ME, Steinberg J, Uppal H, Tudor IC, Peterson A, Cortes J. Enzalutamide for the Treatment of Androgen Receptor-Expressing Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2018; **36**: 884-890 [PMID: 29373071 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.71.3495]
- 10 Adams S, Loi S, Toppmeyer D, Cescon DW, De Laurentiis M, Nanda R, Winer EP, Mukai H, Tamura K, Armstrong A, Liu MC, Iwata H, Ryvo L, Wimberger P, Rugo HS, Tan AR, Jia L, Ding Y, Karantza V, Schmid P. Pembrolizumab monotherapy for previously untreated, PD-L1-positive, metastatic triple-negative breast cancer: cohort B of the phase II KEYNOTE-086 study. *Ann Oncol* 2019; 30: 405-411 [PMID: 30475947 DOI: 10.1093/annonc/mdy518]
- 11 Fusco N, Lopez G, Corti C, Pesenti C, Colapietro P, Ercoli G, Gaudioso G, Faversani A, Gambini D, Michelotti A, Despini L, Blundo C, Vaira V, Miozzo M, Ferrero S, Bosari S. Mismatch Repair Protein Loss as a Prognostic and Predictive Biomarker in Breast Cancers Regardless of Microsatellite Instability. JNCI Cancer Spectr 2018; 2: pky056 [PMID: 31360876 DOI: 10.1093/jncics/pky056]
- 12 André F, Ciruelos E, Rubovszky G, Campone M, Loibl S, Rugo HS, Iwata H, Conte P, Mayer IA, Kaufman B, Yamashita T, Lu YS, Inoue K, Takahashi M, Pápai Z, Longin AS, Mills D, Wilke C, Hirawat S, Juric D; SOLAR-1 Study Group. Alpelisib for *PIK3CA*-Mutated, Hormone Receptor-Positive Advanced Breast Cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2019; **380**: 1929-1940 [PMID: 31091374 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1813904]
- 13 Lynch HT, Lynch JF, Lynch PM. Toward a consensus in molecular diagnosis of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndrome). *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2007; **99**: 261-263 [PMID: 17312298 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djk077]
- 14 Zagouri F, Sergentanis TN, Chrysikos D, Dimopoulos MA, Psaltopoulou T. Fulvestrant and male breast cancer: a pooled analysis. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 2015; 149: 269-275 [PMID: 25519043 DOI: 10.1007/s10549-014-3240-z]
- 15 Wedam S, Fashoyin-Aje L, Bloomquist E, Tang S, Sridhara R, Goldberg KB, Theoret MR, Amiri-Kordestani L, Pazdur R, Beaver JA. FDA Approval Summary: Palbociclib for Male Patients with Metastatic Breast Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 2020; 26: 1208-1212 [PMID: 31649043 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-2580]
- 16 Murata H, Khattar NH, Gu L, Li GM. Roles of mismatch repair proteins hMSH2 and hMLH1 in the development of sporadic breast cancer. *Cancer Lett* 2005; 223: 143-150 [PMID: 15890247 DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2004.09.039]
- 17 Boyd J, Rhei E, Federici MG, Borgen PI, Watson P, Franklin B, Karr B, Lynch J, Lemon SJ, Lynch HT. Male breast cancer in the hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer syndrome. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 1999; 53: 87-91 [PMID: 10206076 DOI: 10.1023/a:1006030116357]
- 18 Haricharan S, Punturi N, Singh P, Holloway KR, Anurag M, Schmelz J, Schmidt C, Lei JT, Suman V, Hunt K, Olson JA Jr, Hoog J, Li S, Huang S, Edwards DP, Kavuri SM, Bainbridge MN, Ma CX, Ellis MJ. Loss of MutL Disrupts CHK2-Dependent Cell-Cycle Control through CDK4/6 to Promote Intrinsic Endocrine Therapy Resistance in Primary Breast Cancer. *Cancer Discov* 2017; 7: 1168-1183 [PMID: 28801307 DOI: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-1179]
- 19 Xiao W, Zhang G, Chen B, Chen X, Wen L, Lai J, Li X, Li M, Liu H, Liu J, Han-Zhang H, Lizaso A, Liao N. Mutational Landscape of PI3K-AKT-mTOR Pathway in Breast Cancer: Implications for Targeted Therapeutics. *J Cancer* 2021; 12: 4408-4417 [PMID: 34093841 DOI: 10.7150/jca.52993]
- 20 Miricescu D, Totan A, Stanescu-Spinu II, Badoiu SC, Stefani C, Greabu M. PI3K/AKT/mTOR Signaling Pathway in Breast Cancer: From Molecular Landscape to Clinical Aspects. *Int J Mol Sci* 2020; 22 [PMID: 33375317 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22010173]
- 21 Castaneda CA, Lopez-Ilasaca M, Pinto JA, Chirinos-Arias M, Doimi F, Neciosup SP, Rojas KI, Vidaurre T, Balko JM, Arteaga CL, Gomez HL. PIK3CA mutations in Peruvian patients with HER2-amplified and triple negative non-metastatic breast cancers. *Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Ther* 2014; 7: 142-148 [PMID: 25467032 DOI: 10.1016/j.hemonc.2014.09.007]
- Vermeulen MA, Slaets L, Cardoso F, Giordano SH, Tryfonidis K, van Diest PJ, Dijkstra NH, Schröder CP, van Asperen CJ, Linderholm B, Benstead K, Foekens R, Martens JWM, Bartlett JMS, van Deurzen CHM. Pathological characterisation of male breast cancer: Results of the EORTC 10085/TBCRC/BIG/NABCG International Male Breast Cancer Program. *Eur J Cancer* 2017; 82: 219-227 [PMID: 28292559 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2017.01.034]

Zaishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

WJC0

# World Journal of Woriu journe Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 935-946

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.935

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## **Retrospective Study** Jejunostomy in the palliative treatment of gastric cancer: A clinical prognostic score

Marcus Fernando Kodama Pertille Ramos, Marina Alessandra Pereira, Andre Roncon Dias, Erica Sakamoto, Ulysses Ribeiro Jr, Bruno Zilberstein, Sergio Carlos Nahas

**ORCID number:** Marcus Fernando Kodama Pertille Ramos 0000-0003-0200-7858: Marina Alessandra Pereira 0000-0002-6865-0988; Andre Roncon Dias 0000-0003-3378-4916; Erica Sakamoto 0000-0002-0845-0730; Ulysses Ribeiro Jr 0000-0003-1711-7347; Bruno Zilberstein 0000-0002-1809-8558; Sergio Carlos Nahas 0000-0002-2268-4146.

### Author contributions: Ramos

MFKP and Pereira MA performed the study design, data retrieval, statistical analysis, critical analysis, the draft of the manuscript; Dias AR and Sakamoto E performed the data retrieval and manuscript review; Ribeiro Jr U, Zilberstein B and Nahas SC performed the critical analysis and manuscript review.

### Institutional review board

statement: The study was approved by the hospital ethics committee and registered online (h ttps://plataformabrasil.saude.gov. br; CAAE: 31626220.8.0000.0068).

### Informed consent statement:

Informed consent was waived by the local Ethics Committee because of the retrospective nature of the study.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no

Marcus Fernando Kodama Pertille Ramos, Marina Alessandra Pereira, Andre Roncon Dias, Erica Sakamoto, Ulysses Ribeiro Jr, Bruno Zilberstein, Sergio Carlos Nahas, Department of Gastroenterology, Instituto do Cancer, Hospital das Clínicas da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo 01246000, Brazil

Corresponding author: Marcus Fernando Kodama Pertille Ramos, MD, PhD, Surgeon, Surgical Oncologist, Department of Gastroenterology, Instituto do Cancer, Hospital das Clínicas da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo, Av Dr Arnaldo 251, São Paulo 01246000, Brazil. marcus.kodama@hc.fm.usp.br

### Abstract

### BACKGROUND

Clinical stage IV gastric cancer (GC) may need palliative procedures in the presence of symptoms such as obstruction. When palliative resection is not possible, jejunostomy is one of the options. However, the limited survival of these patients raises doubts about who benefits from this procedure.

### AIM

To create a prognostic score based on clinical variables for 90-d mortality for GC patients after palliative jejunostomy.

### **METHODS**

We performed a retrospective analysis of Stage IV GC who underwent jejunostomy. Eleven preoperative clinical variables were selected to define the score categories, with 90-d mortality as the main outcome. After randomization, patients were divided equally into two groups: Development (J1) and validation (J2). The following variables were used: Age, sex, body mass index (BMI), American Society of Anesthesiologists classification (ASA), Charlson Comorbidity index (CCI), hemoglobin levels, albumin levels, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), tumor size, presence of ascites by computed tomography (CT), and the number of disease sites. The score performance metric was determined by the area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve (AUC) to define low and high-risk groups.

### RESULTS

Of the 363 patients with clinical stage IVCG, 80 (22%) patients underwent



conflicts of interest that might be relevant to the contents of this manuscript.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Specialty type: Oncology

Country/Territory of origin: Brazil

### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: March 31, 2021 Peer-review started: March 31, 2021 First decision: June 28, 2021 **Revised:** July 3, 2021 Accepted: September 14, 2021 Article in press: September 14, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Peng XC S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Li JH



jejunostomy. Patients were predominantly male (62.5%) with a mean age of 62.4 years old. After randomization, the binary logistic regression analysis was performed and points were assigned to the clinical variables to build the score. The high NLR had the highest value. The ROC curve derived from these pooled parameters had an AUC of 0.712 (95%CI: 0.537–0.887, *P* = 0.022) to define risk groups. In the validation cohort, the diagnostic accuracy for 90-d mortality based on the score had an AUC of 0.756, (95%CI: 0.598–0.915, *P* = 0.006). According to the cutoff, in the validation cohort BMI less than 18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (P < 0.001), CCI  $\ge$  1 (P= 0.001), ASA III/IV (P = 0.002), high NLR (P = 0.012), and the presence of ascites on CT exam (P = 0.004) were significantly associated with the high-risk group. The risk groups showed a significant association with first-line (P = 0.012), second-line chemotherapy (P = 0.009), 30-d (P = 0.013), and 90-d mortality (P < 0.013) 0.001).

### **CONCLUSION**

The scoring system developed with 11 variables related to patient's performance status and medical condition was able to distinguish patients undergoing jejunostomy with high risk of 90 d mortality.

Key Words: Stomach neoplasms; Gastric cancer; Palliative surgery; Jejunostomy; Gastric cancer with outlet obstruction; Stage IV gastric cancer

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** This is a retrospective study to evaluate the outcomes of jejunostomy in clinical stage IV gastric cancer patients, and create a scoring system based on clinical variables to identify the best candidates for this approach and avoid futile procedures. We analyzed 80 patients divided into a development and validation cohort. The score had an accuracy of 75.6% in the validation cohort, and was able to properly identify the cases with high risk of 90-d mortality.

Citation: Ramos MFKP, Pereira MA, Dias AR, Sakamoto E, Ribeiro Jr U, Zilberstein B, Nahas SC. Jejunostomy in the palliative treatment of gastric cancer: A clinical prognostic score. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12(10): 935-946

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/935.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.935

### INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer (GC) represents the third leading cause of cancer mortality worldwide [1]. Surgical treatment remains the standard of care for patients with resectable GC. Nevertheless, many patients at the time of diagnosis have already locally unresectable tumors or signs of systemic disease (clinical stage IV GC patients). As a result, palliative procedures are indicated in the presence of symptoms, including bleeding, perforation, or obstruction.

Palliative gastrectomy is the preferred treatment option for locally advanced GC with gastric outlet obstruction whenever it is feasible. However, if the tumor cannot be resected, the placements of endoscopic stents or gastrojejunostomy are additional options for distal lesions, according to the patient's life expectancy[2,3]. Unfortunately, some tumors may be too large or located in the upper third of the stomach, not allowing performing the gastrojejunostomy proximal to the tumor. In this scenario, a nasoenteric tube or jejunostomy are the main alternatives. Although jejunostomy enables the use of enteral nutrition, the patient persists with the obstruction and does not tolerate a full oral diet, with negative impact on quality of life.

Most studies evaluate the outcomes concerning placing a feeding jejunostomy at the time of gastroesophageal resection [4,5]. There are few reports concerning the influence of clinical and treatment variables on the outcome of palliative jejunostomy. Questions about improving survival and quality of life, in contrast to the morbidity and mortality rates in these cases, remain unanswered. Consequently, there are still doubts about


who benefits from jejunostomy.

Thus, the aim of this study was to analyze the clinical characteristics and prognosis of stage IV patients who underwent palliative jejunostomy due to obstructive GC, and create a prognostic score for mortality based on variables related to survival and worse outcomes.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

We conducted a retrospective study of patients with stage IV who underwent jejunostomy for obstructive GC at the Cancer Institute between 2009 and 2020. The indications for jejunostomy and inclusion in the study were: Adenocarcinoma histology, obstructive GC that could not be resected, diffuse or proximal gastric lesion that could not be submitted to gastrojejunostomy.

Abdominal and pelvis computed tomography (CT), endoscopy, and laboratory tests were assessed preoperatively in all patients. The clinical data collected from our prospectively-maintained database included body mass index (BMI), laboratory blood test, the clinical performance by the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) classification[6], the presence of comorbidities using the Charlson Comorbidity index (CCI)[7] (without the inclusion of age and GC as comorbidity), and Lauren histological type. GCs were staged according to the TNM 8th edition.

All patients were operated in a high-volume center by specializes surgeons. Postoperative complications (POC) were graded according to Clavien-Dindo's classification[8] and major POC were defined as Clavien III-V.

Palliative chemotherapy (CMT) consisted of a doublet containing fluoropyrimidine (capecitabine or 5-fluorouracil) and a platin (oxaliplatin or cisplatin) as the preferred systemic regimen for the first line. Irinotecan and cisplatin chemotherapy was chosen in some cases to avoid the use of infusion pumps or in those patients with difficulty swallowing capecitabine tablets. Paclitaxel or irinotecan was used in the second line. In our center monoclonal antibodies (trastuzumab or ramucirumab), as well as immunotherapy, are not usually available for GC treatment[9-11].

Postoperative follow-up was performed every month or in shorter period if necessary. Absence in appointments for more than 12 mo was considered as a loss of follow-up. The study was approved by the hospital ethics committee (NP1681/20) and registered online (https://plataformabrasil.saude.gov.br/; CAAE: 31626220.8. 0000.0068).

#### Prognostic scoring system-predicted mortality

To create a scoring system, patients were randomized into two groups (1:1) by computer using the statistical software (SPSS). The score was developed with half of the patients and further evaluated in a validation cohort with the remaining patients. The score was built with 90-d mortality as the main outcome.

As predictors, 11 preoperative clinical variables were selected and classified in a dichotomous way to define the scoring system categories. Clinical and baseline variables-generally used in clinical practice that reflect the general patient's status - and oncological variables related to the GC, that would have an impact on the prognosis and survival of patients undergoing palliative care, were selected to compose the score[12-15]. The following variables were used: Age, sex, BMI, ASA, CCI, hemoglobin (Hb) levels, albumin levels, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), tumor size, presence of ascites by tomography, and number of disease sites.

The points assigned to each category were determined by binary logistic regression analysis, and the score was calculated for each patient. The area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve (AUC) was used to evaluate the performance metric of the score, as explained below.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out using SPSS software, version 20.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL). Chi-square or Fisher's Exact test, and *t*-test were used to evaluate categorical and continuous variables, respectively. Factors related to 90-d mortality were analyzed by binary logistic regression analysis, and the odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence interval (95%CI) were calculated. The score performance metric was determined by the AUC. An AUC > 0.7 was considered to indicate high diagnostic accuracy, given that at least 70% of the patients were classified correctly as the highrisk group for 90-d mortality. The optimal cutoff values were determined by maximizing Youden's index (sensitivity + specificity - 1). Survival was estimated using



the method of Kaplan-Meier, and the log-rank test was employed for comparisons between the curves. Overall survival (OS) was calculated from the date of surgery until the date of death. *P* value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

During the referred period, 363 patients with clinical stage IV GC underwent surgical procedures. Among these, jejunostomy was performed in 80 (22%) patients. The clinical characteristics of all jejunostomy patients are summarized in Supplementary Table 1.

Patients were predominantly male (62.5%) with a mean age of 62.4 (SD  $\pm$  12.8, range 24-84.6) years, and a mean BMI of 21.0 (SD  $\pm$  3.9). Most tumors affected the middle third of the stomach (67.4%), with a median diameter of 7.2 cm on the longest axis.

The presence of disease in one or more sites, in addition to the primary, was observed in 70% of the cases: 63.7% had peritoneal metastasis and 17.5% had distant metastasis.

After randomization, jejunostomy patients were divided equally into two groups: (J1) score development group; and (J2) score validation group.

#### Prognostic index and risk groups

Considering the J1 group, the 90-d mortality rate was 52.5%. To develop the predictive score of mortality in 90-d, variables related to the worst outcome were selected for the design of the model. After the binary logistic regression analysis (Supplementary Table 2), 11 variables were included in the model, and points were assigned as shown in Table 1, for a maximum score value of 100. The following variables with the respective defined categories were used: Age (< 65 *vs* ≥ 65 years), sex (female *vs* male), BMI (< 18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> *vs* ≥ 18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), ASA (I/II *vs* III/IV), CCI (0 *vs* ≥ 1), Hb levels (≤ 11 g/dL *vs* > 11 g/dL, which represents the lower limit between mild and moderate anemia for men and women), albumin levels (< 3.5 g/dL *vs* ≥ 3.5 g/dL), NLR (< 2.5 *vs* ≥ 2.5), tumor size (≤ 7 cm *vs* > 7 cm), number of disease sites (one *vs* two or more, with represents locoregional, distant, or peritoneal) and the presence of ascites by tomography (absent *vs* present).

The highest score value was assigned to the high NLR category and the lowest value to the low levels of Hb and BMI. After, a value was assigned to each of the 40 patients, and the performance metric of the score was assessed through the construction of the ROC curve (Figure 1A). The AUC was 71.2% (AUC 0.712, 95%CI: 0.537–0.887, P = 0.022), with an estimated value of 65.5 for optimal cutoff.

Based on the cutoff, the J1 patients were divided in two risk groups for 90-d mortality: Low-risk (score < 65.5), with 14 (35%) patients; and high-risk (score  $\geq$  65.5) with 26 (65%) patients. The characteristics of the groups are shown in Table 2.

Sex, age, stage, ASA, and the presence of comorbidities showed no statistically significant differences between the groups. High NLR (P = 0.001), albumin levels lower than 3.5 g/dL (P = 0.026), and tumor size greater than 7 cm (P = 0.001) were related to the high-risk group. The risk groups showed a significant association with both 30 and 90-d mortality (P = 0.013 and P < 0.001, respectively).

#### Internal validation

Using the previously constructed scoring system, the score value was calculated for each patient in the validation cohort (J2 group, n = 40). The rate of 90-d mortality in this group was 50%.

As shown in Figure 1B, the risk score had superior diagnostic accuracy for 90-d mortality in the validation cohort (AUC 0.756, 95%CI: 0.598–0.915, P = 0.006). Using the previously established cutoff value (65.5 points), 21 (52.5%) and 19 (47.5%) patients were classified as low-risk and high-risk groups, respectively (Table 3).

BMI less than 18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (P < 0.001), CCI  $\ge$  1 (P = 0.001), ASA III/IV, (P = 0.002), high NLR (P = 0.012), and the presence of ascites on CT exam (P = 0.004) were significantly associated with the high-risk group.

Considering the postoperative outcomes, there were no differences in POC rate and length of hospital stay between the groups. However, mortality at 30 and 90 d were significantly higher in the high-risk group, demonstrating the performance of the score in predicting mortality based on the adopted cutoff value (P = 0.049 and P = 0.027, respectively). Besides, the rate of patients who received first and second-line palliative treatment was higher in the low-risk group (P = 0.012 and P = 0.009, respectively).

Table 1 Variables and points for each category-risk score for 90-d mortality				
Variables	Category	Points		
Sex	Female	7		
Age (years)	≥ 65	4		
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	BMI < 18.5	1		
CCI	CCI≥1	7		
ASA classification	III/IV	9		
Hb (g/dL)	Hb ≤ 11	1		
Alb (g/dL)	Alb < 3.5	3		
NLR	NLR ≥ 2.5	50		
Presence of ascites on CT	Present	5		
Tumor size (cm)	> 7 cm	5		
Number of disease sites	Two or more	8		
Total		100		

CCI: Charlson's comorbidity index; CT: Computed tomography; NLR: Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio; ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists; BMI: Body mass index; Hb: Hemoglobin; Alb: Albumin.

#### Survival outcomes–J1 and J2 groups

The median follow-up time for all patients was 2.1 mo (interquartile range = 0.6-5.9, mean of 4.4 mo). At the time of this study, 8 patients were alive, and 72 patients died (J1 = 36 and J2 = 36). The median OS for the entire jejunostomy cohort was 2.7 mo, compared to a median OS of 8 mo for the other clinical stage IV GC patients undergoing other surgical procedures (resection, bypass, or diagnostic laparoscopy) (P < 0.001) (Supplementary Figure 1).

Regarding the risk groups in J1 patients (development cohort), the median OS for high and low-risk was 1.0 mo and 4.3 mo, respectively (P < 0.001) (Figure 2A). For the J2 patients (validation cohort), the median OS was 1.4 mo for the high-risk compared to 5.7 mo in the low-risk group (P = 0.059) (Figure 2B).

### DISCUSSION

In the present study, we performed an analysis of a cohort of stage IV GC, not amenable to surgical resection, who underwent palliative jejunostomy, and we developed a prognostic score for 90-d mortality. Jejunostomy represented the therapeutic choice in 22% of stage IV GC patients. We provided a simple and feasible scoring system with variables easily available in the clinical assessment of patients. The score demonstrated an accuracy of 75.6% in the validation cohort and was associated with mortality rates.

As is widely known, palliative gastric resection is the best option for obstructive lesions, but some patients are unable to undergo this procedure. Proximal and bulky tumors also do not allow gastrojejunostomy to be performed to restore gastrointestinal continuity. Thus, in these cases, jejunostomy or nasoenteric tube are often indicated as a palliative measure to allow maintenance of nutritional enteral support [16]. Once the nutritional emergency is solved, patients may receive palliative CMT and resume oral intake in cases with good response.

The nasoenteric tube causes discomfort in the nasopharynx and oropharynx besides its visual uncomfortable aspect. On the other hand, jejunostomy involves performing an invasive surgical procedure on a patient who is already frail and debilitated[17].

Since these patients have a restricted prognosis, and particular clinical and oncological conditions, the rationale of developing the score was to take into account characteristics that can impact survival to properly identify the patients that are likely to benefit from the procedure.

Building a score involves the appropriate choice of variables since a wide variety of characteristics must be considered in GC cases for the management decision. In our



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

# Table 2 Characteristics of jejunostomy patients according to the risk group-score development cohort (*n* = 40)

	J1-score development cohort			
Variables	Low-risk	High-risk	<i>P</i> value	
	<i>n</i> = 14 (%)	n = 26 (%)	-	
Sex			0.507	
Female	6 (42.9)	14 (53.8)		
Male	8 (57.1)	12 (46.2)		
Age (years)			0.954	
mean (SD)	62.0 (15.0)	61.7 (12.9)		
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )			0.101	
mean (SD)	20.4 (2.7)	22.4 (3.9)		
CCI			0.885	
0	10 (71.4)	18 (69.2)		
≥1	4 (286)	8 (30.8)		
ASA class			0.507	
I/II	8 (57.1)	12 (46.2)		
III/IV	6 (42.9)	14 (53.8)		
Hemoglobin (g/dL)			0.456	
mean (SD)	11.1 (1.9)	10.5 (2.0)		
Albumin (g/dL)			0.123	
mean (SD)	3.7 (0.6)	3.3 (0.6)		
NLR			0.001	
mean (SD)	3.03 (1.58)	7.46 (5.22)		
Tumor size (cm)			0.18	
mean (SD)	6.9 (2.1)	8.3 (3.4)		
Presence of ascites on CT			0.48	
Absent	6 (42.9)	7 (26.9)		
Present	8 (57.1)	19 (73.1)		
Lauren type			1	
Intestinal	4 (28.6)	6 (23.1)		
Diffuse/mixed	9 (64.3)	17 (65.4)		
Undetermined	1 (7.1)	3 (11.5)		
Number of disease sites			0.408	
One (only locoregional)	6 (42.9)	7 (26.9)		
Two or more	8 (57.1)	19 (73.1)		
POC			0.075	
No POC/Clavien 1-2	14 (100)	19 (73.1)		
Clavien 3-5	0 (0)	7 (26.9)		
Length of hospital stay (days)			0.452	
Median (IQR)	4.5 (1.7-6.3)	5 (2.7-9.5)		
Palliative treatment-1 <sup>st</sup> line			0.257	
No	6 (42.9)	16 (61.5)		
Yes	8 (57.1)	10 (38.5)		



#### Ramos MFKP et al. Jejunostomy in gastric cancer

30-d mortality			0.013
No	13 (92.9)	13 (50)	
Yes	1 (7.1)	13 (50)	
90-d mortality			< 0.001
No	12 (85.7)	7 (26.9)	
Yes	2 (14.3)	19 (73.1)	

SD: Standard deviation; IQR: Interquartile range; POC: Postoperative complication; CCI: Charlson's comorbidity index; CT: Computed tomography; NLR: Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio; ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists; BMI: Body mass index.

model, we included 11 common usage variables related to the survival outcomes with broad external validity. The variables were categorized in a dichotomous way, which facilitates their use and reproducibility. Additionally, to provide an internal validation, the cohort was randomized into two samples: One for the construction of the model, and the second for the validation of the model.

Considering the variables that support the score, the impact of the NLR on the outcome was noteworthy, since the highest score was achieved by this parameter. The NLR represents a prognostic marker used in different solid tumors, including GC, and its correlation with survival is widely reported. Furthermore, the incidence of POC and their relation to NLR is also described in GC patients[12,18].

The rationale for this result is likely complex. Neutrophils present a pro-tumor behavior, as they promote angiogenesis, damage DNA, inhibit T-cell activity against tumor cells, and facilitate the metastatic process. Inversely, lymphocytes exert an anti-tumor function when they recognize tumor cell antigens, promoting cytolytic activity against these cells. Thus, the high NLR reflects a proinflammatory systemic status, leading to a protumoral environment that allows rapid tumor progression and development[19]. Therefore, NLR may also reflect a more advanced disease stage.

Regarding the outcome used to assign the score, we chose the 90-d mortality because it is considered a good parameter to reflect the value of a palliative procedure in patients with limited survival. Another outcome option to consider would be the ability to receive palliative CMT in the postoperative setting. However, this variable reflects not only the patient's performance after the procedure, but also their decision to perform palliative CMT. Some patients choose to adopt only best support care. Even so, in the validation court, low-risk patients received more frequently first and second lines of CMT.

Regarding complications related to jejunostomy, most of the reports are related to its performance after major gastrointestinal procedures for postoperative nutritional support[4,5,20,21]. Common surgical complications include loss or obstruction of the tube and local leakage of its content. The findings of some studies have shown that jejunostomy placed during GC resection is associated with increased complications. The analysis of this research included only palliative patients already with limited survival. Therefore, it is difficult to assess the impact of possible complications related to the procedure.

As previously mentioned, it is noteworthy that our score could distinguish low-risk patients, which received significantly more palliative CMT and had better median OS. Wang *et al*[22] analyzed 545 palliative procedures for GC treatment. Of these, 77 were considered as intubation procedures (17 gastrostomies and 60 jejunostomies), with a surgical mortality rate of 23.4%. The median OS in this group was 3.8 mo, and patients who underwent intubation procedures receive less chemotherapy compared to resected patients. In the study performed by Schmidt *et al*[23], the intubation group accounted for 12 out of 110 patients. These patients, combined with 52 other patients who underwent surgical procedures that did not involve the removal of the tumor, had a median OS of 9.2 mo. In our study, the median OS for the entire population was 2.7 mo. These results highlight the limited survival of these patients and the need for a good selection of patients for palliative jejunostomy.

Thus, with the application of the score, we were able to distinguish patients with a more limited survival: A high-risk group, with 1 mo and 1.4 mo in J1 and J2 cohorts, respectively; compared to the low-risk group, with 4.3 and 5.7 mo in J1 and J2 cohorts, respectively. This difference was significant in the development cohort but not in the validation cohort. Perhaps, the presence of one outlier with extremely high survival may have influenced the result in the validation cohort. As the score was developed to

Raishideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

# Table 3 Characteristics of jejunostomy patients according to the risk group-score validation cohort (n = 40)

	J2-score validation cohort			
Variables	Low-risk	High-risk	<i>P</i> value	
	n = 21 (%)	<i>n</i> = 19 (%)		
Sex			0.721	
Female	6 (28.6)	4 (21.1)		
Male	15 (71.4)	15 (78.9)	0.072	
Age (years)				
mean (SD)	59.7 (12.4)	66.7 (11.4)		
BMI $(kg/m^2)$			0.074	
mean (SD)	21.4 (3.5)	19.0 (4.7)		
ССІ			0.001	
0	21 (100)	11 (57.9)		
≥1	0 (0)	8 (42.1)		
ASA class			0.002	
I/II	16 (76.2)	5 (26.3)		
III/IV	5 (23.8)	14 (73.7)		
Hemoglobin (g/dL)			0.345	
mean (SD)	11.4 (2.3)	10.6 (2.4)		
Albumin (g/dL)			0.047	
mean (SD)	3.6 (0.6)	3.1 (0.6)		
NLR			0.012	
mean (SD)	3.65 (3.45)	8.81 (7.64)		
Tumor size (cm)			0.731	
mean (SD)	6.6 (2.6)	6.9 (3.4)		
Presence of ascites on CT			0.004	
Absent	14 (66.7)	4 (21.1)		
Present	7 (33.3)	15 (78.9)		
Lauren type			0.753	
Intestinal	5 (23.8)	7 (36.8)		
Diffuse/mixed	13 (61.9)	9 (47.4)		
Undetermined	3 (14.3)	3 (15.8)		
Number of disease sites			0.385	
One (only locoregional)	7 (33.3)	4 (21.1)		
Two or more	14 (66.7)	15 (78.9)		
POC			1	
No POC/Clavien 1-2	19 (90.5)	17 (89.5)		
Clavien 3-5	2 (9.5)	2 (10.5)		
Length of hospital stay (days)			0.455	
Median (IQR)	3 (3-7.5)	4 (4-8)		
Palliative treatment-1 <sup>st</sup> Line			0.012	
No	5 (23.8)	12 (63.2)		
Yes	16 (76.2)	7 (36.8)		
Yes	16 (76.2)	7 (36.8)		



30-d mortality			0.049
No	18 (85.7)	11 (57.9)	
Yes	3 (14.3)	8 (42.1)	
90-d mortality			0.027
No	14 (66.7)	6 (31.6)	
Yes	7 (33.3)	13 (68.4)	

SD: Standard deviation; IQR: Interquartile range; POC: Postoperative complication; CCI: Charlson's comorbidity index; CT: Computed tomography; NLR: Neutrophil lymphocyte ratio; ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists; BMI: Body mass index.



Figure 1 Receiver operating characteristic for the diagnostic accuracy of risk-score. A: Development cohort in predicting 90-d mortality in patients with stage IV gastric cancer (GC) undergoing jejunostomy; B: Validation cohort in predicting 90-d mortality in patients with stage IV GC undergoing jejunostomy. The area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) was 71.2% in the development group, with an estimated value of 65.5 for optimal cutoff. In the validation cohort the AUC was 75.6%, demonstrating a good diagnostic accuracy for 90-d mortality. AUC: Area under the receiver operating characteristic curve.

predict 90-d mortality, it did not affect the performance of the model. Furthermore, the score performance was higher in the validation cohort compared to the development group (AUC 0.756 vs AUC 0.712, respectively).

Some limitations in the present study should be mentioned. Unfortunately, due to its retrospective design, other outcomes related to the effectiveness of nutritional therapy provided by jejunostomy have not been evaluated. Analysis of weight curve, performance status, and quality of life could provide other relevant information. Also, the number of cases is a limitation. Even in a referral center, jejunostomy has a limited role in cancer treatment. This leads to a low volume of reports in the literature concerning its results, and maintains doubts as to its real benefit in cancer care and survival of these patients.

Accordingly, we believe that our series can provide data to assist in the decision of choosing the best way to maintain enteral nutrition. Since our score is easy to perform, it can be applied in other centers-including retrospectively-to evaluate their reproducibility and impact on the oncological outcomes of jejunostomy in these patients.

# CONCLUSION

The scoring system developed with 11 variables related to patient's performance status and medical condition was able to distinguish patients submitted to jejunostomy with



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Overall survival of patients with stage IV gastric cancer who underwent jejunostomy according to the risk group. A: Score development cohort; B: Score validation cohort.

> a high risk of 90 d mortality. In addition, the score identified patients who were able to receive more CMT in the validation cohort.

# **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Palliative gastrectomy is the initial treatment option for locally advanced gastric cancer (GC) with gastric outlet obstruction whenever it is feasible. Unfortunately, in some cases, nasoenteric tube or jejunostomy becomes the therapeutic alternative to allow maintenance of nutritional enteral support.

# Research motivation

The limited survival of these patients raises doubts about who benefits from jejunostomy.

# Research objectives

This study aimed to create a prognostic score for 90-d mortality for stage IV GC patients who underwent jejunostomy based on the clinical variables related to survival.

# Research methods

We conducted a retrospective analysis of 80 stage IV patients who underwent jejunostomy for obstructive GC. To create a scoring system, patients were randomized into two groups (1:1) by computer using statistical software. The score was developed with half of the patients and further evaluated in a validation cohort with the remaining patients. The score was developed with 90-d mortality as the main outcome.

#### Research results

We provided a simple and feasible score system with 11 variables easily available in the clinical assessment of patients. The score demonstrated an accuracy of 75.6% in the validation cohort and was associated with the mortality rates in patients who underwent jejunostomy.

# Research conclusions

The scoring system developed with variables related to patient's performance status and medical condition was able to distinguish patients submitted to jejunostomy with a high risk of 90 d mortality.



#### Research perspectives

The results of our series may contribute to identifying stage IV GC with unresectable tumors who can obtain better results with the jejunostomy. In addition, the score may contribute to the selection of patients who were able to receive chemotherapy, and thereby improving their survival.

### REFERENCES

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: 1 GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 394-424 [PMID: 30207593 DOI: 10.3322/caac.21492]
- 2 Ramos MFKP, Barchi LC, de Oliveira RJ, Pereira MA, Mucerino DR, Ribeiro U Jr, Zilberstein B, Cecconello I. Gastric partitioning for the treatment of malignant gastric outlet obstruction. World J Gastrointest Oncol 2019; 11: 1161-1171 [PMID: 31908721 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v11.i12.1161]
- Jeurnink SM, Steyerberg EW, van Hooft JE, van Eijck CH, Schwartz MP, Vleggaar FP, Kuipers EJ, 3 Siersema PD; Dutch SUSTENT Study Group. Surgical gastrojejunostomy or endoscopic stent placement for the palliation of malignant gastric outlet obstruction (SUSTENT study): a multicenter randomized trial. Gastrointest Endosc 2010; 71: 490-499 [PMID: 20003966 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2009.09.042]
- Torres Júnior LG, de Vasconcellos Santos FA, Correia MI. Randomized clinical trial: nasoenteric tube or jejunostomy as a route for nutrition after major upper gastrointestinal operations. World J Surg 2014; 38: 2241-2246 [PMID: 24806623 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-014-2589-9]
- 5 Sun Z, Shenoi MM, Nussbaum DP, Keenan JE, Gulack BC, Tyler DS, Speicher PJ, Blazer DG 3rd. Feeding jejunostomy tube placement during resection of gastric cancers. J Surg Res 2016; 200: 189-194 [PMID: 26248478 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2015.07.014]
- Doyle DJ, Garmon EH. American Society of Anesthesiologists Classification (ASA Class). StatPearls. Treasure Island FL: StatPearls Publishing LLC., 2017
- 7 Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987; 40: 373-383 [PMID: 3558716 DOI: 10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8]
- 8 Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien PA. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg 2004; 240: 205-213 [PMID: 15273542 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000133083.54934.ae]
- 9 Cunningham D, Starling N, Rao S, Iveson T, Nicolson M, Coxon F, Middleton G, Daniel F, Oates J, Norman AR; Upper Gastrointestinal Clinical Studies Group of the National Cancer Research Institute of the United Kingdom. Capecitabine and oxaliplatin for advanced esophagogastric cancer. N Engl J Med 2008; 358: 36-46 [PMID: 18172173 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa073149]
- 10 Ilson DH, Saltz L, Enzinger P, Huang Y, Kornblith A, Gollub M, O'Reilly E, Schwartz G, DeGroff J, Gonzalez G, Kelsen DP. Phase II trial of weekly irinotecan plus cisplatin in advanced esophageal cancer. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 3270-3275 [PMID: 10506629 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.1999.17.10.3270]
- 11 Hironaka S, Ueda S, Yasui H, Nishina T, Tsuda M, Tsumura T, Sugimoto N, Shimodaira H, Tokunaga S, Moriwaki T, Esaki T, Nagase M, Fujitani K, Yamaguchi K, Ura T, Hamamoto Y, Morita S, Okamoto I, Boku N, Hyodo I. Randomized, open-label, phase III study comparing irinotecan with paclitaxel in patients with advanced gastric cancer without severe peritoneal metastasis after failure of prior combination chemotherapy using fluoropyrimidine plus platinum: WJOG 4007 trial. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31: 4438-4444 [PMID: 24190112 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2012.48.5805]
- 12 Ramos MFKP, Pereira MA, Yagi OK, Dias AR, Charruf AZ, Oliveira RJ, Zaidan EP, Zilberstein B, Ribeiro-Júnior U, Cecconello I. Surgical treatment of gastric cancer: a 10-year experience in a highvolume university hospital. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2018; 73: e543s [PMID: 30540120 DOI: 10.6061/clinics/2018/e543s
- Ben Kridis W, Marrekchi G, Mzali R, Daoud J, Khanfir A. Prognostic factors in metastatic gastric 13 carcinoma. Exp Oncol 2019; 41: 173-175 [PMID: 31262152 DOI: 10.32471/exp-oncology.2312-8852.vol-41-no-2.13283
- Tan HL, Chia CS, Tan GHC, Choo SP, Tai DW, Chua CWL, Ng MCH, Soo KC, Teo MCC. 14 Metastatic gastric cancer: Does the site of metastasis make a difference? Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2019; 15: 10-17 [PMID: 29920947 DOI: 10.1111/ajco.13025]
- 15 Chen XL, Xue L, Wang W, Chen HN, Zhang WH, Liu K, Chen XZ, Yang K, Zhang B, Chen ZX, Chen JP, Zhou ZG, Hu JK. Prognostic significance of the combination of preoperative hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte and platelet in patients with gastric carcinoma: a retrospective cohort study. Oncotarget 2015; 6: 41370-41382 [PMID: 26497995 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.5629]
- Cotogni P, Stragliotto S, Ossola M, Collo A, Riso S; On Behalf Of The Intersociety Italian Working 16 Group For Nutritional Support In Cancer. The Role of Nutritional Support for Cancer Patients in Palliative Care. Nutrients 2021; 13 [PMID: 33498997 DOI: 10.3390/nu13020306]
- 17 Bozzetti F. Is there a place for nutrition in palliative care? Support Care Cancer 2020; 28: 4069-4075 [PMID: 32417968 DOI: 10.1007/s00520-020-05505-x]
- 18 Mohri Y, Tanaka K, Toiyama Y, Ohi M, Yasuda H, Inoue Y, Kusunoki M. Impact of Preoperative



Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio and Postoperative Infectious Complications on Survival After Curative Gastrectomy for Gastric Cancer: A Single Institutional Cohort Study. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e3125 [PMID: 26986164 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000003125]

- 19 Chiba T, Marusawa H, Ushijima T. Inflammation-associated cancer development in digestive organs: mechanisms and roles for genetic and epigenetic modulation. Gastroenterology 2012; 143: 550-563 [PMID: 22796521 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.07.009]
- Blakely AM, Ajmal S, Sargent RE, Ng TT, Miner TJ. Critical analysis of feeding jejunostomy 20 following resection of upper gastrointestinal malignancies. World J Gastrointest Surg 2017; 9: 53-60 [PMID: 28289510 DOI: 10.4240/wjgs.v9.i2.53]
- 21 Brenkman HJF, Roelen SVS, Steenhagen E, Ruurda JP, van Hillegersberg R. Postoperative complications and weight loss following jejunostomy tube feeding after total gastrectomy for advanced adenocarcinomas. Chin J Cancer Res 2017; 29: 333-340 [PMID: 28947865 DOI: 10.21147/j.issn.1000-9604.2017.04.06
- 22 Wang CS, Chao TC, Jan YY, Jeng LB, Hwang TL, Chen MF. Benefits of palliative surgery for faradvanced gastric cancer. Chang Gung Med J 2002; 25: 792-802 [PMID: 12635835]
- 23 Schmidt B, Look-Hong N, Maduekwe UN, Chang K, Hong TS, Kwak EL, Lauwers GY, Rattner DW, Mullen JT, Yoon SS. Noncurative gastrectomy for gastric adenocarcinoma should only be performed in highly selected patients. Ann Surg Oncol 2013; 20: 3512-3518 [PMID: 23765416 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-013-3024-4]



World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 947-959

DOI: 10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.947

**Observational Study** 

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Novel molecular panel for evaluating systemic inflammation and survival in therapy naïve glioma patients

Puneet Gandhi, Richa Shrivastava, Nitin Garg, Sandeep K Sorte

ORCID number: Puneet Gandhi 0000-0001-9690-5207; Richa Shrivastava 0000-0001-9870-9090; Nitin Garg 0000-0002-7894-0583; Sandeep K Sorte 0000-0002-1103-4041.

Author contributions: Gandhi P conceived the concept, study design, interpretation of data, initial draft, and final review; Shrivastava R performed the data acquisition, analysis, and initial draft; Garg N and Sorte SK performed the patient enrollment, and clinical data and its interpretation.

Supported by Major Project Sanctioned by the Madhya Pradesh Council of Science & Technology to Dr. Puneet Gandhi, No. 249.

#### Institutional review board

statement: The study was approved by institutional ethics and review committee (IRB/21/Res/11). The funding agency had no role in the study design of this project.

Informed consent statement: All study participants and/or legally authorized representative, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest, financial or

Puneet Gandhi, Richa Shrivastava, Department of Research, Bhopal Memorial Hospital and Research Centre, Bhopal 462038, Madhya Pradesh, India

Nitin Garg, Sandeep K Sorte, Department of Neurosurgery, Bhopal Memorial Hospital and Research Centre, Bhopal 462038, Madhya Pradesh, India

Corresponding author: Puneet Gandhi, MSc, PhD, Full Professor, Department of Research, Bhopal Memorial Hospital and Research Centre, Raisen Bypass, BMHRC Campus, Bhopal 462038, Madhya Pradesh, India. puneetgandhi67@yahoo.com

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

Inflammation is crucial to tumor progression. A traumatic event at a specific site in the brain activates the signaling molecules, which triggers inflammation as the initial response within the tumor and its surroundings. The educated immune cells and secreted proteins then initiate the inflammatory cascade leading to persistent chronic inflammation. Therefore, estimation of the circulating inflammatory indicators kynurenine (KYN), interleukin-6 (IL-6), tissue-inhibitor of matrix-metalloproteinase-1 and human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) along with neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) has prognostic value.

# AIM

To assess the utility of chosen inflammatory marker panel in estimating systemic inflammation.

# **METHODS**

The chosen markers were quantitatively evaluated in 90 naive, molecularly subtyped plasma samples of glioma. A correlation between the markers and confounders was assessed to establish their prognostication power. Follow-up on the levels of the indicators was done 3-mo post-surgery. To establish the validity of circulating KYN, it was also screened qualitatively by dot-immune-assay and by immunofluorescence-immunohistochemistry in tumor tissues.

# RESULTS

Median values of circulating KYN, IL-6, hTERT, tissue-inhibitor of matrixmetalloproteinase-1 and NLR in isocitrate-dehydrogenase-mutant/wildtype and within the astrocytic sub-groups were estimated, which differed from controls, reaching statistical significance (P < 0.0001). All markers negatively correlated



#### any other.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statementchecklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

#### Specialty type: Oncology

Country/Territory of origin: India

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: April 30, 2021 Peer-review started: April 30, 2021 First decision: June 16, 2021 Revised: June 21, 2021 Accepted: August 20, 2021 Article in press: August 20, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Ding L S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Yuan YY



with mortality (P < 0.0001). Applying combination-statistics, the panel of KYN, IL-6, hTERT and NLR achieved higher sensitivity and specificity (> 90%) than standalone markers, to define survival. The inflammatory panel could discriminate between WHO grades, and isocitrate-dehydrogenase-mutant/wildtype and define differential survival between astrocytic isocitrate-dehydrogenase-mutant/ wildtype. Therefore, its assessment for precise disease prognosis is indicated. Association of KYN with NLR, IL-6 and hTERT was significant. Cox-regression described KYN, IL-6, NLR, and hTERT as good prognostic markers, independent of confounders. Multivariate linear-regression analysis confirmed the association of KYN and hTERT with inflammation marker IL-6. There was a concomitant significant decrease in their levels in a 3-mo follow-up.

# **CONCLUSION**

The first evidence-based study of circulating-KYN in molecularly defined gliomas, wherein the tissue expression was found to be concomitant with plasma levels. A non-invasive model for assessing indicators of chronic systemic inflammation is proposed.

Key Words: Circulating; Glioma; Inflammatory marker; Kynurenine; Non-invasive; Prognostic

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** The current study is the first-ever analysis of the circulatory levels of kynurenine, interleukin-6, tissue-inhibitor of matrix-metalloproteinase-1 and human telomerase reverse transcriptase along with neutrophillymphocyteratio in a sizeable cohort of molecularly classified glioma samples. The ability of this panel to differentiate survival in glioma subgroups has been assessed. Evaluation of this inflammatory panel of potential biomarkers using the minimally invasive blood sample, for prognostication and targeted personalized therapy in glioma, is suggested.

Citation: Gandhi P, Shrivastava R, Garg N, Sorte SK. Novel molecular panel for evaluating systemic inflammation and survival in therapy naïve glioma patients. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12(10): 947-959

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/947.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.947

# INTRODUCTION

The role of inflammation and its partakers in glioma, especially the molecular markers secreted at the tumor initiation stage, is still not completely worked out. Since the brain is unique in comparison to other organ systems, being confined within the blood-brain barrier, it presents a local innate immune response to an inflammatory stimulus, like tumor antigens[1], injury, or oncogene over-expression, by the production of inflammatory molecules and/or metabolites[2]. Consequently, inflammation can be a cause or consequence of actively proliferating cells, an event that also initiates the recruitment of immune cells at the tumor site[3]. The stimuli, if persistent, can manifest as chronic inflammation, aberrant cell proliferation, and increased angiogenesis leading to the escape of specific molecules and cells into peripheral circulation[4]. Therefore, clinical management of inflammation associated with glioma initiation and progression is clinically recognized.

One of the significant inflammatory metabolites in the brain is kynurenine (KYN) of the KYN pathway; it is produced and secreted by endothelial cells and pericytes of the blood-brain barrier, which have been stimulated by inflammation. In the absence of effective immune regulation, chronic inflammation is generated by aggressively proliferating cells. Excess KYN production is triggered by inflammation in the tumor environment (TE), which leads to local immune tolerance, and the inflammatory signals generated by the tumor results in KYN being transduced across the intact blood-brain barrier to be detected in systemic circulation [5,6]. Over-activation of KYN



was first described in glioblastoma (GB) cell lines and tumor tissues as early as 2012 by Opitz and colleagues<sup>[7]</sup>. Excessive production of this metabolite was linked to increased tumor immunity and decreased survival as recorded by Adams *et al*[8] in cultured cells and 18 GB patient samples[8].

The tumor-infiltrating immune cells - neutrophils and lymphocytes, are also markers of systemic inflammation[9]. Their involvement as local inflammation indicators in glial tumors has been documented by Zadora *et al*[10]. Neutrophil recruitment initiates cytokine secretion, which strengthens the initial in situ neuroinflammatory response by activating more neutrophils and macrophages. Brain tumors, including glioma, express high levels of different cytokines, specifically interleukin-6 (IL-6), involved in multiple pathways of tumor pathology[11]. During gliomagenesis, IL-6 executes a more critical role than other interleukins since it predominately triggers the pro-inflammatory cascade. In the last few years, a couple of blood-based investigations analyzing the expression of IL-6 in different grades of glioma suggested that IL-6 expression may indicate disease prognosis[12,13].

Involved in this scenario of brain inflammation is another set of proteins, the tissueinhibitor of matrix-metalloproteinases (TIMPs), known to perform multiple functions, including regulating inflammation in the TE. In this context, there is a lone study by Lin et al[14] reporting plasma levels of TIMP-1 to be associated with an inflammatory response in glioma, proposing a role of this molecule in prognosis[14].

In this landscape of inflammation partakers in the TE, the association between increased chronic inflammation and telomerase activity is often overlooked. The human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) is an enzyme active in the immune system cells and regulates inflammation; however, its activity beyond a critical limit initiates uncontrolled proliferation. Several studies suggest that TERT activates the nuclear factor kappa-B target genes such as IL-6, which is crucial to inflammation and cancer progression[15-17]. Research groups, including ours, have demonstrated that hTERT executes many vital functions independent of its telomere maintenance, namely angiogenesis, inflammation, and stemness in glioma[18,19]. These findings suggested that the feedback loop of the hTERT signaling pathway may reinforce the inflammatory signaling via cytokine secretion, leading to the development of chronic inflammation in the TE.

Mechanistically, a traumatic event at a specific site in the brain leads to the secretion of inflammatory molecules such as IL-6 and KYN, which trigger the inflammatory cascade leading to over-activation of telomerase. The abnormal hTERT physiology is responsible for immune system dysfunction, followed by persistent chronic inflammation leading to a malignant phenotype. Further, this unresolved chronic inflammation also begins contributing to disease progression. The current exploratory study is the first ever analysis of the circulatory levels of KYN, IL-6, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), hTERT, and TIMP-1 in a sizeable cohort of glioma samples categorized according to their histological grade and isocitrate-dehydrogenase (IDH) expression. The ability of this panel to differentiate survival in glioma subgroups has been assessed.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Inclusion criteria

Patients with symptoms of recurrent seizures and headache radiologically diagnosed and histopathologically confirmed as glioma grade II, III, or IV.

#### Exclusion criteria

Patients less than 18 years of age or patients histopathologically confirmed as glioma grade I.

#### Subjects enrolled for observational study

Ninety treatment-naive samples, presenting with clinical symptoms like recurrent seizures, headache, increased intracranial pressure, and radiological diagnosis of glial tumor, were collected from the in-patient ward of the Neurosurgery department. Informed consent in writing was taken from all the participants of the study cohort (IRB/21/Res/11). Forty-five healthy subjects without any recent clinical history of inflammation or autoimmune disease, were taken as controls for blood samples. Whole blood was collected just before surgery; plasma and serum were separated and preserved at -80°C until further testing for target proteins was undertaken. A followup sample of all patients was done 3 mo post-surgery. According to the established lab



protocol, the systemic levels of the marker KYN were correlated with its in situ tumor expression by immunofluorescence-immunohistochemistry for validation (Supplementary File Method A).

#### Dot immune-binding assay

Qualitative screening of circulating markers was done using 20µL of serum after removing high abundance proteins. Subsequently, the samples were loaded onto nitrocellulose membrane and incubated overnight at 4°C. Then the membrane was probed with KYN, IL-6, TIMP-1, and hTERT antibody (1:2000 dilution, Monoclonal, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, United States) for 2 h followed by host-specific respective alkaline-phosphatase-conjugated antibody tagging (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, United States; 1:2500 dilutions) for 1 h. The label was detected using an alkaline-phosphatase substrate (BCIP, Sigma Aldrich, United States), which produced a visible signal corresponding to the concentration of the target protein.

# Quantification of circulatory markers

Quantification of the biomarkers in plasma samples was done by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for KYN (Creative Diagnostics, United States), TIMP-1 (R&D systems, United States), and hTERT (Elabscience, United States) according to details provided in the instruction manuals. The plasma concentrations were noted in ng/mL for KYN and TIMP-1, and ng/L for hTERT. IL-6 test results were computed from the patients' clinical reports and compared with the baseline values earlier established for this marker in the lab[13]. The standard reference range of each marker was defined and set as per kit insert. Complete blood counts of all enrolled subjects were recorded from the pre-surgery blood profile; the neutrophil and lymphocyte counts were extrapolated into the mathematical formula and calculated[18] to establish the NLR in patients and controls.

#### Statistical analysis

Non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to assess the difference between samples of different histological grades for plasma values of all biomarkers. Mann Whitney test was applied on the groups stratified according to IDH status and for marker panel KYN, TIMP-1, NLR, IL-6, and hTERT, to differentiate their significance. Analysis of area under the curve for receiver operating characteristic was performed to define the cut-off values and sensitivity of the markers between the grades and within subgroups that attained  $\geq 80\%$  specificity. To establish the diagnostic accuracy of the markers, CombiROC software (https://combiroc.eu) was used, and the predictive probability of the inflammatory panel for prognostication was subjected to receiver operating characteristic analysis. To discern the influence of covariates on plasma maker levels, univariate analysis was carried out to identify the confounding factors, namely, age, site, extent of resection, therapy, KYN, TIMP-1, NLR, IL-6 and, hTERT. Parameters attaining a level of significance in this analysis were entered into the multivariate functionally to create the final model. Furthermore, the Cox proportional regression model was used to compute hazard ratios with 95% confidence interval (CI) to establish the independent status of prognostic markers.

Overall survival (OS), defined as the time from randomization to death from any cause, was considered as a direct measure of clinical benefit to the patient. Patients alive or lost to follow-up were treated as censored. Curves defining total survival period with reference to the identified biomarkers were drawn on Kaplan-Meier estimates and differences compared between IDH-mutant/wildtype (IDH-m/w) subgroups for statistical significance using the log-rank test. Spearman's rho coefficient was applied to calculate the correlation of all five markers with OS within histological grades, between IDH-m/w, astrocytic-m/w, and in terms of KYN, TIMP-1, NLR, IL-6, and hTERT. Multivariate linear regression was performed to describe the association of the four markers with inflammation. Paired *t*-test was performed for pre-operative and 3-mo follow-up samples for the panel. The P values of all statistical tests were two-sided (P < 0.05).

# RESULTS

Plasma samples from healthy controls (n = 45) and glioma patients (n = 90, IDH-m: n =60 inclusive of astrocytic and oligo-component and IDH-w, astrocytic n = 30) formed the study cohort. Details of patients, relevant demographics, and clinical data are presented in Table 1.



Table 1 Demographic features and concentrations of molecular markers of recruited subjects						
No.	Factors	Controls	IDH-mutant	IDH-wildtype		
1	Sample size, ( <i>n</i> )	( <i>n</i> = 45)	60	30		
2	Sex, M/F	M = 30; F = 15	M = 51; F = 9	M = 25; F = 5		
3	Age (yr)	25 (21-50)	35.0 (13-75)	51.5 (25-76)		
4	Site	-	Frontal = 37/Non-frontal = 23	Frontal = 12/Non-frontal = 18		
5	EOR	-	STR = 38; GTR = 14	STR = 30; GTR = 0		
6	OS	-	28.5 (1-158)	6.5 (1-38)		

Values presented as median with range. M: Male; F: Female; EOR: Extent of resection; STR: Sub-total resection; GTR: Gross total resection; OS: Overall survival; IDH: Isocitrate dehydrogenase.

#### Qualitative screening

The presence/absence of KYN, IL-6, TIMP-1, and hTERT in circulation was screened on nitrocellulose membrane by dot immune-binding assay. A colored signal (blue) indicated immune-complex formation and presence of the inflammatory molecule KYN (Figure 1). The signal intensity of each marker corresponded to the pathological grading of the tumor.

#### Quantification of biomarkers by sandwich ELISA

Median values of plasma KYN in grade-II, III, and IV were 69.86ng/mL, 112.15ng/mL, 237.318 ng/mL, respectively. Levels of circulating KYN, IL-6, TIMP-1, and hTERT emerged as substantially higher (P < 0.0001) with increasing histological grade when the Kruskal-Wallis test was applied. The statistical difference between IDH-m/w groups (Table 2) using Mann Whitney test was highly significant for KYN (P < 0.0001), NLR (*P* = 0.0002), TIMP-1 (*P* = 0.0405) and hTERT (*P* < 0.0001).

The association of plasma levels (preoperative) of all markers yielded a positive correlation with the grade; however, the best value was observed for IL-6 (r = 0.64, P <0.0001, Table 3), while the most significant inverse correlation of KYN (r = 0.6154, P < 0.0001) was attained with OS (Table 3). When the samples were molecularly stratified, there was an inverse correlation of all biomarkers with survival outcome, being worse for IDH-*w* ascompared to IDH-*m*. The Spearman coefficient for inflammatory markers KYN, TIMP-1, NLR, IL-6, and hTERT was significant and positive for tumor grade, but there was an inverse association with OS, suggesting a poor prognosis with increasing systemic levels of these markers in therapy naïve glioma patients.

The tissue expression of KYN was concomitant with its plasma levels and increased with increasing histological grade (Supplementary Figure 1).

#### Determination of independence in prognostication

The relation of OS with KYN, TMIP-1, IL-6, NLR, hTERT, age, site, the extent of resection and therapy was calculated using univariate and multivariate Coxregression models to identify the plausible prognostic factors (Table 4). Univariate analysis delineated shorter patient survival to be associated with KYN, IL-6, NLR, TIMP-1, hTERT (P = 0.0001), and age (P = 0.0004). When multivariate Cox-regression model was applied, higher levels of KYN (P = 0.0003), IL-6 (P = 0.0004), NLR (P = 0.0001) and hTERT (P = 0.0026) were found to independently define prognosis. Based on these results, it was assumed that TIMP-1 could not be considered a sensitive marker for inflammation. So, the final maker panel of four markers, KYN, IL-6, NLR, and hTERT, was taken further for validation.

#### AUROC

The cut-off thresholds based on area under the curve for the four circulatory biomarkers were KYN: > 22.89, IL-6: > 62.5, NLR: > 2.775, and hTERT: > 1.309, at more than 70% sensitivity and 80% specificity, when comparing controls vs glioma patients. Levels of KYN, IL-6, NLR, and hTERT could significantly differentiate between histological grades, low and high grade and IDH-m/w, with more than 80% sensitivity (Supplementary Table 1).

Based on the AUROC analysis, optimal cut-off points were determined for the best balance of sensitivity and specificity and the highest value of likelihood ratio to predict survival through log-rank analysis, and thereafter Kaplan Meier curves were con-



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Concentrations of molecular markers of recruited subjects of glioma patients in terms of isocitrate dehydrogenase mutant and wildtype glioma						
No.	Factors	Controls ( <i>n</i> = 45)	IDH-mutant ( <i>n</i> = 60)	IDH-wildtype ( <i>n</i> = 30)	P value	
1	KYN (ng/mL)	5.009 (0.052-34.43)	77.155 (1.56-387.44)	237.318 (53.43-894.95)	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
2	IL-6 (pg/mL)	37.009 (6.715-62.49)	68.62 (21.85-209.73)	197.672 (59.217-803.711)	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
3	NLR	1.59 (0.87-2.8)	3.67 (1.23-11.5)	5.585 (3.1-18)	0.0002 <sup>c</sup>	
4	TIMP-1 (ng/mL)	38.03 (10.26-73.99)	82.54 (25.09-131.30)	107.01 (37.175-185.09)	0.0405 <sup>a</sup>	
5	hTERT (ng/mL)	1.029 (0.075-1.58)	1.364 (0.1-6.886)	2.185 (0.565-8.84)	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	

 $^{a}P < 0.05.$ 

 $^{c}P < 0.001.$ 

Median with ranges of all circulatory markers in controls, isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH)-m and IDH-w. KYN: Kynurenine; IL-6: Interleukin-6; NLR: Neutrophil-lymphocytes ratio; TIMP-1: Tissue inhibitor metalloproteases-1; hTERT: Human telomerase reverse transcriptase; IDH: Isocitrate dehydrogenase.

Table 3 Spearman coefficient correlation of circulatory markers with overall survival, histological grade and Kynurenine					
No.	Circulatory markers	Spearman r	95%CI	<i>P</i> value	
	Correlation with OS				
1	KYN (ng/mL)	-0.6154	-0.7324 to -0.463	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
2	IL-6 (pg/mL)	-0.5531	-0.6854 to -0.3855	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
3	NLR	-0.5696	-0.698 to -0.4058	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
4	TIMP-1 (ng/mL)	-0.4831	-0.6312 to -0.3011	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
5	hTERT (ng/mL)	-0.4386	-0.5960 to -0.2489	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
	Correlation with grade				
6	KYN (ng/mL)	0.5409	0.3705 to 0.6761	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
7	IL-6 (pg/mL)	0.6400	0.4944 to 0.7507	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
8	NLR	0.4982	0.3190 to 0.6430	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
9	TIMP-1 (ng/mL)	0.2614	0.05118 to 0.4495	0.0128 <sup>a</sup>	
10	hTERT (ng/mL)	0.3000	0.06441 to 0.4834	0.0102 <sup>a</sup>	
	Correlation with KYN				
11	IL-6 (pg/mL)	0.4919	0.3115 to 0.638	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
12	NLR	0.4084	0.214 to 0.5717	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
13	TIMP-1 (ng/mL)	0.4718	0.2877 to 0.6223	< 0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
14	hTERT (ng/mL)	0.3504	0.1485 to 0.5243	0.0007 <sup>c</sup>	

 $^{a}P < 0.05$ 

 $^{c}P < 0.001.$ 

An extremely significant inverse correlation of kynurenine, interleukin-6, neutrophil-lymphocytes ratio, tissue inhibitor metalloproteases-1 and human telomerase reverse transcriptase was obtained with respect to overall survival. A significant positive correlation of interleukin-6, neutrophil-lymphocytes ratio, tissue inhibitor metalloproteases-1 and human telomerase reverse transcriptase was obtained with respect to grades and kynurenine circulatory levels. OS: Overall survival; KYN: Kynurenine; IL-6: Interleukin-6; NLR:Neutrophil lymphocytes ratio; TIMP-1: Tissue inhibitor metalloproteases-1; hTERT: Human telomerase reverse transcriptase; CI: Confidence interval.

> structed for the four biomarkers (Figure 2A-D). OS was even better in patients with IDH-*m* astrocytic tumors than their IDH-*w* counterparts (Figure 2E).

> Circulating concentrations of KYN, NLR, IL-6 and hTERT were set at 22.89 ng/mL, 2.775, 62.5 pg/mL and 1.309 ng/L, respectively. Patients with values exceeding these thresholds were observed to have a shorter survival period. The OS was defined for KYN (18 vs undefined months, HR 3.176 with 95%CI: 1.626-6.206, P = 0.0007), NLR (20 mo vs 48 mo, HR 0.4167 with 95% CI: 0.204-0.8512, P = 0.0025), IL-6 (20 mo vs 80 mo,



WJCO https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 4 Univariate and multivariate Cox regression analysis of variables						
No.	Variable	Univariate		Multivariate		
		HR (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value	HR (95%CI)	P value	
1	KYN (ng/mL)	1.0037 (1.0026-1.0048)	0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	1.0024 (1.0011-1.0037)	0.0003 <sup>c</sup>	
2	IL-6 (pg/mL)	1.0032 (1.0021-1.0042)	0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	1.0022 (1.0010-1.0035)	0.0004 <sup>c</sup>	
3	NLR	1.2437 (1.1621-1.3312)	0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	1.2085 (1.1138-1.3114)	0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	
4	TIMP-1 (ng/mL)	1.0150 (1.0075-1.0225)	0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	1.0046 (0.9975-1.0118)	0.2042	
5	hTERT (ng/mL)	1.2681 (1.1498-1.3987)	0.0001 <sup>c</sup>	1.2303 (1.0749-1.4080)	0.0026 <sup>b</sup>	
5	Age(yr)	1.0245 (1.0108-1.0383)	0.0004 <sup>c</sup>	1.0090 (0.9938-1.0233)	0.2165	
6	EOR	1.3379 (1.8805-3.0328)	0.1726	NA	NA	
7	Site	0.9527 (0.6221-1.4589)	0.8236	NA	NA	
8	Therapy	0.8507 (0.2201-1.3578)	0.906	NA	NA	

#### $^{b}P < 0.01.$

 $^{\rm c}P$  < 0.001; indicated a significant association.

Results are presented as estimated hazards ratio with 95% confidence interval for specific variables. Variables with a significant *P* value (< 0.05) in univariate Cox-regression model were selected and analyzed using multivariate Cox-regression. CI: Confidence interval; EOR: Extent of resection; HR: Hazard ratio; hTERT: Human telomerase reverse transcriptase; KYN: Kynurenine; IL-6: Interleukin-6; NA: Not assessed; NLR: Neutrophil-lymphocytes ratio; TIMP-1: Tissue inhibitor metalloproteases-1.



Figure 1 Qualitative screening of kynurenine by dot-immune binding assay in control, grade II, grade III, and grade IV samples; red arrow indicates the presence of immune-complex. A: Control; B: Grade II; C: Grade III; D: Grade IV. KYN: Kynurenine; CON: Control; G: Grade.

HR 0.25 with 95%CI: 0.1318-0.4741, *P* = 0.0008), and hTERT (18 mo *vs* 48 mo, HR 0.21 with 95%CI: 0.1178-0.4741, *P* = 0.0006).

On follow-up, paired t-test between pre-and 3-mo post-surgery levels of KYN (P = 0.0148), IL-6 (P = 0.0107), NLR (P = 0.0038), and hTERT (P = 0.0016) showed a significant difference, and lower values post-intervention indicate that inflammation has plausibly reduced on debulking of the tumor (Table 5).

#### CombiROC

The predicting accuracy of these chosen candidate markers to ascertain systemic inflammation status in glioma patients was increased substantially in combination as a panel rather than standalone markers. Applying CombiROC enhanced the sensitivity of the biomarker panel. The sensitivity of KYN, IL-6, NLR, and hTERT was 86.11%, 72.22%, 77.78%, and 80% individually, which increased to 94.4% in combination with 96.7% specificity and an area under the curve of 0.983 as seen in combination VII (Figure 2F).

Based on the above results and multivariate linear regression, it can be inferred that there exists anassociation between the tumor secreted inflammatory molecules (Figure 3); therefore, these markers can be evaluated to assess systemic inflammation and prognosis.

Zaisbidena® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 5 Difference in preoperative and postoperative concentrations of markers in blood samples collected in a 3-mo follow-up						
No	Markers	Preoperative concentration	3-mo postoperative concentration	P value	rs value	
1	KYN (ng/mL)	126.1 (19.410-387.440)	75.405 (16.340-227.400)	0.0148 <sup>a</sup>	0.4509	
2	IL-6 (pg/mL)	75.65 (23.96-209.73)	60.03 (21.85-140.77)	0.0107 <sup>a</sup>	0.1850	
3	NLR	4.30 (1.43-15.00)	2.93 (0.80-6.90)	0.0038 <sup>b</sup>	0.7260	
4	hTERT (ng/L)	2.27 (1.16-6.86)	1.33 (0.78-4.78)	0.0016 <sup>b</sup>	0.6574	

 $^{a}P < 0.05.$ 

 $^{b}P < 0.01.$ 

Concentration presented as median with ranges. hTERT: Human telomerase reverse transcriptase; IL-6: Interleukin-6; KYN: Kynurenine; NLR: Neutrophillymphocytes ratio.



Figure 2 Survival curves of circulatory markers kynurenine, interleukin-6, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and human telomerase reverse transcriptase(red indicates worse prognosis while green represents favorable prognosis), differential survival between astrocytic isocitrate dehydrogenase-*mutant* and isocitrate dehydrogenase-*wildtype* gliomas, combination receiver operating characteristic of the panel of kynurenine, interleukin-6, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, and human telomerase reverse transcriptase to achieve increased sensitivity and specificity for predicting overall survival. A: Kynurenine; B: Interleukin-6; C: Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio; D: Human telomerase reverse transcriptase; E: Differential survival between astrocytic isocitrate dehydrogenase-mutant and wildtype gliomas; F: Combination receiver operating characteristic of the panel of kynurenine, interleukin-6, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, and human telomerase reverse transcriptase to achieve increased transcriptase; E: Differential survival between astrocytic isocitrate dehydrogenase-mutant and wildtype gliomas; F: Combination receiver operating characteristic of the panel of kynurenine, interleukin-6, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, and human telomerase reverse transcriptase to achieve increased sensitivity and specificity for predicting overall survival. KYN: Kynurenine; IL-6: Interleukin-6; hTERT: Human telomerase reverse transcriptase; NLR: Neutrophil- lymphocyte ratio; IDH-*m* astro: lsocitrate dehydrogenase mutant astrocytic; IDH-*w* astro: lsocitrate dehydrogenase wildtype astrocytic.

# DISCUSSION

The link between a tumor and inflammation is a well-established fact and is one of the major attributes of malignancy[19]. Inflammation in the TE mediates all aspects of glial oncogenesis, including *in situ* progressive development of vasculature and tissue remodeling[20]. Thus, by and large, the inflammatory molecules orchestrate the extrinsic and intrinsic stimuli, thereby initiating and contributing to tumor progression [21].

Although KYN is an important inflammatory metabolite in the glial-oncotransformation process, there are limited studies on the role of this molecule in glioma, with three research groups recording the ratio of KYN and tryptophan in a very small number of patients. In reference is the study on the plasma of 18 GB patients by Adams *et al*[8], who presented data to show that because of activation of the KYN pathway, the KYN/TRP-ratio was significantly higher in GB as compared to healthy volunteers. The other group of investigators presented a different opinion on KYN as a marker, stating that there was no significant difference in the levels before and after



WJCO https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 A non-invasive model for evaluating chronic systemic inflammation and overall survival in glioma. KYN: Kynurenine; IL-6: Interleukin-6; NLR: Neutrophil lymphocytes ratio; hTERT: Human telomerase reverse transcriptase; ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.

surgical intervention, as seen in 10 GB samples[22]. However, the research by Lenzen et al<sup>[23]</sup> documented significantly decreased serological values of KYN after a vaccine treatment with heat shock protein-peptide complex-96, but they did not provide any baseline data of KYN for comparison.

Therefore, the present therapy-naive dataset is unique as it establishes KYN levels in circulation for glioma, with values screened qualitatively at baseline and recorded quantitatively at two time points, pre-and post-surgery. This marker was able to differentiate between IDH-m/w groups with high significance (Table 2), along with histological grades and OS (Figures 1 and 2).

When a chronic inflammatory response is generated within the tumor, the KYN pathway proteins trigger the over-expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6[8]. We noted a raised expression of the inflammatory marker IL-6 in our enrolled glioma patients. Similarly, limited systemic studies available on GB reveal that aberrant production of this circulating cytokine is directly associated with tumor growth and poor survival, demonstrating IL-6 as an independent prognostic factor for survival[13,



WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com

24,25]. These studies suggest that the cytokine plays an important role in the *in situ* inflammatory response within the tumor.

Despite the established association between telomerase activity and inflammation, the related molecular pathway in glioma has not been elucidated. Elevated telomerase activity for the sustained proliferation of tumor cells begins a smoldering response of acute followed by chronic inflammation[26,27]. The work of Shervington and Patel[28] in glioma subtypes suggests a noteworthy variation of TERT protein expression levels in GB when compared with control. Two case reports presented from our lab also correlate hTERT expression to proliferation, stemness, and survival in glioma subtypes[13,29]. In a first-of-its-kind investigation, the correlation between tissue and blood concentrations of hTERT marker was also established by us in glioma[30]. Findings of the current analysis are also in line, and there was a significant difference of this marker among grades, IDH-m/w, and a positive association with KYN and IL-6.

In the present cohort analysis, the NLR score emerged as a good indicator of prognosis and survival in the molecularly typed sub-groups. Concurrence of this result can be found in studies conducted on smaller groups of GB patients[31,32] which show that there is a significant association of NLR with OS[33-36]. Our previous work on diffuse gliomas, along with the current study on IDH characterized gliomas, provides substantial laboratory-based evidence that NLR is a marker of inflammation and can be used as a prognosticator in the clinical setting[18].

There is an increasing acceptance of the proactive role of glial tumor cells in brain inflammation, leading to suppression of innate immune response via secretion of matrix metalloproteases[37,38]. In a study conducted earlier in the decade, Sreekantreddy and his co-workers established GBM-specific up-regulation of serum TIMP-1 by ELISA[39]. Similarly, while working with 36 patients, it was suggested by Crocker et al[40] that serum TIMP-1 levels may serve as an independent predictor of survival in glioma subtypes[40]. In an extensive study on low-grade glioma patients, Zeng et al [41] established that plasma TIMP-1 expression was significantly correlated with OS and relapse-free survival in these patients[41]. However, our results are partially in contention with the above studies. The plasma levels of TIMP-1 were up-regulated in our patients compared to controls, but the marker did not reach significance as an independent prognosticator.

# CONCLUSION

The systemic levels of target molecules discussed herein can be considered to represent the cascade of events leading to chronic systemic inflammation in glioma, as depicted in Figure 3. The present work is a one of its kind experiment-based qualitative and quantitative estimation of circulating KYN in a substantial sized cohort of molecularly defined gliomas. KYN is able to differentiate between histological grades, IDH-*m/w*, in terms of patient survival, along with IL-6, hTERT, and NLR, thus advocating assessment of this inflammatory panel of potential biomarkers using the minimally invasive blood sample for targeted therapy and prognostication in glioma. The study needs to be replicated in a bigger cohort and conducted as a multicentric study to establish clinical utility of this panel.

# ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

#### Research background

Chronic persistent inflammation is a hallmark of glioma and a major contributor to the disease progression. Currently there are no serological or molecular markers that are routinely evaluated before deciding treatment and in the follow-up period for monitoring survival and therapeutic efficacy.

#### Research motivation

A non-invasive inflammatory marker panel is essential to define survival and plan for a better clinical outcome.

#### Research objectives

The objective of this investigation was to assess the utility of the non-invasive biomarker panel to estimate systemic inflammation and whether it can define and differentiate survival in glioma subgroups.



#### Research methods

Dot-immune assay for screening of the expression of molecular makers followed by estimation of circulatory levels by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay are easy, costeffective and sensitive methods even in resource limited settings. The expression of marker kynurenine (KYN) has been validated by immunofluorescence-immunohistochemistry in situ.

#### Research results

The molecular marker panel of KYN, interleukin-6, human telomerase reverse transcriptase and neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio were negatively correlated with mortality (P < 0.0001) and achieved higher sensitivity and specificity (> 90%) than stand-alone markers, to define survival. It could discriminate between WHO-grades, isocitrate-dehydrogenase-mutant/wildtype and define differential survival between astrocytic isocitrate-dehydrogenase-mutant/wildtype. Association of KYN with neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, interleukin-6, and human telomerase reverse transcriptase was significant. Cox-regression described KYN, interleukin-6, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, and human telomerase reverse transcriptase, as good prognostic markers, independent of confounders. Multivariate linear-regression analysis confirmed a concomitant significant decrease in the levels of the markers, in a 3-mo follow-up.

#### Research conclusions

This is a first of its kind evidence-based study of a non-invasive panel that can estimate chronic systemic inflammation, wherein the identified over-expressed molecular markers can be targeted to design a personalized therapy.

#### Research perspectives

The study model when replicated in a bigger sized multicentric cohort can pave way for the use of the inflammatory molecular screen for routine patient care.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors acknowledge the review of histopathological slides by Dr. Jharna Mishra, Head Pathology, Bansal Hospital, Bhopal (M.P).

# REFERENCES

- Andersson U, Tracey KJ. Neural reflexes in inflammation and immunity. J Exp Med 2012; 209: 1057-1068 [PMID: 22665702 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20120571]
- Ha ET, Antonios JP, Soto H, Prins RM, Yang I, Kasahara N, Liau LM, Kruse CA. Chronic 2 inflammation drives glioma growth: cellular and molecular factors responsible for an immunosuppressive microenvironment. Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm 2014; 1: 66-76 [DOI: 10.4103/2347-8659.139717]
- 3 Charles NA, Holland EC, Gilbertson R, Glass R, Kettenmann H. The brain tumor microenvironment. Glia 2011; 59: 1169-1180 [PMID: 21446047 DOI: 10.1002/glia.21136]
- Serra MB, Barroso WA, da Silva NN, Silva SDN, Borges ACR, Abreu IC, Borges MODR. From Inflammation to Current and Alternative Therapies Involved in Wound Healing. Int J Inflam 2017; 2017: 3406215 [PMID: 28811953 DOI: 10.1155/2017/3406215]
- Owe-Young R, Webster NL, Mukhtar M, Pomerantz RJ, Smythe G, Walker D, Armati PJ, Crowe 5 SM, Brew BJ. Kynurenine pathway metabolism in human blood-brain-barrier cells: implications for immune tolerance and neurotoxicity. J Neurochem 2008; 105: 1346-1357 [PMID: 18221377 DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05241.x
- Lovelace MD, Varney B, Sundaram G, Franco NF, Ng ML, Pai S, Lim CK, Guillemin GJ, Brew BJ. 6 Current Evidence for a Role of the Kynurenine Pathway of Tryptophan Metabolism in Multiple Sclerosis. Front Immunol 2016; 7: 246 [PMID: 27540379 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00246]
- 7 Opitz CA, Litzenburger UM, Sahm F, Ott M, Tritschler I, Trump S, Schumacher T, Jestaedt L, Schrenk D, Weller M, Jugold M, Guillemin GJ, Miller CL, Lutz C, Radlwimmer B, Lehmann I, von Deimling A, Wick W, Platten M. An endogenous tumour-promoting ligand of the human arvl hydrocarbon receptor. Nature 2011; 478: 197-203 [PMID: 21976023 DOI: 10.1038/nature10491]
- 8 Adams S, Teo C, McDonald KL, Zinger A, Bustamante S, Lim CK, Sundaram G, Braidy N, Brew BJ, Guillemin GJ. Involvement of the kynurenine pathway in human glioma pathophysiology. PLoS One 2014; 9: e112945 [PMID: 25415278 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0112945]
- 9 Li X, Han Z, Cheng Z, Yu J, Liu S, Yu X, Liang P. Preoperative neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is a predictor of recurrence following thermal ablation for recurrent hepatocellular carcinoma: a



retrospective analysis. PLoS One 2014; 9: e110546 [PMID: 25330319 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0110546]

- Zadora P, Dabrowski W, Czarko K, Smolen A, Kotlinska-Hasiec E, Wiorkowski K, Sikora A, Jarosz 10 B, Kura K, Rola R, Trojanowski T. Preoperative neutrophil-lymphocyte count ratio helps predict the grade of glial tumor - a pilot study. Neurol Neurochir Pol 2015; 49: 41-44 [PMID: 25666772 DOI: 10.1016/j.pjnns.2014.12.006]
- Mostofa AG, Punganuru SR, Madala HR, Al-Obaide M, Srivenugopal KS. The Process and 11 Regulatory Components of Inflammation in Brain Oncogenesis. Biomolecules 2017; 7 [PMID: 28346397 DOI: 10.3390/biom7020034]
- 12 Shan Y, He X, Song W, Han D, Niu J, Wang J. Role of IL-6 in the invasiveness and prognosis of glioma. Int J Clin Exp Med 2015; 8: 9114-9120 [PMID: 26309566]
- 13 Gandhi P, Khare R, Garg N, Sorte S. Immunophenotypic signature of primary glioblastoma multiforme: A case of extended progression free survival. World J Clin Cases 2017; 5: 247-253 [PMID: 28685138 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v5.i6.247]
- Lin Y, Wang JF, Gao GZ, Zhang GZ, Wang FL, Wang YJ. Plasma levels of tissue inhibitor of matrix 14 metalloproteinase-1 correlate with diagnosis and prognosis of glioma patients. Chin Med J (Engl) 2013; 126: 4295-4300 [PMID: 24238516]
- Ghosh A, Saginc G, Leow SC, Khattar E, Shin EM, Yan TD, Wong M, Zhang Z, Li G, Sung WK, 15 Zhou J, Chng WJ, Li S, Liu E, Tergaonkar V. Telomerase directly regulates NF-kB-dependent transcription. Nat Cell Biol 2012; 14: 1270-1281 [PMID: 23159929 DOI: 10.1038/ncb2621]
- Chen R, Zhang K, Chen H, Zhao X, Wang J, Li L, Cong Y, Ju Z, Xu D, Williams BR, Jia J, Liu JP. 16 Telomerase Deficiency Causes Alveolar Stem Cell Senescence-associated Low-grade Inflammation in Lungs. J Biol Chem 2015; 290: 30813-30829 [PMID: 26518879 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M115.681619]
- Liu H, Yang Y, Ge Y, Liu J, Zhao Y. TERC promotes cellular inflammatory response independent of 17 telomerase. Nucleic Acids Res 2019; 47: 8084-8095 [PMID: 31294790 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkz584]
- 18 Gandhi P, Khare R, VasudevGulwani H, Kaur S. Circulatory YKL-40 & NLR: Underestimated Prognostic Indicators in Diffuse Glioma. Int J Mol Cell Med 2018; 7: 111-118 [PMID: 30276166 DOI: 10.22088/IJMCM.BUMS.7.2.111]
- 19 Wang J, Li D, Cang H, Guo B. Crosstalk between cancer and immune cells: Role of tumor-associated macrophages in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Med 2019; 8: 4709-4721 [PMID: 31222971 DOI: 10.1002/cam4.23271
- Lin Q, Jin S, Han M, Zheng W, Liu J, Wei X. Inflammation in the Tumor Microenvironment. J 20 Immunol Res 2018; 2018: 1965847 [PMID: 30035130 DOI: 10.1155/2018/1965847]
- 21 Wang M, Zhao J, Zhang L, Wei F, Lian Y, Wu Y, Gong Z, Zhang S, Zhou J, Cao K, Li X, Xiong W, Li G, Zeng Z, Guo C. Role of tumor microenvironment in tumorigenesis. J Cancer 2017; 8: 761-773 [PMID: 28382138 DOI: 10.7150/jca.17648]
- Zhai L, Dey M, Lauing KL, Gritsina G, Kaur R, Lukas RV, Nicholas MK, Rademaker AW, Dostal 22 CR, McCusker RH, Raizer JJ, Parsa AT, Bloch O, Wainwright DA. The kynurenine to tryptophan ratio as a prognostic tool for glioblastoma patients enrolling in immunotherapy. J Clin Neurosci 2015; 22: 1964-1968 [PMID: 26279502 DOI: 10.1016/j.jocn.2015.06.018]
- Lenzen A, Zhai L, Lauing KL, Gritsina G, Ladomersky E, Genet M, James CD, Bloch O, Wainwright 23 DA. The Kynurenine/Tryptophan Ratio and Glioblastoma Patients Treated with Hsppc-96 Vaccine. Immunotherapy (Los Angel) 2016; 2 [PMID: 27819068 DOI: 10.4172/2471-9552.1000125]
- 24 Li Z, Huang Q, Chen H, Lin Z, Zhao M, Jiang Z. Interferon Regulatory Factor 7 Promoted Glioblastoma Progression and Stemness by Modulating IL-6 Expression in Microglia. J Cancer 2017; 8: 207-219 [PMID: 28243325 DOI: 10.7150/jca.16415]
- Holst CB, Christensen IJ, Skjøth-Rasmussen J, Hamerlik P, Poulsen HS, Johansen JS. Systemic 25 Immune Modulation in Gliomas: Prognostic Value of Plasma IL-6, YKL-40, and Genetic Variation in YKL-40. Front Oncol 2020; 10: 478 [PMID: 32363159 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00478]
- Kordinas V, Ioannidis A, Chatzipanagiotou S. The Telomere/Telomerase System in Chronic 26 Inflammatory Diseases. Cause or Effect? Genes (Basel) 2016; 7 [PMID: 27598205 DOI: 10.3390/genes7090060]
- 27 Wu L, Fidan K, Um JY, Ahn KS. Telomerase: Key regulator of inflammation and cancer. Pharmacol Res 2020; 155: 104726 [PMID: 32109579 DOI: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.104726]
- Shervington A, Patel R. Differential hTERT mRNA processing between young and older glioma 28 patients. FEBS Lett 2008; 582: 1707-1710 [PMID: 18435920 DOI: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.04.027]
- 29 Gandhi P, Khare R, Niraj K, Garg N, Sorte SK, Gulwani H. Unique case of oligoastrocytoma with recurrence and grade progression: Exhibiting differential expression of high mobility group-A1 and human telomerase reverse transcriptase. World J Clin Cases 2016; 4: 296-301 [PMID: 27672647 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v4.i9.296]
- Gandhi P, Khare R, Garg N. Evaluating the potential of circulating hTERT levels in glioma: can 30 plasma levels serve as an independent prognostic marker? J Neurooncol 2017; 135: 255-261 [PMID: 28756592 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-017-2578-6]
- 31 Dharmajaya R, Sari DK. Role and value of inflammatory markers in brain tumors: A case controlled study. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2021; 63: 102107 [PMID: 33659053 DOI: 10.1016/j.amsu.2021.01.055]
- 32 Alexiou GA, Vartholomatos E, Zagorianakou P, Voulgaris S. Prognostic significance of neutrophiltolymphocyte ratio in glioblastoma. Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm 2014; 1: 131-134 [DOI: 10.4103/2347-8659.143666]
- Bambury RM, Teo MY, Power DG, Yusuf A, Murray S, Battley JE, Drake C, O'Dea P, Bermingham



N, Keohane C, Grossman SA, Moylan EJ, O'Reilly S. The association of pre-treatment neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio with overall survival in patients with glioblastoma multiforme. J Neurooncol 2013; 114: 149-154 [PMID: 23780645 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-013-1164-9]

- Han S, Liu Y, Li Q, Li Z, Hou H, Wu A. Pre-treatment neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is associated 34 with neutrophil and T-cell infiltration and predicts clinical outcome in patients with glioblastoma. BMC Cancer 2015; 15: 617 [PMID: 26341881 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-015-1629-7]
- 35 McNamara MG, Lwin Z, Jiang H, Templeton AJ, Zadeh G, Bernstein M, Chung C, Millar BA, Laperriere N, Mason WP. Factors impacting survival following second surgery in patients with glioblastoma in the temozolomide treatment era, incorporating neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio and time to first progression. J Neurooncol 2014; 117: 147-152 [PMID: 24469854 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-014-1366-9]
- Sharma G, Jain SK, Sinha VD. Peripheral Inflammatory Blood Markers in Diagnosis of Glioma and 36 IDH Status. J Neurosci Rural Pract 2021; 12: 88-94 [PMID: 33551616 DOI: 10.1055/s-0040-1721166]
- Pullen NA, Pickford AR, Perry MM, Jaworski DM, Loveson KF, Arthur DJ, Holliday JR, Van Meter 37 TE, Peckham R, Younas W, Briggs SEJ, MacDonald S, Butterfield T, Constantinou M, Fillmore HL. Current insights into matrix metalloproteinases and glioma progression: transcending the degradation boundary. Metalloproteinases Med 2018; 5: 13-30 [DOI: 10.2147/mnm.s105123]
- Muller L, Muller-Haegele S, Mitsuhashi M, Gooding W, Okada H, Whiteside TL. Exosomes isolated 38 from plasma of glioma patients enrolled in a vaccination trial reflect antitumor immune activity and might predict survival. Oncoimmunology 2015; 4: e1008347 [PMID: 26155415 DOI: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1008347
- Sreekanthreddy P, Srinivasan H, Kumar DM, Nijaguna MB, Sridevi S, Vrinda M, Arivazhagan A, 39 Balasubramaniam A, Hegde AS, Chandramouli BA, Santosh V, Rao MR, Kondaiah P, Somasundaram K. Identification of potential serum biomarkers of glioblastoma: serum osteopontin levels correlate with poor prognosis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2010; 19: 1409-1422 [PMID: 20530493 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-1077]
- 40 Crocker M, Ashley S, Giddings I, Petrik V, Hardcastle A, Aherne W, Pearson A, Bell BA, Zacharoulis S, Papadopoulos MC. Serum angiogenic profile of patients with glioblastoma identifies distinct tumor subtypes and shows that TIMP-1 is a prognostic factor. Neuro Oncol 2011; 13: 99-108 [PMID: 21163810 DOI: 10.1093/neuonc/noq170]
- Zeng WJ, Yang YL, Wen ZP, Chen P, Chen XP, Gong ZC. Identification of gene expression and 41 DNA methylation of SERPINA5 and TIMP1 as novel prognostic markers in lower-grade gliomas. PeerJ 2020; 8: e9262 [PMID: 32547876 DOI: 10.7717/peerj.9262]



World Journal of Clinical Oncology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Clin Oncol 2021 October 24; 12(10): 960-965

DOI: 10.5306/wico.v12.i10.960

ISSN 2218-4333 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Gastric myeloid sarcoma: A case report

Patricia Rioja, Jackeline Macetas, Jorge Luna-Abanto, Indira Tirado-Hurtado, Daniel J Enriguez

ORCID number: Patricia Rioja 0000-0003-3141-7418; Jackeline Macetas 0000-0002-6924-2943; Jorge Luna-Abanto 0000-0001-8795-6635; Indira Tirado-Hurtado 0000-0002-5820-970X; Daniel J Enriquez 0000-0002-0855-8936.

Author contributions: Rioja P, Macetas J and Enriquez DJ participated in the clinical management of the patient, the conception of the case report, and writing; Tirado-Hurtado I and Luna-Abanto J participated with the writing and critical review of the manuscript.

#### Informed consent statement:

Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this manuscript, also the accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

# CARE Checklist (2016) statement:

The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution

Patricia Rioja, Jackeline Macetas, Department of Oncology Medicine, Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas, Lima 15000, Peru

Jorge Luna-Abanto, Department of Surgical Oncology, Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas, Lima 15000, Peru

Indira Tirado-Hurtado, Universidad Privada San Juan Bautista, Filial Chincha 11702, Peru

Daniel J Enriquez, Universidad Privada San Juan Bautista, Lima 15000, Peru

Corresponding author: Jorge Luna-Abanto, MD, Surgical Oncologist, Department of Oncological Surgery, Instituto Nacional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas, Av. Angamos Este 2520, Lima 15000, Peru. jorgelunaabanto@gmail.com

# Abstract

# BACKGROUND

Myeloid sarcoma (MS) is a rare hematologic malignancy defined as an extramedullary tumor of immature granulocytic cells. It can occur as primary or *de novo* and be associated with myelodysplasia or myeloproliferative neoplasms. The most frequent locations are the skin, lymph nodes and bones. The case of a patient with a diagnosis of primary granulocytic *de novo* gastric MS is reported.

# CASE SUMMARY

A 19-year-old female patient with MS, whose abdominal computed tomography showed a bulky tumor of 16.5 cm in the gastric chamber with infiltration in the retroperitoneal, pancreatic and bile duct region; the histological study showed gastric mucosa diffusely infiltrated by mononucleated cells and the immunohistochemistry expressed myeloperoxidase. After receiving induction chemotherapy based on the 3 + 7 regimen (daunorubicin/cytarabine), the patient developed severe hematological toxicity and neutropenic typhlitis which required a prolonged medical treatment. She presented a rapid disease progression. Although she received supportive treatment, the patient died.

# CONCLUSION

Gastric primary *de novo* MS is a rare and aggressive course neoplasm, fostering knowledge is very important to decide its management and to promote more approaches focused on understanding this pathology and its particularities in our population.

Key Words: Myeloid sarcoma; Granulocytic sarcoma; Stomach; Chemotherapy; Peru; Case report



NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Specialty type: Oncology

#### Country/Territory of origin: Peru

### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: April 21, 2021 Peer-review started: April 21, 2021 First decision: July 16, 2021 Revised: July 26, 2021 Accepted: September 19, 2021 Article in press: September 19, 2021 Published online: October 24, 2021

P-Reviewer: Gupta S S-Editor: Gao CC I-Editor: A P-Editor: Wu RR



#### ©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: This case report describes a gastric primary de novo myeloid sarcoma (MS) which is a very rare hematological neoplasm with poor prognosis in a young and symptomatic patient. After receiving chemotherapy, she presented severe toxicity (neutropenic typhlitis) and rapid disease progression. This case highlights the importance of detecting gastric primary MS as a rare form of extramedullary myeloid leukemia presentation. Moreover, management of gastric primary MS could lead to interventions to avoid deterioration of gastrointestinal system during treatment. There is limited information of management and outcomes regarding gastric primary MS. Furthermore, there is very limited data about de novo MS in Peruvian patients.

Citation: Rioja P, Macetas J, Luna-Abanto J, Tirado-Hurtado I, Enriquez DJ. Gastric myeloid sarcoma: A case report. World J Clin Oncol 2021; 12(10): 960-965 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-4333/full/v12/i10/960.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5306/wjco.v12.i10.960

# INTRODUCTION

Myeloid sarcoma (MS) is defined as a myeloblast tumor produced in an anatomical place different from the bone marrow that destroys the original architecture of the local tissue. These tumors are also known as granulocytic sarcomas, chloromas or extramedullary myeloid tumors[1,2]. MS occurs more frequently in males and young individuals; its location is variable, and cerebral, mammary, testicular, gastrointestinal involvement has been reported, among other visceral organs, and it appears more frequently in the skin, lymph nodes and bones[3].

MS occurrence is frequently associated with acute myeloid leukemia (AML), affecting between 2.5% and 9% of patients. When the disease is detected without clinical signs of leukemia and in association with a negative bone marrow biopsy, it is classified as de novo MS[2], the incidence of which is 2 cases per million adults[2,4]. Gastrointestinal presentation is uncommon and shows nonspecific symptoms related to the effect of tumor mass[3,5].

# CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

The patient was a 19-year-old female without a relevant history.

# History of present illness

The patient was admitted to the hospital with nausea, vomiting and early satiety of 5 mo of evolution associated with an episode of hematemesis.

#### Physical examination

The patient showed low body weight, a regular general condition, distended abdomen, ascites, and a poorly defined bulky mass located in the upper hemiabdo-men.

# Laboratory examinations

Laboratory tests at admission revealed moderate anemia (Hb: 9 g/dL), hypoalbuminemia (albumin: 2.5 g/dL), grade 4 hyperbilirubinemia (total bilirubin: 2.5 mg/dL, indirect bilirubin: 1.8 g/dL), grade 2 hypertransaminasemia (aspartate aminotransferase: 90 IU/L, alanine aminotransferase: 100 IU/L), and elevated alkaline phosphatase (360 IU/L).

# Imaging examinations

Abdominal computed tomography showed a bulky tumor of 16.5 cm in the gastric chamber, which infiltrated the retroperitoneal, pancreatic and bile duct regions, with dilation of the latter. In addition, peritoneal thickening, free fluid, splenomegaly and



bilateral hydronephrosis were observed (Figure 1). Upper digestive endoscopy was reported at the level of the infiltrated gastric mucosal body with decreased contractility, thickened gastric folds, and infiltration of the duodenal bulb throughout its length. The colonoscopy showed no lesions.

### Pathology

The histological study showed gastric mucosa diffusely infiltrated by mononucleated cells, which were intermediate in size with eosinophilic cytoplasm and blast-like nuclei (Figure 2). Immunohistochemistry indicated that these cells expressed myeloperoxidase (MPO) (+), CD117 (+) CD34 (+), CD20 (-), CD3 (-), CD68 (-), CD38 (-), CD30 (-), DTT (-), and Ki67: 80% (Figure 3). Bone marrow analysis by cytomorphology and flow cytometry was negative for infiltration by myeloid blasts. The bone marrow karyotype was 46 XX, and it was not possible to demonstrate the presence of the AML1-ETO, CBFB-MYH11, NPM1 mut A, and FLT3-ITD genes or mutations in exons 8 and 17 of the c-kit gene in bone marrow and the primary tumor.

# FINAL DIAGNOSIS

This case final diagnosis is primary gastric de novo granulocytic MS.

# TREATMENT

The patient began induction treatment based on the 3 + 7 regimen (daunorubicin 60  $mg/m^2$  for 3 d + citarabine 200 mg/m<sup>2</sup> for 7 d). She developed severe hematological toxicity and neutropenic typhlitis requiring antibiotic and antifungal coverage, parenteral nutritional support and a prolonged stay.

# OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

In the reassessment of the disease 30 d after treatment, the patient reached a partial response. A second cycle of 3 + 7 regimen treatment was scheduled, and regular tolerance and rapid disease progression were observed, thus she received supportive treatment; however, the patient died.

# DISCUSSION

The case of a 19-year-old woman with a final diagnosis of gastric granulocytic type MS is presented. The symptoms were similar to those reported in other cases of gastric MS, which was conditioned by the extensive intra-abdominal involvement of the neoplasm (Figure 1)[2,6,7]. The differential histopathological diagnosis was based on morphological and immunohistochemical characteristics, which included non-Hodgkin lymphoma, Burkitt lymphoma, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, lymphoblastic lymphoma, and Ewing's sarcoma, among others[3,8]. The present case had a blast type histology. Classically, MS expresses myeloid markers such as CD13, CD33 and MPO, but these markers are not present in all cases. For example, the expression of MPO, one of the most frequent markers, has been reported to be between 83.6% and 64.1% in different series[9]. On the other hand, the expression of CD68, a marker related to lymphocyte lineage and lysosome leakage, was positive in our patient; its presence has been reported in up to 100% of patients with MS[8]. Other markers, such as CD33, CD13 and related to line B, are less consistent in these patients[4,8,9]. It can be distinguished from other round cell neoplasms, such as Ewing sarcoma or neuroendocrine tumors, with specific markers, such as CD99-specific neuronal enolase and CD99, respectively. It has been reported that the anomaly of the nucleus binding factor (translocation between chromosomes 8 and 21) is the most frequent in patients with de novo MS; this has been reported in 38% of cases in an North American study[8]. In contrast, translocation 8; 21 was only found in 3% of patients in an Italian series[9]. This translocation was not found in the present case, and there is probably a different frequency of it in our population.

WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Abdominal computed tomography scan used a part of diagnosis. Computed tomography scan showing extensive intra-abdominal bulky tumor of 16.5 cm at diagnosis with the presence of ascitis.



Figure 2 Hematoxylin-eosin staining of gastric myeloid sarcoma. A: There is mucosa with diffuse infiltration of monomorphic medium cells (× 10 magnification); B: At higher magnification (× 40 magnification) the cells show eosinophilic cytoplasm and nucleus with fine chromatin (blast).

> Due to the rarity of MS, there are no prospective studies that guide its mana-gement [3,4,8,10], with induction therapy and postadmission therapy for AML being the only current alternatives to treatment. The prognosis of these patients is poor, and a 12month survival has been reported for patients with MS without treatment and progression within 1 year to leukemia[3]. However, retrospective series such as that of Pileri et al[4] and Kawamoto et al[9] report that systemic treatment, including daunorubicin and cytarabine, offers longer progression-free survival than local treatments (surgery and radiotherapy). In addition, promising results have been achieved with hematopoietic progenitor (TPH) transplantation; Movassaghian et al[10] reported a median OS of 16.7 mo in a retrospective series of 22 patients with allogeneic post-PHT MS. However, despite this, the majority of the patients had disease progression in less than 6 mo[5,7].

# CONCLUSION

In conclusion, gastric primary de novo MS is a rare neoplasm with an aggressive course. The differential diagnosis depends on the histological and immunohistochemical characteristics. Chemotherapy is the standard treatment, and important results have been reported with bone marrow transplantation. However, further collaborative studies are necessary to understand this pathology and its particularities in our population.



Zaisbideng® WJCO | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Immunohistochemistry. A: Positive staining for myeloperoxidase (× 40 magnification); B: Positive staining for CD34 (× 40 magnification); C: Positive staining for CD117 (× 40 magnification); D: Strong staining for Ki-67 (proliferation index), around 80% (× 40 magnification).

# REFERENCES

- 1 Klco JM, Welch JS, Nguyen TT, Hurley MY, Kreisel FH, Hassan A, Lind AC, Frater JL. State of the art in myeloid sarcoma. Int J Lab Hematol 2011; 33: 555-565 [PMID: 21883967 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-553X.2011.01361.x]
- Huang XL, Tao J, Li JZ, Chen XL, Chen JN, Shao CK, Wu B. Gastric myeloid sarcoma without 2 acute myeloblastic leukemia. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 2242-2248 [PMID: 25717265 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i7.2242]
- Almond LM, Charalampakis M, Ford SJ, Gourevitch D, Desai A. Myeloid Sarcoma: Presentation, 3 Diagnosis, and Treatment. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2017; 17: 263-267 [PMID: 28342811 DOI: 10.1016/j.clml.2017.02.027]
- Pileri SA, Ascani S, Cox MC, Campidelli C, Bacci F, Piccioli M, Piccaluga PP, Agostinelli C, Asioli 4 S, Novero D, Bisceglia M, Ponzoni M, Gentile A, Rinaldi P, Franco V, Vincelli D, Pileri A Jr, Gasbarra R, Falini B, Zinzani PL, Baccarani M. Myeloid sarcoma: clinico-pathologic, phenotypic and cytogenetic analysis of 92 adult patients. Leukemia 2007; 21: 340-350 [PMID: 17170724 DOI: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404491]
- 5 Ravulapati S, Siegel C, Dara A, Lionberger JM. Myeloid sarcoma without circulating leukemia mimicking gastrointestinal malignancy and lymphoma. Hematol Rep 2018; 10: 7040 [PMID: 30046410 DOI: 10.4081/hr.2018.7040]
- Bhat I. A Chloroma at the Gastric Cardia. Am J Gastroenterol 2016; 111: 1226 [PMID: 27580768 6 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2016.128]
- 7 Yu T, Xu G, Xu X, Yang J, Ding L. Myeloid sarcoma derived from the gastrointestinal tract: A case report and review of the literature. Oncol Lett 2016; 11: 4155-4159 [PMID: 27313759 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2016.4517]
- 8 Vachhani P, Bose P. Isolated gastric myeloid sarcoma: a case report and review of the literature. Case Rep Hematol 2014; 2014: 541807 [PMID: 25105036 DOI: 10.1155/2014/541807]



- 9 Kawamoto K, Miyoshi H, Yoshida N, Takizawa J, Sone H, Ohshima K. Clinicopathological, Cytogenetic, and Prognostic Analysis of 131 Myeloid Sarcoma Patients. Am J Surg Pathol 2016; 40: 1473-1483 [PMID: 27631510 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.00000000000727]
- 10 Movassaghian M, Brunner AM, Blonquist TM, Sadrzadeh H, Bhatia A, Perry AM, Attar EC, Amrein PC, Ballen KK, Neuberg DS, Fathi AT. Presentation and outcomes among patients with isolated myeloid sarcoma: a Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database analysis. Leuk Lymphoma 2015; 56: 1698-1703 [PMID: 25213180 DOI: 10.3109/10428194.2014.963080]





# Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

